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Dear Shareholders,

2023 marked the first year of general economic recovery in the post-COVID 19
era and visibility of the operating environment had remained low. Nevertheless,
the Group had been conducting its businesses proactively while maintaining
stability of the overall development of each of its business segments.

We had made strategic adjustments to our financial technology and credit
facilitation business, which we believed to be beneficial to the deployment of the
Group's overall business resources and to maximization of gain. Notwithstanding
the downsizing in this business, recovery of our historical overdue assets had
been satisfactory, thanks to the improvement in overall recovery efficiency as
a result of our proactive expansion in channels of recovery and the application
of smart technology. Going forward, we are committed to ensure smooth
operation of our financial technology and credit facilitation business and strictly
comply with the ever-changing regulatory and compliance requirements.

The Little Blue Book's SaaS business achieved a breakthrough in business scale
and operating results in 2023 with our continued expansion in number of
cooperating users and coverage of sector categories. Moreover, we had acted
proactively in response to relevant data security policies and regulations. The
Little Blue Book had been shortlisted for that year's Zhuoxin Big Data Project
(BIEREIRETE]) of the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology,
and had been successfully admitted to Hangzhou International Digital Exchange
Centre (FTINEIPREF3Z5 FAILY). These milestones demonstrated our ongoing
efforts in data security and compliance. We had maintained a high level of
exchange of information and views and collaboration within the industry, striving
to provide more trustworthy data support to our customers. Going forward, we
will continue to meticulously develop and cultivate this subsegment, enhancing
products’ overall competitiveness by integrating Al technology, as well as work
with a larger number of high-calibre users for the provision of efficient full-
process customer acquisition system to those users.

As to our camping services, against the backdrop of the lifting of all pandemic-
related restrictions, low visibility regarding the prospect of general economic
revival, and the challenge imposed by the short-term impact on short-haul travel,
we had promptly adjusted our business strategy to identify and secure quality
campsites with distinctive features and significant operational advantages, to
make adequate preparations for subsequent expansion of the business. We have
been exploring possible extending business lines in conjunction with the camping
service business (such as recreational vehicles which could diversify the options in
camping travel), where it is believed that a mutually-beneficial business formation
with our existing camping service business could be achieved, thereby consistently
empowering the Group in its venturing into the extensive outdoor sector in future.

Looking ahead, we will continue to explore new businesses and inject new vitality
into the development of the Group while ensuring the good operation of our
businesses.

Last but not least, on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of the Company, | would like to thank all the Shareholders for their
unwavering support and express my sincere gratitude to all our staff for their
dedication and contribution to the Group.

Sun Haitao
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

27 March 2024
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BEE AR A

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group operates a widely-used credit card management platform, 51 Credit
Card Manager App (“51 Credit Card Manager”). As at 3| December 2023,
the number of registered users of 5| Credit Card Manager was approximately
88.9 million, up from approximately 88.7 million users as at 3| December
2022, and the number of credit cards we had managed cumulatively amounted
to approximately [51.9 million, up from approximately 151.2 million as at 31
December 2022. The Group's commercial information searching tool, Little Blue
Book App (‘Little Blue Book”), aims to provide users with valuable commercial
information. As at 31 December 2023, Little Blue Book had approximately
6.9 million registered users, up from approximately 6.7 million users as at 31
December 2022.

The economy and market in general remained on the road to recovery in 2023.
Given the impact of the macro market and the change of financial regulatory
policy, the Group proactively adjusted its operation structure and optimized the
allocation of resources, with further reduction of the overall scale in the credit
facilitation business. Meanwhile, we continued to adjust our business strategies
of the credit facilitation business with focus on the user management of existing
high-quality customers, and actively explored the new customers acquisition
model in different channels. In addition, our performance on the recovery of
overdue assets met our expectations, mainly due to our active expansion of
collection channels subject to strict compliance with regulations, in which good

progress was made in the maintenance of litigation channels and recovery.

Our To B SaaS business of Little Blue Book experienced a significant growth
and enhanced profitability as the size of our sales team, the effectiveness of our
sales staff and our monthly sales doubled as compared to that as at the end
of 2022. Our customer unit price, additional customer purchases and renewal
rate also registered steady year-on-year growth due to the Group’s proactive
marketing and promotion efforts. In general, development of the To C business
of Little Blue Book remained relatively stable and it continued to generate some
leads to the To B business, which further consolidated the complementary
competitiveness of C To B with cultivation in various sub-segments, thus

enhancing the opportunities and sustainability of business development.

For the year ended 3| December 2023, our revenue was approximately
RMB217.2 million, representing a decrease of approximately 45.1% from
approximately RMB395.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022;
our operating profit was approximately RMB22.6 million, as compared to
the operating loss of approximately RMB40.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2022; and our net loss was approximately RMB3.1 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 96.8% from approximately RMB97.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

As for non-IFRS measures, for the year ended 3| December 2023, our non-
IFRS adjusted operating profit was approximately RMB22.5 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 33.3% as compared to approximately RMB33.7
million for the year ended 3| December 2022; and our non-IFRS adjusted
net profit was approximately RMB22.8 million, representing an increase of
approximately 104.4% as compared to approximately RMBI |.2 million for the
year ended 3| December 2022. Please refer to the section headed “FINANCIAL
REVIEW — Non-IFRS measures” of this announcement for the definitions,

explanations of usage and reconciliations of non-IFRS measures.
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Credit facilitation and service fee EERENMREE 70,227 32.3% 113,799 28.8% (38.3%)

Payment service fee S FIRFEE = = 152,945 38.6% (100%)

Credit card technology service fee EREREREE 21,977 10.1% 27,739 7.0% (20.8%)

SaaS service fee SaaSHRFEE 57,833 26.6% 50,111 12.9% 13.2%
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Management Discussion And Analysis
BEEEmR D

Notes:

@)

8

Non-IFRS adjusted operating profit for the year is defined as operating profit/(loss) for
the year ended 3| December 2023 and 2022 excluding share-based compensation
expenses, fair value (gain)/loss of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL”) and impairment loss of investments accounted for using equity method. For
more details, please see the section headed “Non- IFRS measures” below.

Non-IFRS adjusted net profit for the year is defined as net loss for the year ended 3|
December 2023 and 2022 excluding share-based compensation expenses, fair value
(gain)/loss of financial assets/liabilities at FVPL, loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries
and impairment loss of investments accounted for using equity method. For more details,
please see the section headed “Non-IFRS measures” below.

Credit Facilitation Service

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the credit facilitation business
was one of the Group'’s major sources of revenue. The Board considered
that the credit facilitation business offers credit solutions at competitive
price to fill a gap in the PRC lending market by targeting borrowers who
have been largely underserved by traditional PRC commercial financial
institutions (the "“Target Borrowers”). The Group, through its online
platforms, refers the Target Borrowers who are assessed to have a
satisfactory credit level to partnered financial institutions being the funders
by providing credit facilitation services and receives service fees upon
successful drawdown of loans to Target Borrowers and a guarantee fee
upon loan repayment by the Target Borrower. We also provide credit
enhancement to partner financial institutions through a licensed financial

guarantee company within the Group.

For the year ended 3| December 2023, the total volume of credit
facilitation business was approximately RMB1,938.7 million, all being
businesses cooperated with financial institutions, representing a decrease
of approximately 23.0% from approximately RMB2,519.4 million in the
year ended 31 December 2022 as a result of adjustment made to the
Group'’s operation structure and resource allocation as mentioned above.
The Day-| delinquency rate (defined as the total amount of overdue
principal as of a specified date divided by the total principal amount due
for repayment as of such date) of the credit facilitation assets facilitated in
the year ended 3| December 2023 was lower than 4.5%, and the 30-day
collection rate of overdue assets was approximately 79.0%. The average
tenure of loans decreased to approximately 9.1 months in the year
ended 3| December 2023 from approximately 9.5 months in the year
ended 31 December 2022, and the average amount of loans decreased
to approximately RMB7,500 in the year ended 31 December 2023 from
approximately RMB9,200 in the year ended 3| December 2022.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

SaaS Business

Our Saa$ business mainly consists of the Little Blue Book business and the
smart retail business as well as the bank operations management business.
Little Blue Book is a commercial information searching tool that generates
subscription income from corporate customers and individual users. Our
smart retail business serves corporate customers and the Group received
a fixed amount of revenue from system development and hardware and
software sales as well as service fees based on customer usage such as
transaction payment amount, cloud server usage and SMS traffic. The
bank operations management business mainly provides full-spectrum
back-office operation management services to financial institutions such
as banks. Revenue from Saa$S business increased by approximately |3.2%
to approximately RMB57.8 million for the year ended 3| December 2023
from approximately RMB51.1 million for the year ended 3| December
2022.

Camping services

The Group has established the campsite brand chain named 51 CAMP in
2022, with the aim to develop the “2H" urban camping circle centered on
peri-urban campsites and complemented by remote glamping campsites.
The revenue of 51 CAMP can mainly be divided into two types: To B and
To C. For To C, we provide our customers with delicate camping services
and charge a fixed service fee for the use of the venue, food and beverage
consumption, etc. On the other hand, To B revenue includes fees charged
for commercial advertising shooting, live broadcast, commercial brand
press conference, wedding shooting, bespoke wedding, music festivals,
camping festivals, enterprise team building customization, event advertising
sponsorship and other modes of site services. Revenue from camping
services increased by approximately 206.8% to approximately RMB33.9
million for the year ended 3| December 2023 from approximately
RMBI .1 million for the year ended 3| December 2022.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BEE AR A

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our total revenue decreased by approximately 45.1% from approximately
RMB395.7million for the year ended 3| December 2022 to approximately
RMB217.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Credit facilitation and service fee decreased by approximately 38.3% from
approximately RMB1 3.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB70.2 million for the year ended 3| December 2023. We
generally collect credit facilitation service fees from Target Borrowers according
to the pre-confirmed fee schedules, and recognize in the consolidated financial
statements the upfront credit facilitation service fee at the inception of the
loan and the post credit facilitation service fee over the loan during the year.
The decrease in credit facilitation and service fee was mainly attributable to the
decrease in credit facilitation business volume in the year ended 31 December

2023 mainly due to our own business strategies adjustments.

Payment service fee decreased from approximately RMBI152.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 to nil for the year ended 31 December 2023,
mainly due to the deconsolidation of the SK Group in August 2022.

SaaS service fee increased by approximately |3.2% from approximately RMB5 .|
million for the year ended 3| December 2022 to approximately RMB57.8 million
for the year ended 3| December 2023, mainly due to the subscription income of
Little Blue Book having increased by 60.7% from approximately RMB 4.5 million
for the year ended 3| December 2022 to approximately RMB23.3 million for the
year ended 3| December 2023.

Credit card technology service fee decreased by approximately 20.8% from
approximately RMB27.7 million for the year ended 3| December 2022 to
approximately RMB22.0 million for the year ended 3| December 2023. In the
year ended 3| December 2023, credit card technology service mainly focused
on the issuance of co-branded cards under the cooperation with financial
institutions. After evaluating the market situations, we reduced the investment in
the co-branded card business, which led to a decrease in credit card technology

service fee.

Camping service fee increased by approximately 206.8% from approximately
RMBI I.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMB33.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The rapid growth of the
business was driven by the strong consumer demand for camping experience in

the post-pandemic era.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Other revenue decreased by approximately |5.19% from approximately RMB39.1
million for the year ended 3| December 2022 to approximately RMB33.2 million
for the year ended 3| December 2023, mainly due to the decrease in the referral
service fee of the Group generated from loans referred to third-party business
partners by approximately 37.0 % from approximately RMBI9.] million for the
year ended 3| December 2022 to approximately RMB12.0 million for the year
ended 3| December 2023 in light of the further tightening of relevant financial

policies.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses decreased by approximately 55.4% from approximately
RMB436.5 million for the year ended 3| December 2022 to approximately
RMB194.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Origination and servicing expenses decreased by approximately 38.6% from
approximately RMB332.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB204.3 million for the year ended 3| December 2023, of
which (i) relevant fund transfer charges decreased by 100.0% from approximately
RMB128.2 million for the year ended 3| December 2022 to nil for the year
ended 31 December 2023 due to the deconsolidation of the payment business
operated by the SK Group; and (i) the camping operating expenses increased
by approximately 80.7% from approximately RMB5.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately RMBI10.3 million for the year ended 31

December 2023 due to growth in business volume of the camping services.

Sales and marketing expenses decreased by approximately 13.3% from
approximately RMB3 1.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB27.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. We
strictly controlled the office expenses as part of the Group's cost control
measures, which decreased by approximately 86.2% from approximately RMB2.9
million for the year ended 3| December 2022 to approximately RMBO0.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

General and administrative expenses decreased by approximately 44.5% from
approximately RMB95.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB52.9 million for the year ended 3| December 2023, which
was mainly attributable to the decrease in employee benefit expenses by
approximately 68.6% to approximately RMB19.4 million for the year ended 3|
December 2023 from approximately RMB61.7 million for the year ended 3|
December 2022 as a result of the substantial decrease by approximately 96.7%
in share-based compensation expenses during the year to approximately RMBI. |
million from approximately RMB33.8 million for the year ended 31 December

2022.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BEE R RS

Research and development expenses decreased by approximately 36.4%
from approximately RMB28.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately RMB18.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
mainly due to the decrease of research and development staff as a result of
business transformation, which led to a decrease in employee benefit expenses
for the research and development department by approximately 26.9% to
approximately RMB18.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from
approximately RMB24.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Expected credit loss/(gain) changed from a gain of approximately RMB85.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to a loss of approximately
RMB23.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 mainly because of
(i) the increase in expected credit loss related to quality assurance fund and
contract assets changed from a gain of approximately RMB88.4 million for the
year ended 3| December 2022 to a loss of approximately RMB6.8 million for
the year ended 3| December 2023, which was mainly because the recovery
of historical overdue assets of approximately RMBI124.1 million was reclassed
in other gains, the recovery of historical overdue assets was maintained well
during the year ended 31 December 2023; (i) expected credit gain related to
loans to customers, net decreased by approximately 74.4% from approximately
RMBI.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMBO.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Loans to customers, net are
mainly historical overdue assets, and the overdue recovery in the year ended
31 December 2023 was satisfactory; and (iii) expected credit loss related to
receivables are mainly caused by expected credit loss on accounts receivables
under the credit card technology service, which increased by approximately
34.6% from approximately RMB5.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately RMB6.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
mainly due to the reduction of scale in business. In this segment, the management
has closely monitored all outstanding overdue assets and regularly reviewed the

recoverability of various loans and receivables.

Other gains/(losses), net changed from a loss of approximately RMB32.9 million
for the year ended 3| December 2022 to a gain of approximately RMBI31.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, mainly due to (i) the recovery
of historical overdue assets of approximately RMB124.1 million was reclassed in
other gains; (i) impairment of the long term equity investment having decreased
by 100% from approximately RMB26.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to nil for the year ended 31 December 2023 mainly due to the good
operating results of Group’s subsidiaries and associates as at 31 December 2023
as compared to that of 31 December 2022; (iii) the fair value gain/(loss) on
financial assets at FVPL turned to a gain of approximately RMB1.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 from a loss of approximately RMBI4.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022, due to the good operating results of

several investees, resulting in a higher market value as at 31 December 2023 as

compared to that of 31 December 2022.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Share of net loss of associates accounted for using equity method

Share of net loss of associates accounted for using equity method increased by
approximately |1.0% from approximately RMBI |.9 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately RMBI3.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2023, mainly because of the loss operating results of several
associates.

Fair value loss of financial liabilities at FVPL

Fair value loss of financial liabilities at FVPL increased by approximately 676.1%
from approximately RMB3.4 million for the year ended 3| December 2022 to
approximately RMB26.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, mainly
due to the promising operating results of Little Blue Book during the year ended
31 December 2023, resulting in the significant increase in appraisal value of such

liabilities as compared to that of 31 December 2022.

Finance income/(expenses), net

Finance income/(expenses), net changed from financial expenses of
approximately RMB7.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to financial
income of approximately RMB3.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
mainly due to the increase in financial interest income as a result of the Group's

effort in enhancing the efficiency of the utilization of funds.

Income tax (credit)/expenses

Income tax (credit)/expenses changed from expenses of approximately RMB3.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to credit of approximately
RMB10.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, mainly due to the
increase in deferred income tax assets.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, our loss for the year decreased by approximately
96.8% from approximately RMB97.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately RMB3.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, mainly due to (i) the cost reduction brought about by the increase in
the operational level of the Group’s businesses; (ii) satisfactory recovery of
overdue assets in the credit facilitation business; (iii) the absence of loss on
deconsolidation of subsidiaries of approximately RMB30.1 million during the year;
(iv) the decrease in the impairment of long-term equity investment by 100%
from approximately RMB26.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
nil for the year ended 31 December 2023; and (v) the significant decrease by
approximately 96.7% in share-based compensation expenses to approximately
RMBI.I million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately

RMB33.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BEE AR A

Non-IFRS measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statements that have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs, we also use adjusted operating profit and adjusted net
profit as additional financial indicators, which are not presented in accordance
with IFRSs. We believe that adjusted operating profit and adjusted net profit
facilitate comparisons of operating performance from period to period by
eliminating potential impacts of items which the management considers
non-indicative of our operating performance, and provide useful information to
investors and others in understanding and evaluating our consolidated results
of operations. The use of adjusted operating profit and adjusted net profit has
limitations as an analytical tool, and such measures should not be considered as
an isolation from, or as a substitute for an analysis of, our results of operations
or financial conditions as prepared under IFRSs. As non-IFRS measures do not
have a standardised meaning prescribed by IFRSs, such non-IFRS measures may
be defined differently from similar terms presented by other companies, and
may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures presented by other

companies.

When measuring adjusted operating profit and adjusted net profit for the
year, we excluded share-based compensation expenses, fair value (gain)/loss
of financial assets/liabilities at FVPL, loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries
and impairment loss of investments accounted for using equity method from
operating gain/(loss) and net loss, respectively. We excluded these items because
they were either non-operating in nature or not indicative of our core operating
results and business outlook, or did not generate any cash outflows: (i) share-
based compensation expenses were excluded because they were non-cash in
nature and did not result in cash outflow. In particular, as the types of incentive
available and valuation methodologies used may vary in different companies, we
believed that excluding such item provides investors and others with greater
visibility to the underlying performance of our business operations; (ii) fair value
(gain)/loss of financial assets/liabilities at FVPL were non-cash in nature and did
not result in cash outflow. We believe that this item was not reflective of our
ongoing operating results and there was no direct correlation to the operation
of our business; and (iii) loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries and impairment
loss of investments accounted for using equity method were non-cash items and

there were no direct correlation to the operation of our business.
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The following tables reconcile the non-IFRS adjusted operating profit for the
year and the adjusted net profit for the year presented to the most directly
comparable financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with
IFRSs, which are operating profit/(loss) for the year and net loss for the year:

Management Discussion And Analysis
BEEEmR D

TREIIFBIRMFH RS ZNENERBEECE DT K
FNEREFal BRBEERMHREZENFERE
IR EEF BLERP T E (BER
B) MERNZERIEIR

mEEA (8

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
5220235 120224
12A31H 128318
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBBFT AER%FT
Non-IFRS adjusted operating profit IEE PR A TS SR 5 ZE A AR S 28
K EA
Operating profit/(loss) REHF S (B518) 22,562 (40,735)
Adjusted for: MU T BB AR -
Share-based compensation expenses DU = B a0 F A 1,109 33,809
Fair value (gain)/loss of financial assets at FVPL BARBEAEGN
THMEENANEE
(W#) /E518 (1,157) 14,489
Impairment loss of investments accounted EREmEARNKEN
for using equity method PEAEE=ES - 26,179
Non-IFRS adjusted operating profit JEEPREA TS IR SRR
AREEF 22,514 33,742
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
5220235 120224
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBTFT ANRETFT
Non-IFRS adjusted net profit JEE PR B TS 3R 5 ZE B 8 SR B85 7
Net loss SBEsIE (3,148) (97,629)
Adjusted for: MU T E B A
Share-based compensation expenses DURG 1D & E R S ENR = 1,109 33,809
Fair value loss of financial liabilities at FVPL BARBEFAEGNEREEDN
ARBERR 25,999 3,350
Fair value (gain)/loss of financial assets at FVPL BARBEFAEGZNEREEN
AREE () BB (1,157) 14,489
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries B ATKIEE ARMNERE - 30,956
Impairment loss of investments accounted BRAEREARNIEEN
for using equity method VEREE=ES - 26,179
Non-IFRS adjusted net profit FE B B B 755 R o 2 R AR R BB 22,803 11,154
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The Credit Facilitation Business and Loans to Customers

Under the business model of the credit facilitation business (the “Credit
Facilitation Services Business Model”), the Group follows the common practice
to provide guarantee services (also referred to as ‘credit enhancement’) for loans
granted to the Target Borrowers after successful matching of a Target Borrower
with a partnered financial institution (the “Funder”), in which case the guarantee
service is part and parcel of the Group's credit facilitation services. The Group
provides such guarantee service with a view to enhance the credit of the Target
Borrowers and facilitate their successful matching with the Funders. In return, the
Group would receive a service fee and a guarantee fee upon the loan repayment
by the Target Borrower. The service fee and the guarantee fee are both charged
on a percentage basis to the loan principal amount facilitated. The total fee, which
comprised of service fee and guarantee fee, are collected on a monthly basis over
the loan period from the Target Borrower. For details on revenue recognition
of the total fee under the credit facilitation services, please refer Note 2.23 to
the consolidated financial statements. Pursuant to the guarantee agreements
with the Funders, in the event that the Target Borrower fails to fulfil his/her
repayment obligation in the prescribed time, the Group is required to take up
the relevant outstanding loan amount together with outstanding interests. The
guarantees provided by the Group require no collateral and/or other guarantee
from the Target Borrowers as the credit risk exposure on an individual loan basis
was considered to be limited to the Group as a whole. Relevant credit risk is
further managed by the measures taken by the Group as described under section
headed “Risk management and intemal control system on credit assessment” in

the corporate governance report.

Under the Credit Facilitation Services Business Model, the Group promotes
sustainable and mutually beneficial collaborations with the Target Borrowers
and the Funders. In this connection, the Funders should save effort and benefit
from the validation and preliminary assessment performed by the Group in
connection with its provision of guarantee services, and access to a large pool
of Target Borrowers with desirable credit profiles, which the Funders may be
unable to otherwise reach through traditional lending platforms and/or avenues
as efficiently and effectively. From the Target Borrowers' perspective, it should be
relatively quick and more convenient for them to obtain a loan from the Funders,
subject to the grant of credit at the Funders’ discretion, by utilising the Group's
credit facilitation service and have their credit enhanced through the Group's

guarantee.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Loans to customers comprise the following:

BEEES RO

EREMBEUTAR !

Loan to Expected Loan to
Tenor Interest rate customers balance Credit Loss  customers, net
PR ME ZRENGRE BHEEREX TFENEER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANEEFT AREFTT ARETT
Loan arising from continuing activity: BETHELNES .
Financial guarantee provided for AEEENRENHER  6to 12 months 437% to 10.66% 180,426 67587 112,839
credit facilitation 6Z12(8R 437%Z10.66%
Loan arising from discontinued activities: 42 IESEENEEM SN
Purchase of credit-impaired loans upon  P2PEEF5R H BB A5 A 3 to 24 months 3.24% to 8.14% 75414 - 75414
exiting of P2P business TREX 3E4ER 3.24%%E8.14%
Consolidated trust scheme FAEEsE 6 to |8 months 5.53% to 21.90% 171,643 165,963 5,680
6EI81EAR 5.53%%21.90%
Micro loan INGBE within 24 months ~ 5.53% to 33.86% 46,428 46,428 -
24EARN 5.53%%33.86%
Total st 473911 279,978 193933

ECL of loans to customers is calculated by using a complex model by taking into
consideration of the Group’s historical settlement pattern and forward looking

information (as detailed in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements).

As at 3| December 2023, the five largest borrowers in loans to customers
occupy less than 30% of the total loans to customers. As at 31 December 2023,
the total number of Target Borrowers with outstanding loans under the credit
facilitation business was 346,481 (as at 3|1 December 2022: 340,742).

Having considered that, among others, (i) the Group’s credit facilitation business
is in compliance with the relevant regulatory requirements in the PRC; (ii) prior
to the listing of the Company's shares on the Stock Exchange, the Group had
already provided credit facilitation services and demonstrated its established
track record and financial performance under this sustainable and viable business
model; and (iii) the Board considered that there are adequate and effective
internal control procedures in place to safeguard the interests of the Company
and its shareholders, the Board is therefore of the view that in the long run, the
Credit Facilitation Services Business Model is in the interests of the Company and

its shareholders as a whole.

ERERMNERERERAERBEAEENELERE
ARAELEEN > RAERREABENGIBERES
P ERARMIEES) ©

R2023F 2831 H  FIAARBRFERNERAGE
ERMEEENBE30% o 1R2023FE12831H 58

BB TAERFERYHENEEERAEHES

346,4814 (5220224 12831 H : 340,7424) °
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Trade receivables B WA
Trade receivables comprise the following: BSREWHBEEMNTAR !
Trade receivables Expected Net trade
balance Credit Loss receivables
B 5 ISR EE JEHA=RiEk EIRKFIEREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANE®TT AREETFT AEEFT
Trade receivables arising from: BERWHRIEESER !
Co-branded credit cards A =R S 231,208 205,577 25631
Other credit card technology HMER R ER
businesses 11,933 6,001 5932
Other businesses H 7% 14,684 5,074 9,610
Total Mt 257,825 216,652 41,173

ECL of trade receivables is calculated by taking into consideration of the Group's B ZEWHIBMNTELAE BELESIREBERNERNFES L
historical settlement pattern and forward looking information (as detailed in ~ HIEXN RATEEER A EN GEIBRESHMBRERM

Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements). FE3.1) e

As at 31 December 2023, the five largest borrowers in trade receivables occupy 722023 12831 H » AI A KB 7 EWERIERE R ALG
less than 30% of the total trade receivables. B Z RIGRIBAERE N EBIR30% ©
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Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing

The Group maintained a net cash position throughout the period under review.
Our net cash positions as at 3| December 2023 and 3| December 2022 are as

follows:

EREH R R

RBBETRMBERREEARLE

AEBNEERLCIBEPB R FREMRRT o 952023
F12831 HX%2022F 12831 HEF RS ZUWT ¢

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

20234 20224

12B31H 128318

RMB’ million RMB’ million

AREEET ANEBEFET

Cash and cash equivalents RERIRESHEY 349 377
Borrowings EEN (160) (180)
Net cash SHIHS 189 197

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and other short-term deposits
with original maturities of three months or less. Our cash and cash equivalents
and liquid investments are denominated in the United States dollars (the “US
dollars”), Renminbi (“RMB") and HK dollars.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded net cash outflow
of approximately RMB28.5 million, primarily representing net cash inflow in
operating activities of approximately RMB25.8 million; net cash outflow in
investing activities of approximately RMB15.3 million; and net cash outflow in

financing activities of approximately RMB38.9 million.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves, banking
facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, continuously monitoring forecast and
actual cash flows, and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and

liabilities.

The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total borrowings divided by total
assets, was approximately 13.8% as at 3|1 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
approximately 15.8%).

REMFEEFSENDRERTRENFEEMARES=E
BRI THEMIGEIER - RANBERIREEFEY
MaEfREMNET (TR ~ ARE(TARE)) KB
JUEHE ©

BE2023F 12831 HIEFE » AEEREFREMY
HARKSEHET  FTEACETHEENFRS
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BEE AR A

The following table sets forth the maturity profile of our borrowings within the

years indicated:

TNEREIUR PR EE R FIBIERE B EHRR

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

7202345 F220224F

12831 128318

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AEETFT

Within | year —F RN 100,804 166,687
| yearto 2 years —EmE 59,684 7,763
2 years to 5 years MERTE - 5,407
Total borrowings fETRAE%E 160,488 179,857

Bank and other borrowings as at 3| December 2023 were denominated in RMB
(31 December 2022: RMB). For the year ended 31 December 2023, the interest
rates of borrowings ranged from 3.30% to 8.04% per annum (year ended 3|
December 2022: 5.64% to 8.04%).

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates

The Group's subsidiaries primarily operate in the PRC and are exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to

US dollars and HK dollars.

For the Group’s PRC subsidiaries whose functional currency is RMB, if US
dollars had strengthened/weakened by 5% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, the loss before income tax for the year ended 3| December
2023 would have been approximately RMB44 1,000 higher/lower, and the loss
before income tax for the year ended 31 December 2022 would have been
approximately RMB2,723,000 higher/lower, as a result of net foreign exchange

gains/(losses) on translation of net monetary liabilities denominated in US dollars.

For the Group’s PRC subsidiaries whose functional currency is RMB, if HK
dollars had strengthened/weakened by 5% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, the loss before income tax for the year ended 31 December
2023 would have been approximately RMB23,000 lower/higher, and the loss
before income tax for the year ended 3| December 2022 would have been
approximately RMB300 lower/higher, as a result of net foreign exchange gains/

(losses) on translation of net monetary assets denominated in HK dollars.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

The Group did not enter into any foreign exchange forward contracts or other
hedging instruments to hedge against fluctuating during the year ended 31
December 2023.

The Group will monitor and manage foreign exchange risk from time to time
and enter into foreign exchange forward contracts depending on circumstance
to cover specific foreign currency payments and receipts within the exposure

generated from time to time where appropriate.

Charge on Assets

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had charged its properties
located at Building B3, No. 588 Wenyi West Road, Hangzhou, PRC in favour
of Wenchuang Branch of Bank of Hangzhou and Hangzhou Branch of Bank of
Wenzhou for obtaining mortgage loans of RMB53.0 million and RMB85.0 million,

respectively.

Material Investment and Future Plans for Material Investments on Capital Assets

Acquisition

For the year ended 3| December 2023, the Group did not have any material
investments (year ended 31 December 2022: Nil). The Group had no specific
plan for material investment or acquisition of capital assets as at 3|1 December

2023.

Material Acquisition and Disposal

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures (year ended 31
December 2022: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 December

2023 (31 December 2022: Nil).
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BEE AR A

Final Dividend

The Board did not recommend the declaration of a final dividend for the year
ended 3| December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Employees and Remuneration policy

As at 3| December 2023, the Group had approximately 360 employees
(2022: 469 employees). For the year ended 3| December 2023, the total
staff cost incurred by the Group was approximately RMB137.7 million (2022:
approximately RMB153.4 million). The Company has established an effective
compensation management system and talent incentive mechanism by following
the principle of “competitive compensation to attract high-quality talent”. The
Company's compensation system is linked to the performance appraisal system
and the Group’s operating results to create a more fair and humane working
environment for each employee to fully exert his/fher own value, so as to provide
human resources guarantee for the Group's sustainable and stable development.
In addition, the Company focuses on employee training system construction,
including new employee induction training and on-the-job training, covering
professional training to improve vocational skills, management training to enhance
leadership quality and general-purpose training to develop comprehensive
quality. The Company has also adopted the 51 Stock Scheme and 51 Award

Scheme to reward the employees.
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated | March 2024
in relation to the settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”). As
disclosed in the annual report of the Company for the year ended 3| December
2022, the Group had commenced arbitration proceedings against certain parties
to, among others, rescind the acquisition of the entire equity interests in Shouhui
Kaizhuo by the Group (the “Acquisition”). On | March 2024, Hangzhou Enniu
Network Technology Co., Ltd. (“Enniu Network”), a subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a conditional settlement agreement with Tian Tu Capital Co,,
Ltd. GRYITEREIRBEEIERNBIRAE]) and Tianjin Tiantu Xinghua Equity
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (RKZRKEBRERELES
B (BIREE)) (collectively, the “Tiantu Respondent Group”), each of
which are respondents to the said arbitration proceedings, pursuant to which,
subject to the approval of the independent shareholders of the Company, the
Tiantu Respondent Group shall compensate the Group a sum of RMB75 million
and the parties agree to finally settle the disputes amongst them regarding
the Acquisition. Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, in order to halt the
Hangzhou Arbitration Commission (FTINFFHZEEE) ("HAC") from further
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proceeding with the arbitration proceedings against the Tiantu Respondent
Group pending the Settlement Agreement becoming unconditional, the parties
have agreed to apply to withdraw their respective claims and counterclaims (as
the case may be) against each other. Each of the Tiantu Respondent Group is a
connected person of the Company, accordingly, the Settlement Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute connected transactions
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As the highest of the
applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) (as defined under the
Listing Rules) exceeds 25% and the total consideration exceeds HK$ 10,000,000,
the Settlement Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder is
subject to announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules. An extraordinary general meeting of
the Company will be held for the independent shareholders of the Company
to consider, and if thought fit, approve the Settlement Agreement. For further
details as to the Settlement Agreement and its background, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 4 November 2022, 9 January 2023, |
March 2024 and 22 March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there were no material events subsequent to 3|

December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

QUALIFIED OPINION

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, the auditor (*Auditor”) of the Company has
issued a qualified opinion (the “Qualified Opinion”) on the independent auditor’s
report (“Independent Auditor’s Report”) on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. For details of the
Qualified Opinion and the potential impact on the Company's financial position,
please refer to the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 145 to 155 of this

annual report.
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Management’s View on the Qualified Opinion

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 3|
December 2023 were prepared by the Company and audited by the Auditor. As
disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 4 November 2022 and
9 January 2023, Mr. Yang Fan (“Mr. Yang"), the former controlling shareholder
of Shouhui Kaizhuo, restricted the management of SK Group from contacting
the staff of the Group and sent his staff to interfere with the business operation
of SK Group in or around early August 2022. Since 3 August 2022 (the “Date
of Deconsolidation”), the Group had been unable to carry out workplace
communication with SK Group and was unable to obtain all the necessary books
and records of SK Group to ascertain the operational status and financial situation
of SK Group. The Group has taken certain protective measures and the Board
is of the view that the Company is currently unable to control to the assets and
operations of SK Group and is unable to exercise its decision-making rights over
SK Group.

After taken into account the applicable requirements under the International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) in relation to the preparation and
basis of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the years
ended 3| December 2022 and 2023 and on the basis that (i) the Company
is unable to control the operation and finance of SK Group; (i) the Company
is unable to obtain the books and records of SK Group since 3 August 2022;
(i) the Company is unable to obtain report from the management of SK
Group on business matter; and (iv) the Company is unable to direct the future
development of SK Group, the Board considers it appropriate and in accordance
with IFRSs to deconsolidate the consolidated financial statements of SK Group
from that of the Group with effect from the date of the event that Mr. Yang
seized the Group's control over the SK Group (i.e. 3 August 2022) (the

“Deconsolidation”).
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Despite the circumstances and the Company’s management (the “Management”’)'s
basis and position as set out above, the Auditor is of the view that due to
the uncertainty of the outcome of the arbitration proceedings as well as the
insufficient supporting documents and relevant explanations on the accounting
books and records in respect of the SK Group and its operations, they were
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence under International
Standards on Auditing to satisfy themselves as to whether (i) the Deconsolidation
of SK Group was appropriate; (ii) the Deconsolidation of SK Group on the
Date of Deconsolidation and the loss on Deconsolidation of approximately
RMB30,956,000; (iii) the income and expenses for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2023; (iv) the assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 2023;
and (v) the segment information and other related disclosure notes in relation
to the Group, as included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group,
have been accurately recorded and properly accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements, and expressed qualified opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Audit
Issues™), as set out in “Basis for Qualified Opinion” in the Independent Auditor's

Report.

Audit Committee’s View on the Qualified Opinion

The audit committee of the Company (the "Audit Committee”) has
reviewed the Audit Issues, in particular, the Management'’s position and basis
for the deconsolidation of the SK Group. Based on the background and the
circumstances above as well as the information available at the material time, the

Audit Committee agrees with the Management's position and basis.

After discussion with the Auditor, the Audit Committee understood the basis
of the Qualified Opinion on the Group'’s consolidated financial statements as a

result of the Audit Issue, namely the deconsolidation of SK Group.

The Audit Committee is also of the view that the Management should continue
its efforts in implementing the actions and measures set out in the action plan as

detailed below with the intention of resolving the Audit Issues.
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Action Plan of the Company to Address the Qualified Opinion

The Company has strived to resolve the disputes with Mr. Yang and has taken

various steps and measures. The updates to the Company’s action plan to

address the unresolved Audit Issues during the year ended 3| December 2023

and up to the date of this annual report and the implementation status of such

plan are as follows:

0}

(i

(iii)

26

in connection with the Settlement Agreement entered into between
Enniu Network and the Tiantu Respondent Group, the Company
has published the transaction announcement on | March 2024. The
subject transaction circular has been submitted and cleared by the Stock
Exchange, an extraordinary general meeting of the Company is expected
to be convened in or around early May 2024 for the approval of the
relevant resolution by the independent shareholders of the Company to,
among others, approve the Settlement Agreement and the transactions
thereunder. Barring unforeseen circumstances, completion of the
Settlement Agreement is expected to be on or before 30 June 2024.
For further details please refer to the section headed “Events after the
Reporting Period” in the section headed “Management Discussion And

Analysis” of this annual report;

pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, Enniu Network and the Tiantu
Respondent Group shall make the requisite withdrawal applications to
the HAC for their respective claims and counterclaims against each other
(as the case may be) in accordance with the terms of the Settlement
Agreement, which is expected to be completed in the third quarter of
2024 barring unforeseen circumstances. The Company considers that the
completion of the Settlement Agreement should enable the Management
to focus its time and resources to the Group'’s business operations as well
as resolving the Audit Issue, in particular, the ongoing Proceedings against

Mr. Yang;

save for the withdrawal of the arbitration proceedings against the Tiantu
Respondent Group as set out in (ii) above, the arbitration proceedings
against Mr. Yang and other respondents (the “Remaining Arbitration
Proceedings”), to among others, rescind the Acquisition under the
acquisition agreement and seek for damages for breach of contract, is
ongoing as at the date of this annual report. Based on the discussion of
the Management with the Group’s PRC legal advisers, subject to the actual
progress of the Remaining Arbitration Proceedings and barring unforeseen
circumstances, the decision by the HAC is expected to be made within

2024;
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based on the discussion between the Company and the Auditor, the
Company understands that (a) if the claims for the rescission of the
Acquisition Agreement and compensation for damages made by the
Group under the Remaining Arbitration Proceedings are upheld by
HAG; or (b) if the Group reaches settlement with the other remaining
respondents, such could serve as audit evidence for the Auditors in
relation to the appropriateness of the Deconsolidation and could thereby
address the Audit Issue. On this basis, if and upon receiving such arbitral
awards by the Group for the Remaining Arbitration Proceedings and/
or reaching settlement with the remaining respondents, the Company
expects that (a) no Audit Issues on the year end date of such financial
year; and (b) the removal of the Qualified Opinion in the financial year
that has no comparative figure impact after the grant of the arbitral awards
in relation to the arbitration proceedings and/or settlement with the

remaining respondents have been reached; and

in addition to the above, the Management has also attempted to reach out
to Mr. Yang to discuss the possibilities of alternative means to resolve the
relevant matters, including, among others, to explore the feasibility of an
agreement to settle the dispute under the arbitration proceedings against
Mr. Yang and his related entities. However, the Group has not received
any meaningful response from or action taken by Mr. Yang up to the date
of this annual report. Nonetheless, the Company will continue to be open
to explore solutions and negotiate with Mr. Yang in a timely manner to
resolve the matters on hand on the basis that the solution(s) in question is
in the interests to the shareholders of the Company and helpful to resolve

the relevant dispute with Mr. Yang as soon as practicable.
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The Company will continue to actively monitor the development of this matter
and keep ongoing communication with the Auditor with the intention to remove

the Qualified Opinion as soon as practicable.
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OUTLOOK

Against the backdrop of the deceleration of overall macro-economic growth
in the year 2023, our SaaS Little Blue Book business has achieved a historical
breakthrough and the Group’s camping-related business has thrived despite
the decline in our traditional financial technology business. In the future, we will
continue to capture the development window period of our new businesses, and

constantly seek for new revenue growth points in every business, specifically:

For financial technology business, we will continue to optimize our risk
management model, reasonably control the overall risk level, ensure the smooth
transition of financial technology business adjustments, and continue to maintain
collection channels for historical overdue assets, so as to keep the overall

recovery at a satisfactory level.

As for SaaS business, we will continue to focus on To B sales as our key business
development, continue to enhance the iteration of industrialized products,
and insist on building a high-performance sales team as a one-stop intelligent
smart expansion system service provider. In order to comprehensively enhance
corporate marketing effectiveness, we will continue to explore the value and
commoditization opportunities of artificial intelligence technology in actual
scenarios for customers and drive corporate growth through technological

innovation.

As to camping services, since inception, 5| CAMP has established 20+ campsites,
mainly located in the Yangtze River Delta and Pearl River Delta regions. To
further strengthen the large-scale expansion of the camping services business, the
Group has employed various collaboration models such as campsite franchise
and member campsite during the first half of the year, through which the Group
would export its established supply chain system and standardized campsite
operation management system, empower its partner campsites, help partner
campsites to achieve breakthrough and share the 51 CAMP brand and traffic
resources to achieve a win-win situation. Meanwhile, the Group will continue
to explore feasibility of other business models, extend the boundaries for the
development of the entire camping industry chain, promote camping-related
consumption, and further enhance 51 CAMP's presence in the domestic camping

market throughout the entire China.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (F4/87&), aged 43, has been appointed as the chairman of the
Board and an executive Director since September 2017. He is the chairmen of
the nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination Committee”) and
a member of the remuneration committee of the Company (‘“Remuneration
Committee”) and has been the chief executive officer (the “Chief Executive
Officer”) since January 2022. Currently, Mr. Sun serves as the chairman of the
board of directors, chief executive officer and general manager of Enniu Network,
and also serves as a director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Sun also
serves as the chairman of the board and an executive director of China Netcom
Technology Holdings Limited (‘“China Netcom”) (listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange™), stock code: 8071), a
subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Sun is an entrepreneur and obtained a Bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from Hangzhou Institute of Electronic Industry (now known as
the Hangzhou Dianzi University) in the PRC in June 2002. He has been engaging
in Internet businesses since 2004, and founded several Internet companies from
2004 to 2012. In May 2012, Mr. Sun led the team to create the credit card

management mobile application named 5| Credit Card Manager.

As of 31 December 2023, Mr. Sun was interested in certain shares of the
Company. Please refer to the section headed “INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES OF THE COMPANY
IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION"
further details.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREHREEBREEHRS

Ms. Wu Shan (2HR), aged 39, has been appointed as an executive Director
and an authorised representative of the Company since January 2022 and April
2022, respectively. She is also a vice-president of the Company. She has extensive
and solid experience in corporate and commercial affairs. Ms. Wu has held senior
position in the corporate legal department of a large state-owned enterprise, and
subsequently joined the Company in November 2014, where she has served as
the director of the legal department of the Company up to January 2022. Ms. Wu
is mainly responsible for the investment, finance and legal affairs of the Group. Ms.
Wau also serves as a director of a subsidiary of the Company and the executive

director of China Netcom.

Ms. Wu obtained a Bachelor's degree in science majoring in mathematics
and applied mathematics from Hubei University in the PRC in June 2008 and
obtained a Master’s degree in law from Nankai University in the PRC in June
2012. Ms. Wu currently holds a legal professional qualification certificate in the
PRC.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Zou Yunli (8ZERE), aged 51, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since November 2017. Ms. Zou is also a member of the audit
committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”). Currently, Ms. Zou also
serves as a director of Enniu Network, a subsidiary of the Company. From
October 1994 to June 2010, Ms. Zou served at a number of companies, including
Shenzhen Tianjian Xinde Accounting Firm* CFIIXBEEZFENERME
FREMEAE]), Shenzhen Jingjia Group Co., Ltd. (FII¥=EBRMDERA
@]) (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002191) and Shenzhen
Tiantu Venture Capital Co., Ltd* (RIITT KEIBIEREBRAE). Ms.
Zou joined Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd. CRIITTREIREERRNDBRAE)
(National Equities Exchange and Quotations System, stock code: 833979, Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1973) as a director in June 2010 and
resigned as the financial controller and redesignated as an executive director in

April 2022.

Ms. Zou obtained a Bachelor's degree in auditing from Zhongnan University
of Finance and Economics in the PRC (now known as Zhongnan University of
Economics and Law) in July 1994, a Master's degree in professional accountancy
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2004 and an executive
Master's degree in business administration from The Hong Kong University of

Science and Technology in June 2017.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Jiang Chloe Cuicui (formerly known as Ms. Jiang Cuicui (JFHEHE)), aged
40, has been appointed as a non-executive Director since April 2022. Ms.
Jiang has been the president of Hangzhou Zhijiang New Industrial Investment
Management Co, Ltd* (MMM Z I B XK EBEE B R L E) since
November 2018.

Ms. Jiang obtained a Bachelor's degree in business (marketing) and Master’s
degree in international business from Monash University in Australia in December
2005 and October 2007, respectively.

Ms. Gao Li (75#), aged 42, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
since April 2022. Ms. Gao has been the director of the securities affairs centre
of Xinhu Zhongbao Co. Ltd.* (FHPhERMABRAT), a substantial
Shareholder, since July 2010.

Ms. Gao obtained a Doctor's degree in economics from Zhejiang University in

the PRC in June 2008.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ye Xiang (E#), aged 60, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since February 2018. Mr. Ye is also the chairman of each of
the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee. From August 2001 to November 2007, Mr. Ye served
in a number of positions, including as a director of China affairs of the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong. Mr. Ye has served as the managing
director of Vision Gain Capital Limited (FE{SEZARBFRAE]) since November
2007.

Mr. Ye has also served as an independent non-executive director of each of
Wouling Motors Holdings Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 305)
since October 2008, Datang Environment Industry Group Co., Ltd. (listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1272) since June 2015 and Jinshang Bank Co., Ltd.
(listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2558) from December 2018 to June
2023.

Mr. Ye obtained a Bachelor's degree in engineering from Zhejiang University in
the PRC in July 1983 and obtained a Master’s degree in economics from Zhejiang
University in the PRC in January 1991. Mr. Ye obtained his doctoral degree in
Economics at the Financial Research Institute of the People’s Bank of China
(PEANRIBITRITEFEAZTFT) in January 1995. He was accredited as a
chartered financial analyst by the CFA Institute in September 2004.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREHREEBREEHRS

Mr. Xu Xuchu (#RE#]), aged 61, has been appointed as an independent
non- executive Director since April 2020. Mr. Xu is also a member of each of
the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Renumeration Committee.
Mr. Xu joined Hangzhou Dianzi University in the PRC in June 1989 and is
currently a professor at the law school of the said university. Currently, Mr. Xu
is also an adjunct professor of the China Academy for Rural Development of
Zhejiang University in the PRC. He has thirty years of experience in economics,

management and sociology.

Mr. Xu obtained a Doctorate degree in management from Zhejiang University of

the PRC in June 2005.

Mr. Shou Jian (Ff#), aged 52, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since May 2022. Mr. Shou has previously worked at the
Hangzhou Public Security Bureau, where he served as the head of legal and
the head of the police station. Mr. Shou has been the director of the integrity
department of Alibaba Group since February 2012, and was responsible for
corporate disciplinary supervision and integrity culture building. He is currently
serving as a senior director of the general department of the SiGuoYa Line of
Alibaba Group, where he is responsible for major risk control. Mr. Shou has been
an independent director of Hangcha Group Co., Ltd.* (a company listed on the

Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 603298) since September 2019.

Mr. Shou obtained a Bachelor's degree in law from East China University of
Political Science and Law in PRC in July 1994 and a Master’s degree in public
administration from Nottingham Trent University in the United Kingdom in
October 2009. He was also qualified as a lawyer by the Ministry of Justice of the
PRC in 1996. Mr. Shou is a member of the Communist Party of the PRC.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yu Hon acted as company secretary of the Company between |
January 2023 and 31 July 2023. Prior to his resignation, he had also acted as the
financial controller of the Company since July 2018 and the chief financial officer
of the Company since September 202 1. Mr. Lam obtained a Master of Science
degree in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance and a Bachelor of
Applied Science degree in Computer Engineering. He was a Chartered Secretary
and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and the
Chartered Governance Institute, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accounts, a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of
British Columbia Canada, a Certified Internal Auditor and a Certified Treasury

Professional.

Ms. Tsang Sin Man, was appointed as the company secretary of the Company
with effect from 31 July 2023. Ms. Tsang Sin Man graduated from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University with a bachelor’s degree in accountancy and has over 6
years of accounting and audit experience. She is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Tsang Sin Man is also the company

secretary of China Netcom.
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Report of the Directors
EFEHRT

The Directors hereby present the Report of the Directors and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding whilst its major
operating subsidiaries operate the online credit card management platform.
Details of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 2
to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group's performance
for the year ended 3| December 2023 by business segments is set out in Note

7 to the consolidated financial statements.
RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the state of affairs
of the Group and of the Company as at that date are set out in the consolidated

financial statements on pages 156 to 319.

In order to ensure the Board maintains an appropriate procedure on declaring
and recommending the dividend payment of the Company, a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy") is adopted by the Board which aims to allow the Shareholders
to participate in the Company’s profits whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity
to capture future growth opportunities.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the Company'’s ability to pay dividends,
which will depend upon, including but not limited to, the financial performance
and position of the Company, Shareholders’ interests, business conditions and
strategies, and any other factors that the Board may deem relevant. The Board
may consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in addition to the
interim and/or annual dividends. The Board reviews the Dividend Policy and
its effectiveness on a regular basis or as required to ensure the benefit of the
Shareholders as a whole is taken into consideration from time to time during

recommendation and declaration of dividends.

The Board did not recommend the declaration of the final dividend for the year

ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group's business, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing by the Group, particulars of important events affecting the
Group since 3| December 2023 and an indication of likely future development in
the Group's business, are set out in the sections headed “Chairman'’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance Report” and
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this Report. These discussions

form part of this “Report of the Directors”.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group's commitment to protecting the environment is well reflected by
the continuous efforts in promoting green measures and awareness in its daily
business operations. The Group encourages environmental protection and
promotes awareness towards environmental protection to the employees. The
Group also implements green office practices such as promoting the use of
recycled papers and reducing energy consumption by switching off idle lighting

and electrical appliances.

The Group reviews its environmental practices from time to time and will
consider implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in the

operation of the Group's businesses and enhancing environmental sustainability.

Details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance for the year
ended 31 December 2023 please refer “Environmental, Social And Governance

Report” of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that had a

significant impact on the businesses and operations of the Group.
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRS

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are its valuable assets. Thus, the
Group provides competitive remuneration packages to attract and motivate
its employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration packages of its

employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good relationship
with its business partners to achieve its long-term goals. Accordingly, the
Directors or senior management have kept good communication, promptly
exchanged ideas and shared business updates with them when appropriate.
During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the Group

and its business partners.
SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the movements in the Company's share capital during the year,
together with reasons therefor, are set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial

statements.
RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements and the

consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account
is distributable to the Shareholders provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. As
at 3| December 2023, the Company had reserves available for distribution of
approximately RMB72 1,005,000 (2022: approximately RMB6,284,907,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group

during the year are set out in Note |7 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Under the Company'’s articles of association (the “Articles”) or the laws of the
Cayman lIslands, there is no provision for pre-emptive rights which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares (““Shares”) to its existing Shareholders first on

a pro-rata basis.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years as extracted from the audited consolidated financial

statements of the Group is set out on page 320 of this Report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of approximately
RMB1,000 (2022: approximately RMB27,000).
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Report of the Directors
EFEHRT

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all losses or legal liabilities incurred or
sustained by him/her as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil
or criminal, in which judgment is given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is
acquitted. During the year, there was appropriate directors’ and senior officers’

liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior officers of the Group.
RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes for its
employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. For its Hong Kong employees, the Group
operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the

MPF Scheme vest immediately.

Regarding its employees in the PRC, pursuant to the relevant labour laws, rules
and regulations in the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit Scheme”) organised by the
relevant local government authorities in the PRC whereby the Group is required
to make contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme at a certain rate of the
standard wages determined by the relevant authorities in the PRC during the

year. Contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.

During the year ended 3| December 2023, there was no forfeited contribution
under the MPF Scheme and Retirement Benefit Scheme which may be used by
the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions (2022: Nil).

Details of the Group’s contributions to the retirement schemes are shown in

Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT
(“RSU™) SCHEMES" of this Report, there was no equity-linked agreement

entered into by the Company, or subsisted during or as at the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, which were not contracts of service with any Director or any
person engaged in full-time employment, concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group

were entered into or existed during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the percentages of sales and purchases from the major

customers and suppliers of the Group, respectively, are set out below:

FTEZRKRMER

FRo FEETERTRRMEBDHGHERKLRE
BT ¢

Approximate

percentage of

the Group’s
total sales
A&
HERE
B4 B
(@) Sales
SHE
— the largest customer 9.35%
- RAER
— the five largest customers (combined) 1551%
- BEREFR (&%)

Approximate

percentage of

the Group’s
total purchases
LA E
RIBREZ
BB
) Purchases
s
— the largest supplier 16.15%
- RAMED

— the five largest suppliers (combined) 36.86%

- BRMES (515

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)), or any Shareholders (that, to the
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of issued Shares) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers during the

year.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this Report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Wu Shan (Vice-President)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Zou Yunli
Ms. Jiang Chloe Cuicui
Ms. Gao Li

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ye Xiang
Mr. Xu Xuchu
Mr. Shou Jian

Pursuant to Article 16.18 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director, shall be subject to

retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group

are set out on pages 29 to 33 of this Report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.
DIRECTORS” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends to the Board
the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company to the Directors.
The remuneration of all Directors is subject to regular monitoring by the
Remuneration Committee to ensure that the levels of their remuneration and
compensation are appropriate. References to the remuneration standards of
the Industry as well as the business development of the Company are made to
ensure the level of remuneration should be sufficient to attract and retain the
Directors, and the Company should avoid paying more than necessary for this

purpose.

Details of the Directors” and senior management’s remuneration of the Group

are set out in Notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this Report, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance in relation to the Group'’s businesses to which any of the Company's
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a Party, and in which a Director or an
entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or

indirectly, subsisted at any time during or at the end of the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No contract of significance has been entered into between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during at
any time during the year. In addition, no contract of significance for the provision
of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or any of its

subsidiaries during the year.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES OF THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 3| December 2023, the interests or short positions of the Directors and
chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO™) (Cap. 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)), which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register of the Company referred to therein, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in

Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long Position in the Shares

Name of Director(s) Capacity and nature of interest
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RRGBZHE

Approximate
percentage of

Number of Shares issued Shares("

B BTG
EES B R EEEE BEVE¢E] ZBNE AL
Mr. Sun Haitao Founder of a discretionary trust who can influence how 108,159,464 7.96%
("Mr. Sun”) the trustee exercises his discretion
BEErE AR ESZFEANATEERNEEN
(M%&) RIBEFERILA
Others 50,355,0000) 3.71%
Hith
Others 142,708,272 10.51%
Hith
301,222,736 22.18%
Ms. Zou Yunli Interest of spouse 200,000) 0.01%
BEBLT [t
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Notes:

)

®)

4

®)

The calculations were based on the number of Shares as a percentage of the total
number of issued Shares (i.e. 1,358,320, 188 Shares) as at 3| December 2023.

Rising Sun Limited is the beneficial owner of these 08,159,464 Shares, is wholly owned
by Wukong Ltd., 97,297,298 Shares of which were charged in favour of Hangzhou
Zhenniu Information Technology Co,, Ltd.* (“Zhenniu Information”) (an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company), a non-quadlified lender. Wukong Ltd. is beneficially
wholly owned by Wukong Trust, which was established by Mr. Sun as the settlor. TMF
(Cayman) Ltd. is the trustee of Wukong Trust. Mr. Sun, as the beneficiary of Wukong
Trust, is taken to be interested in those Shares. Mr. Sun Haitao is a director of Rising Sun
Limited.

Rising Sun Limited entered into a limited partnership agreement (the “Limited
Partnership Agreement”) with Tai Yong Holdings Ltd for the purpose of establishing 51
Xinhu L.P., a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership and regulating the activities
and operation of the partnership. Pursuant to the Limited Partnership Agreement, Rising
Sun Limited serves as the general partner and Tai Yong Holdings Ltd serves as the
limited partner. In addition, Rising Sun Limited has the power to exercise all voting rights
on behalf of 51 Xinhu L.P. As 51 Xinhu LP. is the beneficial owner of the 50,355,000
Shares, and by virtue of the SFO, Mr. Sun is deemed to be interested in the 50,355,000
Shares and the share capital of its associated corporation in which Rising Sun Limited is
or is deemed to be interested.

The Company entered into a voting proxy agreement (the “Voting Proxy Agreement”)
with Rising Sun Limited, 51 Stock Limited and 51 Award Limited (other than the
Company, each, a "Party to the Voting Proxy Agreement”, collectively, the “Parties to
the Voting Proxy Agreement”). Pursuant to the Voting Proxy Agreement, Rising Sun
Limited is entitled to exercise, in its sole discretion, all the voting powers associated with
the 142,708,272 Shares on behdlf of the Parties to the Voting Proxy Agreement on all
matters submitted to a vote of Shareholders at any meeting of Shareholders. By virtue of
the SFO, Mr. Sun is deemed to be interested in the 142,708,272 Shares and the share
capital of its associated corporation in which Rising Sun Limited is or is deemed to be
interested.

Mr. Li Anxin, the spouse of Ms. Zou Yunli, is the beneficial owner of the 200,000 Shares.
By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Zou Yunli is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by her

spouse.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no other Director or chief

executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short

position in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any

of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which

were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant

to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions

which were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), as

recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or

as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF AND OTHER PERSON THE COMPANY

FERRREMALTREIAT ZKRMH - 1B
RN REFFHEAEZEDRKE

As at 31 December 2023, so far as was known to the Directors, the persons or 220234 12831 H > si=EF4% > U FA TS =52
(BEFHARARSITHABRIN REARAERKRMD ~ 18
RARRD KB PR SRR A A RIRE 5 AR
BIE3B6RRE RN A AR BFEZ T LMz
KA > WIRBERFRIAERGIBEXVEE 2R E3D
B2 REBMARABMEBZ EHKE -

entities, other than the Director or chief executives of the Company, who had
or was deemed to have an interest or a short position in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2

and 3 of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Number of
Shares directly or

indirectly held

Approximate

percentage of

Names Capacity and nature of interests and category!'? issued Shares("
BEiESMEREN HEHTRNZ

Y5 /TE SR kiESEEE BRI BB K ERI O Sl

Mr. Huang Wei@ Interest in controlled corporation 327,352,666 (L) 24.10%

mEEREE @ NSRRI

Ms. Li Ping® Interest of spouse 327,352,666 (L) 24.10%

FHuto FiBfEn

Zhejiang Xinhu Group Co,, Ltd.* Interest in controlled corporation 327,352,666 (L) 24.10%
("Zhejiang Xinhu"")®

ANLHTERRNBRAR NSRS PN
(TR LmER 1) @

Xinhu Zhongbao Co., Ltd* Interest in controlled corporation 327,352,666 (L) 24.10%
("Xinhu Zhongbao”)®

WHRERNBRAR (HMhE ) RREGEE S

Hong Kong Xinhu Investment Co., Limited Interest in controlled corporation 327,352,666 (L) 24.10%
("HK Xinhu")®

BRIIRERRAE (TEEMM) @ NSRS PN

Taichang Investment Limited® Beneficial owner 109,217,000 (L) 8.04%

BamER A
Tai Shun Holdings Ltd.® Beneficial owner 101,114,000 (L) 7.44%

BmEEA
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Number of
Shares directly or Approximate
indirectly held percentage of
Names Capacity and nature of interests and category('% issued Shares("
BEiEsMEREN HEETRAEZ
Y2 /T8 SR kiEHEE BR1D BB R AERI O BREaLtEo
EasternGate SPC® Security interest 210,331,000 (L) 15.48%
fREBEE
TMF (Cayman) Ltd.® Trustee 301,222,736 (L) 22.18%
ZEEA
Woukong Ltd.® Interest in controlled corporation 108,159,464 (L) 7.96%
IEREGRLEE 2
Other 50,355,000 (L) 371%
Hith
Other 142,708,272 (L) 10.51%
Hh
301,222,736 (L) 22.18%
Rising Sun Limited®® Beneficial owner 108,159,464 (L) 7.96%
BuEAA
Other 50,355,000 (L) 3.71%
Hith
Other 142,708,272 (L) 10.51%
Hith
301,222,736 (L) 22.18%
Mr. Wang Yonghua® Interest in controlled corporation 183,874,334 (L) 13.54%
EXEREO RRERNERZ
Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd.* Interest in controlled corporation 183,874,334 (L) 13.54%

(“Tian Tu Capital”)®

A XREREEERNBRAT

(TRERE)©
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Number of
Shares directly or Approximate

indirectly held percentage of

Names Capacity and nature of interests and category('% issued Shares("
BEiEsMEREN HEETRNZ
Y /T8 SR REEEE BRI 8B R fER! 0 BABE O
Tiantu Advisory Company Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 128,661,334 (L) 9.47%
REFEHABRATO REGEE 2
Tiantu Investments Limited Beneficial owner 128,661,334 (L) 9.47%
(“Tiantu Investments’)®
BmER A
Mr. Shen Guojun® Founder of a discretionary trust who can 74,117,123 (L) 5.45%
influence how the trustee exercises
his discretion
BB ED A ERFE AN TEER BN
EUBISFERR LA
Cantrust (Far East) Limited” Trustee 74,117,123 (L) 5.45%
ZEEA
The Core Trust Company Limited® Trustee 169,904,737 (L) 12.51%
EREFEARATO ZEEA
TCT (BVI) Limited® Other 169,904,737 (L) 12.51%
HAth
51 Stock Limited® Nominee for another person 75,823,804 (L) 5.58%
(other than a bare trustee)
S—ABRBA (RBZFEALRIN
51 Award Limited® Nominee for another person 94,080,933 (L) 6.93%

(other than a bare trustee)

F—ABHBA EEZFEARRIN
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Number of
Shares directly or Approximate

indirectly held percentage of

Names Capacity and nature of interests and category('% issued Shares("
BEESEEREN HE#HITREZ

Y2 /T8 SR kiEHEE BR1D BB R AERI O BREaLtEo

51 Credit Card (China) Limited @ Interest in controlled corporation 97,297,298(L) 7.16%

5ER~ (FE) BRATO NSRRI

Zhenniu Information Security interest 97,297,298(L) 7.16%

MRS fReE

51 Credit Card Inc. @ Interest in controlled corporation 97,297,298(L) 7.16%

SIEEEARATO

RREGER 2 ek

Notes:

)

©)

)
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The calculations were based on the number of Shares which each Party is interested in
(whether directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be interested) as a percentage of
the total number of issued Shares (i.e. 1,358 320,188 Shares) as at 3| December 2023.

Mr. Huang Wei directly holds approximately 53.06% shareholding interest in Zhejiang
Xinhu and holds approximately 57.09% shareholding interest in Xinhu Zhongbao in
total. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Huang Wei is deemed to be interested in the Shares in
which Zhejiang Xinhu or Xinhu Zhongbao is deemed to be interested. For details of the
deemed interests of Zhejiang Xinhu or Xinhu Zhongbao, please refer to Note (4) below.

Ms. Li Ping is the spouse of Mr. Huang Wei, and thus is deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Mr. Huang Wei is deemed to be interested under the SFO.

109,217,000 Shares and 101,114,000 Shares are directly held by Taichang Investment
Limited and Tai Shun Holdings Ltd, respectively, and have been pledged in favour of
EasterGate SPC; 50,355,000 Shares are directly held by 51 Xinhu L.P. (wholly owned
by Tai Yong Holdings Ltd. and Tai Yong Holdings Ltd. is deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by 51 Xinhu L.P.); and 66,666,666 Shares are directly held by Guanrui
Investment Limited (“Guanrui Investment”). Each of Taichang Investment Limited, Tai
Shun Holdings Ltd, Tai Yong Holdings Ltd. and Guanrui Investment (collectively, the
“Xinhu Subsidiaries”) is wholly owned by HK Xinhu, which is in turn wholly owned by
Xinhu Zhongbao. Xinhu Zhongbao is deemed to be controlled by Zhejiang Xinhu under
the SFO. Therefore, for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO, each of HK Xinhu, Xinhu
Zhongbao, Zhejiang Xinhu and Mr. Huang Wei is deemed to be interested in the Shares
or deemed interests held by the Xinhu Subsidiaries.
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Same for the interests as disclosed in Notes (2) to (4) in the section headed “INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION" of this Report.

Such 183,874,334 Shares represent 128,661,334 Shares directly held by Tiantu
Investments and 55,2 13,000 Shares directly held by Tiantu Xingbei Investments Limited
Company (“Tiantu Xingbei”). Tiantu Investments is wholly owned by Tiantu Advisory
Company Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Tian Tu Capital. Tiantu Xingbei is
indirectly owned by Tian Tu Capital. Mr. Wang Yonghua holds approximately 40.35%
shareholding interest in Tian Tu Capital. Therefore, under the SFO, Tiantu Advisory
Company Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Tiantu Investments,
and each of Tian Tu Capital and Mr. Wang Yonghua is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Tiantu Investments and Tiantu Xingbei. Ms. Zou Yunli is an executive
director of Tian Tu Capital.

Such 74,117,123 Shares represent 15,111,123 Shares directly held by East Jump
Management Limited (“East Jump”) and 59,006,000 Shares directly held by Action
Chain International Limited. East Jump is wholly owned by Weihan Evergreen Limited,
which is beneficially wholly owned by the Weihan Evergreen Trust. Weihan Evergreen
Trust is a family trust established by Mr. Shen Guojun as the settlor, while the
beneficiaries of Weihan Evergreen Trust are Mr. Shen Guojun and his family members.
Action Chain International Limited is wholly owned by Guojun Evergreen Limited, which
is beneficially wholly owned the Guojin Evergreen Trust. Guojin Evergreen Trust is a trust
established by Mr. Shen Guojin as settlor. Cantrust (Far East) Limited is the trustee of
Weihan Evergreen Trust and Guojin Evergreen Trust. Hence, each of Cantrust (Far East)
Limited and Mr. Shen Guojun is deemed to be interested in the interests of East Jump
and Action Chain Intemational Limited for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

Both 51 Stock Limited and 51 Award Limited are wholly owned by TCT (BVI) Limited,
which is in turn wholly owned by The Core Trust Company Limited. The Core Trust
Company Limited is the trustee and each of 51 Stock Limited and 51 Award Limited
is the nominee to administer the RSU Schemes (as defined below). Each of 51 Stock
Limited and 51 Award Limited holds the Shares underlying the RSUs granted by the
Company for the benefit of eligible participants pursuant to the RSU Schemes.

Pursuant to the loan agreement dated |4 September 2021 entered into between Mr.
Sun and Zhenniu Information, (an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company), a
non-quadlified lender (the “Loan”). Rising Sun Limited, which is the beneficial owner of
the 108,159,464 Shares, charged 97,297,298 Shares in favour of Zhenniu Information
as further security for the Loan. Zhenniu Information is wholly owned by 51 Credit Card
(China) Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by 51 Credit Card Inc.. Therefore, under
the SFO, 51 Credit Card Inc. is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Zhenniu
Information, and 51 Credit Card (China) Limited.

(L) — Long position

(©))

(6)

)

€

®)

(10)
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%5 183,874,334/ IR 17 #5H Tiantu Investments B #&#F
B HY9128,661,334 % B 17 & Tiantu Xingbei Investments
Limited Company (I Tiantu Xingbei 1) B # % & B9
55,213,00082 & 17 © Tiantu Investments B X [E] ;556 F
RAEIZEH#E @ MAIEZHE R ERIAXERE
2 EHE ° Tiantu Xingbei i XE R E B 1ZF1FH © £
KRESLEI5H KB REAT40.35% R 1# o AU > R#%F
BHRAE RG] » XIEZ5RA B #4225 Tiantu
InvestmentstE B HI IR 17 HH#E Bm » RXERER
FoRELFEEZ WA Tiantu Investments K Tiantu
Xingbe#F B HIR 17 HHER #m o EZBELX L2 FYE
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Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 3|
December 2023, there was no person (not being a Director or a chief executive
of the Company) who had or was deemed to have an interest or short position
in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT (“RSU”) SCHEMES
Summary

The Company has adopted the 51 Stock Scheme and the 51 Award Scheme
(collectively, the “Schemes”) by a resolution of the Board on 20 November
2017. The Schemes constitute share schemes funded by existing shares within

the meaning of Chapter |7 of the Listing Rules.
Purpose

The purpose of the Schemes is to recognize and reward the participants (as
detailed in the paragraph headed “Participants” below) of each of the Schemes
for their contribution to the Group, to attract suitable personnel, and to provide

incentives to them to remain with and further contribute to the Group.
Awards

Each of the awards of RSUs under the 51 Stock Scheme (together with the
awards of RSUs under the 5| Award Scheme, referred to as the “Award(s)")
and an Award of RSUs under the 51 Award Scheme gives a participant an
entitlement, upon vesting of the Award(s) to obtain either Shares (in case of
the 51 Stock Scheme only) or an equivalent value in cash with reference to
the market value of the Shares less any tax, fees, levies, stamp duty and other
applicable charges. Awards granted must generally be accepted within the time
period as specified in the notice of grant of Award. Grantee are not required to
pay any premium for the acceptance of award granted to them. An Award may
include, if so specified by the 5|1 Stock RSU Administration Committee and the
51 Award RSU Administration Committee (each as the “RSU Committee”) in
their entire discretion, cash and non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/
or the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those

Shares from the date that the Award is granted to the date that it vests.
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Limit

Unless otherwise duly approved by the Board, the total number of Shares
underlying the 51 Stock Scheme shall not exceed 124,257,797 Shares and the
total number of Shares underlying the 51 Award Scheme shall not exceed
102,060,261 Shares (excluding the Shares underlying RSUs that have lapsed or
been cancelled in accordance with the Schemes). As the Schemes constitute
share schemes funded by existing shares within the meaning of Chapter |7 of the

Listing Rules, the 1% individual limit is not applicable.

The exercise price of options granted under the Schemes is the sole
responsibility of the RSU Committee. Factors taken into account include, but
are not limited to, the calculation by reference to the average closing price on a
financial data platform such as Flush* for the 20 trading days prior to the date of

grant.

Grants

As at 3| December 2023, 103,277,248 Shares and 51,141,750 Shares underlying
RSUs had been granted to participants under the 51 Stock Scheme and the
51 Award Scheme, representing approximately 7.60% and 3.77% of the issued
Shares, respectively. As at | January 2023 and 3| December 2023, (a) 15,022,281
and 20,980,549 options and RSUs were available for grant under the 51 Stock
Scheme, respectively, and (b) 50,868,51 | and 50,918,51 | options and RSUs were

available for grant under the 51 Award Scheme, respectively.
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Set forth below are the movements in options and RSUs granted under the 51  LATN & B ZE2023F 12831 HIEEERRIES | IRH 5t

Stock Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023: 2T VR A K B2 PRI AR 1 BB AL VBN 1B

Number of shares Number of shares Weighted average

represented representedby  Closing price ~ Weighted average closing price

by options or Options andlor ~ options or RSUs ~~ ofthe Shares ~ closing price mmediately

Exercise RSUs outstanding Options andlor ~ RSUs forfeited! outstanding immediately immediately Fair value of  before the date

Name or category Date of grant/ price asat | January  Granted during Exercised  RSUscancelled  expired during ~ as at 31 December before the before the ~ options or RSUs of vesting

of grantees Nature conditional grant (HKS)  Vesting date m theyear  duringtheyear  during the year the year W3 dteofgrant  dateofgrant  atdate of grant or exercise
RaE Rung
IAIR 128318

Al Al Ehd  RHBE

B EhiE  FABRE/  ERES SHRY  ZRARG i

ZRHRA ERER AmGERE  RRSRG 0 BEEM AMER il BEAEN

fh/ARE  (RE EfifEH aRRS  RAREBE  BRRN  BEEN BTN RUAAD  mETH

ERAREEN it REAR (¥n) BEER Rh%E  EARE  ERGR O ROEG  RREM  BGHE  ROWR Hnf  OARE Wivfe

Directors (Note /)
B2
SunHitao Option W30l 685 203002 27530 5 - - B N1 5 - - -
HeE T NIBEIANA ANEFNA
Wi han Option 0I5 085 3080019 40150 = = - - 40150 - = - -
&8 0 WISEHNE WI9EFNE
Option 012017 065 01001 19410 = = = = 1960 = = = =
E WI7EIENA MIEIENR
Subtotdl 2408900 = = = - DAY
It

Shighest paid employees (Note /)
SEREHMER (K1)
Same as directors because the other 2 of the 5 highest paid non directors employees have their RSU and option under 51 Award Limted.

HEEHR) AAvhReRin ESRETMANRRARNEMREREES| Avad LintedB T o
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Number of shares Number of shares Weighted average

represented representedby  Closing price  Weighted average closing price

by options or Options andlor ~ options or RSUs ~~ ofthe Shares~ closing price mmediately

Exercise RSUs outstanding Options andlor ~ RSUs forfeited! outstanding immediately immediately Fair value of  before the date

Name or category Date of grant! price asat | January  Granted during Exercised  RSUscancelled  expired during ~ as at 31 December before the before the ~ options or RSUs of vesting

of grantees Nature conditional grant (HKS)  Vesting date m theyear  duringtheyear  during the year the year W3 dteofgrant  dateofgrant  atdate of grant or exercise
03 Y03
IAIR 128318

e i EREd  RH8E

Bl EpE  ERERE/  BREd TR RRERR gk

ZRHRH BRER DEMERE  SEORG  RERY ) Bt AMEN

Rt/aer  GfE ElifxH I%RE  RORBE  BORRN  AMEN  METY  RiAER MRS

ARARATED) & RtiRg (Bz) BERH k] EREH ERfi BREM  RREM ROE  RiMER ¥R DARE W&

Other employees Option 1712015 031 172019 1042670 = = = = 2042670 = = = =

Hitfe8 BRE  EAA NIETRIA

Option 8110015 031 /100019 1464030 - - - - 1 464030 - - - -
Ehe WISEIOFSR WI9EI0F8R
RU 1111016 NA - 25/12000 9637280 - - - - 9837280 - - - -
RESRAEL 06FIEBA  FER 10NEIEBA
Option 19/5/2016 03 1952020 17800 = = = = 17800 = = = =
BRE  DieEALE SR I9E
Option 1016 029 2100 046420 - - - - 1046420 - - - -
Ehe WIEETRA ANERB
Option 17018 03 1 1532600 - - - - 1532600 - - - -
BRE  NiEIAIA NNEIR I
Option 032018 685 203001 8150000 = = = = 8150000 = = = =
BRE  0®ANA MEBENA
RU 11572019 0278 19002 1250000 - - - - 1250000 - - - -
ERARAEL 01959A1H MEAI
RU 11112020 NA - 1112000 1014825 - - - - 1014825 - - - -
RESROED I0EIRIE  TER MwEIAIR
RU 710 JA - 7110022 2500000 - 2500000 = = = = = = 0192
RESRGEND IENATE  TER MnFNATA
RU 111700 NA 1100 966,300 - - - - 966,300 - - - -
RESRDENL O0EIEE  TEE ANEAIA

Subtota 31,080,145 - 2,500,000 - - 8582145

it

Toul 53491.045 - 2,500,000 - - 50991,045

it

Notes: BaE

[ Awards made to the five highest paid employees are the same as the aggregate granted /. B EZEEHINES X (1A EE S F X Tnig PESE
to the Directors shown above. HIAEEEREE]

2. The \:jesting period is from the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise 2. ERE A2 H BB & 1T (E AR 14
period.

3. Prior to | January 2023, the exercise period of the options granted under the 51 Stock 3, 7E20234F | B | HZ Al » 1RIE5 | R 17 51 8% A9 8 fR 12
Scheme had been determined by the board of Directors at its absolute discretion, which BITIEHIREEFE S 2 ERERTE » WX EREH R
shall not exceed ten years from their respective dates of grant subject to the provisions FEREBIB 104F » (BEIEFIARIFHIRETE o H20234E 15 |
for early termination thereof. Since | January 2023, such exercise period limit has been HEE » ZiT1EBREIE#ECY » W HREHEHFRBZA
removed and there is no prescribed period during which a grantee may exercise the BIIXIRIES | fB 17 51 81T (B 1S T FE AR HE AT HE IR
options granted under the 51 Stock Scheme.

4. For information on the accounting standard and policy adopted for calculating the fair 4, BT E & 2 20234F 12531 HIFFEIZFFHIZZBIHI A

value of awards granted during the year ended 3| December 2023, please refer to
Notes 3 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

AIEEFRAL G ERRIBRES » BEEFE
B iR e B B IR Mt 3 R3] o
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Set forth below are the movements in options and RSUs granted under the 51

Award Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023:

LBUREFEZE2023F 12831 BLIEEERRIES | #E =t
I FHBRERZREIRMDEMNESHER

Number of shares Number of shares Weighted average
represented representedby ~ Closingprice  Weighted average closing price
by options optionsandlor ~ of the Shares closing price mmediately
Exercise andlor RSUs Options andlor ~~ Options and/or RSUs immediately immediately Far value of - before the date
Name or category Date of grant/ price  Vesting date outstandingas  Granted during  Exercised during ~ RSUscancelled ~ RSUsexpired ~ outstandingasat  beforethedate  before the date ~ options or RSUs of vesting
of grantees Nature conditional grant (HKS) ~ (Note) at | January 2023 the year theyear  durigtheyear  duringtheyear 3| December 2003 of grant ofgrant at date of grant or exercise
g g
IRIA 12A318
Al il B iBE
R Ehis  EASHM fiRE ZHEE  RBHER Hfife
ZRiRf BRER WERE  ARBHRG b RN Efiit R
fh/ARE  (RE BERY EfiftEH aEES  RERES  EMRED = mEry  RHEEN TS
ARAfREED 1R =] (Bm) () Bi#e Ehi S RipEf BipEf RA¥E  RiUHR LG DRRE W@
Directors
s
Wu Shen RU 116021 041 116005 100000 - - - - 100000 - - - -
i RESROEL 20%6AIA 04 N5EEIR
Subtotal 100,000 - - - 100,000 - - - 100000
i
Top 5 employees
AR
Option 112014 046 10018 174810 = = = = 174810 = = = =
BhE N4EIRI NBEIRI
Option 11172015 065 10019 16710 - - - - 6710 - - -
BhE NISEIRI NIYEIR I
Opton 30602015 065 3062019 868760 - - 868760 - -
EhE NI5E6ANA NI9E6ANA
Option 3062016 065 3062020 46520 - - - - 46520 - - - -
EhE NI6FEA AN
Option 203018 685 203022 1,500,000 - - - - 1500000 - - - -
EhE NIBEANA NEANA
RU 1957019 6l1 15203 34000 - 34000 - - 00%4
RBARAEN 0195951 NBEAI
RSU 1151019 065 152023 840000 - - - - 840,00 - - - 0094
SRERAEL 219591 NBEAIE
RU 1167021 041 162025 100000 - - - - 100000 - - - -
RESRRED 201%6AIR NBEAIR
Subtotal 4666860 - - - - 4666860
it
Other employees
At
Option 112013 04 1117 276141 - - 276041 - -
EhE NBEIRI NITEIR I
Opton 112013 NA - 112017 44063 - - - - 44083 - - -
ERE NBERR FEE WIEAA
Option /12014 046 1M0I8 306294 - - - - 306294 - - - -
RhE NIEIRI NBEIR I
Option Tnoi4 046 71018 B30 PRV - - - - - 019
EhE NHEIRTH NBEIRTH
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Number of shares Number of shares Weighted average
represented represented by~ Closingprice  Weighted average closing price
by options optionsandlor ~ of the Shares closing price mmediately
Exercise andlor RSUs Options andlor ~~ Options and/or RSUs immediately immediately Far value of  before the date
Name or category Date of grant/ price  Vesting date outstandngas  Grantedduring  Exercisedduring ~ RSUscanceled ~ RSUsexpied  outstandingasat  beforethedate  beforethe date  options or RSUs of vesting
of grantees Nature conditional grant (HKS) ~ (Note) at | January 2023 the year theyear  durigtheyear  duringtheyear 3| December 2003 of grant ofgrant~ at date of grant or exercise
g g
IRIA 12A318
At RN R ZiRE
Rk Frd  ERSHE ik ZHEY  EBHRR E1
Rk ERER WERE  SRBHRR RiR R Efift Bt
fH/Ek%  fiRE BERE EfiftEH aRRS  RERRS  EMRED Bt mEFy  RHEEN T
ARAfREED KR =] (m) () Bir#E EREL Fnfi RiE( E BA%E  RAKGE Wi RARE G|
Option 290014 045 2097018 49450 - - - - 49450 - - - -
ERE NHESADA NIESEDA
Option 71122014 128 17122018 101.7% = = = = 101,798 = - - -
RhE NHENAITA NIBENEITA
Option 1112015 065 11019 791400 - - - - 9140 - - - -
BhE NISEIRI NIYEIR I
Opton /1015 128 11019 4654% - - - - 46586 - - - -
ERE NISEIRI NIYEIR I
Option 640015 A~ 642019 1562820 - - - - 1562820 - - - -
ERE ;201 N [ s
Option 26050015 128 26500019 126030 - - - - 126030 - - - -
EhE NISEsHLA NIYESF2A
Option 30602015 128 3062019 5218574 - - - - 5218574 - - - -
ERE NISE6HNR NIEENR
Opton 30602015 065 30062019 711680 - - - - 711680 - - - -
B NI5E6ANA NI9E6ANA
Option 31015 120 31122009 6908707 - - - - 6908707 - - - -
EhE NISENAIA NIENAIA
Option 3112015 065 31122009 1817032 - - - - 1817032 - - - -
EhE NISENAIA NIENA3IA
RSU /1016 NA - 2512020 1553313 - - - - 1553313 - - - -
REARAEL N6EIESE  TER M0EIALA
RU 10016 NA 2202000 0144 - - - = DI - - - -
RRARAEM meRANE  RER eFIADA
Option 3062016 065 3062020 535600 - - - - 535800 - - - -
EhE NIgE6ENA MIEENA
Option 3062016 11§ 3062020 1594946 - - - - 1594%6 - - - -
Bl NIgEENR MERNE
Option 31016 113 3112200 67439 = = = = 61434 = = - -
BhE NIENA3IA MENAIA
Option 3112016 153112200 264680 - - - - 184680 - - - -
EhE NIENAIA NNENF3IA
Option 31016 065 311122000 267900 = = = = 67900 = = = =
EhE NIsEAIA NNENAYIA
Option 3062017 065 3060021 4080 - - - - 49080 - - - -
BhE NITEHNA MIEENA
Option 306017 130 300021 1907507 - - - - 290507 - - - -
ERE NITESHNA MIEENR
Option w1007 065 281272001 55800 - - = = 55820 = = = =
EhE NI7EIABA NIENARA
Option 3o 065 31120l 108640 - - - - 108840 - - - -
EhE NITENAIA MIENAIA
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Number of shares Number of shares Weighted average
represented represented by~ Closingprice  Weighted average closing price
by options optionsandlor ~ of the Shares closing price mmediately
Exercise andlor RSUs Options andlor ~~ Options and/or RSUs immediately immediately Far value of  before the date
Name or category Date of grant/ price  Vesting date outstandingas  Grantedduring  Exercisedduring ~ RSUscanceled ~ RSUsexpied  outstandingasat  beforethedate  beforethe date  options or RSUs of vesting
of grantees Nature conditional grant (HKS) ~ (Note) at | January 2023 the year theyear  durigtheyear  duringtheyear 3| December 2003 of grant ofgrant at date of grant or exercise
g g
IRIA 12A318
B RN R 2HRE
R Ehis  EACHS ik ZHEY  EBHRR BT
Rk ERiER WERE  ARBHRG R Rl Efiit EEEE
fH/Ek%  fiRE BERE EfiftEH aRRS  RERRS  EMRED Bt mEFy  RHEEN TS
ARAfRED KR =] (m) () Bir#E Ehi i RiE( E BA%E  RAKGE Wi RARE G|
Option 311 241 310l 895630 - - - - 895830 - - - -
ERE NITENA3IA MIENF3IA
Option 3o 03 30 2043 = = = = 20433 = = = =
BhE NITENA3IA MIENEIA
Option 111018 065 1o 1930 - - - - 14230 - - - -
BhE NIBEIRIA NEIR I
Opton /11018 11 58650 - - - - 588850 - - - -
EhE NIBEIRIA NEIR I
Option 203018 685 203000 900000 - - - - 900000 - - - -
ERE NIBEIANA MEANA
Option 157712018 137 1smmon 168726 - - - - 168726 - - - -
EhE NIBETAISA MNETRISA
Option 15/77018 065 1500 42500 - - - - 250 - - - -
ERE NIBETRIA NNETRIA
Option 15777018 11570 55800 - - - - 5580 - - - -
ER NIBETAIA NNETRIE
RU [5/712018 065 1572022 41861 - - - - 41861 - - - -
SRARAEN isETAISH MEIRIA
RSU 11912018 635 19202 567500 - - - - 567500 - - - -
RBHRAZN N859I MNESEIE
RSU 31120018 63 311200 50000 - - - - 50000 - - - -
SRARAEL 28ENA3IA rEDE
RU 119y 19 20003 100000 = = = = 100000 = = = 0l
SRARAED 019E7ANA WBEIANA
RU 11972019 065 19003 560000 - - - - 560,00 - - - 0094
SEARNED W9EAIE WBESEIA
RSU 1152019 8l1 15203 685000 - - - - 685,000 - - - 004
RBARAED 019E9RI NBEEIA
RU 1150019 131503 150000 = = = = 150000 = = = 0094
SBRARNED 0991 NBEAI
RU 1152020 065 115704 20000 - - - - 200000 - - - -
RBARDED N0EEIA MBI
RU 1162021 041 11605 420000 = = = = 4220000 = = = =
FREBOEL 20%6AIA N5EAIR
Subtotal 0043109 B 3999839
it
Totl 4470999 B3 4836699
it
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Notes:

. The vesting period is from the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise
period.

2. Prior to | January 2023, the exercise period of the options granted under the 51 Award

Scheme had been determined by the board of Directors at its absolute discretion, which
shall not exceed ten years from their respective dates of grant subject to the provisions
for early termination thereof. Since | January 2023, such exercise period limit has been
removed and there is no prescribed period during which a grantee may exercise the

options granted under the 51 Award Scheme.

Participants

Participants of the 51 Stock Scheme include:

0) any member of senior management of the Group; or

(i) any person who, in the sole opinion of the RSU Committee, has
contributed or will contribute to any member of the Group (including
business partners of any member of the Group, such as suppliers,
customers or any persons who provide technical support, consultancy,
advisory or other services to any member of the Group), as may be

specifically identified by the RSU Committee.

Participants of the 5| Award Scheme include:

0) any employee of the Group; or

(i) any person who, in the sole opinion of the RSU Committee, has
contributed or will contribute to any member of the Group (including
business partners of any member of the Group, such as suppliers,
customers or any persons who provide technical support, consultancy,
advisory or other services to any member of the Group), as may be

specifically identified by the RSU Committee.
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Transferability

According to the terms of the Schemes (as amended from time to time), the
participant may transfer the granted Award(s) upon the approval of the Board
or an authorized body or person appointed by the Board in accordance with
the terms of the Schemes. The transferee should be bound by the terms of
the Schemes, notices of grant and other relevant applicable documents and

agreements.
Term

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board pursuant to
the termination clauses of the Schemes, the Schemes are valid and effective for
a period of ten years commencing on the date of adoption (i.e, 20 November
2017), and have a remaining life of approximately 3.5 years after which no
Awards will be granted, but the provisions of the Schemes shall in all other
respects remain in full force and effect and the Awards granted during the terms
of the Schemes may continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with their

terms of grant.
RSU Trustee

The Company has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited, a trustee service
provider and an independent third party, to administer the granting and vesting

of RSUs granted to the grantees pursuant to the rules of the Schemes.
Rights attached to Awards

The RSUs under the 51 Stock Scheme do not carry any right to vote at
general meetings of the Company. No grantee shall enjoy any of the rights of a
Shareholder by virtue of the grant of an Award pursuant to the 5| Stock Scheme,
unless and until such Shares underlying the Award are actually transferred to the
grantee upon the vesting of the RSUs provided that the grantee, his/her wholly-
owned entity or any such trust arrangement as directed by him/her shall enter
into an agreement in writing with Mr. Sun delegating the voting rights attached
to such Shares by proxy to Mr. Sun or his delegated entity(ies). Unless otherwise
specified by the RSUs Committee in its entire discretion in the notice of grant,
the grantees do not have any rights to any cash or non-cash income, dividends
or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non- cash and non-scrip distributions

from any Shares underlying an Award.
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Similarly, the RSUs under the 5| Award Scheme do not carry any right to
vote at general meetings of the Company. No grantee shall enjoy any of the
rights of a Shareholder by virtue of the grant of an Award pursuant to the 51
Award Scheme. Unless otherwise specified by the RSU Committee in its entire
discretion in the notice of grant, the grantees do not have any rights to any cash
or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-

cash and non-scrip distributions from any Shares underlying an Award.

Rights attached to Shares (in case of the 51 Stock Scheme only)

Any Shares to be transferred to a grantee or his/her wholly-owned entity upon
the vesting of RSUs granted pursuant to the 51 Stock Scheme shall be subject to
all the provisions of the Articles and shall rank pari passu in all respects with the
existing fully paid Shares in issue on the date of transfer, or, if that date falls on a
day when the register of members of the Company is closed, the first day of the
re-opening of the register of members, and accordingly shall entitle the holder of
such Shares to participate in all dividends or other distributions paid or made on

or after the date of transfer.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed "RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS" and “RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT (“RSU") SCHEMES" of
this Report, at no time during and at the end of the year was the Company or
any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a Party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition

of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other subsidiaries.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain activities with parties regarded as “Related
Parties” under applicable accounting principles. These mainly relate to the
activities in the ordinary course of the Group’s business and were negotiated
on normal commercial terms and on an arm’s length basis. The related party
transactions that did not constitute connected transactions under the Listing
Rules were disclosed in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. The
disclosures required by Rule [4A.71 of the Listing Rules during the year are
provided in the paragraph headed "CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS" as
identified below. Accordingly, the Company has complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors
EFEHRT

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Contractual Arrangements with connected persons

In order to maintain and exercise control over the PRC Operating Entities (as
defined below), the Company has entered into certain contractual arrangements.
The contractual arrangements allow the Company to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits of the PRC Operating Entities and consolidate their
results of operations into the Group's. For the purposes of Chapter [4A of the
Listing Rules, and in particular the definition of “connected person”, the PRC
Operating Entities | will be treated as the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries,
and their directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders (as defined in the
Listing Rules) and their respective associates will be treated as the Company's

“connected persons”.

Hence, the transactions carried out under the Contractual Arrangements | (as
defined below) during the year constituted continuing connected transactions
of the Company. As the Company has applied to the Stock Exchange for,
and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with the
announcement, circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements | pursuant to Rule [4A.105
of the Listing Rules, the transactions are only subject to the reporting and annual
review requirements under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules. Further details of
the waiver are set out in the sections headed "“Waivers from Strict Compliance
with the Listing Rules” and “Connected Transactions — B. Non-exempt
Continuing Connected Transactions” of the prospectus (the “Prospectus”) of

the Company dated 29 June 2018.

Further details of the contractual arrangements are set out in the section headed

“"CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS" of this Report.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The Board had reviewed the major issues arising from the implementation and
performance of the contractual arrangements of the year ended 3| December
2023, and had discussed the matters relating to compliance and regulatory

enquiries from governmental authorities.

Overview

The PRC Operating Entities (defined as below) of the Group are required
to hold the Value-added Telecommunication Service Operating Permit (the
“ICP Licence”) to operate the mobile applications and the provision of online

information services.

On || December 2001, the State Council of the PRC promulgated the
Provisions on the Administration of Foreign-funded Telecommunications
Enterprise (the “FITE Regulations™), which were amended on |10 September
2008, 6 February 2016 and 29 March 2022, respectively. According to the FITE
Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than 50% of the
equity interests in a company providing value-added telecom services (“VATS”),
including ICP services. The latest FITE Regulations have removed the qualification
requirement for foreign investors investing in VATS business in China. However,
there is uncertainty regarding the interpretation and implementation of the
amended FITE Regulations. It also remains uncertain whether and what kinds
of additional requirements (if any) will be imposed on foreign investors holding

equity interests in a PRC company providing VATS.

Report of the Directors
EFERS

BHRHE

EESEERNEE2023F 1283 HIEFEESNZHRN
BHARATMEENEASTE » AETHAGHERK
[ R E R A RN EIE °

EE

FEETHEEER (EER T ARAEESREX
BASEFrrIaE (TICPEFAIER ) LUEE F B A RIRH
MBEEREIRT -

12001128 118 > FEIEABREBER(IMEREEE
rEEERTE)((HNEBEEERE) » ZREDH
HR2008F9H 108 ~ 2016F2H6H X 2022438298
BAEET - BB EBERERTE » MEREETER
REIBESEERYS (NMEEEER)) (B1EICPRE)
AR EBBS0%MRRE - RIMHNINEBELER
EMBR T HRERERERESERBDEBNINER
BEENEEER - BARKEITINIEEBELERTE
MR B FEREENE © I BEHRER
RELERNAE QSR RTENIIMNEE EE KNS
SNERUURHEIAIEREINER (NFE) > BRIDER
A0 o

SHEREAMRAT 035Ems 61



Report of the Directors
EFEHRT

Structured Contract |

Zhenniu Information is an indirect wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of the

Company.

Enniu Network was jointly held by domestic enterprises such as Pingxiang Jiniu
Asset Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)* CE4S40 4+ & EEIE
EBLE(BREHE)), Xinhu Zhongbao and Shenzhen Tiantu Xingbang
Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership)* GRIIKEEFBILERE (AR
£%)). Enniu Network has obtained the ICP Licence.

Zhenniu Information entered into: (I) the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement | with Enniu Network in November 2017, then amended and
renewed the same in December 2017; and further entered into: (2) the
Exclusive Option Agreement [; (3) the Share Pledge Agreement |; and (4) the
Powers of Attorney | and supporting documents (collectively referred to as
the “Structured Contract |") with Enniu Network and domestic enterprises
such as Pingxiang Jiniu Asset Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)*
CEMaFEEBESB T (BREE)), Xinhu Zhongbao and Shenzhen
Tiantu Xingbang Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership)* (ZRIIIK B FEFE
"ERE (BREF)) (the “Nominee Shareholders 1) to enable the Group
to obtain the power and ability to control the business of Enniu Network and

acquire economic benefits (the “Contractual Arrangements |").
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Exclusive Option Agreement |

Enniu Network and the Nominee Shareholders |, entered into the
exclusive option agreement | (the “Exclusive Option Agreement |") with
Zhenniu Information in December 2017, pursuant to which the Nominee
Shareholders | agreed to grant to Zhenniu Information (or the Company
or any subsidiary of the Company (the “Designee”), an irrevocable and
exclusive option to acquire or purchase from the Nominee Shareholders
| and/or Enniu Network all or any part of their equity interests in and/
or assets of Enniu Network at a nominal price, unless the relevant
government authorities or the PRC laws request that another amount
be used as the purchase price, in which case the purchase price shall be
the lowest amount under such request. In compliance with the current
regulations and requirements of the PRC laws, the Nominee Shareholders
I and/or Enniu Network shall return any amount of purchase price they
have received to Zhenniu Information. At Zhenniu Information’s request,
the Nominee Shareholders | and/or Enniu Network will promptly and
unconditionally transfer their respective equity interests in and/or assets of
Enniu Network to Zhenniu Information (or the Designee) after Zhenniu

Information exercises its purchase right.

In order to prevent the flow of the assets and value of Enniu Network and
its subsidiaries (the “PRC Operating Entities 1", together with the PRC
Operating Entities 2 (defined as below), collectively, the “PRC Operating
Entities”) to the Nominee Shareholders |, during the term of the
Exclusive Option Agreement |, Enniu Network shall not, and shall procure
its subsidiaries not to, sell, transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose of any
of its assets without the prior written consent of Zhenniu Information.
In addition, Enniu Network shall not, and shall procure its subsidiaries
not to, make any distributions to its shareholder(s) without the prior
written consent of Zhenniu Information. In the event that the Nominee
Shareholders | receive any distribution from Enniu Network and/or its
subsidiaries and subject to the PRC laws, the Nominee Shareholders |
must immediately pay or transfer such distribution to Zhenniu Information
(or the Designee). If Zhenniu Information exercises its purchase right,
all or any part of the equity interests in and/or assets of Enniu Network
acquired would be transferred to Zhenniu Information and the benefits of
equity ownership and/or assets, as applicable, would flow to the Company

and the Shareholders.

The Exclusive Option Agreement | is for an initial term of ten years and is
automatically renewable upon expiry unless Zhenniu Information confirms

a new renewal term in writing.
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Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement |

Enniu Network and its subsidiaries entered into the exclusive business
cooperation agreement | (the "Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement |") with Zhenniu Information in December 2017, pursuant
to which Enniu Network agreed to engage Zhenniu Information and
its designated persons as the exclusive provider to the PRC Operating
Entities | of business support, technical and consulting services, including
technical services, network support, business consultation, intellectual
property licensing, equipment, leasing, marketing consultancy, system
integration, product research and development and system maintenance,
in exchange for service fees. Under these arrangements, the service fees,
subject to Zhenniu Information’s adjustment, are equal to all of the net
profit of the PRC Operating Entities |. Zhenniu Information may adjust
the service fees at its sole discretion, after consideration of certain factors,
including but not limited to the deduction of necessary costs, expenses,
taxes and other statutory contribution in relation to the respective fiscal
year, and may also include accumulated losses of the PRC Operating
Entities | from previous financial periods, which will be wired to the
designated account of Zhenniu Information upon issuance of payment
notification by Zhenniu Information. Zhenniu Information enjoys all the
economic benefits derived from every business of the PRC Operating
Entities | and bears Enniu Network's business risks. If Enniu Network
runs into financial deficit or suffers severe operation difficulties, Zhenniu

Information will provide financial support to Enniu Network.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement | is for an initial term
of ten years and is automatically renewable upon expiry unless Zhenniu

Information confirms a new renewal term in writing.
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4)

Share Pledge Agreement |

Enniu Network and the Nominee Shareholders | and Zhenniu
Information entered into the share pledge agreement | (the “Share
Pledge Agreement |”) in December 2017. Under the Share Pledge
Agreement |, the Nominee Shareholders | pledged all of their respective
equity interests in Enniu Network to Zhenniu Information as collateral
security for any or all of their payments due to Zhenniu Information and
to secure performance of their obligations under the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement |, the Exclusive Option Agreement | and the
Powers of Attorney | (as defined below). The Share Pledge Agreement
I will not terminate until (i) all obligations of Enniu Network and the
Nominee Shareholders | are satisfied in full; (i) Zhenniu Information
exercises its exclusive option to purchase the entire equity interests
of the Nominee Shareholders | in Enniu Network and/or the entire
assets of Enniu Network pursuant to the terms of the Exclusive Option
Agreement | when it is permitted to do so under the applicable PRC
laws and regulations; (i) Zhenniu Information exercises its unilateral and
unconditional right of termination; or (iv) the agreement is required to
be terminated in accordance with applicable PRC laws and regulations. In
addition, under the Exclusive Option Agreement I, none of the Nominee
Shareholders | may transfer or permit the encumbrance of any of their
equity interests in and assets of Enniu Network (including any equity
interests in and assets of the subsidiaries of Enniu Network) without
Zhenniu Information’s prior written consent. The Share Pledge Agreement
I will be terminated when all the said obligations of the Nominee
Shareholders | contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements | are
fulfilled or terminated in accordance with the requirement of the relevant

applicable laws and regulations of the PRC.

Powers of Attorney |

An irrevocable power of attorney | (the “"Powers of Attorney |")
was entered into between the Nominee Shareholders |, Zhenniu
Information and Enniu Network in December 2017, whereby the
Nominee Shareholders | appointed Zhenniu Information or, according to
the instruction of Zhenniu Information, a director of its offshore holding
company or a liquidator or a successor who are acting the function of
those directors as their exclusive agent and attorney to act on their behalf
on all matters concerning Enniu Network and to exercise all of its rights as

a Nominee Shareholders | of Enniu Network.
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Save as disclosed above, there was no other new contractual arrangement
entered into, renewed and/or reproduced between the Group and the PRC
Operating Entities | and/or the Nominee Shareholders | for the year ended 31
December 2023. There was no material change in the Contractual Arrangements
| and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted for the year ended
3| December 2023.

Save for the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement | which involves
the payment of a service fee by Enniu Network to Zhenniu Information, and
the nominal purchase consideration to be paid by Zhenniu Information to
the Nominee Shareholders | under the Exclusive Option Agreement |, the

Contractual Arrangements | do not involve payment of any consideration.

The Structured Contract |, taken as a whole, permit the results and financial
operations of Enniu Network to be consolidated into the Group, as if it were
the Company's subsidiary resulting in all economic benefits of its business flowing
to the Company. Through the appointment of senior management of Enniu
Network, the Company believes that Zhenniu Information is able to effectively
supervise, manage and operate the business operations, expansion plans,
financial policies and assets of Enniu Network, and at the same time, ensure due

implementation of the Structured Contract |.

The Structured Contract | enables the Company to exercise control over and
receives economic benefits generated from the business operation of Enniu
Network. The validity and legality of the Structured Contract | have been
confirmed by the PRC legal advisor. The Company is of the view that it is fair
and reasonable for Zhenniu Information to be entitled to all the economic
benefits generated from Enniu Network. The Structured Contract | also permits
Zhenniu Information to exclusively acquire all or part of the equity interests
in Enniu Network, to the extent permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.
Notwithstanding the Group's lack of equity ownership in Enniu Network, the
Group is able to control the business and financial position of Enniu Network
in substance through the Structured Contract |. As a result of the Contractual
Arrangements |, Enniu Network is accounted for as the Company’s subsidiary,
and its financial position and operating results being consolidated into the

Group's consolidated financial statements.

The revenue and net loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 and net
deficit of Enniu Network as at 31 December 2023, pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements |, amounted to approximately RMB25.3 million, approximately

RMB6.6 million and approximately RMB2,476.5 million, respectively.

The total asset of Enniu Network that is subject to the Contractual Arrangements
| amounted to approximately RMB2,673.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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Structured Contract 2

Hangzhou Jiahao Technology Co., Ltd.*

(MMBHFRRBERAE)

(*Hangzhou Jiahao”) was jointly held by Mr. Weng Chang and Mr. Guan Jun.

Hangzhou Jiahao has obtained the ICP Licence.

Zhenniu Information entered into: (I) the Exclusive Business Cooperation

Agreement 2 with Hangzhou Jiahao in August 2019, and further entered into:

(2) the Exclusive Option Agreement 2; (3) the Share Pledge Agreement 2; and

(4) the Powers of Attorney 2 and supporting documents (collectively referred

to as the “Structured Contract 2"') with Hangzhou Jiahao, Mr. Weng Chang and

Mr. Guan Jun (the “Nominee Shareholders 2") to enable the Group to obtain

the power and ability to control the business of Hangzhou Jiahao and acquire

economic benefits (the “Contractual Arrangements 2").

(M

Exclusive Option Agreement 2

Hangzhou Jiahao and the Nominee Shareholders 2, entered into the
exclusive option agreement 2 (the “Exclusive Option Agreement 2") with
Zhenniu Information in August 2021, pursuant to which the Nominee
Shareholders 2 agreed to grant to Zhenniu Information (or the Designee),
an irrevocable and exclusive option to acquire or purchase from the
Nominee Shareholders 2 and/or Hangzhou Jiahao all or any part of their
equity interests in and/or assets of Hangzhou Jiahao at a nominal price,
unless the relevant government authorities or the PRC laws request that
another amount be used as the purchase price, in which case the purchase
price shall be the lowest amount under such request. In compliance with
the current regulations and requirements of the PRC laws, the Nominee
Shareholders 2 and/or Hangzhou Jiahao shall return any amount of
purchase price they have received to Zhenniu Information. At Zhenniu
Information’s request, the Nominee Shareholders 2 and/or Hangzhou
Jiahao will promptly and unconditionally transfer their respective equity
interests in and/or assets of Hangzhou Jiahao to Zhenniu Information (or

the Designee) after Zhenniu Information exercising its purchase right.
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In order to prevent the flow of the assets and value of Hangzhou Jiahao
and its subsidiaries (the “PRC Operating Entities 2"") to the Nominee
Shareholders 2, during the term of the Exclusive Option Agreement 2,
Hangzhou Jiahao shall not, and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, sell,
transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose of any of its assets without the
prior written consent of Zhenniu Information. In addition, Hangzhou Jiahao
shall not, and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, make any distributions
to its shareholder(s) without the prior written consent of Zhenniu
Information. In the event that the Nominee Shareholders 2 receive any
distribution from Hangzhou Jiahao and/or its subsidiaries and subject to
the PRC laws, the Nominee Shareholders 2 must immediately pay or
transfer such distribution to Zhenniu Information (or the Designee). If
Zhenniu Information exercises its purchase right, all or any part of the
equity interests in and/or assets of Hangzhou Jiahao acquired would be
transferred to Zhenniu Information and the benefits of equity ownership
and/or assets, as applicable, would flow to the Company and the

Shareholders.
The Exclusive Option Agreement 2 is for an initial term of ten years and is

automatically renewable upon expiry unless Zhenniu Information confirms

a new renewal term in writing.
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Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 2

Hangzhou Jiahao and its subsidiaries entered into the exclusive business
cooperation agreement 2 (the "Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement 2") with Zhenniu Information in August 2019, pursuant to
which Hangzhou Jiahao agreed to engage Zhenniu Information and its
designated persons as the exclusive provider to the PRC Operating
Entities 2 of business support, technical and consulting services, including
technical services, network support, business consultation, intellectual
property licensing, equipment, leasing, marketing consultancy, system
integration, product research and development and system maintenance,
in exchange for service fees. Under these arrangements, the service fees,
subject to Zhenniu Information’s adjustment, are equal to all of the net
profit of the PRC Operating Entities 2. Zhenniu Information may adjust
the service fees at its sole discretion, after consideration of certain factors,
including but not limited to the deduction of necessary costs, expenses,
taxes and other statutory contribution in relation to the respective fiscal
year, and may also include accumulated losses of the PRC Operating
Entities 2 from previous financial periods, which will be wired to the
designated account of Zhenniu Information upon issuance of payment
notification by Zhenniu Information. Zhenniu Information enjoys all the
economic benefits derived from every business of the PRC Operating
Entities 2 and bears Hangzhou Jiahao's business risks. If Hangzhou Jiahao
runs into financial deficit or suffers severe operation difficulties, Zhenniu

Information will provide financial support to Hangzhou Jiahao.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 2 is for an initial term
of ten years and is automatically renewable upon expiry unless Zhenniu

Information confirms a new renewal term in writing.
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Share Pledge Agreement 2

Hangzhou Jiahao and the Nominee Shareholders 2 and Zhenniu
Information entered into the share pledge agreement 2 (the “Share
Pledge Agreement 2") in August 202|. Under the Share Pledge
Agreement 2, the Nominee Shareholders 2 pledged all of their respective
equity interests in Hangzhou Jiahao to Zhenniu Information as collateral
security for any or all of their payments due to Zhenniu Information and
to secure performance of their obligations under the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement 2, the Exclusive Option Agreement 2 and the
Powers of Attorney 2 (as defined below). The Share Pledge Agreement
2 will not terminate until (i) all obligations of Hangzhou Jiahao and the
Nominee Shareholders 2 are satisfied in full; (i) Zhenniu Information
exercises its exclusive option to purchase the entire equity interests
of the Nominee Shareholders 2 in Hangzhou Jiahao and/or the entire
assets of Hangzhou Jiahao pursuant to the terms of the Exclusive Option
Agreement 2 when it is permitted to do so under the applicable PRC
laws and regulations; (iii) Zhenniu Information exercises its unilateral and
unconditional right of termination; or (iv) the agreement is required to
be terminated in accordance with applicable PRC laws and regulations. In
addition, under the Exclusive Option Agreement 2, none of the Nominee
Shareholders 2 may transfer or permit the encumbrance of any of their
equity interests in and assets of Hangzhou Jiahao (including any equity
interests in and assets of the subsidiaries of Hangzhou Jiahao) without
Zhenniu Information’s prior written consent. The Share Pledge Agreement
2 will be terminated when all the said obligations of the Nominee
Shareholders 2 contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements 2 are
fulfilled or terminated in accordance with the requirement of the relevant

applicable laws and regulations of the PRC.

Powers of Attorney 2

An irrevocable power of attorney 2 (the “Powers of Attorney 2') was
entered into between the Nominee Shareholders 2, Zhenniu Information
and Hangzhou Jiahao in August 2021, whereby the Nominee Shareholders
2 appointed Zhenniu Information or, according to the instruction of
Zhenniu Information, a director of its offshore holding company or a
liquidator or a successor who are acting the function of those directors
as their exclusive agent and attorney to act on their behalf on all matters
concerning Hangzhou Jiahao and to exercise all of its rights as a Nominee

Shareholders 2 of Hangzhou Jiahao.
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Save as disclosed above, there was no other new contractual arrangement
entered into, renewed and/or reproduced between the Group and the
PRC Operating Entities 2 and/or the Nominee Shareholders 2 for the
year ended 3| December 2023. There was no material change in the
Contractual Arrangements 2 and/or the circumstances under which they

were adopted for the year ended 3| December 2023.

Save for the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 2 which involves
the payment of a service fee by Hangzhou Jiahao to Zhenniu Information,
and the nominal purchase consideration to be paid by Zhenniu
Information to the Nominee Shareholders 2 under the Exclusive Option
Agreement 2, the Contractual Arrangements 2 do not involve payment of

any consideration.

The Structured Contract 2, taken as a whole, permit the results and
financial operations of Hangzhou Jiahao to be consolidated into the
Group, as if it were the Company's subsidiary resulting in all economic
benefits of its business flowing to the Company. Through the appointment
of senior management of Hangzhou Jiahao, the Company believes that
Zhenniu Information is able to effectively supervise, manage and operate
the business operations, expansion plans, financial policies and assets of
Hangzhou Jiahao, and at the same time, ensure due implementation of the
Structured Contract 2.

The Structured Contract 2 enables the Company to exercise control over
and receives economic benefits generated from the business operation
of Hangzhou Jiahao. The validity and legality of the Structured Contract
2 have been confirmed by the PRC legal advisor. The Company is of the
view that it is fair and reasonable for Zhenniu Information to be entitled
to all the economic benefits generated from Hangzhou Jiahao. The
Structured Contract 2 also permits Zhenniu Information to exclusively
acquire all or part of the equity interests in Hangzhou Jiahao, to the
extent permitted by the PRC laws and regulations. Notwithstanding
the Group's lack of equity ownership in Hangzhou Jiahao, the Group is
able to control the business and financial position of Hangzhou Jiahao
in substance through the Structured Contract 2. As a result of the
Contractual Arrangements 2, Hangzhou Jiahao is accounted for as the
Company's subsidiary, and its financial position and operating results being

consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The revenue and net loss for the year ended 3| December 2023 and
net deficit of Hangzhou Jiahao as at 31 December 2023, pursuant to the
Contractual Arrangements 2, amounted to approximately RMB0.9 million,

approximately RMB2.5 million and approximately RMB16.6 million.

The total asset of Hangzhou Jiaohao that is subject to the Contractual
Arrangements 2 amounted to approximately RMB530.7 million for the
year ended 3| December 2023.
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Reasons for adopting the Contractual Arrangements

As a company directly held by foreign shareholders is not allowed to engage
in the Internet business in which Enniu Network, Hangzhou Jiahao and each of
their subsidiaries, are engaged, the contractual arrangements are adopted by the
Group. The 51 Credit Card Manager which is developed and owned by Enniu
Network acts as the major channel through which the Group approaches its
users and conducts business. Enniu Network presents information to specific
users by connecting the 51 Credit Card Manager to its cooperating Internet
platforms, thereby providing credit card management service and other related
service to potential users. Hangzhou Jiahao, through its subsidiary, Shenzhen
CRYINEA@ERMBRAR) |

developed and operated a mobile application named Little Blue Book, and

Xiaolanben Network Technology Ltd.*

provides commercial information searching services to users by Little Blue Book.

Therefore, the Contractual Arrangements are crucial to the Group.

The Company will keep exploring various opportunities in building up its ICP
services operations for the purposes of being qualified as early as possible, to
acquire the entire equity interest of each of Enniu Network and Hangzhou Jiahao,

respectively, if and when the foreign investment restrictions are lifted.

Risk factors related to Contractual Arrangements and actions to be taken

Certain risks related to Contractual Arrangements, including:

if the PRC government deems that the Contractual Arrangements in
relation to the PRC Operating Entities (including the PRC Operating
Entities | and the PRC Operating Entities 2) do not comply with the PRC
regulatory restrictions on foreign investment in the relevant industries, or if
these regulations or the interpretation of existing regulations change in the
future, we could be subject to severe penalties or be forced to relinquish

our interests in those operations;

2. if the imposition of any of these penalties or requirements to restructure
our corporate structure by the PRC government cause us to lose the
rights to direct the activities of the PRC Operating Entities or our right
to receive their economic benefits, we would no longer be able to
consolidate the financial results of the PRC Operating Entities in our

consolidated financial statements;
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3. we could face material and adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax
authorities determine that our Contractual Arrangements with the PRC
Operating Entities were not made on an arm'’s length basis and adjust our
income and expenses for the PRC tax purposes by requiring a transfer

pricing adjustment;

4. the nominee shareholders of the PRC Operating Entities may have
potential conflicts of interest with us, which may materially and adversely

affect our business and financial position; and

5. if any of the PRC Operating Entities become subject to winding up or
liquidation proceedings, we may lose the ability to use and enjoy certain

important assets held by the PRC Operating Entities.

The Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective operation
of the Group with the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements and our

compliance with the contractual arrangements, including:

major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from government
authorities will be submitted to the Board, if necessary, for review and

discussion on an occurrence basis;

2. the Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with the

contractual arrangements at least once a year; and

3. the Company will engage external legal advisors or other professional
advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to review the implementation
of the contractual arrangements, review the legal compliance of Enniu
Network, Hangzhou Jiahao and the PRC Operating Entities to deal with

specific issues or matters arising from the contractual arrangements.
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Annual review by the independent non-executive Directors and the auditor

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual

Arrangements and confirmed that:

(@)  the transactions carried out for the year ended 31 December 2023 had
been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the

Contractual Arrangements;

(b)  no dividends or other distributions had been made by the PRC Operating
Entities to the holders of its equity interests which were not otherwise

subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group; and

() any new contracts had been entered into, renewed and/or reproduced
between the Group and the PRC Operating Entities for the year ended
31 December 2023 are fair and reasonable, or advantageous to the
Shareholders, so far as the Group is concerned and in the interest of the

Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board that the
transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements for the year
ended 31 December 2023 had received the approval of the Board, had been
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual
Arrangements, and that no dividends or other distributions had been declared by
the PRC Operating Entities to the holders of its equity interests which were not

otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

The Directors confirmed that during the year, they did not have any interest in
a business, apart from the business of the Group, which competes or is likely
to compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, that would

require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the total issued Shares was at all
times held by the public during the year and up to the latest practicable date prior
to the issue of this Report. The Company has maintained a sufficient public float

in compliance with Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION FOR HOLDERS OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Company's securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A detailed Report on corporate governance is set out on pages 76 to 102 of this

Report.

AUDITOR

On 9 December 2022, PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as the auditor of the
Company and Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited was appointed as the new auditor of

the Company with effect from the same date.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by Zhonghui Anda. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Zhonghui Anda as the auditor of the Company for
the subsequent year is to be proposed at the annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM").

By order of the Board
51 Credit Card Inc.
Sun Haitao

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

27 March 2024

ks The English name(s) has/have been transliterated from its/their respective Chinese

name(s) and is/are for identification only.
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Corporate Governance Report
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CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group recognizes that a good corporate culture is necessary to support
and complement its corporate governance efforts and corporate image, and
has gradually developed a corporate culture emphasising on lawful, ethical and
responsible business conduct over the years, which has been reflected in the
overall operations and management of the Group, in order to facilitate the long-
term sustainability of the Group. In order to promote open communication in
the workplace and high ethical standards among staff and management of the
Group, the Group has established anti-corruption and whistle-blowing policies,
to provide guidance on identifying relevant breaches or improper behaviour,
reporting procedures and consequences of violations of such policies. For further
details on the Group's anti-corruption and whistle-blowing policies, please see

pages 103 to 144 of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board strives to attain and maintain high standards of corporate governance
in order to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance corporate
value and accountability. In addition, the Group is also committed to continuously

improving its corporate governance practices.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company had applied and complied
with all the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code") as set out in Appendix C| to the Listing Rules with exceptions set out as

follows:

CODE PROVISION C.2.1

Code provision C2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the

same individual.

Currently, Mr. Sun takes up the roles of both chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, which is deviated from code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code which stipulates that the roles of chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The Board considers that Mr. Sun possesses the essential
leadership skills to manage the Board and extensive knowledge in the business
of the Group. In the opinion of the Directors, through supervision by the Board
and the independent non-executive Directors, together with effective control
of the Company'’s internal check and balance mechanism, the same individual
performing the roles of chairman and the Chief Executive Officer can achieve
the goal of improving the Company's efficiency in decision making, execution
and effectively capturing business opportunities. The Board will review the

effectiveness of this arrangement from time to time.
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CODE PROVISION C.5.8

Code provision C.5.8 of the CG Code stipulates that an agenda and
accompanying board papers should be sent, in full, to all directors. These should
be sent in a timely manner and at least 3 days before the intended date of a

board or board committee meeting (or other agreed period).

The members of the Board or Board committees of the Company were
informed by the company secretary of the Company by email, by WeChat or
by phone on the updated information from time to time. Although the meeting
papers could not be sent to the directors at least three days before intended
date of meeting, the Board or Board committees of the Company nonetheless
received sufficient information to discuss the matters on proposed agenda of

such meetings in a timely manner.

CODE PROVISION F.2.2

Code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman of the
Board should attend the annual general meetings of the Company, and should
also invite the chairmen of the audit, remuneration, nomination and any other
committees (as appropriate) to attend. In their absence, the chairman should
invite another member of the committee or failing this their duly appointed
delegates to attend. During the year ended 3| December 2023, Mr. Sun Haitao
was unable to attend annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 May

2023 (the "AGM”) due to other business commitments.

Ms. Wu Shan, an executive Director present at that AGM took the chair
of that AGM pursuant to Article 13.3 of the Articles to ensure an effective
communication with the Shareholders thereat. Mr. Sun Haitao is the Nomination
Committee’s chairman and due to his absence at the AGM, Ms. Wu Shan also

invited Mr. Ye Xiang, member of the Nomination Committee, to attend.

CODE PROVISION C.1.6

Code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code stipulates that, among others, independent
non-executive directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. During the year ended 31 December 2023, Ms. Zou Yunli, Ms.
Gao Li and Mr. Xu Xuchu were unable to attend AGM due to other business

commitments.
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THE BOARD

Board Composition

As at the date of this Report, the Board is made up of eight Directors including
two executive Directors, three non-executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The biographical details of the Directors are set
out under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this Report. During the year ended 3| December 2023 and up
to the date of this Report, the Board consisted of the following:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Wu Shan (Vice-President)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Zou Yunli

Ms. Jiang Chloe Cuicui

Ms. Gao Li

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ye Xiang

Mr. Xu Xuchu
Mr. Shou Jian
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For the year ended 3| December 2023, the Company had three independent
non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the Board with
one independent non-executive Director possessing the appropriate professional
accounting or relevant financial management expertise as required under Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this Report, to the best knowledge of the Board, save as
disclosed in this Report, there was no financial, business or family relationship

among members of the Board or the chief executives of the Company.

The Company had received from each of the independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules and considers that all of them are independent.

The Board has implemented various mechanisms to ensure that independent
views are available to the Board, including: (1) having three independent non-
executive Directors (“INEDs") representing at least one-third of the Board;
(2) ensuring that the Chairman at least annually holds meetings with the INEDs
without the presence of other Directors; (3) making independent professional
advice available to Directors upon reasonable request under the terms of
reference of each of Committees of the Company; (4) requirement for each
INED to provide written confirmation annually as to the factors affecting their
independence provided under the Listing Rules; (5) in considering prospective
INEDs candidates, the Nomination Committee assesses independence of the
candidate(s) with reference to the relevant guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules and other factors, including but not limited to his/her character, integrity,
cross-directorships and significant links with other Directors, time commitment,
professional qualifications and relevant work experience; (6) the Nomination
Committee shall review the structure, size and composition of the Board
regularly in relation to the Company's Board diversity policy (“Board Diversity

Policy”) and make proposals accordingly.

The Board will conduct a regular review on the implementation and effectiveness

of such mechanisms.
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Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Directors participate in appropriate continuous professional trainings to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant. The Company Secretary circulated timely
updates and reading materials to all Directors relating to the Listing Rules, the
SFO, and relevant statutory and regulatory guidelines on obligations and duties of
a director of a listed company. All Directors have complied with code provision
C.1.4 of the CG Code in relation to the training of Directors. According to the
records provided by the Directors and maintained by the Company, the training
received by the Directors for the year ended 3| December 2023 is summarised

as follows:

Name of Directors Directors’ duties
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updates Business updates  governance
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Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Sun Haitao Yes B
BEERE

Ms. Wu Shan Yes B
S+

Non-executive Directors

ERITES

Ms. Zou Yunli Yes B
PWEELL

Ms. Gao Li Yes B
SEik

Ms. Jiang Chloe CuiCui Yes B
EERe: 3% Rogum

Independent Non-executive Directors

BIFRITES

Mr. Ye Xiang Yes B
Bkt

Mr. Xu Xuchu Yes B
B L

Mr. Shou Jian® Yes B
BAEE
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Board and Committees Meetings

For the year ended 3| December 2023, the Company held four Board meetings
in total. At least fourteen days' advance notice is given for all regular Board
meetings to give all Directors an opportunity to attend and to include matters
for discussion in the agenda. The Directors have access to the management
for enquiries and to obtain further information, and when required, seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. Minutes of meetings
are kept by the Company Secretary. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
all Directors had been provided with monthly updates by the Company to
ensure they are informed of the Group’s performance, financial position and
significant business developments and to facilitate them to discharge their duties

as Directors.

For the year ended 3| December 2023, the attendance records of Directors at
Board and committees meetings are set out as follows:
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Responsibility of the Board and Delegation of Management Function

The Board has the overall responsibility for the stewardship of the Group,
including the responsibilities for the adoption of long-term strategies and
appointment and supervision of senior management to ensure that the operation
of the Group is conducted in accordance with the objectives of the Group.

Execution of daily operational matters is delegated to the management.
Appointment and Election of Directors

The executive Directors have entered into service contracts with the Company
for a term of three years and will automatic extension for another three years
at the end of every three years. The term entered for Ms. Zou Yunli as non-
executive Director is three years and will automatic extension for another
three years at the end of every three years. The terms of Ms. Gao Li and Ms.
Jiang Chloe Cuicui as non-executive Directors are one year and will automatic
extension for another year at the end of every year. In addition, all independent
non-executive Directors have entered into letters of appointment with the
Company for a term of one year. In accordance with the Articles, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years at the
annual general meeting. Any new Directors appointed by the Board either to
fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board are subject to re-election by
the Shareholders at the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment. At each annual general meeting, at least one-third of the Directors
shall retire from office. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of
the meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. The
retiring Directors, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election. There
is no cumulative voting in the Director elections. The election of each candidate
is done through a separate resolution. Details with respect to the candidates
standing for election as the Directors are set out in the AGM circular to the

Shareholders.

The Board, with support of the Nomination Committee, is responsible for
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of Directors, monitoring the appointment of Directors and

assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors. The Company has made specific
enquiries with all Directors and all Directors confirmed that they had complied

with the Model Code for the year ended 3| December 2023.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in respect of legal
actions taken against its Directors and officers. The insurance coverage will
be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that the Directors and officers are

adequately protected against potential legal liabilities.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee include (but not limited to)
supervising the annual auditing work, assessing the truthfulness, accuracy and
completeness of the audited financial statements and submitting the assessment
to the Board for consideration; proposing the engagement or change of external
auditor and supervising their performance; reviewing and evaluating the financial
supervising system and internal audit system of the Company; discussing the
risk management and internal control systems with management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to have effective risk management and
internal control systems; and reviewing the financial information of the Company

and its disclosure.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, of whom Ye Xiang
(independent non-executive Director) was the chairman, and other members
are Ms. Zou Yunli (non-executive Director), and Mr. Xu Xuchu (independent
non-executive Director). Mr. Ye Xiang (independent non-executive Director)
has the professional qualification, and appropriate accounting or relevant financial

management expertise.
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For the year ended 3| December 2023, the Audit Committee held four

meetings. Detailed attendance records by members of the Audit Committee are

set out on page 8| of this Report. Summaries of works completed by the audit

Committee during the year ended 3| December 2023 are as follows:

reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements, annual results
announcement and the annual report for the year ended 31 December
2022;

discussed with auditor of the Company regarding any problems and

reservations arising during the year ended 3| December 2022.

reviewed the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements,
interim results announcement and the 2023 interim report for the six
months ended 30 June 2023;

reviewed the financial reporting system, the risk management and internal
control systems, and the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the

Group; and

reviewed the internal control review report prepared by the external
internal control consultant for its review over the Group's risk
management and internal control systems on, among others, the Group's

existing variable interest entities arrangements.

Auditor’s Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration in respect of the audit

and non-audit services rendered by the auditor of the Company are as follows:
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Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. In
preparing such financial statements, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting
policies are selected and applied consistently. The statement of the auditor of
the Company about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out under the section headed “Independent Auditor's Report”

of this annual report.

Remuneration Committee

The main responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include (but not
limited to) reviewing and examining the remuneration policies and proposals
of Directors and senior management; reviewing and assessing the performance
of Directors and senior management in discharging their responsibilities
and conducting annual performance evaluation; approving the terms of the
executive Directors’ service contracts; making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of executive Directors, non-executive
Directors and senior management; reviewing and/or approving matters relating
to share schemes under Chapter |7 of the Listing Rules; and considering
the remunerations paid by comparable companies, time commitment and

responsibilities and employment conditions for other positions in the Group.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, of whom Mr.
Ye Xiang (independent non-executive Director) is the chairman, and other
members are Mr. Sun Haitao (chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and
executive Director) and Mr. Xu Xuchu (independent non-executive Director).

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee held
one meeting. Detailed attendance records by members of the Remuneration
Committee are set out on pages 8! of this Report. Summaries of works

completed by the Remuneration Committee during 2023 are as follows:

= reviewed the remuneration of Directors and senior management;

- reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy, structure and packages of all Directors and senior management;
and

= reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package adjustments of individual executive Directors, non-executive

Director, and independent non-executive Directors.
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Nomination Committee

The main responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include (but not limited
to) reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience of the members) of the Board at least once a year and making
recommendations on proposed changes to the Board in accordance with the
Company's corporate strategy; reviewing the requirements and procedures
for the appointment of Directors and senior management and providing
suggestions to the Board; identifying qualified candidates for Directors and
senior management and reviewing and making suggestions on the qualification
of the candidates for Directors and senior management; and evaluating the

independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, of whom Mr. Sun
Haitao (chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and executive Director) is
the chairman, and other members are Mr. Ye Xiang (independent non-executive

Director) and Mr. Xu Xuchu (independent non-executive Director).

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee held
one meeting. Detailed attendance records by members of the Nomination
Committee are set out on pages 81 of this Report. Summaries of works

completed by the Nomination Committee during 2023 are as follows:

= reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, and

the Board Diversity Policy;

= reviewed the nomination policy and procedures for directorship during

the year;

= assessed the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;

and

= made recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the

re-election of Directors.
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Nomination Policy

The Group has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”).

Summary of the Nomination Policy

The Company embraced high transparency in the Board member selection
process. The Nomination Policy is aimed to ensure the Board maintains
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. The Nomination Committee utilizes
various methods for identifying director candidates, including recommendations
from Board members, management, and professional search firms. In addition,
the Nomination Committee will consider director candidates properly submitted
by the Shareholders. All director candidates are evaluated by the Nomination
Committee based upon the director qualifications, including but not limited
to the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity; skills that are
complementary to those of the existing Board, etc. The Nomination Committee
has been delegated to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships. The Board is ultimately responsible for

the selection and appointment of new Directors.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy to achieve diversity at Board

level.
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Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

Selection of candidates for members of the Board will be based on a number
of criteria, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, and will take into full consideration of the Company’s business scale and
specific requirements from time to time. Currently, members of the Board have
different business and professional backgrounds, and among all eight members
of the Board, half are female. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
supervising and reviewing the implementation of this policy, as appropriate, to

ensure its effectiveness.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy this year

and was satisfied that the diversity of the Board was optimal.

For the details of the current gender distribution in the workforce, including
senior management of the Group, please see page |25 of the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report in this report. Given the current composition of
the workforce, the Board is of the view that gender diversity is achieved and shall
focus primarily on maintaining the gender balance. The Board will periodically
monitor the gender composition of the workforce and set targets if and as

needed based on the Group’s business needs and development plans.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that the Directors are collectively responsible for the

corporate governance duties. Such duties include but are not limited to:

- developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on

corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board;

= reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional

development of the Directors and senior management;

= reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

- developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance

manual (if any) applicable to the employees and the Directors; and

— reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the

disclosure in the corporate governance report.
During the year, the Board had reviewed and performed the abovementioned

corporate governance functions.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 3| December 2023, Mr. Lam Yu Hon acted as company
secretary of the company between | January 2023 and 31 July 2023. With effect
from 31 July 2023, Ms. Tsang Sin Man was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company. Ms. Tsang Sin Man graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University with a bachelor's degree in accountancy and has over 6 years of
accounting and audit experience. She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. For Ms. Tsang Sin Man took no less than |5 hours

of relevant professional training as required by the Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Effective risk management and internal control systems are crucial for achieving
the strategic goals of the Company. With the risk management and internal
control systems, the Company can ensure its law-compliant operation, which

keeps its operational risk within tolerable limits.

The Board is responsible for the comprehensive assessment of the key risks
exposed to the Company, identifying the risk level that the Company expects
and can absorb for achieving its strategic goals, determining risk strategies,
ensuring the establishment of internal control system and its effective
implementation, and monitoring the operational risk and performance indicators

in a timely manner.

The senior management is responsible for the implementation of the risk
management plans and risk strategies approved by the Board, organizing and
coordinating the implementation and daily operation of internal control system.
The senior management is also responsible for identifying and assessing the

material business risk exposed to the Company and taking measures accordingly.

The Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Board to check the overall
risk profiles of the Company, conducting risk assessment and risk management,
inspecting internal control, overseeing the effective implementation of internal
control and the self-evaluation of internal control, and reviewing and monitoring

the effectiveness of the Company's internal audit.
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The internal control department of the Company is responsible for monitoring
the risk management and internal control systems, independently auditing the
effectiveness and completeness of the risk management and internal control
systems and ensuring the compliance of internal control. Also, the internal control
department is responsible for assessing risks independently, identifying material
risks and making suggestion for improvement, carrying out subsequent audit on
issues identified, and regularly reporting the auditing results and follow-ups to the

Audit Committee.

The Company has established a comprehensive risk management system to
effectively identify, assess, mitigate and monitor various risks, which enables
the Company to identify and manage its risks through continuous supervision
and auditing in a proactive and structured way. The Company has adopted the
following dynamic risk management procedures to cope with the ever-changing

risk profiles:

— all business units and functions will, from the bottom up, analyze, confirm,

manage and monitor the risks arising from the operation systematically;

— the senior management will be responsible for the overall organization,
coordination and planning of the operational risk management of the
Company, and conduct real-time monitoring on the risk management
work and internal control of all business units and functional departments,
for which the internal control department will collect and coordinate risks

and confirm and audit risk control;

= the internal control department will conduct post-inspection, audit and
monitoring on the risk management work, conduct inspection on the
Company’s internal control system for defects, audit the compliance,
reasonableness and risk controllability of the principal business processes
of the Company, audit the economic responsibility of the personnel in
charge of operation, audit the effectiveness of enterprise information
system, and report relevant results to the Audit Committee semi-annually;

and

- the Audit Committee will, from the bottom up, promote the
implementation of strategies for coping with material risks by the

management.
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Risk management and internal control system on credit assessment

The Group upholds strong risk management and internal control in the area of
credit assessment on its borrowers. Such measures are critical for the Group's

credit facilitation and co-branded credit card businesses.

Credit assessment measures are implemented throughout the credit life cycle

and can be divided into the below phases.

Product design: The Group’s products are carefully designed to minimize the
risk of borrower default. During product design, the Group carries out intensive
researches on the product's target clientele, borrowing purpose, data integrity
and the market's risks and opportunities. The aim is to design a product that can
meet the desired needs of its intended users while also allowing for more tailored

risk control.

Pre-lending assessment: The Group performs stringent assessment on loan
applicants. We introduced multi-dimensional data sources into the intelligent
big data risk control model established by our own intellectual property rights
to conduct in-depth analysis and sophisticated testing to effectively distinguish
customers and measure their index scores, so as to further improve the risk
management ability. Other measures in the pre-lending assessment include
identification verification to ensure the authenticity of the borrower's identity and

that the borrower is not on any specific internal watch list.

Internal assessment and risk evaluation: after obtaining the borrower’s consent
and permission for data collection and usage, relevant data will be collected for
the purpose of internal assessment, which data will in turn be inputted into the

risk control model and develop risk control assessment strategy.

Internal risk control system: based on the information collected as mentioned
above, each borrower will be given a credit score by the internal risk control
system. The credit score will determine which risk level the borrower falls into.
The Group will only provide guarantee for the borrowers with a sufficient credit
score, nonetheless the granting of credit will be at the discretion of the partnered

financial institutions (being the funders) based on their own assessment.
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Affirmation from the borrower: prior to the provision of guarantee services
borrower, the Group requires the borrower to, among others, confirm all
information provided are accurate and complete, and not to use the credit with

guarantee granted by the Group for unlawful purposes.

Overall risk monitoring and management: the Group will evaluate its assessment
results prior to the approval of guarantee to the borrowers, subject to his/her
respective credit score and the Group’s overall risk exposure given the prevailing

composition of the Group'’s portfolio at the material time.

Post-lending management: The ongoing borrower relationship management is
of paramount importance to the Group. With a view to minimise the risks of
delinquent loans, the Group also actively carried out post-lending management
which comprised of (i) post-lending early warning system* (E&T8E) to
proactively manage ongoing risks and identify loans with potential collection
problems as early as possible; and (i) loan collection management* (U EIE)
to manage the collection of overdue loan to minimise potential credit losses.
The Group primarily relies on its progress management system (the “Progress
Management System”) for risk monitoring and post-lending management. The
Progress Management System tracks individual loan repayment status and
analyses potential red flags, such as late repayments, and in turn, it identifies
related risks in a timely basis and give appropriate early warnings to the
Group. Prior to each repayment deadline, the Group sends early warnings to
borrowers with potential repayment problems to promote prompt payment.
Should a default event happen, the Group would carry out the standard
collection procedure on the overdue debt to minimize credit loss, which would
include necessary legal proceedings. Based on information from the Progress
Management System, the post-lending management team will follow up with
the borrower accordingly. On the other hand, the Group also provides quality
customer services to borrowers with good repayment history thereby enhancing
their stickiness to the Group’s products and the overall quality of the Group's

customer pool.

The Group will continue to modify and improve its credit assessment process in

accordance with its business development and latest regulatory updates.
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MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A summary of the major risks and uncertainties faced by the Company is set
out below. With the changes of the business scale and external environment,

the risk profile of the Company may subject to changes. The following risks and

uncertainties are not exhaustive.
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The major risks faced by the Company currently include:

Economic and market risks

Any significant or prolonged slowdown in the Chinese or global economy
may have an adverse impact on the Company's business, financial position
and operation results. Facing an ever-changing market and due to the
limited operating history, the Company is subject to fierce competition in
the Industry. If the Company does not compete effectively, its operation
results could be harmed. If the services provided by the Company are
insufficiently attractive to customers or fail to satisfy the demands of users,
applicants or cooperative institutions, the Company's business, financial

position and operation results will be affected.

In order to reduce these risks, the Company always pays close attention
to market and Industry trends, actively promotes communication with
industrial peers and regularly conducts analysis on competing products.
At the same time, the Company places emphasis on the demands
and experiences of users, constantly promotes the innovation and
development of products and technologies, expands into new areas
and makes the strategies of the Company more in line with the market
and environment demand. In addition, the Company will continue to
strengthen the cooperation with excellent business partners to achieve

mutual benefits and joint development.
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2. Government policies and regulations risks

94

The PRC government has been improving laws and regulations on Internet
finance industry and referral services. With the gradual implementation
of regulatory policies and rules of self-regulation, if the Company is
unable to ensure that its existing practices are in compliance with the
laws, regulations and government policies relating to the Industry, the

Company'’s business will be adversely affected.

In order to reduce these risks, the Company has set up a professional
and strong in-house team to ensure operation compliance in all aspects
such as communication with regulatory authorities, law interpretation
and internal system construction. The Company maintains close contact
with regulators to update the regulatory trends in real time and pay
close attention to the new laws and regulations in the Industry, so as to
conduct self-inspection immediately, comply with regulatory requirements
comprehensively and actively responds to regulations, thus improving its

compliance management.

Credit risk

The Company relies on the proprietary credit assessment model in
assessing the creditworthiness of the borrowers and the risks associated
with loans. If the proprietary credit assessment model of the Company is
flawed, or if the Company otherwise fails or is perceived to fail to manage
the default risks of loans facilitated through its platform, the reputation
and market share of the Company would be adversely affected, which
would impact the business and operation results of the Company. If the
Company is unable to maintain relatively low delinquency rates for loans
facilitated, or its ability to collect delinquent loans is impaired, the business,
financial position and results of operation of the Company might be

adversely affected.
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In order to reduce these risks, the Company has continued to improve
its credit risk management system. Based on the strengths of the
Company's mobile Internet platform, the Company has continued to
develop and focus on the quality credit customers; based on big data and
artificial intelligence technology, the Company has continued to expand
its risk management data and explore and improve its variables of risk
management; through accumulated experiences and outstanding practices
of its peers, the Company has kept optimizing its risk management model
and risk management policy; through enhancing its own after- credit
management team and applying artificial intelligence technology, the

Company has continuously enhanced its asset recovery ability.

Information system and security risks

The business and internal systems of the Company rely on highly technical
software and application. Undetected errors or significant disruption
in the IT system of the Company could restrain us from offering our
products and services, thereby reducing the attractiveness of our products
and services and resulting in a loss of users. In addition, if the Company
breached the requirements of national Internet security, or if our platform
is subject to attacks that result in unauthorised intrusion into our users’
personal information, the Company’s services may be perceived as
insecure and unreliable, users may cur tail or stop using related services

and the Company’s business and operating results may be harmed.

In order to reduce these risks, the Company has set up an independent
and professional team dedicated to technology operation and
maintenance and information security construction. The Company
has well-established systems and control measures for technology
development, online management and information security management
and the above systems and measures have been implemented strictly.
Effective emergence plans have been made and emergence drill and
data backup are carried out regularly. In addition, the Company has
established a user management system to strengthen the access authority
management of important business systems, and conducts internal audit

and training and education on staff awareness regularly.

EEERERS

ABBERENER AR TEEER
REEER - KELLQBABHERBPFTE
Z AREAFERENZERBECESEH , U
REE -~ ATEERMBIKEE » ZABFER
RTREZEHE FEZREITERZEEE BB
CRERERNEERTESEE  AATRE
BIERZERBENMAREE ; BAMNBEFER
EEEEK > URMAALEERN > KABF
BiREAEERWAES -

BMRARREZER

KABMEBRANERRERE S E XM
HFRER - MARTMEBERM AT HIRE
REBERE > K IERLERABTRTERK
R > EMBEEERRRFBHORSI I > LEED
BRFPREK o Ibih > BEEARBER T HRKEEE
ZEMEBARTE > NEXRBNFARKEM
ERAFPNEAGERERREREAR B2
BINRBAERRAIZE2RTEE  BRH
FEER N FILERBERARFRUERREELR
BINEBREEEER -

RBBERENERE > ARERIBINEE
B EFIEERMEEKREEZE2ER &
ABAERIUTEMIRMAE  BRLEEERER
2GR ERRMGIENEGER > WEKER
1T - ARBEREITZERNESRRAR > E
HETRIERAMBEND - B XRATE
THRREERE > MeNEEXBRRNMM
RREE > TERETANEZES TEHIE
JINEE -

SSEEERAS w3EE®Es 95



Corporate Governance Report
EEERERS

EFFECTIVENESS OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

With the assistance of the Audit Committee, the Board continues to monitor
the risk management and internal control systems of the Company. The relevant
procedures involve reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control and dealing with material internal control issues include (but not limited
to) meeting and communication with the management team, internal control
department, legal personnel and external auditor, and reviewing relevant work

reports and key performance indicators.
Internal control review conducted by external internal control consultant

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 4 November
2022, 9 January 2023, 27 July 2023 and 8 December 2023. The Company
acknowledges the importance of good corporate governance and continues to
strive to improve the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
from time to time. As disclosed in the corporate governance report contained
in the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Board had conducted a review of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2022, and found it to
be adequate and effective. Nonetheless, given the occurrence of the particular
incident of the SK Group, the Group had arranged for a review (the “IC Review'")
over the Group's risk management and internal control systems on, among
others, the existing variable interest entities (“VIE") arrangements of the Group
to identify any areas of improvement to strengthen its existing internal control
systems to be undertaken by Avista Risk Advisory Limited (the “External IC
Consultant”). In particular, the IC Review covered the Group’s internal controls
on its investment management process, pursuant to which the External IC
Consultant would suggest areas for improvement and assist the Company to
assess the sufficiency and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems.
In particular, the scope of “investment” covered all subsidiaries (including those
held on bare trust or by nominee arrangement), VIE and non-controlling investee

companies of the Company.

96 51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2023 Annual Report

RiREERASEZEARIE

EFTEBRZEETNHY T FEEELRAENE
BREERABEZERS - BERERS RS REREE
RAEBEBEEZERFNERIERBREEN A BEEMN
o G (BERRER) BEBEK ~ WIS~ EHBAE
MRS BB EMET R BE - URBRBEEIER
EMBAREGERER -

MRS EEERETRNEEEE

ZZIRMA AT HEEA2022FE 11 48 ~ 2023F 189
H 202378278 %2023F 1288AMAE o &
BAERENEEEANEEN » W—BHHIIAFFHK
EXAEENEREBERANSEERR o A ATE
E2002F 12A3 I BIEFENFHRAB 2 EEERRS
T EEEEEESAEEHE202F12831H
IFFENEREERNSGEERG > BERAERAR
RBRERBM - AT > ENEEEEEENERE
o REBEZHMEREERNIEIERRKETE
& (TABEEES)) > (EPEIE) AEERE A EE
mEE(THEEAER)) 28 UHIEBEENCEN
HE > WMMaHRERNIEERA > ZBEEHAY
EHRRAAERAR (TINENEIE M) 1T o
BERMs > INEEESTREAERHERESEBL
BRHTHASERE  HIbMENISE BRI
ZRBURBBARAB T EAERNANBEZRAZ
TBRERER - ARME > TREIREMEWS
NE(BREEAREATAURDRFELAFENA
g))  ERREERANBNIFEREEE QT o



The IC Review commenced on | September 2023 and the External IC
Consultant has issued a report on its findings (the “IC Review Report™). A
corresponding follow-up review on the internal control measures adopted by
the Company was performed by the External IC Consultant in November 2023
(the “Follow-up Review"). The key findings of the IC Review and corresponding

suggestions for improvement (the “Recommendations”) are summarised as

follows:

Internal control findings

A EEEEER
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Details of internal control findings
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Suggestions for improvement

HEREES

. Insufficient internal
communication mechanism

for investment projects
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2. Lack of ethics trainings
for directors and legal
representatives of Shouhui

Kaizhuo
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3. Lack of formal communication

channel with the nominee
shareholders of Shouhui
Kaizhuo held by nominee

arrangement
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The investment management policy of the Group (the
“Investment Management Policy”) lacked detailed description
for the procedures regarding communication, reporting and

feedback channels for investment projects.
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The regular ethics trainings were not extended to directors and

legal representatives of Shouhui Kaizhuo.
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The Company did not set up a formal communication channel
with and mechanisms to maintain detailed communication
records to follow up opinions from Shouhui Kaizhuo's

shareholders.

ARBRARUAEERERRNELEERERA
FEARY B BRSNS EREHE RG]

The Group should define clearly the
communication, reporting and feedback
channels and procedures for investment
projects under the Investment Management
Policy.
FEBEERBRACKEEEFNERT
BRRREREZER REURKE
B K2R o

The Group should arrange regular

ethics training for all directors and legal
representatives of subsidiaries held by
nominee arrangement. (Note)
REBRHRAATZHNNELS
EREZEREERRAZHEIERE
e (M)

A formal communication channel and
follow-up mechanism with Shouhui
Kaizhuo's shareholders should be
established. (Note)

BRUEAEEMERFTNELBEER
BRIRES o (MFE)
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Internal control findings Details of internal control findings

REEEEEER ABEEEEER

Suggestions for improvement

HEEES

4. Lack of regular performance  The Group did not conduct performance reviews on nominee  The Group should schedule and conduct

evaluation on nominee shareholders for subsidiaries held on bare trust regularly. regular performance evaluations on nominee

shareholders for subsidiaries

shareholders for subsidiaries held on bare

held on bare trust trust.
4. AREERBEADEFEAN FEERAEHRNEAREQATZEANKER - REBR LB ERTAEERERT
L ERRT TG SENESER
5. Incomplete record-keeping The Group did not maintain sufficient written records in The Group should maintain proper
relation to the following processes: documentation and records.
|. communication with former shareholders of Shouhui
Kaizhuo;
2. planning, execution, following up and reporting of
contingency plans related to control of Shouhui Kaizhuo;
3. feasibility analysis and reviews conducted on VIE
arrangements and fund investment projects; and
4. the background check and suitability assessment of nominee
shareholders of subsidiaries held on bare trust.
5. B RFIL AT E FEBIARMUA T EFHEEFRDHESECE FEBRRLERTFXXMH KL

| HEBRERKRRAESE

2. BE BRI EERSIETOAEMA S - 31T - IRE

REREF ;

LHAEERERR I RESREBBRETHATIE

DITRETE 5 &

4 HEERBERDZFAAETHERBERBEE LT

flg o

Note: As at the date of the IC Review Report, the Group had not regained the control of SK
Group. On this basis, the suggestions for improvement set out in the IC Review Report
regarding the internal control findings related to SK Group could not be implemented for

the Follow-up Review.
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Based on the Recommendations, the Company has, to the extent possible and
where applicable, made relevant improvements and adopted and implemented
enhanced internal control procedures. In the Follow-up Review, the External
IC Consultant noted that its Recommendations, where applicable, have been
implemented by the Group and did not have any further recommendations to
the Company after the completion of its Follow-up Review and up to the date of

the IC Review Report.

Having considered the IC Review, the IC Review Report and the
Recommendations, in particular, the fact that all internal control deficiencies
identified were classified under the ‘low risk category’ by the External IC
Consultant, both the Audit Committee and the Board are of the view that the
Recommendations (save for those in relation to the SK Group as detailed in
the note to the table above) in the IC Review Report have been implemented,
that the internal control findings as set out in the IC Review Report have been
rectified, and that adequate internal controls and procedures have been put in

place.

The Audit Committee and the Board will continue to monitor the ongoing
internal control system of the Group to ensure the continuum of adequate

internal controls and procedures to safeguard its investment interests.

EEERERS

ZRER > ~ABBENEKRERVERE A {FHAER
ME o RN ITEBENRNEEERRF © IRIR
EEDR > IMNEANEEBRSELAERERNITES
(NEAH) > EEREEETREEENIERESE
BRI > RELEARQBRMERMEINE
EA

HEBNEEEEDS NEIEEEERERERE B
BBME @ SMNEAMEZBBERIAESHNNAME
EHRERESTRERER > BEREZEEREFEHRN
AANBEEEETRENER (LRI EPFANET
BEEEBAERI) EEET > ABEEBEREFN
FOAREEBEERETUEE  BRERENR
BEERERF °

EREEEREFEREBERAERFERITHN
BEZEZRR > URFRBREMRATENABEER
REFREEREN G
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The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing the effectiveness of such systems. The
risk management and internal control systems can provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, and are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure in the process of attaining business
objectives. During the year ended 3| December 2023, the internal audit team
of the Group conducted internal audit on the principal businesses of the Group
independently. The Board and Audit Committee reviewed and monitored the

Group's internal audit function and considered it effective.

The Board had conducted its annual review of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2023 and, having
considered the findings of the External 1C Consultant and the further measures
implemented pursuant to the Recommendations set out in the |C Report, was
of the view that the financial reporting system, the risk management and internal
control systems and processes for financial reporting and compliance with the

Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2023 were adequate and effective.

During the annual review for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board also
assessed the adequacy of the Group’s resources, employee qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions, the result with which the Board was satisfied. Save
for those areas identified by the External |C Consultant in the |C Report, the

Board was not aware of any material internal control failings or weaknesses.

As for the procedure for handling and publication of inside information as well as
its internal control, the Company was aware of its responsibility under the SFO
and has adopted relevant internal policies covering the definition and scope of
inside information, guidelines on all insiders including Directors and accountability
for breaches etc. to ensure that the handling and publication of inside information

were in compliance with the SFO.
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PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be
convened on the written requisition of any one or more members (including a
member which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within twenty one days from
the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting
to be held within a further twenty one days, the requisitionist(s) themselves
may convene general meeting physically at only one location and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board

shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT THEIR
ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular communication and
reasonable disclosure of information to its Shareholders. The Company delivers
interim and annual reports and publication of the interim and annual results
announcements and other required disclosure of information on the websites of

the Stock Exchange and the Company to all the Shareholders.

The Company endeavours to maintain two way communications with the
Shareholders through various channels. The Shareholders are encouraged to put
their enquiries about the Group through the Company’s email at if@u5 |.com or
by mail to the address of the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Office 2401 A of 24th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong

Kong. All enquiries will be dealt with in a timely manner.

The Company has in place the shareholders’ communication policy which sets
out the policies in relation to communication with the Shareholders. Such policy
which is published on the website of the Company shall be reviewed by the
Board on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness based on engagement of the
Shareholders at the AGM and enquiries received by the company during the year
ended 3| December 2023.

EEERERS

RERBFAKRRENAEZERF

RBMAAISE 1231F - RRFAIASAIE LI ER
R(BE—ERAUEEMAE (EARAN)) WERE
KMAR > BRAERBERERARUNEBNEEZMN
FR(WHAREDIBRELMEEWERE > AR
MirER) 0 ERFBAAENTIEEmHEHL AR
ABZ EZEFRARZEEZEERZBERFEALR
FABTHZ—HBERE > ERNEIRAAET R
RAG ERENEN - HESENEERRZBES
“t-HRIEEZREEFARR FTERER -+ —H
REITHARE > RIFRABSEATR—EMEERE
BRRAT > BARERABRAENERESERE
BRREMAERERERASISEEENRER
% o

REMESFERIEHZER

FABDRANEREAERRARREHN > LRRE
GENBEENZER - cATB2ERRFEPHK
FEREG > URBMXARERBBLTIETRAREE
EERNERAMBTREER o

RRBBNBEBLHERELARREFTERBE 80
REAXEBRRLER > 5EBAFLFELER

(ir@usl.comNEFEARNBDEBETEE X MEUETE
SiEERISENE RN —FE2418240 AE c FREEHE

e B5ER R ©
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The Board has reviewed the Company’s shareholder communication policy
during the year ended 3| December 2023 and is satisfied with its current

implementation and effectiveness.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Shareholders who wish to make proposals or propose a resolution for
consideration at general meetings may to convene an extraordinary
general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the section
headed "PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING" above.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Articles for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Articles are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)

and the Company (www.u5 |.com).
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Introduction of this Report

This report is an Environmental, Social and Governance (the “ESG") report
(“ESG Report”, “Report”) issued by 5| Credit Card Inc. (the “Company”), (the
“Group”, “we” or "us"), and this Report aims to present an objective and fair
view of 5| Credit Card’ strategies, management and practices in respect of ESG
in 2023. This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Group will regularly publish
ESG Reports every year for all parties to review any time, and continue to

improve the transparency and responsibility of information disclosure.

Reporting Period

This Report specifies the Group's activities, challenges, and measures in respect
of Environmental, Social and Governance during the year ended 3| December
2023 (the "Reporting Period").

Scope of Report

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of financial technology services
and Saa$ services in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC"). In May 2022,
the Group has established the campsite brand chain named 51 CAMP. However,
the scale and revenue of its business are only at the initial stage and are therefore
not included in the scope of the report. The scope of Report is determined by
the Group based on the principle of materiality, considering the corresponding
importance of the entity to the Group’s business and operations and its impact
on sustainable development*. The reporting scope of this ESG Report covers the
Group's main office premises (Hangzhou) of its principal businesses during the

Reporting Period.

Unless otherwise stated, the Group obtains ESG-related key performance
indicators (“KPIs") through operational control mechanisms. After the data
collection system becomes more mature and the sustainable development work
is firmly established, the Group will continue to expand the scope of disclosure

in the future.

IRIE - HERERHRS
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Reporting Framework

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“‘Stock Exchange”). The data in this report comes from
the Group's official documents and statistical data, and was integrated and
summarized through the monitoring, management and operating data provided
by subsidiaries. It not only satisfies the ESG reports disclosure requirements
stipulated by various regulators, but also provides interested parties with more

perspectives on the Group's environmental, social and governance performance.

During the preparation of this report, the Group has applied the reporting
principles in the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as

follows:

Materiality: During this financial year, major issues have been identified through
materiality assessment, and the confirmed major issues have been made the focus
of ESG Report preparation. The importance of the issues has been reviewed and
confirmed by the board of directors and Environment, Society and Governance
working group (the “working group”). For further details, please refer to the

sections headed “Stakeholders’ Engagement” and ““Materiality Assessment”.

Quantitative: Supplementary notes are added along with the data disclosed in
this Report to explain any standards, methodologies, and source of conversion

factors used during the calculation of emissions and energy consumption.

Consistency: There is no major change in reporting scope and methodology
compared to the previous ESG Report and any changes to the figures of

disclosure and calculation methodologies are specified in the ESG Report.
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Forward-looking Statements

This Report contains forward-looking statements which are based on the current
expectations, estimates, projections, beliefs, and assumptions of the Company
about the businesses and the markets in which it and its subsidiaries operate.
These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and
are subject to market risk, uncertainties, and factors beyond the control of the
Group. Therefore, actual outcomes and returns may differ materially from the

assumptions made and the statements contained in this Report.

Contact Us

The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions and suggestions.
You can provide valuable advice in respect of the ESG Report or the Group’s

performances in sustainable development by e-mail ir@u5 |.com.

ESG Governance Structure

IRIR - HERERBHRS

A B 14 Rt

RS AR > B ERAEREEREK
BRABRKENEFNHISNERTAR - (A5t ~ 7R
BERRRK - SLEABEMERLFEHRREENR
& WRMHER - AREEMNAEREXEHNE
RFRE o At > BRERROIRFIERKNREPAE
BREFABEERESR °

SR FIBkAR
BUOFNERUERRES - B TAMARSHE

AFEERTENRREREHESESER  TEHME

ir@ub1.com

RIE - HERERBERE

Assess ESG-related risks and opportunities
AR - MR REREERER RS

Review ESG-related objectives on a regular basis
Board of REMRARE  HeREARRA R

Directors ne and. 4 cieos
2o FHIRE L REBRENNKEER

Monitor any ESG-related issues

EBRE HEREREMMAEER

Develop ESG management approaches, strategies, priorities, and objectives

HIERE B REREETH - KK - @AKER

Examine and approve the information disclosed in the ESG Report

R RIEMELAZRRE HERERERE

BHE ek RIRETRE « G REAEIERLS
Group Assist the preparation of the ESG Report

RIE - HEk BN S F R - Mt RERARE

EVRTE/ME

Report to the Board on any ESG-related issues
MEFSERRE  HERELEEMEEE

Collect and analyze ESG data and assess the effectiveness of policies and procedures
e - DITERIE - & RE AR MM B RAZFF A

Ensure the implementation of the plan to satisfy ESG-related objectives

Ensure compliance with ESG-related laws and regulations

Business TEEIMER - BIEA_E AR A
Departments and

D?Pamments Responsible for the transmission of internal information
& X HBFIA RERHEREEOEE
EEEE

Complete relevant works within the function in accordance with the direction of the ESG Working Group
BRI - HERORE TR INVAMT R - SERBEE AR T

Collect, collate and report relevant information on a regular basis

Provide timely feedback on actual work situations and make relevant suggestions for the implementation of actual work

Functional REESEEETERR - YREROIENHRETARES
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Board of Directors Statement

The Group has developed guidelines for the ESG governance and would
provide training and strive to invest resources for improvements in the pursuit
of sustainable development. With the Group’s guidelines, effective policies and
relevant training, we could integrate the ESG concept into all aspects of our
operation from top to bottom and thus effectively enhance the ESG awareness
of the employees, enabling each member of the Group to take part in our
sustainable development. This ensures that the Group's ESG governance could

fully cover the key aspects of the business.

Driven by strong and effective ESG risk management, the Group is devoted to
continuously improving the performance in these key areas through the ESG
governance, so as to create sustainable values in the long- term development.
During the Reporting Period, the Group confirmed that it had established
appropriate and effective management policies and monitoring systems for ESG
matters and that the disclosures met the requirements of the ESG Reporting
Guide.

ESG Working Group

The ESG working group, composing of core members from different
departments of the Group, facilitates the Board's oversight of ESG matters.
The ESG working group, as the executive level, is responsible for collecting and
analyzing ESG data, monitoring and evaluating the Group’s ESG performance,
ensuring compliance with ESG-related laws and regulations, and preparing ESG
reports. The ESG working group arranges regular meetings to evaluate the
effectiveness of current policies and procedures and formulate appropriate
solutions to improve the overall performance of ESG policies. At meetings, the
ESG working group discussed the existing and upcoming plans to monitor and
manage the Group's strategic goals in terms of sustainable development, mitigate
potential risks, and minimize their negative impacts on our business operations.
By setting ESG-related goals and targets to minimize the environmental impacts
from the Group's operation, the Group affirmed its commitment in embedding
sustainability into the business operation and fulfil its corporate responsibility.
The ESG working group would report to the Board regularly, evaluate the
implementation and effectiveness of internal control mechanism, and review the
progress of set goals and targets. ESG working group also participate in corporate
risk management, assist in assessing and identifying the Group ESG risks and

opportunities.

The Board confirms that it has reviewed and approved this report. As far as it
is aware, this report prioritizes the significant ESG issues identified and presents
the Group’s environmental, social and governance management policies and

performance.
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Communication with Stakeholders

The Group values communication with different stakeholders, actively
understand their feedback and opinions about the Group’s business and ESG
matters, and strives to embedding sustainability into every level of business.
To thoroughly understand, respond and handle the core concerns of different
stakeholders, we have been closely communicating with major stakeholders
including, among others, investors and shareholders, clients, suppliers, employees,
the government and regulatory authorities and the public, non-government
organizations and media through different communicating channels. The

Group brings stakeholder expectations into its ESG strategies through different

IRIE - HERERHRS
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communication channels to serve as a driving force for better management and 28 - RER BB N ENEBEE RMPIEENEE
to effectively promote corporate sustainability. The communication channels — #1°F :
between the Group and stakeholders and their respective expectations are as
follows:
Stakeholders Expectations and Needs Communication channels
SR HAZ B TR BBERE
Government and regulatory . Compliance in operation . Public information such as financial reports,
authorities EHRERER announcements, circulars, etc.
BT BE S 1t . Compliance with the laws and regulations HMERE - A5 - BREQAHEER
BTERER . Direct communication by email and phone
. Internal inspection BERASFEHMNEEETERS
R E . Interview with government officials
. Workplace occupational health and safety HENEED
IRiGmBERmLtRLe
Users . Protection of users’ interests . Risk warning documents
AR RR#EmRE R
. Capital and transaction safety of the platform Collection of complaints and feedbacks
TRESRXZZE KM R BERI U &
. User experience of the platform . Public information such as financial reports,
FAENBEER announcements, circulars, etc.
Fair transaction and reasonable charges HHBRE 25 BRELRER
NEZ S HEIBYE . Maintaining good communication with

Protection of users’ information and the
timeliness and authenticity of information
RRERRE - EERFMENESM!
Preferential policies for marketing

ZIHERER

customers
HERRERIFABER
Satisfaction survey

mEEREE
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Stakeholders Expectations and Needs Communication channels
Fp& HAZZ BT R BIBERE
Employees . Training and career development potential Employee activities
8T EFIA B R BIEE
. Wages and benefits O Employee bulletin board
TERH BT SR
. Working environment . Periodic employee memorandum
TARIRIR ETERHTER
. Health and safety . Collecting employee’s views through direct
REET e communication
. Career development and opportunities HEREBWEESTER
B2 RIS . Employee trainings, seminars and briefings
BT~ AT ERER
0 Cultural activities such as team building
B [X 3R F XACEE)
g Employee performance appraisal
BITHEMNEZ
Shareholders and investors . Return on investment . Public information such as financial reports,
REMELEE a1k announcements, circulars, etc.
. Information disclosure and transparency HBmE ~ A5 BRELHER
ERRENERE . Road show/teleconference/meeting with
. Protection of shareholder’s interests investors/shareholders
R R BREE RREITREEEE
. Timely and accurate disclosure of relevant EVA
information . Inquiry by phone/email
R B R ZE B 3t 32 BB AR RR S B Bt/ EFHHEH
g Improving corporate governance o On-site visit by investors
REREERKT REERGTH
. Compliance with the laws and regulations . Information disclosure on the websites of the
BFERER Stock Exchange and the Company
. Anti-corruption and promotion of integrity AP B AR B AR UL 5 BIRER
RIEERE
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IRIE - HERERHRS

Stakeholders Expectations and Needs Communication channels
Fp& HAZZ BT R BERE
Local communities, . Employment opportunities . Charitable activities
non-governmental organizations, MEEE REET
potential customers . Ecological environment . Community investment and services
and the public ERIRIE HERERRS
St ~ JFEATARS . Community development . Stakeholders’ engagement
BEERHNAR ez RihESH
. Devotion to public welfare . Environmental protection activities
HAMEENRIE RREE
0 Charitable donation
HEEN
g Reduction of pollutant discharge
TS R
g Reduction of wastes
L EEY)
Media . Information transparency . Information disclosure on the websites of the
JHRS ERERHE Stock Exchange and the Company
. Good media relations AP R A A Bl 4Bk 1S BN EE
RirpI R s8R % . Public information such as financial reports,

announcements, circulars, etc.
MBRE - AEMNBRELFER
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IRIG - LB RERERS

Materiality Assessment

Apart from referencing our own business development strategies and industry
practices, the Group has compiled a list and questionnaire based on the results
from previous years' materiality assessment to identify major ESG issues of
the Group. By issuing questionnaires, the Group's relevant stakeholders and
management and staff in major functions are able to assist the Group in reviewing
its operations and identifying relevant ESG issues, as well as assess the importance

of relevant issues to the Group's business and its stakeholders.

Materiality Matrix

ERMER

EE TS

FEEGSEHEBLEBRRBRITEENS » TERE
FEETFERZERTGEER > B EAEBERR
B HERELRERELRUBERS - BEEN
BERE > 2EEERFNHERSIERENEER
RETRHHAEE RS EEBEFEERRERNERIR
BE-MHEREAEE U EEREENAEEES
URERHNENEEN! -

El

High
= 8. Labour Standards 6. Occupational Health
44 TR . and Safety
- BERERTS
12, Community Construction 7. Development
and Development and Training
At [ 2 RN B BEREEE]
” | 4. Health and Safety 10. Product Obligations
S REEAZS ESRE
—% R 3. Protection of the Environment
?‘3 ﬁ and Natural Resources |'l. Anti-corruption
o m 42 GRIES] P ] ]
5 :31—'3 BRRAR REB 9. Sustainable Supply Chain
= QR
3 3
£ | 3. Protection of biodiversity 5 Emplovment Practices
REEMZHM o [ERASA 0 4. Use of Energy
= . ERER and Resources
BEIRANE R IE
2. Climate Change I. Emissions and
Sl Waste Disposal
HERAIRE R Y B 7R
Low Impact on Business
E HEBOTE
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ENVIRONMENT

The Group is principally engaged in the operation of online credit card
management platform. In view of the nature of online business, the
operation has minimal direct impact on the environment. Nevertheless,
we acknowledge the importance of environmental protection and have
actively implemented the management principle of green development to
minimize the impact of our operation on the environment and adopted
certain measures which are regularly carried out in our daily business

operations to manage emissions and wastes.

Environmental Targets

Climate change is a common challenge for all mankind. In order to fulfil the
challenge of achieving the world's highest reduction rate in the intensity
of carbon emissions by satisfying the country’s objectives of “carbon peak
by 2030” and “carbon neutrality by 2060", the Group has been adhering
to the spirit of energy conservation and environmental protection. We
have been promoting the green transition of economic structure and
accelerating the formation of green production and lifestyle, which
facilitates the enhancing of high-quality development of the sustainable
business model. Therefore, all employees of the Group will continue
to closely monitor the introduction of policies, the development of the
industry, the implementation of policies and measures with a view to
strengthening our actions and promoting various key tasks in an orderly
and effective manner. The Group has set a number of environmental
objectives based on its development and strategic directions and will
closely monitor and review the progress of these objectives on a regular

basis. The Group plans to achieve the following objectives:

Aspects Objectives
] BB

IRIE - HERERHRS

A IRIR

EENEZEBIPSESR LERFEET
8 ERNR EEBMNE > FIESENETRIRE
WEEFZEFED - BAEETHIIRIBEFRE
NEEN  BERTHEERNEEESR &
AEERBEXESEERRIBAAEMRNEE »
WHEY —E3E0 - SLERERERBHEERF
BIERERNT 0 UBIEHRAIEY

RIEER

RIFZEE2AEERENERRE - HZEEH
ZK2030EEHIZ IR - 2060 PP BIZ » 5T
2HRSHNHBEBCAERIEN S > BF—H
FTHEERNES - BHEHCHEEBRE
A MRERSEEESAMNEFZSN > B
EEEEEENAFEENEERL - EiIt
AEEBLFTETSHEFTNERBENHE
TENERE > BEERBN > atBsTH
BENAEFERHESBEEMTE - XERIRE
HERASAMNSBEAHIISEREEE >
BUSEREHETERENERBR -  A%EH
STEIERUTER !

Progress
R

Waste gas emissions Due to our business nature and the fact that
no motor vehicles or fuels are used in our daily
management, the Group has no emissions and
has not set quantifiable targets accordingly.

EER BN BEREBME > RABEERREFERA
B > AEENRBEREIN > iR
FIERIEEER -

Due to our business nature, the Group has not yet set a
quantifiable target, but in order to raise employees’ awareness
of emission reduction, relevant reminders will be posted in
the office.

BEREBME > 2EBNEFENSEER > BRR
SETINREER  EEMATHERNE LARRE

N

SHEREAMRAT onsmms ||
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Aspects
BE

wE

Objectives
B

Progress
EE

GHG emissions

Hazardous waste

Non-hazardous waste

B
OH
&t
g
§

Energy consumption

AEIROHFE

Water use

management

RXkERE
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Taking 2021 as the base year, the target GHG
emission intensity (tonnes CO,e/employee) in
the next three years will be equal to or lower
than that of the base year.

PRI EREESF > BRRIEHNAE
REREEMm _AatREE 81)A
BREEFRFF K o

Due to our business nature, the Group has not

set quantifiable targets.

eSS T LT
o

B AEEEFRENE/LE

Taking 2022 as the base year, the target non-
hazardous waste intensity (kg/employee) in the
next three years will be equal to or lower than
that of the base year.

uzozzii%%?&fﬁ » BRERICBENES
BEEVNEE(AF/BI)BEEFRFTR
&K ©

Taking 2021 as the base year, the target total
energy consumption intensity (MWh/employee)
in the next three years will be equal to or lower
than that of the base year.
BLO2IER/EREE > BIRAREIFENENR
MEEBTEKER BT REEFRY
SRR -

Taking 2021 as the base year, the target water
consumption intensity (tonnes/employee) in the
next five years will be the same or lower than
that of the base year.

D021 FREESF - BIRARRSERAK
ERE(ME/BT)EEEFFFHEE

2023 Annual Report

Due to the end of the pandemic and the Group’s operations
returning to normal, most of the energy consumption has

increased compared to the previous year.

HREBEERAR  2EENEEELEMELES » K
BORERHFEENR EFAPTIEM °

Due to our business nature, the Group has not yet set a
quantifiable target, but in order to raise employees’ awareness

of waste reduction, relevant reminders will be posted in the

office.
EREBEUE  AEENEFEITELEER > BA1R
BETITNRERH  FENLAEZHENL EGRR
ﬂ_*\ o

As the relevant data has been disclosed since 2022, the

Group has set relevant objectives in 2022,

R AERE BUR B 2022 FEIR R
EERERE -

) REBER20202FR

Due to the end of the pandemic and the Group’s operations
returning to normal, most of the energy consumption has

increased compared to the previous year.

HRNBEBEEER  AEENELEELIREER » K
D EEREFEB B L EAFTIEM o

70 Be R

Due to the end of the pandemic and the Group’s operations
returning to normal, most of the energy consumption has

increased compared to the previous year.

EE/‘JAW’IEE,%%% » AEEMEZECAMELESR » 8K
B BERHFEE IR EEAPRIZM ©

[0 BE
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Aspect Al: Emissions

Emissions Control

The Group is aware of the potential negative environmental impacts
during its operations, and has formulated a series of environmental
protection measures to cultivate and strengthen employees’ awareness
of environmental protection in their daily work processes. The Group is
also willing to undertake social responsibilities, ensure good environmental
management, and adhere to its pursuit of sustainable development. We
have formulated relevant policies, and are committed to improving our
environmental management in daily business processes through a series
of measures, while strictly abiding by the current applicable environmental
protection laws and regulations, aiming to minimize the pollution and
environmental damage caused by our daily business operations. The
Group will regularly review its policies and procedures, and incorporate

the principles of environmental protection into its daily work procedures.

As a competitive comprehensive financial services company, we are
committed to fulfilling our environmental protection responsibilities and
ensuring that the Group complies with laws and regulations related to
environmental protection. During the Reporting Period, the Group is
not aware of any material breaches of laws and regulations relating to
air and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste that have materially affected the

Group, including but not limited to the following regulations:

. Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China

. Air Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People's Republic
of China

. Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and

Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste

. Law on Noise Pollution Prevention and Control of the People's
Republic of China
. Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China

IRIE - HERERHRS

AITBE : HERY
PE 12

FEERPEEEENMBRMEENEEEEIR
BRE > BN —RIIRBEREREN > B
REEIERERIESRN®EE THIRIERE
Bl - 7EETREEAELEEE  BERY
NIREEE > BREANIFEZERENER -
FIERISTHEBBER - ROBB—RIEMEAN
HEXGBERETHNIRREERE » TEKEBTRT
BRIIRFRARERIER » EERBABER
BEENSARERKIBEAERE - XEH
RERSREBRNER @ WIBRIBRENE
AMA BB IERES o

ER—BERFNINGEEEZMRB LT > B
BRIEFRESEHIRE > TRFERFAEETS
IRRABRAIRER ROER - MEHME > AEEL
THNEENREEREHERMABERES
B Ak REHBEEURE ERESEREYD
EEREAREEMBAERSEHNEATEN
B BEEFRRIEUTER

« (PEARHAMBEIRIBREZL)

« (PEARHENBEIRRSRIAE)

« (REARLNBKSHRPEZE)

s (PEARHANEEREYSRIRED
AaED)

 (PEARHNBERZSREIAE)

« (PEARHMBEBHOERZE)
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Air Emissions

Due to the nature of the Group's business, it does not make significant use
of motor vehicles or fuels in its daily operations and therefore the Group is
not involved in significant air emissions. However, the status of the Group’s
air emissions and its significance to the Group will be closely monitored for

further disclosure in due course.

GHG emissions

Due to the nature of the Group's business, it does not make significant use
of motor vehicles or fuels in its daily operations and therefore the Group
is not involved in significant direct GHG emissions (Scope |). The Group's
main source of GHG emissions is energy indirect GHG emissions from
purchased electricity (Scope 2). In line with the development of the overall
national GHG reduction strategy to achieve the sustainable development
goal of energy saving and carbon reduction, the Group has formulated
relevant policies to manage and actively reduce GHG emissions by
reducing energy usage at source, thereby enhancing the Group’s ESG
performance. The Group has actively adopted the following emission

reduction measures for the above emission sources:

. Posting notices and posters with green information in prominent
places in the office to promote best practices in environmental
management and raise awareness of environmental protection
among employees;

e Signing an agreement with a greening service company to regularly
maintain and replace the greenery placed in designated areas of the
office to raise awareness of greening and landscaping; and

0 Actively adopting environmental protection and energy
saving measures, which are described in the section “Energy

Consumption” of Aspect A2.
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Environmental,

The Group's GHG emission performance is summarized as follows:

Social and Governance Report

IRIE - HERERHRS

REEMRERBEHHRRAANMT :

Indicators' Unit 2023 2022
i1 B 20234 20224
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) tonnes CO,e 0 0
ERREREHK(8E-) WS EREE
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) tonnes CO.e 475.35 261.45
MiFRERABE R (EE) MRS EiREE
Total GHG emissions (Scope | and Scope 2) tonnes CO.e 475.35 26145
BEREHFBEE (BE—HEEZ) SR EE
Total GHG emissions intensity tonnes CO,e/employee? 1.54 0.56

BERBHREE mE_E{bmEE BT
Remarks: Byat -
(1) GHG emissions information is presented in terms of tonnes CO,e, with ()

)

reference to the “Greenhouse Gas Protocol: Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standards” published by the World Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, the “How to prepare an ESG Report —
Appendix Il: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the latest published Baseline Emission Factors
for Regional Power Grids in the PRC and the “Sustainability Report 2022”
published by the Hong Kong Electric Investments Limited.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the total number of employees of the
Group are 309 and 469, respectively. This data is also used to calculate other

intensity data.

2)

BERBHMEE IR _FILREE25) - 1L
SR IE BT RIS R ERFILHTR 8 R A fF
BRERTITHEFSTIRN(BEREBEEETE
B LEESAREIRE) BB EM
BT E GRS  H EREBIRE —MtR— .
RIS BN IREIRIES|) ~ RATFEMBIFE]
BEBHBEEETNAY ~ KBIEEIREL
(2022 F AIFSAER IR IRE ) ©

BLE2023F 12531 HF20224F 12831 H » 2%

EIRE TN E7 F 73309 A 469N o ILE 15
INE st EAMEZ 2 -

sHEREAMRAS wnsEms |15



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIE s HHERERHRS

16

Sewage discharge

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, there is no industrial sewage
generated during its operations but only general domestic sewage. Since
the Group’s sewage will be discharged into the urban sewage pipe
network, the Group's water consumption amount is also regarded as
sewage discharge amount. Water consumption data and corresponding
water-saving measures will be described in the “Water Use Management”

section of Aspect A2.

Waste Management

Hazardous Waste

Due to the nature of the Group'’s business, no hazardous waste was
generated during the Reporting Period and therefore no relevant targets
were set. Nevertheless, the Group has developed guidelines on hazardous
waste management and treatment. If any generation of hazardous wastes
is identified, the Group will engage qualified suppliers to carry out the
recycling and treatment of hazardous waste. We will ensure compliance
with relevant environmental regulations and take appropriate measures to

manage and dispose of any potentially hazardous waste.

Non-hazardous Waste

The main non-hazardous waste generated by the Group in the course
of its daily operations is paper (office paper). Due to the nature of the
Group’s business, the waste generated is harmless in nature and minimal
in quantity. Nevertheless, in order to reduce the environmental impact of
wastes, the Group has established policies to manage waste disposal. Also,

for office paper, we have implemented the following measures:

. Increased use of electronic files to establish an electronic workflow

and avoid printing and copying of documents as much as possible;

. Reduce excessive printing by going paperless as much as possible,
maximizing the use of electronic devices for internal meetings and

internal communications; and
. Use old envelopes and recycle used paper, cartons, and folders on

the condition that personal data confidentiality requirements are

met.
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ERAEENEBTE  HEEBRETIEE
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Through the above measures, employees’ awareness of waste reduction
has been raised. The Group's non-hazardous waste disposal performance

is summarized as follows:

IRIE - HERERHRS

B EiEN 0 B THREDERYHNEHS U
R - AEENESERYRERRHALUT :

Waste type Unit 2023 2022
Ly kbl B 20234 20224
Total amount of non-hazardous waste

* Paper Kg 982.40 109.15
. R Ny

Total non-hazardous waste intensity Kg/employee? 3.18 0.23
BEREVMRERE A/ BB

Aspect A2: Resource Usage

The Group actively promotes the effective use of resources, and regularly
analyzes and monitors the potential impact of business operations on the
environment. The Group has formulated relevant policies to promote
green office and operating environment, minimizes the impact of the
Group’s operations on the environment, and improves environmental
sustainability. The Group manages the use of resources such as water and
electricity, and focuses on the management of major energy-consuming

equipment to fully and effectively utilize energy.

A2EHE : BIRER

FEERBESHEVNERER > TR RE
REZEEHREHRNEEINE - 2EHE
HIE T HBBREMEESFERAERERER
B RAEEEENRBENZERERMT 12
SRIBAIFEN - AEEBK BEEZERER
ETEE THIZHAERBETEMER
UFRDBRFBER
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Energy Management

In daily production operations, the Group's main energy consumption is
office electricity, which is used for general lighting, equipment rooms and
the power supply of office equipment such as air conditioners, projectors,
computers, and printers. In order to uphold the Group’s commitment
to energy saving and consumption reduction, it has formulated relevant
policies to promote a system of green office culture so as to achieve the
objectives of electricity conservation and efficient use of electricity, and the

relevant specific measures are as follows:

. Utilizing lighting equipment with lower energy consumption, such as
LED light bulbs;

. Investigating electricity facilities regularly to ensure safety and

operating efficiency; and

. Encouraging employees to turn off their computers when they go
out for a long time, and put their computers in a standby or sleep

mode when they go out for lunch.

The Group will conduct sustainability education training and promotes
practical advice on environmentally friendly lifestyles from time to time,
and make adjustments according to the operating conditions in order
to achieve the goal of improving the efficiency of resource utilization.
Through these energy conservation measures, employees' awareness of

energy conservation has been enhanced.

The summary of the Group'’s energy consumption is as follows:

FEIRE

HHELEEZSER  AEENTEZERBEES
WMAERE > AR—MREHRE s KEURRAE
REBHME > MR ~ T ~ BREFAFTENH
F o RRFAEEYEERFENEE > HEH!
E TR BRI EE B AZEXEHNGIE
HMEINHNRERBUERENHNER > 18
RIRREIEN T ¢

«  FALEDBEFEERBHNRARSR ;

- ERETIRFEBIINFRFBRECHEM
RESNETEREER - KBRS
S IRBRAREE ©

FEREFTERETIRBHEBIKRELA
BERFEEANERES  TREZEBR
MEFMAE  MEERABREARENE
B - BBZEMAERER > ETHENER
WEHSURS o

KERMBSERHFERRMAMT

Energy Type Unit 2023 2022
AETRELE B 20234 20224F
Direct energy consumption MWh 0 0
BiEsEREFE JEEBF

Indirect energy consumption

FR 5 AEIRIRFE

*  Purchased electricity MWh 833.51 330.08
© SMEES JKELEE

Total energy consumption MWh 833.51 330.08
BEIRAHFES JEEBF

Total energy consumption intensity MWh/employee? 2.70 0.70
RERARHERE KRB, BT
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Water Use Management

The Group's water consumption is mainly for general domestic use in
office areas including water supply for office facilities such as toilets and
pantries. Due to the geographical location of the Group's operations, it
has not identified any problems in accessing suitable water sources. To
demonstrate its commitment to sustainable development, the Group has

implemented the following water conservation measures:

. Using water-saving appliances as far as possible for water facilities;

. Turning off the faucet in time after using water to prevent water

running long, popping, dripping and leaking; and

. If abnormal conditions are found, relevant departments should be

notified in time to prevent waste of water resources.

IRIE - HERERHRS

FAKEEE

AEENAKEIBEERMAGH—RETHK
BEHBKATFERFKESHAERM o &1
AEBEENMEBEME > HERBERKEL
WARBFBREMEE - RERTHEAHIFELERDN
AR 0 AEEB B B TRE A B KIER

o BAARMBERBEHKERAE

« FAKEBRERERRKEERE B RMAR
5 RRR K

- WBERARBNRN > BREBANERER
BRIE - LUFIERBKER ©

The summary of the Group's water consumption is as follows: REBFENKRIREMOT

Indicators Unit 2023 2022
it B 20234 20224
Water consumption tonnes 3,946.00 |,656.00
RkE L

Water consumption intensity tonnes/employee? 12.77 353
RAKkERE g, e8>

Use of Packaging Materials BEETEHE A

Due to the nature of the Group's business, it did not have physical
products for sale during the Reporting Period and thus relevant disclosure

is not applicable to the Group.

ERNAEENEBLEE  ARNKRSHABILR
EYERMEE > WAMKETNERANEER -

SHSEEERAS wnEEws |19



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIE s HHERERHRS

120

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

Given that the Group is principally engaged in the operation of online
credit card management platform, apart from the use of resources
described above, the Group's operation does not consume other natural
resources, nor does it have any significant impact on the environment.
As a result, the Group has very limited direct impact on the natural
environment. However, as a responsible and quality enterprise, the Group
is committed to environmental protection and has integrated the concept
of environment and natural resource protection into internal management
and daily operations. We have taken a series of effective measures to
mitigate the negative impact on environment and resource, striving to

achieve our sustainable development goals.

Enhancing Environmental Protection Awareness

The Group believes that in addition to requiring employees to strictly
implement the environmental protection measures formulated by
the Group, it is also necessary to actively enhance the environmental
protection awareness of employees in order to more effectively reduce
the potential impact of the Group on the environment. Therefore,
the Group reviews internal measures from time to time, distributes
environmental protection guidelines and reminders to employees, and
shares relevant environmental protection information such as the concept
of green offices. The Group will also consider participating in more feasible
and appropriate activities to help employees increase their awareness of

the environment and natural resources.

Aspect A4: Climate Change

The global community is increasingly concerned about issues of climate
change and the Group deeply understands and identified the significant
impacts of climate change. To response to the national and international
call actively, the Group has conducted a climate change assessment to
identify the risk of climate change related to the Group, while developing
corresponding countermeasures to adapt to or mitigate the impact of
climate change on the Group'’s business. We will keep working to ensure
that our business and decision-making are consistent with the principles of
sustainable development, and that we contribute to fight climate change.
The climate related risks identified by the Group and the corresponding

management measures are as follows:
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Physical Risks

The Group's business relies heavily on the operation of servers and the
input of staff. As the frequency and severity of extreme weather events,
such as extreme cold or heat, storms, rainstorms and typhoons, increase,
there may be an increased risk of power shortages, disruptions in the
supply chain and damage to the Group’s assets, which could interrupt the
Group's office operations and result in reduced revenue, while the cost of
repairing or restoring damaged assets may also increase. These events can
also disrupt the work of our employees and may even result in personal
injury, and may increase relevant insurance costs or make insurance
difficult to obtain. As a countermeasure, we have policies in place to keep
our employees safe on duty and to keep our servers in a secure indoor
environment with regular maintenance to minimize the impact of extreme

weather events on the Group.

Transition Risks

To achieve the goal of global carbon neutrality, the Group expected
to face the evolution on regulatory, technology and market structure
related to climate change, including the tightening of national policies and
listing rules, as well as the occurence of taxes related to environment.
In addition, the Stock Exchange also requires listed companies to
enhance their climate- related disclosures in their ESG reports, which
may result in increased compliance costs. Failure to meet the climate
change compliance requirements may expose the Group to claims and
litigation risks and may result in a decline in corporate reputation. As the
public awareness of environmental protection has risen, the public and
stakeholders are more focused on reducing the carbon footprint of the
corporate, and the Group is required to respond to the changing needs of

the market.

The Group will regularly monitor existing and emerging trends, policies
and regulations related to climate change to avoid reputational risk
due to delayed response. In addition, in order to reduce the Group’s
environmental impact and to comply with the requirements of the Stock
Exchange, the Group has set targets related to emissions and resource
consumption. The Group will continue to evaluate the effectiveness of
the Group's actions to address climate change and enhance its ability to

respond to climate related issues.
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SOCIETY

Bl: Employment

Employment Practices

Employees are the most valuable resource in the Group's operation and
are the cornerstone of promoting sustainable development. As such, we
have always adhered to the concept of “people-oriented”, and we make
it our priority to ensure that every employee can benefit from a fair,

harmonious, diverse, comfortable, and safe working environment.

We respect and protect the rights of employees. The employees
of the Group enjoy the protection under laws and the rights under
the regulations of the Group, which allows the employees to have
equal opportunities in employment, redesignations, salary adjustment,
promotion and training despite of their race, nationality and gender.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has strictly followed and did
not discover any violations of laws and regulations including Labor Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Labor Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic
of China and Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor of
Mainland China and Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong. We have
also established a series of human resource policies (including but not
limited to Employee Manual), which comprised the key systems and
procedures relating to employee management such as code of conduct,
remuneration management system, working hours, holiday management,
disciplinary measures, attendance and promotion, recruitment and
dismissal management, internal redesignations, information safety, equal
opportunities and other employee benefits, etc., and rules and regulations
relating to occupational health. Such guidelines have been clearly conveyed
to all employees. The Group is committed to protecting the legal interests
of employees and keeps on improving employee benefits to enhance the

employee loyalty.
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Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

We have a system to attract, retain and motivate high-caliber talents.
We attract and maintain a stable team of core employees by providing
a comfortable working environment, competitive salary, and provision of
training and personal development opportunities according to the position

and development potential of the employees.

The Group has developed and implemented a fair and open performance
assessment system and supervisory mechanism. Through the clear
implementation of the recruitment and promotion policies, we ensure
that decisions on recruitment, remuneration and promotion are made
based on the personal capacity of the employees while taking his/
her work experience, qualifications attained and professional skills into

consideration.

Remuneration and Benefits

We strive to ensure that employees are reasonably remunerated and
properly motivated. The remuneration management is conducted based
on the position ranking system, which enables the position-based ranking
and rank-based salary. Our remuneration system mainly comprises
several aspects: determining remuneration at the time of hire, adjusting
remuneration at the time of promotion/demotion and conducting
performance-based remuneration adjustment, etc. In order to broaden
the career development for the employees in the Company, the Company
adopts a centralized mode of "double ladder” development route,
including professional rank route (route P) and managerial rank route
(route M). Rank promotion is made after taking various factors including,
among others, work performance, professional skills, experience and
behavior into consideration. According to the comprehensive assessment
scheme, rank promotion assessment is made available to each employee
annually. Such assessment activities aim to motivate employees to achieve
their career objectives and reach their full potential, thus resulting a win-
win situation. Our service quality relies on the quality of employees
which in tur needs on-going update of their professional knowledge and
skills. The employee training and development is discussed in the section

headed “Development and Training” of Aspect B3.

In addition to the employee benefits stipulated by law, we also provide
employees with additional welfare to enhance the protection of

employees and maintain their physical and mental health.
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In terms of employee protection, the Group purchases group commercial
supplementary medical insurance, traffic accident and accidental injury
insurance for all employees. When an employee unfortunately suffers from
a disease or work-related accident, the Group will provide support for
salary loss and medical expenses for employees. The Group also ensures

that our employees undergo annual physical examinations.

As for the physical and mental health of our employees, the Group offers
meal benefits and overtime payment or arranges an annual employee trip

while organizing recreational activities regularly.

Working hours and holidays

The Group adopts a flexi-time practice while staying in compliance with
the standard working system. Our employees may, in accordance with the
relevant regulations, enjoy statutory holidays, annual leave, marriage leave,
sick leave, bereavement leave, maternity and parental leave, and leave
in lieu, thus, employees’ right to rest and holiday entitlement are strictly

ensured.

Equal Opportunity, diversity and Anti-discrimination

The Group strictly complies with all national and local governmental
laws and regulations by adopting a fair, equitable and open recruitment
process, and developing relevant policies to prevent discrimination in the
recruitment process to ensure no discrimination regardless of race, social
status, religion, nationality, disability, age, marital status, gender, pregnancy,
sexual orientation, trade union membership, political association, which
allows employees to enjoy fair treatment in every aspect including
recruitment, remuneration, training and promotion, dismissal, retirement
or other aspects in relation to employment so to attract professionals with
diverse backgrounds to join the Group. Any employee who is intimidated,
humiliated, bullied or harassed (including sexual harassment) may report
to the employee’s representative, or file complaints directly to the general
manager, and the Group will take serious measures to resolve these issues

upon receiving such complaints.
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As of 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 309 employees, all B ZE2023F 128318 AEEBHEFIOZE
of whom were full-time employees (as of 3| December 2022: 469, all I >B2AR82BET (B1E2022F 12831
of whom were full-time employees). Set out below is the information of B :469% > B2BHBZWET) - B2 HH
our employees by gender, age group, employment type and geographical REWBET o FLEETHEMA ~ FicR - B
location: BRI RMEE HUWT
2023 2022

20234 20224
Total number of employees EE4EAE 309 469
By gender %R 2
— Male — 5% 155 246
— Female — % 154 223
By age group RERERNZ S
-<30 —30 AT 97 220
—30-50 —30-50%% 205 233
->50 —505R A £ 7 16
By geographical location BREEE 9
— Mainland China — R R 308 465
- Hong Kong —&55 | 3
By employment type BRETHERZS
— Management — BB 2 I
— Middle-level employee —HEET 30 47
— Junior employee — 4R ET 277 41|
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During the Reporting Period, the total employee turnover rate* of the R EHARM » NERES TAABEREZ%63.24%
Group is 63.24%, and the number and percentage of departed employees REBILMR ~ Fie R i& S8 5 RIM K EESREF
by gender, age group and geographical location are as follows: Mo
2023 2022
20234 20224

Number of Percentage Number of Percentage

departed of departed departed of departed

employees employees® (%) employees employees (%)

S TR ST RERS B TR B TR

Indicators etz A¥ BLE(%) A B (%)

Classification by gender BETHRSEE
— Male — B4 134 66.83 218 105.31
— Female — % 112 57.88 145 81.01

Classification by age group 28 T HE #4059 48

- <30 —30 LT 125 78.86 191 52.62
— 30-50 —30-50% 110 50.23 168 46.28
- >50 —508 A £ Il 95.65 4 .10

Classification by geographical #&#3th & 43 58

location

- PRC —fE 244 63.13 361 94.38

— Hong Kong —FE 2 100 2 57.14

Remarks: Btst -

(4)  The total employee tumover rate is calculated by dividing the total number of (4) EIWEBILEXERFEZHNEERST AL
workers who departed during the Reporting Period by the average number of BRI FR R FRAIS T FIINEGETE o

employees at the beginning and end of the year.

(5) The turnover rate by category is calculated by dividing the number of employees (5) BOEREBIFEESEREHNZ S EMBST
who departed in that category during the Reporting Period by the average ANBBRIXF R FRZ D EE T H)FIHNE 5
number of employees in that category at the beginning and end of the year. Ho
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Aspect B2: Health and Safety

The Group attaches great importance to the health and safety
of employees and considers it as the top priority in our business
management. We are committed to providing employees with a
comfortable and safe working environment. During the Reporting Period,
the Group had complied with all relevant laws and regulations regarding
health and safety of its employees, including but not limited to: Labor
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Law of the People’'s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases, Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Production Safety, Fire Prevention Law of
the People's Republic of China, Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Response to Emergencies and Trade Union Law of the People's Republic
of China.

The Group has achieved zero work-related fatalities for three consecutive
years, including the Reporting Period. During the Reporting Period, no
lost day due to work-related injuries has been recorded by the Group.
The Group was also not aware of any material non-compliance with
health and safety related laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group. Such laws and regulations include but not limited
to the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Production Safety, Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China, and Law of the Peoples Republic of China,
and Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and control of

Occupational Diseases.

Workplace Safety

The Group has established the Circular on Relevant Regulations on Work
Environment Management, the Fire Management System and the Safe
Office Environment Management System, applicable to the management
of the Company’s fire safety, electrical safety and relevant information
safety. In view of safety first and prevention of risk, we exercised a
system coordinated by administration department in association with
management by various departments, and arranged a person to be in
charge of safety management at each of workplaces to implement the
system. The person who takes the main responsibility will be the person
who is responsible for production safety, as well as set up an emergency

response team.
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Set out below are certain day-to-day measures taken by the Group

relating to workplace safety:

128

Arrange a person to be in charge of safety management at each of
the workplaces. The principal person in charge will be responsible
for production safety, and set up an emergency response team to
eliminate, control and rectify the production safety accident hazards

on a regular basis;

Ensure that all indoor emergency rescue equipment, facilities and

devices are effectively equipped and ready for use;

Use electricity safely. The electronic appliances are used without
overloads and there is no unauthorized wiring and connection of
electric wires, so as to ensure personal safety when using electronic
appliances. Electronic facilities are to be inspected and the
electronic equipment, portable power banks and other flammable
and explosive hazardous objects are required to be turned off at

everyone's workplaces in a timely manner;

Stick to monthly major inspection and daily routine inspection
principle. The administration department organizes a regular overall
fire inspection on a monthly basis to inspect the condition of the
fire extinguisher, fire hydrant, smoke sensor, spray. The person in
charge of safety management at each of workplaces patrols the
building to check electrical appliances, office equipment, corridor
safety and personnel in and out, as well as to identify and solve

problem in a timely manner.

In order to enhance safety awareness and safety literacy of our
employees, the Group take active measures to organize lectures,
publicities, education and trainings in relation to fire safety,
public security, traffic safety, property safety, hazardous source
management, occupational disease prevention knowledge for
various departments. We also invite relevant professionals to
provide suggestions for the Company's safety management work, in
order to promote our awareness of occupational health and safety
manners, to ensure the health of our employees and build up a

team of healthy workforce.
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B3: Development and Training

The Group aims to create an attractive working environment with
opportunities for development, in which our employees can reach their
full potential and achieve personal and occupational fulfillment. We will
continue to provide support and resources to ensure our employees
remain competitive in their careers, and work with them in pursuit of
mutual success. To this end, the Group has provided the employees
with systematic training and professional development to ensure that
the employees could receive training according to their respective
circumstances, so as to meet the needs for continuous professional
training by their respective vocations.

The Group’s training mainly includes corporate culture and
professionalism, business knowledge, information security, and legal and
regulatory knowledge update for new employees. During the Reporting
Period, the total number of training hours provided by the Group was
approximately 888 hours and the average number of training hours per
trained employee was approximately 2.28 hours. The percentage of
trained employees by employee gender and employee type is shown in
the following table:

As shown below:

Breakdown of
Trained Employees®(%)

IRIE - HERERHRS

B3 : SRR

FEENERERI—EEARS|I HHMAEHFHE
REESHNTIFIRE > SETHEATDEERD
BYED - WEIREAMBZEAY AL o HofIii
BENRESZENER BREIEBELE
RRFEHEE S 0 W EMPIHERIBEREFRIR
Ih o Wil > AEEEBER RMBEIIF TR
B BATABIEIERNEI - DU E M
& BB ENFEERIEINIEX -

FEENBIRNE ISR EEXCERBE
B~ 2B EERLE  RERERNAE
WMEMABBIEI - RBREHE > ~EES
HZ A8/ N\ RIIE - B ZIEER T
AR #9228/ B o 1 R EERHE
DREERIE LB ¢

WMREFTR -

Percentage of
Trained Employees’(%)

Employees’ Average
Training Hours (hours)®

Fall § THR4H BT FI9%
S8 THR4Re (%) ZHETEALL (%) R (1\BE) e
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Indicators BR 2023% 20224 20238 20226 20238 20226
Classification by gender 8 T 4594
— Male — B4 58.12 52.48 33.92 25.60 2.53 0.48
— Female -4 4].88 47.52 25.32 26.82 1.96 0.53
Classification by BRETIREHER
employment type baE
— Management —E1B8 = 792 = 114.29 = 9.14
— Middle-level employee —HEET 5.98 18.18 — 1.45 —
~ Junior employee —faRET 94.02 92.08 31.98 2711 2.42 0.38

Remarks:

(6) The breakdown of employees trained by category is calculated by dividing the
number of employees trained by the category during the Reporting Period by the
total number of employees trained in the Reporting Period.

(7) The percentage of employees trained by category is calculated by dividing the
number of employees trained by category during the Reporting Period by the
average number of employees in that category at the beginning and end of the
year.

(8) The average number of training hours per employee by category is calculated by
dividing the number of training hours in that category during the Reporting Period
by the average number of employees in that category at the beginning and end
of the year.

WisE

(6) EOBWZINETHARZRREHANZIELET
RANNBFU R EAS THRZABEH -

7) BAESHEIEH LERREPNEHES
TSN BIRUEY R FZH IR T T
N3 o

(8) EHDBET FIHZINEFHESIZREHNZSE
B OFE R F R FARZ DB THIFIIN
B5tH -
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Aspect B4: Labor Standards

Prevention of Child and Forced Labor

The Group places much importance on and strictly complies with all
applicable national laws and local regulations in the places of operation,
and prohibits any unethical business practices. The Group has put in place
stringent recruitment procedures which require all candidates to provide,
prior to being hired, their identity documents such as identity card for
vetting by the administration and human resources departments, so as to
avoid the recruitment of any child labor and other illegal labor. During the
Reporting Period, all employees of the Group were at the age of 18 or
over, and we have complied with and did not violate relevant laws and
regulations relating to preventing child and forced labor, including but not
limited to: Regulations on Labor Security Supervision, Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Labor Contract Law of the People's Republic
of China, Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor, Employment
Ordinance (cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The work schedule of the employee represents the reasonable work
arrangement in the context of the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China, which ensures that they get sufficient rest and a proper work-life
balance so as to provide excellent service. The Group may arrange over
time work as the circumstance demands, and provide compensation in
accordance with the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China and
other relevant labor laws and regulations. We prohibit any forms of forced
labor to ensure the employees could work on a voluntary and lawful basis.
When any violations are found, the Group will conduct an investigation
immediately, and make appropriate punishments or dismiss the relevant
employees according to the investigation results. If necessary, the Group
will report the violation to the local law enforcement agency, and further
improve the labor mechanism for the violation. The Group will regularly
investigate the employment of child labor and forced labor, and formulate

relevant steps as necessary to eliminate all possibilities of violations.
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Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

Management is an indispensable part of a company’s stable operation.
Our business and internal systems rely on highly technical software and
processes. Failures in our information system could prevent us from
offering services. Therefore, ensuring the stable operation and continuous
development of our information system is of vital importance to our
sustainable development. The services provided by the Group's suppliers
mainly include information technology services, consulting services,
professional services, SMS services and administrative services. In order
to avoid the decline in the overall performance and the increase in the
breakdowns of the information system caused by imperfect outsourcing
service safeguard systems, we have established the Procurement
Management System which standardizes the procurement management
to ensure the quality of purchased goods and services, strengthen
cost control and improve collaboration efficiency. In addition, we have
also established the Management Measures on Technology Service
Outsourcing which stipulates the procedures for selecting service
providers for outsourcing information system technologies to ensure that
the suppliers are up to standard. As a matter of policy, we will obtain
quotes from more than one supplier for comparison to ensure a fair
supplier review process. All major suppliers are required to comply with
the above-mentioned management systems and management measures
required by the Group. The Group is willing to work with them to
jointly explore broader business opportunities and share the successes
we achieved together. During the Reporting Period, the Group had
approximately 350 suppliers (2022: 85), all of which come from the PRC.
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Green Procurement

Green procurement is a crucial component of our supplier management
strategy to promote sustainable development and environmental
protection. We are committed to establishing cooperation relationship
with suppliers who share our environmental values to promote the
procurement of environmentally friendly products and services. A
range of strategies and criteria are adopted in green procurement
practices to ensure the products and services in the supply chain meet
environmental sustainability standards. The Group strives to adhere to
the policy of engaging responsible outsourcers that minimize the total
emission of GHG, waste generated and resources consumed. Before
including a supplier into our list, we make a series of examination with
the qualifications, scale, performance, creditworthiness, management
regularity, environmental protection and other main aspects being
evaluated to ensure they could provide reliable and trustworthy products
or services in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC

(such as anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist laws and regulations).
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Open and fair procurement

The Group values anti-corruption work in the procurement process.
Under the policy, quotations from more than one supplier are required
to be sought for comparisons to ensure the fairess of supplier vetting.
The Group also sign integrity agreements with suppliers to restrain their
conduct, prevent corruption cases in tendering and procurement, and
eliminate the acts of seeking improper benefits during the execution
of projects. We also adopt a dynamic management approach in the
process of service provision by suppliers, and conduct daily performance
evaluation and regular assessment of outsourced personnel in order to
ensure that the quality of products and services that the Group purchases
are up to standard. Suppliers who are not up to standard for a prolonged
period of time will be disqualified. Suppliers are selected in accordance
with the relevant management measures of the Group and the principle of
openness, impartialness and fairness and by way of appropriate methods
such as bidding, etc. We carefully consider the environmental and social

risks of the suppliers to select the best ones.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

High-quality products and services help companies build a good
reputation. The Group has established the “Product Quality Assurance
Process” and is committed to maintaining high service standards and
product quality with internal controls. By maintaining communication with
customers to understand their satisfactions, we can continuously improve

the quality of our services and enhance our brand reputation.

In addition, since the regulation on the Internet finance Industry has been
tightened due to the impact of national policies, we are subject to strict
regulation by Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, local
financial services offices and National Internet Finance Association of
China. During the Reporting Period, we devoted a large amount of time
and resources to ensure strict compliance with laws, regulations, rules and
policies relating to the industry regulation, and the products and services

provided can meet the requirements of various stakeholders.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not discover any major
violations of laws and regulations related to product and service quality,
and due to the nature of the Group’s business, it is not involved in any
circumstances that would require the recall of products sold or shipped
for health and safety reasons. The circumstances under which the product
was shipped are also inapplicable to disclosures regarding product return
procedures. Apart from the annual audit for annual report, we also have
specific audits on the key aspects such as clients’ fund management,
information disclosure and operational compliance, etc., for the purpose
of risk control and compliance with regulatory requirements. During the
Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with relevant laws and
regulations on health and safety, advertising, labeling and privacy issues
and remedies for our products and services provided, including but not
limited to: Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China, Personal
Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, Regulation
for the Implementation of the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic
of China, Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of
Consumer Rights and Interests, Interim Measures for the Administration
of Internet Advertising, Self-discipline Convention on Marketing and
Promotion Activities of Internet Financial Players (Trial), Information

Security Technology — Personal Information Security Specification.

Customer services

The Group is committed to providing customers with competitive
products and services through standardized service quality, professional
service process and humanized service management, and takes all
complaints and suggestions seriously and regards them as an important
part of the continuous improvement of the service quality. The Group
has established a comprehensive customer service complaint system in
accordance with the “"Customer Service Complaint Handling System”
to receive all customer complaints and suggestions from public opinion,
regulatory bodies, and media organizations. The Group has a special
department responsible for collecting such information, assigning
appropriate personnel according to the complaint contents to actively
handle and follow up the complaints. We fully cooperate with any
investigations by regulatory agencies to ensure that our services can be

improved.

During the Reporting Period, the Group handled approximately 467
(2022: 571) complaints about loan repayment issues made through
websites, government departments, etc. The response rate for these
complaints was 100% (2022: 100%) and the response time was within 24

hours of receipt of the complaint for the first call back.
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Protection of intellectual property rights

The basic tasks of patent and software copyright management are to
implement the intellectual property rights management system, grant
relevant incentives and subsidies, implement intellectual property rights
strategies, publicize the knowledge of intellectual property rights, and
stimulate employees’ enthusiasm for invention and creation, so as to
promote the scientific and technological progress of the Company. In
recent years, the nation has attached great importance to intellectual
property protection and supported enterprises to maintain their own legal
interests. In addition to our own efforts, we also made active utilization
of the relevant national policies and regulations to protect the intellectual
property of our brands, so as to to continually improve our brand

competitiveness which in turn promises better services for users.

In order to standardize the management of the Company's patents and
software copyrights, encourage employees to invent and create, protect
the rights and interests of invention and creation, enhance the Company's
competitiveness in the market and economic benefits, the Management
System for Trademark and the Intellectual Property Management Policy
was established based on the Company’s specific circumstances to
implement superior policies of intellectual property rights, regulate the
naming, application and use of trademarks, and protect the trademark

proprietary rights of the Group and third-parties.

The administrative department of the Company is the management
department of patents and software copyrights and is responsible for the
management of patent and software copyright files. Employees of the
Company have the right to protect our patents and software copyrights
from infringement, safeguard our legitimate rights and interests, report
infringements to the legal department in a timely manner and assist in
investigation and collection of evidence. Meanwhile, the unit should avoid
infringing the patents and software copyrights of others. In addition, the
legal department should also perform the duties on trademark supervision,
and our employees will also notify, through the relevant communication
channels and mechanisms, to the legal department any infringement on
the Group's trademarks by any third-parties. The infringement, once
verified through investigation, would be submitted to the decision-making
department, the legal department may decide whether to report the
infringement to the administration agencies for Industry and commerce
or initiate a lawsuit with the People’s Court, for the purpose to stop and

crack down such trademark infringement behavior.
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Privacy Protection

The Group attaches great importance to customer rights and interests
and privacy protection, committed to maintaining and protecting personal
data. And we strictly adhere to regulatory requirements on data privacy
through fulfilling high security and confidentiality of personal data privacy
protection. In order to improve the awareness of information security
prevention of employees and protect corporate information security, the
Group formulated 51 Credit Card Information Security General Policy
and Information Security Management System in accordance with the
national laws and regulations and its security management requirements.
The system follows the principles of “information security is everyone’s
responsibility” and “who uses who is responsible”. All employees
should comply with the said systems, actively learn information security
knowledge, improve security prevention awareness and operational skills,
and jointly protect and maintain the Company's information security to

ensure the normal operation of the Company's various businesses.

Our credit management tool, 51 Credit Card Manager App, is the
cornerstone for the development of the Group’s financial services
ecosystem. We provide customers with our credit management service
by obtaining the credit card statements of our users primarily from the
users’ email accounts based on the users’ authorization or from the users’
import. The day-to-day operation of the credit card management platform
involves processing and storing a large amount of personal information of
users, which includes not only the basic personal information (including
mobile phone number or account information of social media) provided
to us at user registration, but also the credit card transaction records from
different banks, consumption history records for different occasions, and
repayment data through users’ life cycles. Our brand reputation is critical
to our business and competitiveness. Therefore, it is a critical task for us to
ensure the security of personal information on our platforms and comply
with the relevant laws and regulations relating to Internet security and

privacy protection.

51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2023 Annual Report

HZRE

FEEFEERREZL BRI KRR » BHE
ERFEEAEL > TEBTSEZERRFRE
BREREEABRLR > BERTHBERA
RNEERE #TREBEIEEZENEER
#H o REARNEEZE  AEBRKBRREZIEE
ERRAEENZ2EEER  FIEGIERF
EEZEMERE)  (EREZE2EEFE) - §
EEEMEERRZE  ANAE) THEH #E8
BINRA > 2RETREET LMFIE » Bk
BRESZE2NH  ReRE2MBEHNIRME
REE HERENEEATEELE  BRA
BIRBEFEDERF o

EREEIRSIGRAFEREBRAEAAERS
MBRBEERRERNER - RERRREXR
BARBFPNEDRAESER FRERRE
FRHEAEERS - GRFTEETEAREE
BRFEAERAFNVEAGE  KEERRE
AT M EANEAE R (BEB B EEIRE
HERERRAER) S BEIERBTRERT
NERRXZE  TREES G HELR
UkBREGBHANEMLE - mEEEHR
EBRBFNEFREE - Bt - BEFAEA
ERZE > LWETHEEZEERLFRERRD
ERESRRIFERERNGEE o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

In order to keep alert for attacks from external or internal sources, the
Group has implemented the Information Security Management System,
setting out a series of the following measures to protect privacy and

information security, which are detailed as below:

. Encryption and privacy protection: The operation platform of the
Group employs sophisticated Internet technology to effect multiple
authentication and encryption for data such as all the account
information and capital information, which shall not be disclosed
without the consent of our customers and the authorizations by

relevant laws and regulations;

o Security technology support: The Group applies multi-layer firewall
to monitor the data security and our intrusion detection system
would make real-time feedback to prevent any intrusion and hence

ensure the information security;

. Internal confidential measures: At the time of employment, the
human resource department have arranged the signing of formal
labor contract and confidentiality agreement with all employees.
The confidentiality agreement clearly provides for, among others,
the content subject to confidentiality and the validity term of the

agreement, etc,;

0 External access monitoring: When a third-party stays in the Group
for business purpose, the relevant department of the Company
shall be responsible for the management of such third-party and
arrange due registration with the administrative department.
Such third-party shall also sign a confidentiality agreement with
the Group to inform the third-party of the prohibited behavior.
We have strict regulations on the activities, limits of authority,
use of resources of such third-party at the Group. Without prior
approval, no confidential information shall be disclosed to any
person. It is strictly prohibited to copy, spread or disclose, without
our authorization, any confidential information such as customer'’s

identity and transaction records; and

. Irregular safety risk assessments: The Group hires external
consultants from time to time to conduct professional assessments
on the potential risks of network and personal information security,

and make timely rectifications.
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In addition, we plan to enhance our technology and risk management
infrastructure, in particular for big data analysis and artificial intelligence
technology with the focus on anti-fraud, deep learing in image analysis,
behavior analysis, relationship mapping, automatic user interaction and
intelligent user operation. Specifically, investment in artificial intelligence

and big data will, among others:

. Further develop facial recognition and voice recognition system to

minimize the risks of fraud;

. Increase the level of automation and precision of our interactive

Help Center; and

. Optimize our risk pricing capabilities in data processing and analysis.

Marketing and Publicity

In order to reinforce management over the Company's marketing and
promotional activities, we have been in strict compliance with various
standards regarding advertisement release, and we established the system
in accordance with the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Advertising Law of the PRC, the Interim Measures
for the Administration of Internet Advertising, the Guiding Opinions of
General Office of the State Council on Strengthening the Protection of
Rights and Interests of Financial Consumers, the Self-discipline Convention
on Marketing and Promotion Activities of Internet Financial Players (Trial),
and relevant advertisement related laws and regulations. Such system is
applied to the marketing and promotional activities of the Company that
promotes our brand, our internet financing products and services directly
or indirectly through certain media and forms, details of which are as

below:

e Business department shall only conduct marketing and promotional
activities in relation to business which is legally permitted to
operate, and shall ensure the content of such marketing and
promotion complied with the scope and content of the business

which is legally permitted to operate;

. Prior to conducting any marketing and promotional activities, the
business department shall evaluate the relationship between such
activities and the potential contractual obligations, work out proper
plans and well address the engagement between such activities and
the related work, so as to protect the legal interests of Internet

finance consumers;
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. Marketing and promotional activities shall be conducted in a
moderate manner, the data and information quoted should be true
and accurate, and false or misleading contents shall not be allowed

when conducting promotional activities; and

. In case of any marketing and promotional activity in cooperation
with a third-party, contract shall be entered into in accordance
with laws to specify the responsibilities of both parties in respect of
design, production, advertising and other related work. In addition,
we shall urge and supervise the third-party to fulfill its contractual
obligations, and ensure an effective implementation of the control

system for marketing and promotional activities.

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

Establishing strong corporate governance is the cornerstone of the
Group’s growth and development. The Group attaches great importance
to anti-corruption work and system development and prohibits bribery
and any form of corrupt conduct. We have strictly complied with and
did not violate any of the laws and regulations including but not limited
to the following: The Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China,
The Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People's Republic of China, The
Interim Provisions on Probation of Commercial Bribery, The Company
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and The Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance, etc. To clarify the focus and division of responsibilities of anti-
money laundering and anti— terrorist financing, and to strengthen the
supervision and management requirements, the Company has developed
the Management System on Anti-corruption and Anti-terrorist Financing
to monitor and report any suspected money laundering activities in
compliance with the requirements of the Anti-money Laundering
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Interim Measures for the
Administration of the Business Activities of Online Lending Information
Intermediary Institutions and the Measures for the Administration of
Combating Money Laundering and Financing of Terrorism by Providers of
Internet Financial Services (Trial). The anti-money laundering procedures

include:

c The Finance Department took the lead in anti-money laundering
and anti-terrorist financing management, was responsible for
the process, design and implementation of customers’ identity
verification, established a monitoring and reporting system for anti-
money laundering and anti-terrorist financing, and issued relevant

reports for large-value transactions and suspicious transactions;
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Performing comprehensive analysis and assessment on the money-

laundering risks of loan applicants;

The technology research and development center was responsible

for maintaining customer data and transaction records;

The internal control department was responsible for the
supervision, inspection and publicity of the Company’s internal anti-

money laundering and anti-terrorist financing; and

The human resources department was responsible for organizing

anti-money laundering training;

The Anti-corruption Administration Rules has been established to
define corruption behavior, and set rewards to encourage reporting
and provide reporting channels. The Group would take severe

disciplinary action against any staff that committed corrupt actions.

al |l
—

EEDMAFEERFFANEEER

B

MM ERLEEREFEFENNRS
SCEE

HAERE B RN B RER SO R M
METFNEE  BREREME; &

MANERBESAMRAENE

BT (KSR EEHE) » EHBHIT
B RBEEBUEDRRLRHBRA
€ - EEFATAEHERTANS T
LUBRE R ET o

O

Information Collection Investigation

FERRE MRAE

Case Handling
RHRE

* Receive reporting *  Establish special
information investigation team to
. WEIBEBES verify and issue

an investigation report
« RYBREHE/NE =%
EEE - HEHERSE

* Issue a handling opinion
based on investigation
results and follow the
opinion after approval

. HEHEEER
HAREER -
RERBBIRATT

140

51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2023 Annual Report



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
breach of laws and regulations relating to the prevention of bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering, nor were there any concluded

corruption proceedings against the Group or its employees (2022: Nil).

The Group organizes anti-corruption training for all directors, including
introduction to anti-corruption laws and regulations and the roles and
responsibilities of directors, as well as updated reading and learning of
the Anti-Corruption Management System to raise awareness of directors
and staff on corruption, conflict of interest and integrity issues. During
the Reporting Period, the Group delivered its anti-corruption policy
and guidelines to all employees through the publication of an anti-
corruption system announcement. Furthermore, the Group specifically
marked the importance of anti-corruption regulations while entering into
any agreements with our business partners. The Group includes anti-
corruption regulations into its cooperation agreements and explicitly
requires business partners to comply with anti-corruption laws and the
code of ethics. Through the clear marking of anti-corruption regulations,
the Group emphasizes its commitment to transparent and honest business
conduct. Each employee has a responsibility to protect the reputation
of the Group and to build a good reputation by being honest and
trustworthy in their dealings with customers, business partners and each

other.

Whistleblowing Mechanism

The Group is committed to maintaining good corporate governance with
an emphasis on accountability and a high degree of openness, integrity and
transparency so that the Group'’s stakeholders have trust and confidence
in the Group to take care of their needs and fulfill its social responsibilities.
To this end, the Group has established a Whistleblowing Policy, Anti-
corruption Management System, and a corresponding reporting
mechanism to provide reporting channels and guidelines for reporting

possible misconduct.
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The internal control department of the Company is the main management

agency for anti-corruption work. Its duties include:

. Centralize the receipt of information on all reports of corruption-

related behaviors;

E Investigate all suspected acts of corruption and report the result of

such investigations to the Board in a timely manner;

c Strictly handle corrupt behaviors identified in accordance with the
Company's system, and refer the persons of corrupt behaviors

involving violations of the law to judicial authorities;

. Supervise all departments to conduct self-checks on corruption and
cooperate with the human resources department in launching anti-

corruption and corruption prevention training;

. Review relevant control measures on a regular basis and update the

policy in a timely manner.

All departments of the Company are equally responsible for combating

corruption. Their duties include:

. Draft out specific measures to prevent various corrupt behaviors

according to the actual condition;

. Investigate and cooperate with the internal control department
unconditionally to investigate internal corrupt behaviors of the
department, and address them in accordance with the Company’s

policy in timely manner.

The Group assures that the whistleblower is under protection from any
unfair disciplinary action or harm. We prohibit retaliation and reserve the
right to take appropriate action against any person (employee or other
interested party) who harms, initiates or threatens to initiate retaliation
against a whistleblower. Employees who initiate or threaten retaliation will
be subject to disciplinary action, which may include immediate dismissal.
The Whistleblower may report any supporting evidence of suspected
misconduct, either orally or in writing, to the relevant department or to
the Group's senior management. The management will then investigate
any suspected illegal activity. Any employee who willfully or irresponsibly

makes false or malicious allegations will be subject to disciplinary action.
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B8: Community Investment

While seeking for business development, the Group fulfills its corporate
citizenship responsibility actively by contributing to society with its best
effort. In order to help communities improve their living standard and
promote community building continuously, we focus on the disadvantaged
and participate in social welfare business through various kinds of
community building supporting projects, educational plans, environmental
protection and social welfare projects, contributing to the society with our

actual actions.

Meanwhile, the Group encourages employees to develop a sense of social
responsibility and supports them to participate in social welfare activities
on work and after work. We consider it important for employees to
participate and contribute to the development of the society. Therefore,
the Group provides flexible support and resources to encourage
employees to actively participate in volunteer services, charitable activities,
and other social welfare projects to achieve a greater social impact.
We create a better society by focusing on social issues and actively

participating in social welfare activities.

Set out below are some contributions and programs in respect of

community investment during the Reporting Period:

. In July 2023, the Group cooperated with Zhejiang Dream-
Come-True fund to provide support to underprivileged students
in Sichuan by donating annual tuition fees of RMB1,000 to the
students. We supported them to overcome financial difficulties
and obtain the opportunity to receive education to achieve their

dreams.
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In September 2023, the Group cooperated with Hangzhou
Fuyang District Huyuan Township to jointly sponsor the soccer
team of Huyuan Township by donating RMB8,000 to the soccer
team, providing them with better training, and building their
competitiveness in order to support and motivate the soccer
players in Huyuan Township, contributing to sport activities in the

community accordingly.

In November 2023, the Group organized employees to actively
participate in the support service of Auntie Chien Animal Shelter
(BEPIRENYIKIBNLL) in Xiaoshan, Hangzhou. We visited the
saved animals to express our caring for and support to the Shelter.
Besides, we donated supplies equivalent to RMB3500 to the
Shelter, including second-hand equipment such as freezers and
steamer. These supplies had improved the facilities and resources
of the Shelter, equipped them with better conditions to take care
and protect those innocent animals. The Group believes in the
importance of protecting the welfare of animals and is willing to
actively participate in this charitable act to create a better living

environment for animals.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

T o
ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 51 CREDIT CARD INC.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 51 Credit Card Inc.
(the “"Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages |56 to 319, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 3|1 December 2023, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive loss, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy

information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 3| December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

HSIERRAERATRKRE
(RAASHEEZMA T 2 BIRAE)

RER
HPABEEZETNEI56E3I9B5 1 EHAFEERAT
(TERA) REWB AR (HhiEs TS5 )) NAEH
FHERK - HEFER2023FE 12831 HRGEESHFHRTR
HHEZOILIFENGEEZEEER GaEnEs)
REGEHERER  UREKESUBRRWEE (B
BAGBRER) ©

HMRAR > RBREPREREEE—MPMEHSEENT
BEREI > ZEGREUBRERERE(ERHBRS
ZR]) (TR 73RS 2R 1)) EEMAR Fith R R &
EER2023F 1283 BNGEMBRE » URBEZ
BLEFENGEUBRAKEGGREMNE » LERE
BEB(REMEAD I BEREZ HAmE o

2023 FEEHRE |45



Independent Auditor’s Report
BWALZHENR S

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION
l.

146

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

As disclosed in Note 35 to the notes to the consolidated financial
statements, Beijing Shouhui Kaizhou Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shouhui
Kaizhou"), who, through its subsidiaries (collectively, the “SK Group”),
holds a valid payment business license (the “Payment License”), was
acquired by the Group from the former shareholder of Shouhui Kaizhuo

in December 2017.

In or around early August 2022, Mr. Yang Fan, the former controlling
shareholder of Shouhui Kaizhuo, had restricted the management of SK
Group from contacting the staff of the Group, and the Group had since
3 August 2022 (the “Date of Deconsolidation™) been unable to carry out
workplace communication with SK Group and also unable to access all
the books and records of SK Group. The Group considered that since the
Date of Deconsolidation, the Group is unable to (i) control the operation
and finance of SK Group; (i) obtain the books and records of SK Group;
(iii) obtain report from the management of SK Group on business matters;

and (iv) direct the future development of SK Group.

In light of the above circumstances, the Group considered it had lost
control over SK Group and had excluded the consolidated financial
position of SK Group as at and after the Date of Deconsolidation and the
results and cash flows of SK Group since the Date of Deconsolidation
from the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year

ended 3| December 2022 (the “Deconsolidation”).

The Group has been taking protective measures such as (i) taking legal
action against SK Group for the repayment of loans of an aggregate of
RMB101,425,800 to the Group; (ii) obtaining an order from the court
to freeze the bank accounts of operating companies of SK Group; and
(iif) commencing legal proceedings against the relevant individuals and
entities (collectively, the “Legal proceedings”). Due to the uncertainty
of the outcome of the Legal proceedings, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether the

Deconsolidation of SK Group was appropriate.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Cont'd)

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Cont'd)

Due to the insufficient supporting documents and relevant explanations
on the accounting books and records in respect of SK Group and its
operations, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to satisfy ourselves as to whether (i) the Deconsolidation of SK Group
on the Date of Deconsolidation and the loss on Deconsolidation of
approximately RMB30,956,000; (ii) the income and expenses for the
years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022; (iii) the assets and liabilities as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022; and (iv) the segment information and
other related disclosure notes in relation to the Group, as included in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group, have been accurately
recorded and properly accounted for in the consolidated financial

statements:

(a)  Income and expenses
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R M EAX G RBRRE > RMBEIERRE
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(a) WAKFH

For the years ended

31 December

2022

BE20224F

12B31H

LEFE

RMB'000

ARETIT

Payment service fee SRR & 152,945

Origination and servicing expenses IR R R TS RS2 (128,431)

General and administrative expenses — R RATEMAX (12,719)

Sales and marketing expenses HEREHMAS (1,000)
Fair value loss on financial liabilities at fair value through AR BESTAEBZN SR EE

profit or loss RABEERIE (5.061)

Profit before tax BRAR Al A 5,734

Income tax credit PSRk e 77,550

Profit for the year NEE G 83,284
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(b)  Commitments and contingent liabilities in relation to SK Group and its
operations
No sufficient evidence has been provided to satisfy ourselves as to
the existence and completeness of the disclosures of commitments
and contingent liabilities in relation to SK Group and its operations
as at 3| December 2023 and 2022.

(c)  Related party transactions and disclosures in relation to SK Group and
its operations
No sufficient evidence has been provided to satisfy ourselves as
to the existence, accuracy and completeness of the disclosures of
the related party transactions for the year ended 3| December
2023 and 2022 and balances as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 in
relation to SK Group and its operations as required by International

Accounting Standard 24 (Revised) “Related Party Disclosures”.

Any adjustments to the figures described above might have a
consequential effect on the Group's consolidated financial performance
and consolidated cash flows for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 and the related disclosure thereof in the consolidated

financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code™), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the
matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section, we have determined
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in

our report.

Recognition of revenue and quality assurance fund payable (“QAF payable”)

Refer to notes 5 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had recognized revenue
of credit facilitation and service fee of approximately RMB70 million. As at 3|
December 2023, the amount of QAF payable amounted to approximately
RMB37 million.

The total proceeds from borrowers generally includes the services fees for
facilitating loan origination and for providing ongoing monthly services, and
contribution to the QAF payable, which provides a protection mechanism to

investors of the loans.

Of the total proceeds from borrowers, the portion meeting the definition of
a financial guarantee is first allocated to the QAF payable at fair value, and the
remaining amount is then allocated to credit facilitation and service fee. The initial
recognition of QAF payable is based on the determination of the estimated loss

rate of the financial guarantee.

We identified the recognition of revenue and QAF payable as a key audit matter
taking into consideration of i) the recognition of revenue and QAF payable
relies on the Group's self-developed IT systems which process a large volume
of revenue transactions and transfer the operational data for financial reporting
process; ii) the magnitude of the credit facilitation and service fee and QAF
payable recognized; and iii) the significant judgements applied by management in

the recognition of revenue and QAF payable.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Recognition of revenue and quality assurance fund payable (“QAF payable”)

(Cont'd)

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Obtaining an understanding of the management'’s assessment process of

recognition of revenue and QAF payable;

Inspecting supporting documents to evaluate the key controls in respect
of recognition of revenue and QAF payable, including the management's
review and approval process over the determination of estimated loss rate

of the financial guarantee;

Testing the general control environment and automated controls of the
information technology system and interface between the operating and

financial systems;

Testing on a sample basis on revenue transactions by checking the cash
receipts/payments, reviewing the underlying contracts, identifying the key
terms and attributes from the contracts, obtaining the underlying data
from the system used in the transaction processes, and recalculating the

revenue amount;

Obtaining management's calculation of the estimated loss rate and testing,

on a sample basis, the major underlying data; and

Testing the mathematical accuracy of the estimated loss rate.

We consider that the Group's recognition of revenue and QAF payable is

supported by the available evidence.

150
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Measurement of expected credit losses (“ECL”)

Refer to notes 4.1.2, 12, 24, 25 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’ s gross loans to customers and contract
assets amounted to approximately RMB474 million and approximately RMB64 |
million, and a loss allowance of approximately RMB280 million and approximately
RMB609 million was recognized, respectively; the exposure of quality assurance
fund receivable (** QAF receivable™) amounting to approximately RMB59 million
and the loss allowance of QAF receivable and QAF payable amounting to

approximately RMB38 million and RMB37 million respectively was recognized.

The Group assesses whether the credit risk of loans to customers, contract
assets, QAF receivable and payable have increased significantly since their
initial recognition, and apply an impairment model to calculate their ECL. In
assessing the ECL, management use the risk parameter modelling approach
that incorporates various parameters, including the portfolio segmentation,
parameters estimation, criteria for determining whether or not there is a
significant increase in credit risk (“SICR"), or credit-impaired and economic

indicators for forward-looking scenarios.

We identified the measurement of ECL as a key audit matter due to i) the
magnitude of the loss allowance for loans to customers, contract assets, QAF
receivable and payable; and i) complex calculation models, significant judgement

and assumptions used by management in determining the ECL.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Obtaining an understanding of the management'’s assessment process of

measurement of ECL;

- Understanding, evaluating and testing the internal controls related to
ECL for loans to customers, contract assets, QAF receivable and payable,
primarily including the review and approval of portfolio segmentation,
parameters estimation, criteria for determining whether or not there is
a SICR, or credit-impaired and economic indicators for forward-looking

scenarios;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Measurement of expected credit losses (“ECL”) (Cont'd)

= Reviewing the modelling methodologies for ECL measurement, and
assessing the reasonableness, based on our industry knowledge with
reference to the industry benchmarks, of the portfolio segmentation and

key parameters estimation;

= Examining the calculation for model measurement on a sample basis,
to test whether or not the measurement models reflect the modelling

methodologies documented by the management;

- Selecting sample of loans, to assess the appropriateness of management'’s

identification of SICR, defaults and credit-impaired loans;

= Reviewing the management's model analysis of their selection of economic
indicators, economic scenarios and weightings employed, assessing the
reasonableness of the prediction of economic indicators and reviewing
sensitivity analysis of economic indicators performed by management for

forward-looking measurements; and

= Examining major data inputs to the ECL models on selected samples,
including historical data and data at the measurement date, to assess their

accuracy and completeness.

We consider that the Group’s measurement of ECL is supported by the available

evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.
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OTHER INFORMATION (Cont'd)

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. As
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section above, we were unable to
obtain sufficient appropriate evidence about Deconsolidation of subsidiaries.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other information is

materially misstated with respect to these matters.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BWALZHENR S

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement

and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

= Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concer. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

= Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate treats of

safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh

the public interest benefits of such communication.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Hon Chung

Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P05988
Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss

= A2\ 15
A EHEBRR
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

Year ended 3| December

HENA3IHIEEE

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Mk ARETT AREFT
Credit facilitation and service fee EERSRIRFEE 5 70,227 113,799
Payment service fee > FERFEE = 152,945
Credit card technology service fee SRR RFEE 21,977 27739
Saa$ service fee SaaSHRF & 57,833 SI01
Camping service fee T ARFSE 33,941 I'1,063
Other revenue Hees 6 33,180 39,082
Total revenue Wz 4R e 217,158 395,739
Origination and servicing expenses HHIE R AR PSR S 8 (204,310) (332,724)
General and administrative expenses — R TR S 8 (52,918) (95418)
Research and development expenses i EE R 8 (18,319) (28811)
Sales and marketing expenses IHE M HRESY 8 (27,355) (31,569)
Expected credit (loss)/gain, net TERAE A (18%) Wz 358 12 (23,184) 84,986
Other gain/(losses), net Htles, (B518) /358 13 131,490 (32,938)
Total operating expenses SR 4a%E (194,596) (436,474)
Operating profit/(loss) RESER 7 (B548) 22,562 (40,735)
Share of net loss of associates accounted DMEERAEREEARMNEGE AT
for using equity method B8 348 20 (13,240) (11,923)
Fair value loss of financial liabilities AR BEAEGNEREE
at fair value through profit or loss NREEEE (25,999) (3,350)
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries B AT LS AR E1E 35 = (30,956)
Finance income/(expenses), net BB (Fx) /338 14 3,320 (7.431)
Loss before income tax P&ER1EMRAIEE (13,357) (94,395)
Income tax credit/(expenses) PR8I e,/ (Fix) |5 10,209 (3.234)
Loss for the year FEEE (3,148) (97,629)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss
MEEHBER

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

Year ended 3| December

HENA3IHIEEE

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
FfsE AR%T T ARMETFTT
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: LU TRIEEGEESET,(FE) :
— Owners of the Company —NNEIEBR A 11,037 (82,697)
— Non-controlling interests — IR R (14,185) (14,932)
(3.148) (97,629)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hhzmk A (E518)
Items that may not be reclassified to profit or loss REEF B mAEE
Change in fair value attributable to change in the  #ZAMEEFT ABZAE SR
credit risk of other financial liability designated at ~ &11&15 A E & RIEMEER
fair value through profit or loss NABELE) 2,250 (1,286)
Currency translation differences EistE LR (1,863) 3443
Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax FE2ER5E4E%E > {1RIRIE (2,761) (95,472)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to: W FZIBE(E2EULA ~ (E518)
4agE
— Owners of the Company B N/N=IEZ=N 12,154 (81,853)
— Non-controlling interests — JEE S (14,915) (13,619)
(2,761) (95,472)
Earning/(loss) per share attributable to TATHEE NELERERN
owners of the Company (&518)
- basic and diluted —EAR#E
(expressed in RMB per share): (RN BB -
Earning/(loss) for the year — basic FREA (F18) — &4 l6 0.0l (0.07)
Earning/(loss) for the year — diluted FERRBF (B8R —#E 16 0.0l (0.07)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive loss should be read in  _bFitissa& 2 EESIEFRFE MBI EE— RIS o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE MBI AR

As at 31 December 2023
R2023F12831H

As at 31 December

®I12A318
2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
MIsE ARBTT AREFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IERBEE
Property and equipment, net LY E Yt ] |7 108,096 102,464
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18 34,238 13,887
Intangible assets mIEEE 19 38,396 40717
Investments accounted for using equity method FRETE EARNIGE 20 16,016 31,660
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss WA RBEESAEBENSHEE 21 70,448 69,291
Deferred income tax assets PSR EE 22 15,171 5,386
Prepayments and other receivables a2 iE &  H A E W E e 23 632 1,073
Total non-current assets JERBHEEME 282,997 264,478
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventory =8 3,027 =
Quality assurance fund receivable ENE 2FRES 24 21,060 16,443
Contract assets EHEE 25 32,622 34,875
Trade receivables B2 EINERIE 26 41,173 18,968
Prepayments and other receivables SENE =S sl A ENE 23 118,736 116,375
Loans to customers, net R EHERE 27 193,933 179,725
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BARBEST A BTGNS EE 21 249 —
Restricted cash S IREIRE 28(b) 121,679 128,827
Cash and cash equivalents HERIRESEEY) 28(a) 349,490 376,813
Total current assets eSS EMSE 881,969 872,026
Total assets BEAE 1,164,966 1,136,504
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

EEMBIR AR

As at 31 December 2023
R2023F 128318

As at 31 December

128318
2023 2022

Note RMB’000 RMB'000

Mk ARBTT AREFT
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EmREE
Share capital %N 29 90 90
Reserves Ex 30 725,610 712,347
Equity attributable to owners of the Company mATIHER AFE(LHEES 725,700 712,437
Non-controlling interests JEIE RS R (16,130) (1,215)
Total equity TS AatE 709,570 711,222
LIABILITIES afE
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 1=
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R EAt AR 32 59,684 13,170
Lease liabilities HEEEA 18 27,514 6,589
Total non-current liabilities IEREEELEEE 87,198 19,759
CURRENT LIABILITIES MENEE
Quality assurance fund payable fENEE2FRES 24 37,043 21713
Payable to platform customers ENMEERE IR 54,625 75,389
Contract liabilities 5848 25 18,767 16,347
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EAMER 32 100,804 166,687
Lease liabilities HEEE 18 4,347 6,600
Trade and other payables B2 R EMEN RIS 33 76,132 66,056
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss ##/A AEEFF AIEmNEREE 34 76,480 52,731
Total current liabilities REAaEERE 368,198 405,523
Total liabilities BfE4%E 455,396 425,282
Total equity and liabilities liabilities s R B EdREE 1,164,966 [,136,504

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages |56 to 319 were approved by
the Board of Directors on 27 March 2024 and were signed on its behalf.

Sun Haitao
%iEE
Director

Ex

AR S A TR T 2 B i P B 5 — B o

FIS6EIIIBMB 2 GEMBHRRIN2024F3827H

BEESHE > THMIRREE !

Wou Shan
S
Director

E s

SHSEEERAS 03EE®Es |59



Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity

=l b=
S Y IE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAFRE AELS
Shares
held for
employee Non-
Share Share incentive Accumulated controling
capital premium schemes Reserves losses Sub-total interests ~ Total equity
FifEEE
] JEER
R RiaE Hikin e ZiER INgt 1t it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBI000
A\REBTR A\RETR ARETR AR%TT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARET:
At | antary 2022 B“ONEIRIR 0 615279 (0) (85 (53547 TesdT 650) 758746
Comprehensive loss 2HEEE
Loss for the year EhEE - - - S @) B (493 (OTew)
Change in fair value attributable to change in -~ $#A A {E{E T AR @A
the credit risk of financial liabilfy at far value £ EAEBIS A KA
through profit or loss (Note 30) BLERNARER
28 (z530) - = - (1.286) - (1,286) = (1,286)
Currency translation differences (Note 30)  S¥AEZEE (fifz£30) = = = 2,130 = 2,130 1313 3443
Total comprehensive loss PEGSREE - - - 844 (82697) (81,853) (13619) (95472)
Transactions with owners as their capacity ~ BEZFIEENHMEE
as owners WERETHRS
Share incentives exercised and vested EAEREERDRE
(Notes 29 and 30) (HzE29R30) = 6530 - (6530) - - - -
Share incentives awarded under share incentive [i3{7 2Bzt |18 T 4% 1A
olan (Note 30) B3 (H330) - - - 25043 - 2043 4766 33809
Deemed acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 36) B {EME—FEIBAF
(HizE36) - - - - - - 9,860 9,860
Capital contribution by a non-controlling InIEUNGIE 2244
interest of a subsidiary ERiEE - - - - - - 4779 4979
Total transactions with owners as ARGEREEURRES
their capacity as owners WEMETNRAEE - 6530 - 10513 - 904 18905 47948
At 31 December 2022 R2002E128318 90 6,159,329 (10) (9.128) (5437844) 712437 (1215) 71120
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity

] —\-
SR EER

n\7|_\
For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE
Attributable to owners of the Company
NG PN
Shares
held for
employee Non-
Share Share incentive Accumulated controlling
capital premium schemes Reserves losses Sub-total interests  Total equity
H{FER
BEtEl E[323
Ry ROYEE il e RoBR gt i st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
AEETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR AREBTR AREBTR ARBTR
At | January 2023 1#023E1818 90 6,159,329 (10) (9.128)  (5437844) 712,437 (1.215) 711,22
Comprehensive loss 2EER
Profitloss) for the year skl / (58) - - - - 11,037 11,037 (14,185) (3,148)
Change in fair value attributable to change A A B{EZT AR
in the credit risk of financial liability at SRBREEARN
fair value through profit or loss (Note 30) ~ E{EEHMALEE
£8) (It5k30) = - - 2250 - 2250 - 2250
Currency translation differences (Note 30)  S¥AEZEE (fif5H30) = = - (1,133) = (1,133) (730) (1,863)
Total comprehensive loss PEGSREE - - - 17 11,037 12,154 (14915) (2.761)
Transactions with owners as their capacity ~ BEZFIBENEMEE
as owners WERETNRS
Share incentives exercised and vested BIFREBRARE
(Notes 29 and 30) (HzE29R30) = 3l - (331) - - - =
Share incentives awarded under share R RB S EIE TR
incentive plan (Note 30) MRin 8 (MEE30) - - - 1,109 - 1,109 - 1,109
Total transactions with owners as their AERFEEUERES
capacity as owners WEMETHRAHEE = kX] = 718 = 1,109 - 1,109
At 31 December 2023 12023128318 90 6,159,660 (10) (7.233)  (5426807) 725,700 (16,130) 709,570
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
M5 ARET T ARETFT
Operating activities REEE)
Cash generated from operations REESINS 38(a) 25911 127,295
Income tax paid B PIEIR (139) (©15)
Net cash generated from operating activities e SEELINS FEE 25,772 [26,380
Investing activities KREES
Capital deduction of investments in associate FEAED EAENREE AT
accounted for using the equity method BB E AR 2,479 _
Purchases of investment at fair vale through BERAARBEA
profit or loss BHRNKEE (249) -
Purchases of property and equipment BB EREE (17,502) (18,415)
Investments in associate accounted for ERREREABRMREE QT
using the equity method HEE (75) (34,000)
Purchases of intangible assets BERTEE = (4.705)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 36) W B — R B 8 A B (BT 5E36) - 5016
Disposal of property and equipment HEMERRE = 6,318
Repayment from related parties Bl SRt = 8,785
Net cash used in investing activities KRE GRS R (15,347) (37,001)
Financing activities BB EE)
Cash received from capital contribution of RIEERR BRI EE
non-controlling shareholders UL ER VIR & - 4279
Proceeds from borrowings RN 78,519 5,000
Repayment of borrowings EiEEH (97,888) (26,738)
Interest paid BAHE (10,392) -
Principal elements of lease payments HENRNAEZD (9,185) (6,139)
Net cash used in financing activities MEBEEEFTAESIRESSEE (38,946) (23,598)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERIREEEY
cash equivalents GRZD) /18 h03%8E (28,521) 65,781
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and EXEHHIRERIREE
cash equivalents BYNZE 1,198 (2,116)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FHIRERIREEEY 376,813 313,148
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRIFES LIRS EEY 349,490 376,813
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

51 Credit Card Inc. (the “Company’) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 2| September 2017 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company's registered office is at Second Floor, Century Yard, Cricket
Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand Cayman, KY -1 103, Cayman Islands.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since |3 July
2018.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
provision of financial technology services and Saa$S services in the People’s

Republic of China (“China”, or the “PRC").

The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB'000) except when otherwise

indicated.

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

—RRE#

SHEARARAR (TEAT) KR2017F9821
BIREHASEB(REE) 38225 (196 1 F 535k
ER O BEHRES]) THEEEMAIIAE
HRBREERAT o QTR E M E Ut
% Second Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square,
P.O. Box 902, Grand Cayman, KY I-1103, Cayman

Islands ©

RATIRME20I8F7H I3HEREEEHMERS
FREMRAT (TE3ZPR) EMR L -

TABRKREBERRAT - ZRABDREWE AR
(e TAER ) TERPREARLENE(TH
B ) R R E SRR KR K SaaSHRTS °

MBREUARE (TARK ) 29 BREER
BEN > MESHRHEREERBATU (AR
TT) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= A
i 3

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

2.

164

A #5 ¥R R P 5

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

2.1

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable IFRSs and the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

IFRSs comprise International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”),
International Accounting Standards (“IAS"), and Interpretations.
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial instruments at fair value through profit or

loss.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements of the
Group in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumption and estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving critical judgement and areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated

financial statements are disclosed in Note 3 below.

2.1.1 Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting

Standards

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised IFRSs that are relevant to its operations and
effective for its accounting year beginning on | January
2023. The adoption of these new and revised IFRSs did
not result in significant changes to the Group's accounting
policies, presentation of the Group's financial statements and

amounts reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new IFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective. The application of these
new IFRSs is not expected to have material impact on the

consolidated financial statements of the Group.

2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)
2.2  Subsidiaries

(@)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable retums from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect

those returns through its power over the entity.

The Group has the power over an entity when the Group
has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct
the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect
the entity's returns. When assessing control, the Group
considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by the other parties, to determine whether it
has control. A potential voting rights is considered only if
the holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from

the date that control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company's share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any
remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related

accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

me M RRMEE
For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE
2 EXg quIESIBﬁﬁ*—H‘EEE(@)
22 MBA
(a) //TDgl%E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

2.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

22

Subsidiaries (Cont'd)

(@)

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with

the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement of
changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
loss as an allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between the non-controlling

shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the

non- controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company's ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognized directly in equity and

attributed to the owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

me M RRMEE
For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

SHERRERME ()
B AR ()
,%\ﬁga ()

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd) 2 BT
2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont'd) 2.2
(a)  Consolidation (Cont'd) (a)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Agreements

Hangzhou Zhenniu Information Technology Co., Ltd.
("Zhenniu Information”) entered into a series of contractual
agreements (collectively, “structured entities agreements'’)
with Hangzhou Enniu Network Technology Co., Ltd. (“Enniu
Network) and the direct equity owners of Enniu Network,
and Hangzhou Jiahao Technology Limited (“Hangzhou
Jiahao™) and the direct equity owners of Hangzhou Jiahao,
who are affiliated with the Company. Through these

contractual agreements, Zhenniu Information is able to:

. Exercise effective control over Enniu Network,
Hangzhou Jiahao and their subsidiaries (collectively,

“the structured entities”);

. Receive substantially all of the economic benefits and
residual returns, and absorb substantially all the risks
of expected losses as if it were the sole shareholder;

and

. Have an exclusive option to purchase all of the equity

interest in the structured entities.

The Group evaluated the relationships and contractual
arrangements among Zhenniu Information, the structured
entities and their direct equity owners and concluded that
Zhenniu Information is the primary beneficiary in the variable
interest arrangement. As a result, the results of operations,
assets and liabilities of the structured entities have been

included in the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Consolidation (Cont'd)
Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Agreements

(Cont'd)

Pursuant to the structured entities agreements, the Group
has the power to direct activities of the structured entities
and can have assets transferred out of the structured entities
under its control. Therefore, the Group considers that
there is no asset in any of the structured entities that can
be used only to settle obligations of the structured entities,
except for registered capital and PRC statutory reserves. As
the structured entities are incorporated as limited liability
companies under the PRC Company Law, lenders of the
structured entities do not have recourse to the general
credit of the Group for any of the liabilities of the structured

entities.

Currently there is no contractual arrangement which
requires the Group to provide additional financial support
to the structured entities. However, as the Group conducts
its businesses primarily based on the licences and approvals
held by its structured entities, the Group has provided and
will continue to provide financial support to the structured
entities considering the business requirements of the
structured entities, as well as the Group’s own business

objectives in the future.

2023 Annual Report

2

EXGHERENBE (&7
B AR (42)

2.2

(a)

RERRE ()
BBEAOHHEFNRBEAT ()

REBEBILEERGS  AEEAE
EREBEERNESETEAR
RHEZEGNEBEERTEENE
EoHIt AEERS > EENE
RERITEENARGEEGHEEER
BEEMEE  WEMEARPEE
ERBRI - BRNEEEERRE
PEARERAMAEREER
8 > BB E AL KR
RAEEEREAEEEEREEN
BRREE -

RRTESGNZHFEREERBBS
BHERREMHEIMTZT - A
m> HARAERTEZERHEARBN
ERFAENFIRERILERRERESR
%o MAEREEREHREERRN
EBBRRAEERKROVEZER
B EERERBIEERREMYT
S o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont'd)

(@)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Other structured entities through trust arrangements

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so
that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in
deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting
rights relate to administrative tasks only, and the relevant

activities are directed by means of contractual arrangements.

The Group's structured entities include trust schemes. These
trust schemes are managed by unaffiliated trust companies

and invest the funds raised in loans to individuals (Note 27).

According to the trust scheme agreements, the Group is
considered as the primary beneficiary of the trusts and also
has the power to direct the activities of the trusts. As a result,
the results of operations, assets and liabilities of the trusts
have been included in the Group's consolidated financial

statements.

Business combinations and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of
acquisition is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of
the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred
and contingent consideration. Acquisition-related costs are
recognized as expenses in the periods in which the costs are
incurred and the services are received. |dentifiable assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at

their acquisition-date fair values.
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51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Business combinations and goodwill (Cont'd)

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’'s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Company 's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognized
in consolidated comprehensive loss as a gain on bargain

purchase which is attributed to the Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is
recognized in consolidated comprehensive loss. The fair
value is added to the cost of acquisition to calculate the

goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest in the subsidiary were recognized in other
comprehensive income (for example, equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income), the
amount that was recognized in other comprehensive income
is recognized on the same basis as would be required if the

previously held equity interest were disposed of.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)
2.2  Subsidiaries (Cont'd)

(@)

(b)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Business combinations and goodwill (Cont'd)

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. The method of measuring
impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of other
assets. Impairment losses of goodwill are recognized in
consolidated comprehensive loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition

for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable

assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries (including structured entities) are
accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends

received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividends exceeds the total comprehensive loss of
the subsidiary in the year the dividends declared or if the
carrying amount of the investments in the separate financial
statements exceed the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets including

goodwill.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd) 2 BEATHHREEREBE (£
2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont'd) 22 MEAR )
(c)  Principal subsidiaries (c) B BRG]
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 R2023F 12831 HAAEBEW F ENM
December 2023 are set out below: BATEEEIWT :
Percentage of attributable
equity interest
FEfERERM
Place of incorporation and Principal activities and
Name of entity Date of Incorporation  kind of legal entity Registered capital s at 3| December 2023 place of operation
2] s A AMAIAERIARE  HfER RUBENANE  TERHREEM
China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited || November 1999 Cayman Islands, imited liabiity — HK$110,000000 39.16% Investment holding in the Cayman
(“China Netcom”) company Islands
T REERARLR 1999118118 RENE AREEAR  KI00000007 FREMERELR
(T8
Enniu Network 2 August, 2012 PRC, limited liability company RMB500,000000 100% Development and operation of
applications in the PRC
B 012E8FA hE BREAAT AB 50000000075 RPRAERREARERER
Fuzhou Enniu Network Technology Co, Ltd. 23 June, 2017 PRC, limited liability company RMB200,000000 100% Technology services in the PRC
BB TR RITERAR 0I7E6ABA hE ARAEAT AR%2000000007 RS
Hangzhou Jiahao Technology Co,, Litd. 16 August, 2019 PRC, limited liability company RMBI,000,000 100% Technology services in the PRC
INEFRRERAT 20198F 168 e BREAAT AEH1,0000007 IR B R
Hangzhou Liniu Assets Management Co, Ltd. 22 Apri, 2016 PRC, limited liability company RMB206,250000 100% Post-loan management in the PRC
KT EEERARAT W16F4A228 hE ERREAT AEH2062500007 RPESEEHER
Hangzhou Shangniu Information Technology 16 March, 2016 PRC, limited liability company RMB10,000,000 100% Development and operation of
Co, Ltd applications in the PRC
N EERIERAT W0I6F3816H e BREAAT AEH1000000070 ReEARRAR PR REE
Hangzhou Shangniu Investment Management 19 May, 2017 PRC, Limited Liability Partnership  RMB240,000,000 89.58% Investment management in the PRC
Partnership (Limited Partnership)
niETREEEABLE 0I7ESA198 mE BRERGH AE 2400000007 RPEAEREAEE
(BR&%)
Hangzhou Shangniu Network Technology |2 December 2014 PRC, limited liability company RMB3,125,000 100% Technology services in the PRC
Co, Ld.
B REREERAT WHENRANR  hE AREAAT AEH3,1250007 IR B iR
Hangzhou Wuyao Technology Co, Ltd. 25 July, 2014 PRC, limited liability company RMB500,000000 100% Development and operation of
applications in the PRC
MEARBERAT DI4E7ALSA TE» BRRMEAA ARHS000000007 REAERRRARERER
172 51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2023 Annual Report
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd) 2

22

Subsidiaries (Cont'd)

(©

Principal subsidiaries (Cont'd)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 31
December 2023 are set out below:(Cont'd)

Place of incorporation and

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

BEAZHBERENBE (&
22 MEBRAE )
(c) ZlE LA (&

120235 12831 HAREB B EEH
BABEBEHINWT : (&

Percentage of attributable
equity interest
FEfERERM

Principal activities and

Name of entity Date of Incorporation  kind of legal entity Registered capital s at 3| December 2023 place of operation

BRAHE Az A AfE R REAEE REG RUBENANE  TERHREEM

Hangzhou Xingniu Information Technology 20 October, 2017 PRC, limited liability company RMB400,000000 100% Technology services in the PRC
Co, Ltd.

INEEERRERAT W0I7%108208 e BREEAR AR 54000000007 PR R

Hangzhou Panniu Financing and Guarantee 24 May, 2018 PRC, limited liability company RMB300,000000 100% Financing guarantee services in the PRC
Co, Ltd,("Hangzhou Panniu”)

PNETHEERARAR WI8ESAUA hE BRELAT ABH3000000007 KB ER AR AR
(TN )

Zhenniu Information 16 November 2017 PRC, limited liability company RMB2,000,000,000  100% Technology services in the PRC

RHES WI7EIIBI6E e BREEAR AEH520000000007 IR R

Hefei Liniu Information Technology Co, Ltd. 5 December, 2018 PRC, limited liability company RMBI,000,000 100% Technology services in the PRC

AR EREIARAT WI8EI285H e BREEAT AREI10000007C RSB

Shanghai Jingjia Network Technology Co, Ltd. 17 December 2010 PRC, limited liability company RMB400,000000 100% Development and operation of

applications in the PRC

LERERERKERAT WI0EIAI7H e BREEAR AR 54000000007 RPERERRE R RES

Shanghai Qiandian Information Technology 27 May, 2009 PRC, limited liability company RMB325,000000 100% Technology services in the PRC
Co, L1d. (“Qiandian \nformation”)

LB EEHEARAT 0558778 " BRETLR NRH3250000007 R EAER AR
(THiEES.)

Shanghai Qingniu Business Information 18 September 2013 PRC, Limited Liability Partnership ~ RMB200,000 100% Erployees” incentive operation in the
Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership) PRC

LEMtESEREIaBLE WI3E9A18H e BREERY ARH000007 RPEEERRRE:HE

(BRE®)

Shanghai Wuniu Network Technology Co, Ltd.

LSEHBERKERAT
Shenzhen Mihuanlaile Technology Co, Ltd.
IR T RRERAT
Shenzhen Xiaolanben Network Technology
Co, Ltd. (“Shenzhen Xiaolanben”)
M ERBERITARAT
(DAY )

Tianjin Lance Business Management Consulting

Partnership (Limited Partnership)
REERCREETIABLE
(BRE%)

Hangzhou Yeniu Information Technology

Co, Ltd. (“Yeniu Information Technology”)

Mt ERRITERAT
(MRS

14 December 2015
WISENEI14R
5 January, 2021
202IEIR5H

21 May, 2019
01958218
13 May, 2019
WI9E5E 130

24 February 2016

016E2814R

PRC, limited liability company
e BREEAR

PRC, limited liability company
e BREEAR

PRC, limited liabilty company
e AREAAT

PRC, Limited Liability Partnership
e BREERY

PRC, limited liability company

e BREEAR

RMB150000,000 100% Investment holding and industry

investment in the PRC

ABHE150,0000007 hERERERRRERRE

RMB500,000 100% Technology services in the PRC
AEH5000007s PR ERRE
RMBI5,802,000 7386% Technology services in the PRC

AEH15,8020007C ISR R

RMB2,750,000 100% Employees” incentive operation in the
PRC
ARELT500007 R RR LR

RMB400,000,000 100% Credtt facilitation service in the PRC

AEH400,0000007 PR EERARE
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B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Contd) 2 BAEHBEZEIEE (&

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont'd) 22 MEAB )
(c)  Principal subsidiaries (Cont'd) (c) EERNG (B
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 R2023F 12831 HAAEBEW FENM
December 2023 are set out below:(Cont'd) B AT EEINNT @ (&
Percentage of attributable
equity interest
FEfERERM
Place of incorporation and Principal activities and
Name of entity Date of Incorporation  kind of legal entity Registered capital s at 3| December 2023 place of operation
BRAHE Az A AfE R REAEE REG RUBENANE  TERHREEM
Hangzhou Yiniu Network Technology 5 May, 2015 PRC, limited liability company RMBI20,000000 100% Development and operation of
Co, Ltd. (“Yiniu Network”) applications in the PRC
TR RITERAT WISESAH e BREEAR AE1200000007 RPEEERRE R RES
E251)
Us!.Com Inc. 8 August, 2014 Cayman Islands, incorporated US$50000 100% Investment holding in the Cayman
Company Islands
Ul Com nc. WI4E8ABH HERE RABRAR  S0000ERT RREMERERR
U51.Com Limited 15 August, 2014 Hong Kong ( “HK”), lmited liabilty HKSI 100% Investrment holding in Hong Kong
company
US! Com Limited 014%8A15H ER(ER) BREMLNE 1R REREERELR
51 Award Limited 27 February 2017 The Briish Virgi Isands (‘BVI”), ~ USS 100% Employees” incentive operation in BV
limited liabiity company
51 Award Limited VI7EFVA REUMEC(RBEARE X0 RERERREETERRRRHD
&) BREEAR
51 Credit Card (China) Limited I3 October, 2017 HK; limited liabilty company HKS ! 100% Investment holding in the PRC
SIERT (PR BRAT WI7%108138 &8 BREEAT 7 RPEEERERR
5IRENPIN.COM INC. 7 January, 2016 BV, incorporated company US$50000 100% Investrent holding in BVI
SIRENPN.COM INC. WI6EIE7H REABREE ROVERAE S000%7 REBERRHGAERALR
51 Stock Limited 2 August, 2017 BV, limited libility company USsl 100% Employees” incentive operation in BV
51 Stock Limited 0I7E8AIA REERRES ARRALT 1Xn RERERREEERRER:E
51 Credit Card Investment (HK) Limited |2 September 2018 HK; limited liabilty company HK$100 100% Investment holding In Hong Kong
SIERTRE (ER) BRAT WIBE9A12H &% ARSEAR 1007 REREERERR
Shanghai Zhengcheng Information Technology 19 June, 2019 PRC, imited liability company RMB21,000,000 51.4% Provision for technical and operational
Co, Ltd. (“Shanghai Zhencheng”) solution to financial institutions
LSB2ERREERAT WI9E6B19H e BREEAR AEH21,0000007C AEHRRRIITREERANS
(TL5E2)
Hangzhou Haoge Cultural and Tourism 6 Apnl, 2022 PRC, limited liability company RMB4,897.959 51% Provision for camping services
Co, Limited
M EERRAT ANE4RR e BRRMAR NEHB48979597 RHEERH
Hangzhou Qinjinziran Business Management 22 March, 2022 PRC, limited liability company RMB3,000,000 100% Provision for camping services
Co, Limited
PN EAER ERARAT 00F3ANA e ERELLAR NEH30000007 RUBERE
Hangzhou Ziranzhilu Cultural and Tourism 12 May, 2022 PRC, limited liability company RMB10,000,000 100% Provision for camping services
Co, Limited
BAAZIR (M) XA RAT WFSANA hE - BRELAT AEHI100000007 fEEms
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2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

23

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible, including potential voting rights held by other entities,
are considered when assessing whether the Group has significant
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
to significant influence, the holder's intention and financial ability to

exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially recognized
at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an
acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying
amount of the investment and is tested for impairment together
with the investment at the end of each reporting period when there
is objective evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess of
the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognized in consolidated

comprehensive loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

23

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Associates (Cont'd)

The Group’s share of associate’s post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
loss, and its share of the post-acquisition movements in other
comprehensive loss is recognized in other comprehensive loss
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognize further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits,
the Group resumes recognizing its shares of the those profits
only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not

recognized.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a loss
of significant influence represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that associate and (ii) the Group ' s share of
the net assets of that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating
to that associate and any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve. If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture, the Group continues to apply the

equity method and does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealized profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interests
in the associates. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by

the Group.
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2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

24

2.5

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group's
most senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group's various

lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of productions processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually

material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Functional currency and foreign currency translation

(a)  Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is
the Company's presentation currency and the functional

accuracy of the principal operating subsidiaries of the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.5

Functional currency and foreign currency translation (Cont'd)

(b)

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency in each entity’s financial statements on
initial recognition using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are
remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

loss within ““Finance expenses, net".

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognized in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognized in consolidated profit or loss as

part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets
and liabilities such as equities held at FVPL are recognized in
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets, such as
equities classified as available for sale, are included in other

comprehensive loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T IR R M EE

2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.5 Functional currency and foreign currency translation (Cont'd)

(c)  Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities

that have a functional currency different from the Company's

presentation currency are translated into the Company’s

presentation currency as follows:

()

(iii)

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at

the date of that statement of financial position;

Income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive loss are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the rate on the

dates of the transactions); and

All resulting currency translation differences are

recognized in the currency translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition

of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the

foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
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2.6

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition

of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable the future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs maintenance are recognized in profit or

loss during the period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation on property and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values

over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Estimated useful lives of

the assets
Computer and electronic equipment 3 years
Office furniture and equipment 3 years

Leasehold improvements Estimated useful lives or
remaining lease terms,
whichever is shorter
Building 20 years
Motor vehicles 4 years
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting

period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognized within *
Other losses, net " in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.7

Intangible assets
The Group’s intangible assets include software, platform,
applications, trademark, payment licence and goodwill and company

related.

Intangible assets can be recognized only when future economic
benefits expected to be obtained from the use of the item will flow
into the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. Intangible
assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business

combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs
are recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs that
are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and
unique software products controlled by the Group are recognized

as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

. It is technically feasible to complete the software product so

that it will be available for use;

. Management intends to complete the software product and
use or sell it;

. There is an ability to use or sell the software product;

. [t can be demonstrated how the software product will

generate probable future economic benefits;

. Adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the software

product are available; and

. The expenditure attributable to the software product during

its development can be reliably measured.
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2.7

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Intangible assets (Cont'd)
Directly attributable costs that are capitalized as part of the
software product include the software development staff cost and

an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria
are recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs
previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset

in a subsequent period.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed by the period of

bringing economic benefits for the Group.

The intangible assets acquired in a business combination, mainly
including software, platform, applications, licence and goodwill,
are recognized initially at fair value at the acquisition date and
subsequently carried at the amount initially recognized less

accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any.

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:

Estimated useful

lives of the assets

Software 2-3 years
Platform 5 years
Applications 10 years
Trademark 10 years
Camping 2-18 years
Payment licence Indefinite
Goodwill Indefinite

Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortized on the
straight-line basis over the useful life. The amortization period and
the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each year

end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but

are subject to annual impairment assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.8

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible
assets not ready to use are not subject to amortization and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets (including intangible assets
and property and equipment, net) that are subject to amortization
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by
which the asset’ s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset

belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of

money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in

which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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2.8

29

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont'd)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of amortization or
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset
or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of

the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Financial assets

Measurement methods

Amortized cost and effective interest rate

The amortized cost is the amount at which the financial asset is
measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus
or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount and the
maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss

allowance.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset (i.e. its amortized cost before any ECL allowance). The
calculation does not consider ECL and includes transaction costs,
premiums or discounts and fees and points paid or received that
are integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees.
For purchased or originated credit-impaired (“POCI") financial
assets — assets that are credit-impaired at initial recognition — the
Group calculates the credit-adjusted effective interest rate, which is
calculated based on the amortized cost of the financial asset instead
of its gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of ECL in

estimated future cash flows.
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2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

29

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

Amortized cost and effective interest rate (Cont'd)

When the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the
carrying amount of the respective financial assets or financial
liabilities is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using
the original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognized in

profit or loss.

Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate

to the gross carrying amount of financial assets.

POCI financial assets, for which the original credit-adjusted effective

interest rate is applied to the amortized cost of the financial asset.

Financial assets that are not 'POCI’ but have subsequently become
credit-impaired (or “stage 3"), for which interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their amortized

cost (i.e. net of the ECL provision).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.9

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognized when the entity becomes a Party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases
and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade- date, the date

on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its
fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL,
transaction costs that are incremental and directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset, such as fees and
commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss. Immediately after initial recognition,
an ECL allowance is recognized for financial assets measured at
amortized cost and investments in debt instruments measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), which
results in an accounting loss being recognized in profit or loss when

an asset is newly originated.

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

. FVPL
. FVOCI; or
. Amortized cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.9 Financial assets (Cont'd)

Initial recognition and measurement (Cont'd)

()

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

The classification requirements for debt and equity

instruments are described below:

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the
definition of a financial liability from the issuer's perspective,

such as loans, trade receivables and other receivables.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt

instruments depend on:

0 The Group's business model for managing the asset;
and
. The cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt
instruments into one of the following three measurement

categories:

0 Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI"), and that are not designated at FVPL, are
measured at amortized cost. The carrying amount
of these assets is adjusted by any ECL allowance
recognized and measured. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in “Other revenue” using

the effective interest rate method.
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2.9

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Initial recognition and measurement (Cont'd)

()

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

FVOCI: Financial assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, and that are not designated
at FVPL, are measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through other
comprehensive loss, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and
foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument’s
amortized cost which are recognized in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognized, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other
comprehensive loss is reclassified from equity to profit
or loss and recognized in “Net investment income”.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any

financial asset classified as FVOCI.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognized in profit or loss and
presented in the statement of comprehensive loss
within “Other losses, net” in the period in which it

arises.
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2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

29

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Initial recognition and measurement (Cont'd)

()

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

Business model: the business model reflects how the Group
manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. That
is, whether the Group ' s objective is solely to collect the
contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both
the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the
sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial
assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial
assets are classified as part of “other” business model and
measured at FVPL. Factors considered by the Group in
determining the business model for a group of assets include
past experience on how the cash flows for these assets
were collected, how the asset’ s performance is evaluated
and reported to key management personnel, how risks are

assessed and managed and how managers are compensated.

SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to
collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual
cash flows and sell, the Group assesses whether the
financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest (the “SPPI test”). In making this
assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual
cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement,
i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value
of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit
margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement.
Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to
risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and

measured at FVPL.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
SPPI.

2

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

EXREBREREE (&

2.9

THEE (&)

LR 512 ()

0]

SHERAREMIRAT 2023 FEHRE

DEMBRESE (B)

gaml KERARRT AEER
MEEREEUEERER - B
FEBNERREMREETNE
BRRER > BERFAFKRESHNIR
ERRHEBEEELENRSR °
EumEETER (AR IERZH
TRMEE)  AEMEERFES
THAM  RERAN—ED > WRA
AEEFABEETE - A5&H
FEEEE —HEENKCEELRN
HED > SENAREZSEEN
WM > WEFEEENKRE > W
ARMEEZEASRS > W
MEERBUREEABNFERS
REMAYIB S AEER o

EXNEEHAE | REEARE
EEEMWEGHNREAAMES
MIRSRAHE » REEFF G
TENFEERAREARELEZNA
BHM (TEXAEASMNF SR
A1) c FETHMGEER > AEEE
EREMNRETNERENSER
ERZH ) AR R BEEENE
HEE - ERAR Hth2Z2XEN
Rk DU BEAERLZHAETH
FEE - IMRGFMGIAT HE
RERBZHA—HHW EESUR S R
% BIEREREER A ABES
NBmETDIEMEE ©

EREHRERESEXINEEM

FER > MATERNERMEEFR
WIER—EREEERE -

189



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= A
i 3

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

2.

190

A #5 ¥R R P 5

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.9

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Initial recognition and measurement (Cont'd)

()

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

nts (Cont'd)

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets changes.
The reclassification takes place from the start of the first
reporting year following the change. Such changes are
expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during

the year.

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition
of equity from the issuer's perspective; that is, instruments
that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that

evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s net assets.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
FVPL, except where the Group's management has elected,
at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive loss.
The Group's policy is to designate equity investments as
FVOCI when those investments are held for purposes other
than to generate investment returns. When this election
is used, fair value gains and losses are recognized in other
comprehensive loss and are not subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss, including on disposal. Dividends, when
representing a return on such investments, continue to
be recognized in profit or loss as other income when the

Group'’ s right to receive payments is established.

Gains and losses on equity investments at FVPL are included
in the “Other losses, net” line in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.9 Financial assets (Cont'd)

Initial recognition and measurement (Cont'd)

(i

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL
associated with its debt instrument assets carried at
amortized cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising
from financial guarantee contracts and contract assets. The
Group recognizes a loss allowance for such losses at each

reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

0 An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that

is determined by evaluating a range of possible

outcomes;
. The time value of money; and
0 Reasonable and supportable information that is

available without undue cost or effort at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and

forecasts of future economic conditions.

For contract assets and trade receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognized from initial

recognition of the receivables.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)
2.10 Financial liabilities

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at

amortized cost, except for:

Financial liabilities at FVPL: this classification is applied to
derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading and measured
at fair value. Gains or losses on financial liabilities at FVPL
are presented partially in other comprehensive loss (the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that
is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability,
which is determined as the amount that is not attributable
to changes in market conditions that give rise to market
risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining amount of
change in the fair value of the liability). This is unless such
a presentation would create, or enlarge, an accounting
mismatch, in which case the gains and losses attributable to
changes in the credit risk of the liability are also presented in

profit or loss;

Financial guarantee contracts: financial guarantee contracts
are contracts that require the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because
a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such
financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions
and others on behalf of customers to secure loans. The
Group's financial guarantee contracts is reflected as the
quality assurance fund payable recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The quality assurance fund is
a protection mechanism offered to investors who subscribe
to the loans facilitated on the Group’s platform. The quality
assurance fund contribution rates are determined at loan
inception on a loan by loan basis and does not subsequently
change over the life of the loan. The determination of the
contribution rates is also based on the estimated loss rate
of the loans, taking into account the underlying risk profile
and historical loss record and other market factors when

necessary.

51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2023 Annual Report

2

BEAXGHBERERNESE (2
2.10 ERAEE
DIEFEETE

TREESRBHNASTEDE > TIE
TUERIM

BARBESABRDNEZMERE -
BEMBEANRTER  HIFEXZ
WIRARBESFENEMER - &
AREEFABZNEHMEENF]
FHERE DI A H M2 E R (B
ZERERARBNSEERNA R
BEZE  MAEHEBHBFEFEE
SIERY T % R R PR E) A0 #3071 A
B (REBFNEENAABESEH
8] BMREASAEENERE
sTEEAC > RN BB ERRERN
ARBELEIME AR ;

MBERFREHN  MBEFRSOSR
E#ETARBZAHFERBUERM
REAREEEH ARERBES
TR RCSARME ST IR 2UHR
MIEMEENBRE - 2FHHFER
PBPRERERBIRT - SRIEEBRE
tALIEL » UEREMR - &M
N BERSNRBRBNRGESHH
KRR PEEHNENEERE
T HEREERMARDBENRAEH
THEBRANEMNREER LN
RIEESG - BEREBSREXRE
METURRENEEREE » 2RE
ERHARAER T2 - HEXNE
ETNEREMPGEHERRET
E st R AR R R R K B R 5 18
R EMBIBERR (MBE) o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.10 Financial liabilities (Cont'd)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

Financial guarantee contracts (i.e. quality assurance fund payable)

are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at the

higher of:
° The amount of the loss allowance; and
. The premium received on initial recognition less income

recognized in accordance with the principles of IFRS I5.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowance is recognized as

a provision.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method, with gains or losses arising

from de-recognition or amortization recognized in profit or loss.

De-recognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes a financial liability or part of it only
when the underlying present obligation or part of it is discharged,
cancelled or expired. An agreement between the Group (an
existing borrower) and an existing lender to replace the original
financial liability with a new financial liability with substantially
different terms is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original

financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.

When the Group derecognizes a financial liability or a part of it,
it recognizes the difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and
payable (including any non-cash assets transferred or new financial

liabilities assumed) in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.11

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously. The legally enforceable right
must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable
in the normal course of business and in the event of default,

insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected
in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they
are presented as non-current assets. All the trade receivables of
the Group are expected in one year or less, therefore, they are

presented as current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective

interest method, less provision for impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term
highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in

value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.14

2.15

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,

from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company's equity
share capital (treasury share), the considerations paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs, is deducted from equity
attributable to the Company's equity holders until the shares
are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received (net of any directly attributable
incremental transaction costs) is included in equity attributable to

the Company's equity holders.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortized cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss over the period of the borrowings using the

effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a pre- payment for liquidity
services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it

relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least

|2 months after the end of the reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.16

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Borrowings costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalized as part of the cost of those assets, until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is

deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalization is determined by applying
a capitalization rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalization rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the

purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.

Financial guarantee

Quality assurance fund payable

The quality assurance fund payable is measured at their fair value at
inception for both individual and institutional investors. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the quality assurance fund payable is measured
at the greater of (1) the amount determined in accordance with
IFRS 9 and 2) the amount initially recognized (fair value) less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortization of the initial amount
recognized in accordance with IFRS |5. The Group’s financial
guarantee is also reflected as the quality assurance fund payable
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position (Note
24).

2023 Annual Report

2

EXREBREREE (&

2.16

(EE/I %

HWiE s BRVEECERBEE (RE
ERNEAHRERRNBEEFERNE
E)MERELENERHNEGELRERZ
FEEMNRONE > BEEZFEEANA
EHEBRARERARILE - KEMBRN
BEaBEREENFA AR KRER
BRI EWA R B S EREACRIER
BRAFMR o

MR —RIERKBEREEEREEME
AZEEMES » EERERCHEBERRE
TRNDEARZEENRXFRBANES
ERMEE - EXEXRERNEERZ
HARE A i oK 18 22 8 7R B9 00 78 7 39 15 RR R
o EFRBRESNSEEEREEMEAN

RREMEMR ©

P LAt P A5 34 EL 7 46 HART A 183
PIERR °

AT MR
BT EEREE

BAREBEREENENEEFREZIRA)
BRI RHEAREBESE o IRABER
% BUNEEBRESE TISEZEARE
T8 L (NIRBEBRMFREERNFIMRE
EREZEER2) FaFERH TR (A AEE)
B (HES) RIRERM R EERSE 55
SRR P S RER R o NEERYY
BERTFABRNEERIEERK » LR
REMBIRRRAR (Mi5E24) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.17

Financial guarantee (Cont'd)

Quality assurance fund receivable

The quality assurance fund receivable is recognized at loan
inception for amounts allocated to the guarantee. At each reporting
date, the Group estimates the future cash flows and assesses
whether there is any indicator of impairment to any individual
underlying loan of the quality assurance fund receivable. If the
carrying amounts of the quality assurance fund receivable exceeds
the expected collections, an impairment loss is recorded for the

quality assurance fund receivable not recoverable.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for services that have been
delivered in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade
and other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is
due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities. All the trade payables of the Group are expected in one

year or less, therefore, they are presented as current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be

immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognized in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.19 Taxation (Cont'd)

Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the

taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realized, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax is recognized in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognized in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)
2.20 Employee benefits

(@)

(b)

(©

Pension obligations

The employees of the Group are mainly covered by various
defined contribution pension plans. Contributions to the
scheme by the Group and employees are calculated as
a percentage of employee’s basic salaries. The Group
makes and accrues contributions on a monthly basis to the
pension plans, which are mainly sponsored by the related
government authorities that are responsible for the pension
liabilities to retired employees. Under such plans, the Group
has no other significant legal or constructive obligations for
retirement benefits beyond the said contributions, which are

expensed as incurred.

Housing benefits

The employees of the Group are entitled to participate in
various government-sponsored housing funds. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to these funds based on
certain percentages of the salaries of the employees. The
Group's liability in respect of these funds is limited to the

contributions payable in each year.

Medical benefits

The Group makes monthly contributions for medical
benefits to the local authorities in accordance with the
relevant local regulations for the employees. The Group's
liability in respect of employee medical benefits is limited to

the contributions payable in each year.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.21

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based
compensation plans, under which the entity receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments of the Group.
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for
the grant of the options and restricted share units (“RSUs") is
recognized as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by making reference to the fair value of the options and
RSUs granted:

(@) Including any market performance condition (for example, an

entity's share price);

(i) Excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining as an employee of the

entity over a specified time period); and

(i) including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for

example, the requirement for employees to serve).

Non-market performance and service conditions are included
in assumptions about the number of options and RSUs that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognized over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting

conditions are to be satisfied.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services
in advance of the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value
is estimated for the purposes of recognizing the expense during the

year between service commencement date and grant date.

2023 Annual Report

2

EXREBREREE (&

2.21

LURg {7 2 BRI 32 A
REREFHE UG E UG 225
BFBNET S - HRIE > ERBEEE B RFS1E
RHAEERETANAE o BELISHAE
RO R AR A e 32 R il A 93 BB 1L (T 32 R iz
MENL) NESRFHNANBERDBH
X o RHTPRAXHNBESERHNBERER
ZRFIIRDBANANEEMEE :

() BEEAHSEREFRG (NEERNR

B) ;

o

(iy ABETARBRIETERRES
& (BRAFES ~ SHEBEER K
ZEREETRERHHAEM) NE
2 &

BEEFRIERB RS (WrESR M
IRFBHIRE) TR o

(iii)

TR SR 7 8 AU BB AR A K S BRI AR 10 BE (i 2K
BE » EM B RBRRB E G SEERR
A o MBFSZ I FT A1 E B B IR (IR T AL
BYER B HA P RERD o

S EETERT » BERSEERHA
HiZ RiiR (AR TS - HIERH BN A RE
ERERNRFRGBRERL BHNNE
E AR EH A5



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.21

Share-based payments (Cont'd)

)

Where there is modification of terms and conditions which
increases the fair value of the equity instruments granted (for
example, by changing the vesting period of share options),
the Group includes the incremental fair value granted in the
measurement of the amount recognized for the services received
over the remainder of the vesting period. The incremental fair
value is the difference between the fair value of the modified
equity instrument and that of the original equity instrument, both
estimated as at the date of the modification. An expense based on
the incremental fair value is recognized over the period from the
modification date to the date when the modified equity instruments
vest in addition to any amount in respect of the original instrument,
which should continue to be recognized over the remainder of the

original vesting period.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options and RSUs that are expected to vest
based on the non-market performance and service conditions. It
recognizes the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in

profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised or the RSUs are vested, the
Company issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital

(nominal value) and share premium.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.22

2.23

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present

value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the

probability of outflow is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer with reference to the customary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
For a contract where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a

significant financing component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

The Group recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. Service is provided over time if the

Group's performance.

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed

simultaneously by the customer;

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as

the Group performs; or

. do not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for

performance completed to date.

If service transfers over time, revenue is recognized over the period
of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognized at a point in time when the customer obtains control of

the product or the service.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on one of the following methods that
best depict the Group’s performance in satisfying the performance

obligation:

. direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group

to the customer; or

. the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the

performance obligation.
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2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

204

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

If a contract involves multiple services, the transaction price will be
allocated to each performance obligation based on the stand-alone
selling prices. Where these are not directly observable, they are

estimated based on expected cost plus margin.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional right
to consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is

due.

The following is a description of the accounting policy for the

principal revenue streams of the Group.

(a)  Credit facilitation and service fee

The Group engages primarily in operating an online
consumer finance marketplace by providing an online
platform which matches borrowers with investors. The
Group' s platform provides investors with various investment
products, which the investors can elect to participate in. The
Group determined that it is not the legal lender and legal
borrower in the loan origination and repayment process.
Therefore, the Group does not record loans receivable
and payable arising from the loans between investors and

borrowers on its marketplace.

The total proceeds are collected on a monthly basis over the
loan period. The total proceeds from borrowers generally
includes the services fees for facilitating loan origination
(covering matching of investors to borrowers and facilitating
the execution of loan agreement between investors and
borrowers) and for providing ongoing monthly services
(mainly covering cash processing services and collection
services), and also include contribution to the quality
assurance fund, which provides a protection mechanism to

investors who subscribe to these loans.
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2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd) 2

2.23 Revenue recognition (Cc

(a)  Credit facilitation and service fee (Cont'd) (a) SRIREE (&)

The total proceeds from borrowers are first allocated to
the quality assurance fund payable (Note 2.17) at fair value
which meets the definition of a financial guarantee under
IAS 39, and the remaining amount are then allocated to
credit facilitation service and ongoing monthly service. The
Group generally collects the entire amount relating to credit
facilitation and ongoing monthly services as one combined

fee.

The Group considers the credit facilitation services and
ongoing monthly services as distinct performance obligations.
Although the Group does not sell these services separately,
the Group determined that both deliverables have
standalone value. However, the Group does not provide
these services separately, and the third-party evidence of
selling price does not exist either, as public information is not
available regarding the amount of fees competitors charge
for these services. As a result, the Group uses the expected
cost-plus-a-margin approach to determine its best estimate
standalone selling prices of the different performance
obligations as the basis for allocation. The total service
fee allocated to credit facilitation is recognized as revenue
upon execution of loan agreements between investors and
borrowers. The service fees allocated to post-origination
services are deferred and recognized over the period of
the loan on a straight-line method, which approximates
the pattern of when the underlying services are performed.
When the cash received is different from the revenue
recognized, a “Contract Asset” or “Contract Liability"" shall
be recognized in the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

(b)

(©

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Incentives

To expand its market presence, attract new investors and
new borrowers and increase activity level on the Group's
platform, the Group provides incentives to potential

investors and borrowers at its sole discretion.

When a loan is successfully matched during the relevant
incentive program period, the investor receives a cash
incentive as additional interest on a monthly basis over the
term of the loan. The borrower may receive a cash incentive,
as a reduction of credit facilitation service fee. These cash

incentives are accounted for as reduction of revenue.

Referral service fee

The Group introduces loan products of external online
lending platforms to borrowers on the Group ' s own
platform who can click through to third-party platforms. The
Group generally is not the primary obligor, does not have
the ability to establish the price, is not exposed to the credit
risk when directing borrowers to third-party platforms. Upon
successful set-up of loans, the Group will charge the third-
party platforms a negotiated amount or a fixed rate referral
fee based on the loans amount. Loan referral service income
is recognized on a net basis upon successfully set-up of the

loans.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

(9)

(f

Credit card technology service fee

The Group cooperates with banks for their online credit
card applications on a nationwide basis. Users of 5| Credit
Card Manager App can click on the icon of a bank displayed
in the Group's platform and the webpage of the bank will
pop up in the App to complete the credit card application
process. The Group charges banks the referral fee based on
the successful applications which are defined by the banks.
Credit card technology service fee is recognized on a net

basis upon successful applications.

Payment service fee

The Group provides payment services for the third parties
to support the platform users. The income originates from
the payment channel service and the payment advance
service. When the service provided, the service fee will be

automatically deducted from the funds.

Saas service fee

The Group's Saa$S business consists of Little Blue Book
business and smart retail business. Little Blue Book is a
smart sales intelligence platform that generates subscription
income from corporate and individual customers. The
subscription income is recognized over the fixed term of
the agreement as services are provided. The Group’s smart
retail business is operated under its subsidiary, Hangzhou
Zhongtuo Netcom Technology Limited (" Zhongtuo
Netcom”). The Group receives a fixed income from system
development and sales of hardware, and also receives agency
fees that are based on customers’ volume of usage such as
transaction payment rate, cloud server usage and SMS traffic
volume, etc. The service fee is recognized when the services

provided.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

Overdue charges

The Group makes efforts to collect the outstanding overdue
amounts from borrowers. Overdue charges incurred on a
case-by-case basis. The collectability of these amounts are
often of high uncertainty. Overdue charges are only highly
probable to be collected when the actual overdue amounts
are repaid and are recognized as revenue when the cash of

the overdue payments is actually collected.

Camping revenue

Revenue consists of the value of goods and services
generated at and campsites under leases, services related
to activities at the Group’s campsites, store and restaurant
revenues and other income related to the rental of
campsites and other income generated in the Group ' s
activities. Letting of campsites have been considered meeting
the criteria for a lease agreement whereas other revenue is

accounted according to IFRS 15.

Rental of campsites

Rental agreements — primarily from rental of campsites,
including all income from overnight stays and conferences.
Revenue is recognized when the service has been
completed, i.e. when the customer has stayed or the

conference has been completed.

Store and restaurant incomes and revenue for activities sold

Remuneration for store and restaurant income and
remuneration for activities sold and performed at the
Group's campsites are recognized when the goods or

services are delivered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)

2.24

2.25

Interest income of cash at banks and bank deposits

Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis, taking into
account of the principal outstanding and the effective interest rate
over the period to maturity, when it is determined that such income

will accrue to the Group.

Government grants

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognized in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are deducted
from the carrying amount of the assets. The grant is recognized in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss over the life of a

depreciable asset by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Repayment of a grant related to income is applied first against any
unamortized deferred income set up in respect of the grant. To
the extent that the repayment exceeds any such deferred income,
or where no deferred income exists, the repayment is recognized
immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
loss. Repayment of a grant related to an asset is recorded by
increasing the carrying amount of the asset or reducing the deferred
income by the amount repayable. The cumulative additional
depreciation that would have been recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive loss to date in the absence of the
grant is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive loss.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)
2.26 Leases

210

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by

the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any

lease incentives receivable.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a

similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

. where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third-party financing

was received:;
. uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest
rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group,

which does not have recent third-party financing; and

O makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g., term, country,

currency and security.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)
226 Leases (Cont'd)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

0 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date less any lease incentives received; and

© restoration costs.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-
value assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 2

months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is
recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognized as
expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income.
The respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet
based on their nature. The Group did not need to make any
adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor as a result of

adopting the new leasing standard.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R E M B IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)
2.27 Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related

to the Group if that person:
() has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Company or of a parent of the Company.

(B)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

0) The entity and the Company are members of the
same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary

and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).
(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other

entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of

a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Cont'd)
2.27 Related parties (Cont'd)

(B)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies: (Cont'd)

\)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the

Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of

the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to

the Company or to a parent of the Company.

2.28 Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional

information about the Group's position at the end of the reporting

period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not

appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the financial

statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting

events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements when material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE20236 12831 BIELEE

3 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 3 B AETH KL st
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies FER & st B SR IS B0 &= A H R
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have made RERES:THER > EEEBFLEUTHESES
the following judgements that have the most significant effect on the R RN SIS RE A ENHE o

amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

3.  Measurement of the ECL allowance 3.1 Et=TEHAS HiEREE
The measurement of the ECL allowance for financial assets StEREBHRAtENSREEMNTERE
measured at amortized cost and is an area that requires the use of FHiE s » BEXREHEEEET R
complex models and significant assumptions about future economic FEHER R RERTE (WERELN KRS
conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of customers ESIERIPIEE M) IE AIRER

defaulting and the resulting losses).

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the GEEREsEEEERELN S EER »
accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as: BfERZIEE AHE > W0
() Determining criteria for SICR; () HBEEHEEBEEMZEL
0 The financial instrument considered to have . EEZAMESHN N EEER »
experienced a SICR if the borrower is past due on its SR TAEREALIRE AR
contractual payments. FEEIN o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T IR R M EE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

3 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd) 3 BRETH KRR (Lst (A&
3.1  Measurement of the ECL allowance (Cont'd) 3.1 : EFEHASHRIBLEE (18)
(ii) Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the (i) EFEFETEHE AL S EIEE

measurement of ECL;

KRR 5 (%)

ECL is measured on either a |2-month (12M) or
lifetime basis depending on whether a SICR has
occurred since initial recognition or whether an
asset is considered to be credit- impaired. ECL are
the discounted product of the Probability of Default
(“PD”), Exposure at Default (“EAD”), and Loss Given
Default (“LGD”), or ECL=PD*LGD*EAD*discounted

rate.

The calculation of PD and LGD started with the
Group’s historical information. They are further
adjusted for the impacts from micro-economy
conditions as well as observed Industry experience.
PD and LGD are calculated by type of products,

internal risk grades and loan durations as appropriate.

EAD is calculated based on the amounts the Group
expected to be owed at the time of default, over the
next 12 months (12M EAD) or over the remaining
lifetime (Lifetime EAD).

The discounted rate used in the ECL calculation is the
original effective interest rate or an approximation

thereof.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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3

216

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd)

3.1

3.2

Measurement of the ECL allowance (Cont'd)

(i) Establishing the number and relative weighting of forward-
looking scenarios for each type of product/market and the

associated ECL; and

0 The Group used the Morten Model to estimate
the relationship between ECL and forward-looking

scenarios.

. Based on economic statistics, three different
prospective scenarios, namely the "“base”, the
“upside” and the “downside” are used with 80%, 10%
and 0% weighting respectively.

. Other forward-looking considerations, such as
the impact of any regulatory, legislative or political

changes, have also been considered.

. The Group has performed historical analysis and
identified the key economic variables impacting credit
risk and ECL of each portfolio. The most significant
assumptions used are PP, given their impact they have

on the loans facilitated or provided by the Group.

Revenue related to credit facilitation service and ongoing
monthly service

The Group considers the credit facilitation services and ongoing
monthly services as distinct performance obligations. However,
the Group does not provide these services separately, and the
third-party evidence of selling price does not exist either, as
public information is not available regarding the amount of fees
competitors charge for these services. As a result, the Group uses
the expected-cost-plus-a-margin approach to determine its best
estimate of selling prices of the different deliverables as the basis for
allocation. When estimating the selling prices, the Group considers
the cost related to such services, profit margin, customer demand,

effect of competition, and other market factors, if applicable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd)

33

34

Quality assurance fund payable and receivable

The quality assurance fund is a protection mechanism offered to
both individual and institutional investors who subscribe to the
loans facilitated on the Group's platform. The quality assurance
fund contribution rates are determined at loan inception on a loan
by loan basis and does not subsequently change over the life of
the loan. The determination of the contribution rates is also based
on the estimated loss rate of the loans, taking into account the
underlying risk profile and historical loss record and other market

factors when necessary.

Recognition of share-based compensation expenses

The fair values of share options granted are measured on the
respective grant dates based on the fair value of the underlying
shares. In addition, the Group is required to estimate the expected
percentage of grantees that will remain in employment with the
Group or, where applicable, if the performance conditions for
vesting will be met at the end of the vesting period. The Group only
recognizes an expense for those share options and RSUs expected
to vest over the vesting period during which the grantees become
unconditionally entitled to these share- based awards. Changes in
these estimates and assumptions could have a material effect on
the determination of the fair value of the share options and RSUs
and the amount of such share- based awards expected to become
vested, which may in turn significantly impact the determination of

the share-based compensation expenses.

The fair value of share options and RSUs at the time of grant is to
be expensed over the vesting period of these share-based awards
based on an accelerated graded attribution approach. Under the
accelerated graded attribution approach, each vesting installment
of a graded vesting award is treated as a separate share-based
award, which means that each vesting installment will be separately
measured and attributed to expense, resulting in accelerated

recognition of share-based compensation expense.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd)

3.5

3.6

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax regulations under the PRC,
HK, Cayman Islands and BVI. Significant estimates is required in
determining the provision for income taxes in different territories.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in

the year in which such determination is made.

In addition, a deferred income tax asset is recognized to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilized. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognized based upon the likely timing and the level of future
taxable profits of the individual entities together with tax planning

strategies.

Fair value of financial instruments

If the market for a financial instrument is not active, the Group
estimates fair value by using a valuation technique. Valuation
techniques include using recent prices in arm’s length market
transactions between knowledgeable and willing parties, if available,
reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is
substantially the same, or discounted cash flow analysis and option
pricing models. To the extent practicable, valuation technique
makes the maximum use of market inputs. However, where market
inputs are not available, management needs to make estimates on

such unobservable market inputs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Cont'd)

3.7

3.8

Recoverability of non-financial assets
The Group tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment on

an annual basis.

Goodwill and other non-financial assets, mainly including property
and equipment, other intangible assets, right-of-use assets as well
as investments accounted for using equity method are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amount have been determined based on value-in-use calculations
or fair value less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of

judgments and estimates.

Judgment is required to identify any impairment indicators existing
for any of the Group's goodwill, other non-financial assets to
determine appropriate impairment approaches, i.e., fair value
less costs of disposal or value in use, for impairment review
purposes, and to select key assumptions applied in the adopted
valuation models, including discounted cash flows and market
approach. Changing the assumptions selected by management
in assessing impairment could materially affect the result of the
impairment test and in turn affect the Group's financial condition
and results of operations. If there is a significant adverse change
in the key assumptions applied, it may be necessary to take
additional impairment charge to the consolidated statement of

comprehensive loss.

Consolidation of entity of less than 50% equity interest

Although the Group owns less than 50% of the equity interest in
China Netcom, China Netcom is treated as a subsidiary because
the directors consider that the Group has de facto control of China
Netcom. The Group is the majority shareholder of China Netcom
with a 39.16% (2022: 39.16%) equity interest. The second and third
substantial shareholders hold 10.32% (2022:10.32%) and 7.62%
(2022:7.62%) equity interest of China Netcom respectively. All
other shareholders individually own less than 5% of equity interest
of China Netcom. There is no history of other shareholders forming

a group to exercise their votes collectively.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

4.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,
including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out

by the senior management of the Group.

4.1.1 Market Risk
(@)  Foreign exchange risk
The transactions of the Company are denominated
and settled in its functional currency, US$. The
Group's subsidiaries primarily operate in the PRC and
are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect
to US$ and HK$. Therefore, foreign exchange risk
primarily arose from cash and cash equivalents in the
Group's PRC subsidiaries when receiving or to receive

foreign currencies from overseas business partners.
The Group enters into foreign exchange contracts to

cover specific foreign currency payments and receipts

within the exposure generated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.1  Market Risk (Cont'd)

@)

Foreign exchange risk (Cont'd)

For the Group’ s PRC subsidiaries whose functional
currency is RMB, if US$ had strengthened/weakened
by 5% against RMB with all other variables held
constant, the loss before income tax for the years
ended 3| December 2023 would have been
approximately RMB44 1,000 higher/lower (31
December 2022: RMB2,723,000 higher/lower), as
a result of net foreign exchange gains/(losses) on
translation of net monetary liabilities denominated in

US$.

For the Group’s PRC subsidiaries whose functional
currency is RMB, if HK$ had strengthened/weakened
by 5% against RMB with all other variables held
constant, the loss before income tax for the years
ended 3| December 2023 would have been
approximately RMB23,000 lower/higher, (31
December 2022: RMB300 lower/higher), as a result of
net foreign exchange gains/(losses) on translation of

net monetary assets denominated in HK$.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.1  Market Risk (Cont'd)

(®)

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk primarily
in relation to term deposits, loans to customers, net,
long-term borrowings and short-term borrowings.
The Group generally assumes borrowings to
fund capital expenditures and working capital
requirements. The risk is managed by the Group by
maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and

floating rate borrowings.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the

liquidity risk management section of this Note.

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for financial
assets and financial liabilities at the end of the
reporting period. For floating rate liabilities, the
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the
liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period

was outstanding for the whole year.

A 50 basis point increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates. If interest rates had been
50 basis points higher and all other variables were
held constant, the Group's loss would approximately
increase by approximately RMB400,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB250,000). This
is mainly attributable to the Group's exposure to

interest rates on bank and other borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2 Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of
the Group's customers, clients or market counterparties fail

to fulfil their contractual obligations to the Group.

The carrying amount of the prepayments and other
receivables, contract assets, trade receivables, loans to
customers, not restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in

relation to the Group's financial assets.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.
It has policies in place to ensure that sales care made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. Amounts
due from related companies are closely monitored by the

directors.

The credit risk on restricted cash and cash and bank balances
and derivative financial instruments is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by

international credit-rating agencies.

Credit risk arises mainly from credit facilitation service.

(@  Credit risk measurement

The estimation of credit risk exposure for risk
management purposes is complex and requires the
use of models, as the exposure varies with changes
in market conditions, expected cash flows and the
passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a
portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to
the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated
loss ratios and of default correlations between
counterparties. The Group measures credit risk using
PD, EAD and LGD. This is similar to the approach
used for the purposes of measuring ECL under IFRS 9.
Refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) for more details.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE20236 12831 BIELEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.2  Credit Risk (Cont'd)

(b)  ECL measurement

IFRS 9 outlines a “three-stage” model for impairment

based on changes in credit quality since initial

recognition as summarised below:

A financial instrument that is not credit-
impaired on initial recognition is classified in
“Stage |" and has its credit risk continuously

monitored by the Group.

If a SICR since initial recognition is identified,
the financial instrument is moved to “Stage
2" but is not yet deemed to be credit-
impaired. Please refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) (i) for
a description of how the Group determines

when a SICR has occurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.2  Credit Risk (Cont'd)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd)

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired,
the financial instrument is then moved to *
Stage 3 ". Please refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) (i) for
a description of how the Group define credit

impaired and default.

Financial instruments in Stage | have their
ECL measured at an amount equal to the
portion of lifetime ECL that result from default
events possible within the next |2 months.
Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their
ECL measured based on ECL on a lifetime
basis. Please refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) (iii) for
a description of inputs, assumptions and
estimation techniques used in measuring the
ECL

A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in
accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should
consider forward looking information. Note
4.1.2 (b) (iv) includes an explanation of how
the Group has incorporated this in its ECL

models.
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B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 SHEAKEREE)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4.1 EREAMBEZRE)
4.1.2 Credit Risk (Cont'd) 4.1.2 1=/ E R (&
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) TEHERERIBEKLETE (F)
The following diagram summarises the impairment T (B [ PR A 75 R 5 #E RN 55
requirements under IFRS 9: 9SRIE FHYBERE !

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

BYREDENEREENET

Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3

5 IFEER F2PEER EE] 24

(Initial recognition) (SICR ssince initial recognition) (Credit-impaired assets)

(F)1aFEED) (BH)1aFER RS AR (ERAREEE)

REEIE M)

[2-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

1218 B TEERE 1Rk FERNVTERAERER FEINTEIE BB

The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the EREZEL Gt EEBERE

Group in addressing the requirements of the standard 5By AREEE R BRI RRIE L

are discussed below: FRIBRHEMTE :

()  SICR ()
The financial instrument considered to
have experienced a SICR if the borrower is B aAE® X (8
more than | day (inclusive) past due on its | R) DERMGR > BIRA
contractual payments. No qualitative criteria ZeMTEBRELRF
is considered by the Group since the Group AEMEEZEN - AR
monitor the risk of borrowers purely based 7 £ (B 4k B 7R 281 HA HA
overdue period. MERERARE > &

S5 B A R E M AR
# o

The Group has not used the low credit risk B E2023F 12831 H1E
exemption for any financial instruments for the FE > AEBRIWKGE
year ended 3| December 2023, AEMTARASAEAR

BERRE -
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T IR R M EE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

The Group defines a financial instruments as
is in default, which is fully aligned with the
definition of credit-impaired if the borrower is
more than | month (inclusive) past due on its
contractual payments. Besides, fraudulent list is
also considered by the Group for definition for

default and credit-impaired assets.

The criteria above have been applied to loan
to customers and financial guarantees held
by the Group and are consistent with the
definition of default used for internal credit risk
management purposes. The default definition
has been applied consistently to model the
PD, EAD and LGD throughout the Group's

expected loss calculation.

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TRRAMEIRE)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4.1 EREAMBEZRE)
4.1.2 Credit Risk (Cont'd) 4.1.2 1=/ E R (&
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) TEHERERIBKLSTE(E
(i) Definition of default and credit-impaired assets (i)  EBHREZEEEHRE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

4
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A #5 ¥R R P 5

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.| Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.2 Credit Risk (Cont'd)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd)

7

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Me o ECL — Explanation

The ECL is measured on either a |2-month
(12M) or Lifetime basis depending on whether
a SICR has occurred since initial recognition or
whether an asset is considered to be credit-
impaired. ECL are the discounted product of
the PD, EAD, and LGD, defined as follows:

. The PD represents the likelihood of
a borrower defaulting on its financial
obligation (as per “Definition of default
and credit-impaired assets” above),
either over the next 12 months (12M
PD), or over the remaining lifetime
(Lifetime PD) of the obligation.

. LGD represents the Group's
expectation of the extent of loss on
a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by
type of counterparty, type and seniority
of claim and availability of collateral or
other credit support. LGD is expressed
as a percentage loss per unit of EAD.
LGD is calculated on a 12M or lifetime
basis, where |2-month LGD is the
percentage of loss expected to be made
if the default occurs in the next [2M
and Lifetime LGD is the percentage of
loss expected to be made if the default
occurs over the remaining expected

lifetime of the loan.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T IR R M EE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 EREMREEE)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4.1 EREAMBEZRE)
4.1.2 Credit Risk (Cont'd) 4.1.2 15/HERE oa
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b)

(i)~ Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs

()SSI}JTAQTJOWS(N'w‘(,w‘ estimation techni jues (A” nt'c )

0 EAD is based on the amounts the
Group expects to be owed at the time
of default, over the next |2 months
(I2M EAD) or over the remaining
lifetime (Lifetime EAD). For example,
for a revolving commitment, the Group
includes the current drawn balance plus
any further amount that is expected to
be drawn up to the current contractual
limit by the time of default, should it

occur.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD,
LGD and EAD for each future month and for
each individual exposure or collective segment.
These three components are multiplied
together and adjusted for the likelihood of
survival (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or
defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively
calculates an ECL for each future month, which
is then discounted back to the Reporting date
and summed. The discount rate used in the
ECL calculation is the original effective interest

rate or an approximation thereof.

. EﬂMD%E’E
KK 2@ B (12M
EAD) 3 1 F &R
FEH(FEH
EAD) R » EEEL
AR AEERE
EEMNEEE o Fl
o HREEREE
ek 0 EEAEE
REAEEE B Ty
EREBEEGFER
AR FERRIRENE
R ERENR
G o

AEEBBASRKE
B ERKONEE
HENEBABER EN
BREMELAMO > 2k
EERRAEHAESR - &
EEBE=5HEFTH
HEAMETRAEZ
RIS [ =N A e
%) o ILEPIUARM S
BREREZRMBHER

BX - BR2ZAMEHE
BRIFRERS B I
o MEIERERFE
FEAMNERESYS
BRARIBAOMEE

FERIE o

SHEERERAT 03 sEws 229



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R E M B IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE20236 12831 BIELEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.2  Credit Risk (Cont'd)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd)

i

230

/

Measurir

assumt

The Lifetime PD is developed by looking at
how defaults develop on a portfolio from the
point of initial recognition throughout the
lifetime of the loans. The PD profile is based
on historical observed data and is assumed to
be the same across all assets within a portfolio
and credit grade band. This is supported by

historical analysis.

For amortising products, this is based on the
contractual repayments owed by the borrower
over a |2M or lifetime basis. This will also be
adjusted for any expected overpayments made
by a borrower. Early repayment/refinance
assumptions are also incorporated into the

calculation.

The 12M and lifetime LGDs are determined
based on the factors which impact the
recoveries made post default. These vary by

product type.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T IR R M EE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 EREMREEE)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4.1 EREAMBEZRE)
4.1.2 Credit Risk (Cont'd) 4.1.2 15/HEEE (&
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) ?EHHT:. Bk E (&

=

Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs,

assumptions and estimation techniques (Cont'd)

Forward-looking economic information is also
included in determining the 12M and lifetime
PD, EAD and LGD. These assumptions vary by
product type. Refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) (iv) for
an explanation of forward-looking information

and its inclusion in ECL calculations.

There have been no significant changes
in estimation techniques or significant
assumptions made during the year ended 31
December 2023.

Forward-looking information incorporated in the
ECL models

The assessment of SICR and the calculation
of ECL both incorporate forward-looking
information. The Group has performed
historical analysis and identified the key
economic variables impacting credit risk and

ECL for each portfolio.
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R E M B IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE20236 12831 BIELEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4
4. Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4.
4.1.2  Credit Risk (Cont'd)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b)

information incorporated

These economic variables and their associated
impact on the PD, EAD and LGD vary by
financial instrument. The Group applies expert
judgment in the forecast of these economic
variables to obtain the best estimate view of
the economy over the next one year. After one
year, to project the economic variables out for
the full remaining lifetime of each instrument,
a mean reversion approach has been used,
which means that economic variables tend to
be close to a long run average growth rate (e.g.
Producer Price Index, Consumer Price Index)
over a period of two to five years. The impact
of these economic variables on the PD, EAD
and LGD has been determined by performing
Eucilidean Distance analysis to understand
the impact changes in these variables have
had historically on default rates and on the
components of LGD and EAD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.2  Credit Risk (Cont'd)

(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd)

Forward- g rmation Incorporated in the

ECL models (Cont'd)
In addition to the base economic scenario, the
Group also obtained other possible scenarios
along with scenario weightings from external
experts. The number of other scenarios used
is set based on the analysis of each major
product type to ensure non-linearities are
captured. The number of scenarios and their
attributes are reassessed at each reporting
date. At | January 2023 and 3| December
2023, the Group concluded that three
scenarios appropriately captured non-linearities
among all portfolios. The scenario weightings
are determined by a combination of statistical
analysis and expert credit judgement, taking
account of the range of possible outcomes
each chosen scenario is representative of. The
assessment of SICR is performed using the
Lifetime PD under each of the base, and the
other scenarios, multiplied by the associated
scenario weighting, along with qualitative
and backstop indicators (see Note 4.1.2).
This determines whether the whole financial
instrument is in Stage |, Stage 2, or Stage 3
and hence whether |2-month or lifetime ECL
should be recorded. Following this assessment,
the Group measures ECL as either a probability
weighted 12 month ECL (Stage 1), or a
probability weighted lifetime ECL (Stages 2
and 3). These probability-weighted ECLs are
determined by running each scenario through
the relevant ECL model and multiplying it
by the appropriate scenario weighting (as

opposed to weighting the inputs).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2003F 12831 BLEEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.2  Credit Risk (Cont'd)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd)

(iv)
(v)

Forward-looking information incorporated in the

ECL models (Cont'd)

As with any economic forecasts, the
projections and likelihoods of occurrence are
subject to a high degree of inherent uncertainty
and therefore the actual outcomes may be
significantly different to those projected. The
Group considers these forecasts to represent
its best estimate of the possible outcomes
and has analysed the non-linearities and
asymmetries within the Group's different
portfolios to establish that the chosen scenarios
are appropriately representative of the range of

possible scenarios.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.2  Credit Risk (Cont'd)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd)

(i)

Forward-looking information incorporated in the
ECL models (Cont'd)

Economic variable assumptions

The most significant year-end assumptions
used for the ECL estimate as at 3| December
2023 are set out below. The scenarios “Base”,

“Upside” and “Downside” were used for all

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

TREMREIR (&
4. ZRARERE)
4.1.2 15/HEE (&)
(b) TERRGERRIEKFE (&)
(iv) FEHIEEEFER S E
IEBIETE 155 (#8)
R2023F 12831H > A
RiastEREFERHIBAN
BERRIITUT o [E
E T EHB IR TR

portfolios. E-RBEREBRNRFRE
R
2024
Producer Price Index Base 104.8
FEEYEEH HAE
Upside 105.2
+5
Downside 104.6
TEL
Gross Domestic Product Index Base 994
B4 EREEH HAE
Upside 100.5
£33
Downside 98.5
T
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B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TRHEMEEIE (&)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4| ZRRAMEZEE)
4.1.2 Credit Risk (Cont'd) 4.1.2 1=/ E R (&
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) TEHEEEKHE &
(iv)  Forward-looking information incorporated in the (iv) 7E s+ EA R E
ECL models (Cont'd) = IS E ()
Economic variable assumptions (Cont'd) B ZHCEAR R (8)
The weightings assigned to each economic R2023F 1283 HE
scenario at 3| December 2023 and | January 2023FE 1B 1B » AR
2023 were as follows: BRIEKLEESMNREE
Tr @
Base Upside Downside
e-%: 3 £ TER
All portfolios FrEHAE 80% 10% 10%
Sensitivity analysis HBLEDHT
The most significant assumptions affecting the AT RBARE
ECL allowance are as follows: NERBERZUWT :
2023
RMB’000
ARBFT
Producer Price Index -1% (8)
S EEBYEIEH No change =
1% 17
Gross Domestic Product Index -1% 142
NEERERE No change -
1% (129)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit Risk (Cont'd)

()

ECL measurement (Cont'd)

(iv) Forward-looking information incorborated in the

odels (Cont'd)

Maximum exposure to credit risk

The following table contains an analysis of the
credit risk exposure subject to impairment. The
amount of financial assets and non-financial
assets below also represents the Group's

maximum exposure to credit risk.

As at 3| December 2023
1#2023E 128318

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

ERARERE (#)
41 SHEAREE @
412 AR (&

(v) 1R
BAEAREHO
TREAELIFERERN
TR T AR E B R R
CETT 247 » Tl
MEEKRFEHMEEN
T AEEHEEN
RAERARREKO

As at 31 December 2022
12005128318

Gross Gross
carrying Loss Carrying carrying Loss Carrying
Measurement category sHE5ER amount allowance amount amount allowance amount
RESE  BERE RERE REGE  EERE RAME
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETT
Non-financial asset FERMEE
Contract assets BHEE 641,498 (608,876) 32,622 638,211 (603,336) 34,875
Financial assets at R A EN
amortized cost (IFRS 9) SHEE (ERHE
HEEREIR)
Cash and cash equivalents — FERIREZEEY 349,490 - 349,490 376813 - 376,813
Trade receivables BRRWEE 257,825 (216,652) 41,173 233,108 (214,140) 18,968
Prepayments and IR
other receivables HitElzE 178,479 (59,111) 119,368 172,281 (54833) 117,448
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R E M B IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE20236 12831 BIELEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.2  Credit Risk (Cont'd)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd)

(iv)  Forward-looking information incorporated in

ECL models (Cont'd)

Maximum exposure to credit risk (Cont'd)

4 EHEMEIEE)
4. ZRRAMAR#E)
4.1.2 15/HEE (&
(b) TEHAERIBLEE(E

,,,,, | —+

the (iv) FREFEAEAREFE

15 8 (1)

=)

RAIGHRERC (&)

As at 3| December 2023
1#2023E 128318

As at 31 December 2022
12002128318

238

Gross Gross

carrying Loss Carrying carrying Loss Carrying

Measurement category stEEER amount allowance amount amount allowance amount

REEE  FEER REE RESE  EEEE REE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETT ARET:

Loans to customers EREX 473911 (279,978) 193,933 460,133 (280,408) 179,725

Stage | 2 | fEEL = = - - . -

Stage 2 FURE - - - = - -

Stage 3 F3IMBE 285,658 (279,978) 5,680 286,104 (280,408) 5696

Purchesed credit-impaired ~ EEABEEERHE 188,253 - 188,253 174,029 = 174029

Financial guarantee contracts ~ B IEMREA]

~ Quality assurance fund -EhEEFES

receivable 58,869 (37,809) 21,060 52441 (35.998) 16,443

Stage | E 22,251 (2,899) 19,352 17,746 (2,598) 5,148

Stage 2 FEER 1,365 (749) 616 933 (632) 301

Stage 3 H3ME 35,253 (34,161) 1,092 33,762 (32,768) 994

1,960,072 (1,202,426) 757,646 1,932,987  (1,188,715) 744272
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4

4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.2  Credit Risk (Cont'd)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd)
(iv)  Forward-looking information incorporated in the
ECL models (Cont'd)
Maximum exposure to credit risk (Cont'd)
The following table contains an analysis of the

maximum credit risk exposure from financial

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

TREMERE (&)
4. ZRRAMAR#E)
4.1.2 15/HEE (&
(b) TEHAERIBLEE(E
(iv) FEHIEEEFER S E

15 8 (1)

RAEH RO ()
TREIIMBEFREL
(BIEMEERES) B

guarantee contracts (i.e. quality assurance fund EAERRERODH
payable):
As at 3| December
K12R318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FT ARBTIT
Financial guarantee contracts BEEREN —EHE
— quality assurance fund payable EREE 37,043 21,713
Stage | 551 PRER 30,052 12,430
Stage 2 FIPEES - -
Stage 3 ML 6,991 9,283

4.1.3 Liquidity Risk
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
cash reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing
facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash
flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets

and liabilities.

4.1.3 TEEZEE
REBBBEREHREHE - B
TRERFEEERME  HEER
BAREBEREERE MR EmME
ErREENERAREERDES
BBz ©
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4= A
i 3

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

4

240

A #5 ¥R R P 5

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

4 ZREMREEE)

Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4. EREABRERE)
4.1.3 Liquidity Risk (Cont'd) 4.1.3 REELRERE (&
The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual TR F AN EFELZE N TEEN
maturity for its financial liabilities with agreed repayment HEN SR aENE GRS E mEs
periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the fBo BREAXKRALERESHEEN XK
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the RESRERAEBEHREK
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. NEHHNEREHERES - BRERIRE
The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. ENERAEERESRE o M Em
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the EAFFIE > RKIFRESELEN
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curves at FARIHXHAZIES o 54 E mER
the end of the year. The contractual maturity is based on the R ENRAEREFEWE R
earliest date on which the Group may be required to pay. EEHEETE
As at 3| December 2023
12023128318
Less than Between Over
| year I-5 years 5 years Total
RIF | E54F FEIBSE #ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTRT AREBTRT
Long-term borrowings REAEW = 60,590 = 60,590
Quality assurance fund payable FE{IE E1RE % 37,043 = = 37,043
Payable to platform customers fE{TF & FF RIS 54,625 = = 54,625
Short-term borrowings AR 102,579 = = 102,579
Trade payables B S ENHIE 18,175 - - 18,175
Other financial liabilities Hihermas 41,098 = = 41,098
253,520 60,590 - 314,110
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T IR R M EE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd) 4 THAMREEE
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4| ZRLEMEEZE(E)
4.1.3 Liquidity Risk (Cont'd) 4.1.3 B EL A (B

As at 3| December 2022
K202 12831 H

Less than Between Over
| year [-5 years 5 years Total
RIF | =54 B F #Bst

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AEBTT ARBTT AREBTRT

Long-term borrowings EHfER = 13,787 = 13,787
Quality assurance fund payable FE{IE Z{R:E % 21,713 - — 21,713
Payable to platform customers fE{TFETFERIE 75,389 - — 75,389
Short-term borrowings FEHAfERR 168,462 = = 168,462
Trade payables B EIE 18,058 = - 18,058
Other financial liabilities Hihsrmad 13,495 - — 13,495

297,117 13,787 - 310904
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B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

4

242

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.3 Liquidity Risk (Cont'd)

The following table details the Group's expected maturity

for its financial assets. The tables have been drawn up based

on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial

assets including interest that will be earned on those assets.

The inclusion of information on financial assets is necessary in

order to understand the Group's liquidity risk management

as the liquidity is managed on a net asset and liability basis.

ERRAMER (&)
4. ZRRAMAR#E)
4.1.3 BBz (&

TREFMANEBREHEENTEE
MEARR c BRAREILEREMEE
HARTRENE PRGN > G1F
ZEEERFBRRNAS o SA SR
BEENENARIERAEES R
FECAKRNEE > NARBES
EREERBEFEEETIE

As at 31 December 2023
720235128318

Less than Over

| year 5 years Total
TRIFE i E #ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARBTRT ARBTR

Financial assets at FVPL A MEER ABEH
TREEE 249 70,448 70,697
Quality assurance fund receivable EWE EFRES 21,060 — 21,060
Contract assets SHBE 32,622 - 32,622
Trade receivables B 2 rEINERIE 41,173 = 41,173
Loans to customers, net REEIELE 193,933 = 193,933
Restricted cash SR&IIRE 121,679 — 121,679
Cash and cash equivalents P& HIBESZEEY) 349,490 - 349,490
Other financial assets Hther&EE 91,071 632 91,703
851,277 71,080 922,357
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T IR R M EE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TRRAMEIRE)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4.1 EREAMBEZRE)
4.1.3 Liquidity Risk (Cont'd) 4.1.3 REELRERE (&

As at 31 December 2022
720225 12831 H

Less than Over

| year 5 years Total
RIF B F #ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT AR®BTR

Financial assets at FVPL BANBEEFAERZN

TREE - 69,291 69,291
Quality assurance fund receivable fEE EREE 16,443 = 16,443
Contract assets EHEE 34,875 - 34,875
Trade receivables B2 EWeRIA 18,968 - 18,968
Loans to customers, net 2R EIEEE 179,725 — 179,725
Restricted cash ZIRHIIRE 128,827 - 128,827
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY) 376,813 - 376,813
Other financial assets HMEmEE 108,124 1,073 109,197

863,775 70,364 934,139

The amounts included above for variable interest rate fid o] 2 M R & B A Bl 50 7E ¥R & HR
instruments for both financial assets and liabilities are subject RETENFZMGE > EXFRFIARE
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ from THEBEREBBEIEMNEXTANE
those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of BEAGEEREEH o

the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

4

244

A #5 ¥R R P 5

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

42

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group ' s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’ value

in the long-term.

The Group monitors capital (including share capital and capital
reserves) by regularly reviewing the capital structure. As a part of
this review, the Group considers the cost of capital and the risks
associated with the issued share capital. The Group may adjust
the amount of return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or
repurchase the Company'’s shares. In the opinion of the Directors,

the Group's capital risk is low.

(a)  Fair value hierarchy
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorizes into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:
Level | inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the Group can access at the measurement

date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level | that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs:  unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

2023 Annual Report
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4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
TR M FRIRERMIEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 SHEMREEEE)
42  Capital risk management (Cont'd) 42 EBXRBEEE)
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (Cont'd) (a) RAEEERGE)

The Group's policy is to recognize transfers into and REBEZHENLNRENERBEER
NEHFHRERESEBRD=EE

event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. 4o A RE o

transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the

The following table presents the Group's assets and liabilities

TREVAREBFP2023FE 520225
RAIHEREAABEANENEEKR
2022: =L

that are measured at fair value as at 3| December 2023 and

As at 3| December 2023
122023128318
Valuation techniques and key inputs Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
EERMREESH F—R B B8 85t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR ARBFT ARBFRT ARETT

Assets
BE
Financial assets at FVPL Discounted cash flow and market approach Key
— investments assumptions mainly include earnings growth
factor, weighted average cost of capital
("WACC"), discount for lack of marketability,
risk-free interest rate and expected volatility - - 70,448 70,448
BARBES ABT MRREERENTHE % - EERRIEE
THEE-KRE BRMERAY  ETHERRE (TNE
TIIERMA)  RZREIEHTE - BER
MR FERREME
Financial assets at FVPL Bank quoted expected return
— wealth management products - 249 - 249

RRARBESARER RTIRMRACIR
TREE-EMER

Liabilities
afE
Financial liabilities at FVPL — Market approach Risk free interest rate,
redeemable equity instrument  expected volatility, discount of lack of
marketability - - 76,480 76,480
RAREBESABERN WiE % o ERERNE « BEREE
FHEE-—ABOERTIE BZREMHTE

= 249 146,928 147,177
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B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE20236 12831 BIELEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 THAMREEE
4.2  Capital risk management (Cont'd) 47 BARABEIE (&)
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (Cont'd) (a) RAEEERGE

As at 3| December 2022
12022412831 H

Valuation techniques and key input Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
EERTREESH £k F_MHR E=8 st

RMB'000 ~ RMB000  RMB'0O0O  RMB'000
ARETT AR®TE ARBTR ARETRT

Assets
BE
Financial assets at FVPL Discounted cash flow and market approach
— investments Key assumptions mainly include eamings
growth factor, weighted average cost of capital
("WACC"), discount for lack of marketability,
risk-free interest rate and expected volatility - - 69,291 69,291
BARBES ARZH MRBREREN DS % - EBRHTE
THEE-RE CEBAERAY - METIERRA
(TEEFHEARA)) ~ RZRBILHE -
ERRAIE R BRI
Liabilities
=1
Financial liabilities at FVPL — Market approach Risk free interest rate, expected

redeemable equity instrument  volatility, discount of
lack of marketability = = 52,731 52,731
BARBEFARER hEL % o BRRNE « BEIREME -
FHEE-PBOEETE RIRENTE

= = 122,022 122,022
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.2  Capital risk management (Cont'd)

(b)  Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs

The following table presents the changes in level 3 asset
instruments for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022:

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

4 TREREEGE)

4.2

BEXERER(E)
(b) RHEZTEEHEGAEGBIIA

A1EE
TREFEHE2023FK2022F 128
BIHIEEES=REETENESH !

Financial Asset
THEE
Year ended 31 December

HENAINHLEE

Financial Liabilities
Bl =N
Year ended 3| December

HENAIBHLEE

2023 2022 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AEBTRE ARETRT AEBTR ARETR

At the beginning of the year 4] 69,291 83,780 (52,731) (51,108)
Fair value gain/(losses) NABENE (FE) 1,157 (14,489) (25,999) (3,350)
Change in fair value attributable to &/~ A EEET ABZM

change in the credit risk of HihEmaaEmaRR

other financial liability designated NEEERNANEBE

at fair value through profit or loss ~ &i&) - - 2,250 (1,286)
Deconsolidation (note35) 2 Hm S ABR (BFEE35) - - - 3013
At the end of the year BeER 70,448 69,291 (76,480) (52731)
#* Include gains or losses for assets st AIRSRSHRARFIHA

and liabilities held at end of HERBBENREH

reporting period FiE 1,157 (14,489) (25,999) (3350)
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HE2023F12831ALEE

4
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R 75 ¥R 2R MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2023

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

42

Capital risk management (Cont'd)

(b)

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs
(Cont'd)

()

Transfers between the levels and changes in valuation
techniques

For the year ended 3| December 2023 and 2022,
there were no significant transfers between level |

and level 2 fair value measurements.

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

As at 3| December 2023, the level 3 instruments
were mainly equity investments at FVPL and
redeemable equity instrument. As the equity
investments and redeemable equity instrument are
not traded in an active market, its fair value has been
determined using discounted cash flows and market
approach. Major assumptions used in the valuation
include risk-free interest rate, expected volatility,
discount for lack of marketability, perpetual growth
rate, inflation rate, WACC and liquidity discount etc.
Discount rate was estimated by WACC as at each
reporting date. The managements estimated the
risk-free interest rate based on the yield of China
Government Bond with a maturity life equal to period
from the respective reporting period to expected

cash flow date.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent

experience to perform the valuations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.2  Capital risk management (Cont'd)

(b)  Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs
(Cont'd)

(i)

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value (Cont'd)

The following table summarizes the quantitative
information about the significant unobservable inputs
used in level 3 value measurements. During the

two years, there were no changes in the valuation

techniques used.

Description

A

Unobservable inputs

FeEIBRBAE

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

EHEAMREE (2
42 EBXRBEEE)
(b) (FHEETFOEZEAEFEHAN

RIEE ()
(i)  HEBAERREADBENE
1% (#)

TREEEIEREETEF
ERNEZ NI REH AEN
EEER - NMEEER > &
BB S ERM I AL

Effect on fair value for increase of input

BAEEMHARBENEE

Financial assets at FVPL
— investments

BANBES AEER
THEE—RKRE

Financial liabilities at FVPL
— redeemable equity instrument
BRADEEST AB @D
RSB PBEEm T A

Expected volatility
TRHIKEE

Risk-free interest rate

B E R AR

Earnings growth factor
BARERRH

WACC
IREFITE AR

Expected volatility
TRHIRE

Increased
20

Decreased
DEA%

Increased
s#m

Decreased
DEA%

Increased
s

Discount for lack of marketability Decreased

BRZMENEITE
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R E M B IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

4

5

250

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4

4.2  Capital risk management (Cont'd)

(c)  Fair values of other financial instruments
The Group also has a number of financial instruments which
are not measured at fair value in the consolidated statement
of financial position such as loans to customers, trade and
other receivables, borrowings and other payables. For these
instruments, the fair values are not materially different to
their carrying amounts, since the interest rate is close to

current market rates, or the instruments are short-term in

TRERERE (&)

4.2

BEARREEE(

(c) ZHttz@TAIAAEE
REBERAFLZSHESHBIRR
RPREBEAABESENERMT
B MEFEN B REMER
B~ R HE MR o HR
BLETH > AnEEEEEEEE
REBEMEER  AANXEREE
AITIBHE > REZETAZNH

)
3/

nature. B o
CREDIT FACILITATION AND SERVICE FEE 5 EERSEREE
Year ended 3| December
HE2B3IHILEEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT
Upfront credit facilitation service fee BIHAEEIEESRHE 35,091 47,607
Post credit facilitation service fee BHEEREEREE 35,136 66,192
70,227 [ 13,799

Note: The unsatisfied performance obligation as at 3| December 2023 was
approximately RMB23,76 1,553 (2022:RMB21,193,000). Management
expects that [00% of the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 will be recognized as revenue within the

next twelve months.
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OTHER REVENUE

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

Year ended 3| December

HENAIBLEE

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%T T AR

Overdue charges B HAE 6,874 6,298
Referral service fee M EERF & 12,013 19,066
Others Hith 14,293 13,718
33,180 39,082

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the executive
directors of the Company who reviews consolidated results of the Group
when making decisions about resources allocation and assessing the
performance of the Group. The Group has three reportable segments:
Credit card facilitation and technology services, SaaS Business and

Camping services. (2022: The Group has one reportable segment.)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. Segment
profits or losses do not include dividend income, and gains or losses from
investments and derivative instruments. Segment assets do not include
amounts due from related parties, investments and derivative instruments.
Segment liabilities do not include derivative instruments. Segment non-
current assets do not include financial instruments, deferred tax assets,
post-employment benefit assets and rights arising under insurance

contracts.

SERER
FERERAREWREARABINNITES »
HEFHERERDEN AR KTEAERR
HNSEHAEENGEEE  ZEEEE=A
AIERE D ES - S FEAFMLMARTS « Saas2
BHBERT o Q0225 | AEBEE—ERSD
o)

R D EBAY S ST R B & H B F R AR I SE 3P it
HE - DEFMBRERFLEREREMTE
TANWA ~Bif - DEEET B IER IR
BRIE S RERTETIR - BoBERBEN
ETHE -NEFRBEEFCESHIA B
IEPRSMEE « BERREBMEEURA TR
HELERNENRESRE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

7

252

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

7 DEEHR(F)
MR BNER  EERSEERMT

Credit
Facilitation
and
technology SaaS Camping
services Business services Others Total
EEEER
R AR TS SaaSE BERY Hith “st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#BT AR®BTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBT®
Year ended 3| December 2023  #ZF2023F12H31H
HEE
Revenue from external customers EERINEE B B & 113,495 60,818 35,477 7,368 217,158
Segment profit/(loss) DEEF,/ (B518) 58,404 (7,257) (24,833) (4,909) 21,405
Interest revenue M B 8,469 345 222 5,872 14,908
Interest expense FERES 8,214 365 1,781 32 10,392
Depreciation and amortisation HrEE Ry 6,260 44) 9,862 2,059 18,623
Share of losses of associates CAN (= N=1] GEi=! 13,240 = = = 13,240
Income tax expense/(credit) 8/ (5%) (139) (10,116) 46 = (10,209)
Other material non-cash items: ~ HMMEAIFIREIER
Expected credit loss TEHAE A (17,977) (1,210) (558) (3.439)  (23,184)
Additions to segment DEIERBBEERE
non-current assets 1,193 3,707 41,383 3,627 49,910
As at 3| December 2023 20235128318
Segment assets DEPEE 672,424 82,321 79,901 243,607 1,078,253
Segment liabilities pak: =N 280,505 46,665 35,171 16,575 378,916
Investments in associates REE NGRS 16,016 = = = 16,016
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
TR M FRIRERMIEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and

7 OEBERGE)

A2 MHVRE ~ B - BEERBRIHER !

liabilities:
2023
RMB’000
ARBTT
Revenue &
Total revenue of reportable segments Al 2RO BRI U R 48 5E 217,158
Profit or loss =il
Total profit of reportable segments Al 23R D AR A 4858 21,405
Unallocated amounts: RDECEEE !
Share of losses of associates PMEHE A EEE (13,240)
Fair value gain on financial assets at FVPL BARBEEBIBmSRN
THEENAABENRS 1,157
Fair value loss on financial liabilities at FVPL BANBEEBEDIR
THEENANBEEE (25,999)

Finance cost, net B 7S Bl AN F 28 3,320
LLoss before tax MaiEsE (13,357)
Income tax credit TSt 10,209
Consolidated loss for the year FNEEEIE (3,148)
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments A2RDENEEE 1,078,253
Unallocated amounts: RDECEEE !

[nvestments BE 86,713
Consolidated total assets e taEE 1,164,966
Liabilities =]

Total liabilities of reportable segments 2RO EEEE 378,916
Unallocated amounts: RPDECEEE .

Financial liabilities at FVPL BARBESZBERIIENEMERE 76,480

Consolidated total liabilities Letas 455,396
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B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

254

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

Geographical information:

The majority of the Group's activities are carried out in mainland China
during the years presented and the majority of the Group’s assets and
liabilities are located in mainland China. Accordingly, no analysis by

geographical basis for the years are presented.

The Group's non-current assets other than financial instruments were
located in the PRC as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Revenue from major customers:
There is no concentration risk as no revenue from a single external
customer was more than 10% of the Group total revenue for the year

ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

EXPENSES BY NATURE

DEBER (4F)

HEEE :

PR 250 EE AT BB R RE M
BT MAEBMARAEEREEIURFE
Pat o [ELIL - £F PYIL R 2TUBIE B DB ©

R2023F K%2022F 128318 » ZEEEHTE
BUSNIE R EN E A U IS A o
FERXFRHWE !
HE2023FER2002F 1283 HIEEE > AR
KB E—F PRI B8 A & E B AR &
10% > R AEEEFR R o

BRIEEE DR

Year ended 3| December

HENAIBLEE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) EERAFEZ (HEE9) 137,707 153,376
External technical service fees SNER S T AR 7S B 79,942 123,162
Fund transfer charges B ERE 4,062 135,103
Marketing and advertising fees SIHNESE 9,087 7,087
Depreciation and amortization T EE e igEH 18,623 |5,752
Professional service fees HEREE 10,586 17,368
Office expenses NS 9,910 |'1,808
Auditor's remuneration TZ BB <= 2,300 2,380
Camping operating fee iR 11,555 5713
Others HAth 19,130 16,773
Total amount of origination and servicing expenses,  ##IE K IRFEFHSZ
general and administrative expenses, research — R ETERE S ~
and development expenses and sales 35 <2 Kot & e
and marketing expenses = 5H B 2 A4 AN 302,902 488,522

Note: Incremental costs to obtain arrangements where the Group is not the loan
originator are generally expensed off when incurred, because the amortization
periods of these incremental costs are one year or less. These costs are recorded

as sales and marketing expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
TR M FRIRERMIEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

9  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EEEMRAX

Year ended 3| December
BENA3IBLEFE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT

Wages, salaries and bonuses TE  #he RIEAL 105,873 97,987
Pension costs — defined contribution plans BRSNS — REMFETE] 12,593 12,927
Other social security costs, housing benefits and HMHRAE ~ EEREAN KR
other employee benefits HithE a5 18,132 8,653
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 31) WS AR S (FF3E31) 1,109 33,809
137,707 153,376
Note:  Majority of the Group's contributions to pension plans are related to the local Hifst : ZKEEIA LB kB (2B rh e = e S
employees in the PRC. All local employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC HEEG o [T E A BT A S 1S 152 4
participate in employee social security plans established in the PRC, which HERIES S (REE » GiFEtD « B
cover pension, medical and other welfare benefits. According to the relevant BEREMEF o IRIEAFIAEL » Fihit &R
regulations, the portion of premium and welfare benefit contributions that should [E 51 2 FF A E B 25 £ B 22 R A 5] B R ERT IR
be borne by the companies within the Group as required by the above social BEREAME s TERESELFTE S
security plans are principally determined based on percentages of the basic EETE o BiFE 202320224 12831 HIFEE
salaries of employees. The applicable percentages used to provide for these BRIHREZI89EH B 9 FEEZ9 T -
social security plans for the years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022 are listed
below:
Percentage-2023 Percentage-2022
B —2023F B —2022%F
Pension insurance BOKIRER 14.0-16.0% 14.0-16.0%
Medical insurance BERE 9.5-10.5% 9.8-10.8%
Unemployment insurance KERE 0.5-0.8% 0.5-0.8%
Housing fund tEEE 5.0%-12.0% 5.0%-12.0%
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B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

9  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Cont'd) 9 EEEAEXZ#E)
(@)  Senior management’s remuneration () SHREBEEAENME
Senior management includes directors and other senior executives. SMEIBEAEOEEENEMERITEHA
The aggregate compensation paid/payable to senior management B MEEREMEN BN T ahEIE
excluding independent non-executive directors for employee AERBIEBIIEFRITESABIFEN
services, is as follows: B

Year ended 3| December
®HEI2B31HIEEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT

Salaries e 1,166 1,667
Discretionary bonus BB TEAL 1,104 1,138
Pension costs — defined contribution plan BAREHEA— R ERDEE 80 109
Other social security costs, housing benefits HMHRAE ~ EERAN K

and other employee benefits Hihie EEH 110 187
Share-based compensation expenses DURGAD 2 ERE R # AN RR s - 26,244

2,460 29,345

For the year ended 31 December 2022, no compensation paid/ HZE2002F 12831 HLIEEE > BREEHI »
payable to senior management for employee services excluding the MESGEESREMEN BN TEHRE
directors. IB/E B9 AN o
The emoluments of the senior management fell within the following SREBEAENFMMNFEUTEHE
bands:

Number of individuals

AE
2023 2022
HK$nil to HK$ 1,000,000 ZTHEITE ,000,00078 70 | l
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 772 1,500,000 7T = I
HK$ 1,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 1,500,001 7752 3,000,000 7T I =
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 3,000,00 | 7T ZE 4,500,000/ 7T = I
HK$29,000,001 to HK$29,500,000 29,000,00 | FB75ZE29,500,0007 75 = l
2 4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration of every director of the Company for the year ended

31 December 2023 is set out as follows:

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

10 ZE=EHHM

HE2023FENRAIHEFEFERAATSZESEN
HEEZIWT ¢

2023
Other social
security costs,
housing
Pension benefits

cost-defined and other  Share based

Director Discretionary ~ contribution employee  compensation
fees Salaries bonus plan benefits expenses Total
BHERE HHRRA WUkfn
-RE CHEENR  AEEN
BEHE BE MR MRS HtESEN  HES st
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Executive directors BTEE
Sun Haitao (a) #EE@ = 565 960 40 28 - 1,593
Wu Shan (b) SH(b) = 601 144 40 82 - 867
Non-executive directors EHTES
Zou Yunli SRR - - - - - - -
Jiang Chloe Cuicui (b) R (D) - - - - - - -
Gao Li (b) B3(b) = = = = = = =
- 1,166 1,104 80 110 - 2,460
Independent non-executive directors BiESTES
Ye Xiang =5 180 - - - - - 180
Xu Xuchu %87 150 = = = = = 150
Shou Jian (e) %T@(é) 150 - - - - - 150
480 1,166 1,104 80 110 = 2,940

The total amount of share-based compensation to be expensed is

determined by making reference to the fair value of the options and

RSUs at the grant date, which does not represent the actual cashflow the

Company paid out to the Directors during the year ended 31 December

2023 and 2022.

B FEZHOURGAERNFFWRBELEZ2E
ERERZRERMEBMUNKE BN A RE
BREE  HUFARKARAFEREE2023F K
002F 12A3 I HEFERESEZNNERIRE

E=E=
IEE °
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B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

10 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Cont'd) 10 FT|HHM (2
The remuneration of every director of the Company for the year ended HEWDFI2AIBIEFEXRANTSLESH
31 December 2022 is set out as follows: HFENEHIAOT
2022
Other social
security costs,
housing
Pension benefits

cost-defined and other  Share based

Director Discretionary  contribution employee  compensation
fees Salanies bonus plan benefits expenses Total

BAEMA HftrttReE LRi

-RE HRENR  AERD
EEiE H&  NBEA4  MRGE AtESEN  HEX st
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Executive directors HTES
Sun Haitao (a) HiBEQ) = 593 750 38 57 22,885 24323
Wu Shan (b) =1 (b) = 694 388 38 79 27 1,226
Zheng Haiguo (c) E58E(o) - 73 - 3 5 - 8l
Zhu Jianfei (d) #I7%(d) = 307 - 30 46 3332 3715
Non-executive directors FRTESR
Zou Yunli PEE = = = = = = =
Jiang Chloe Cuicui (b) B (D) - - - - - - -
Gao Li (b) () = = = = = = =
Yulin (d) Fi(d) = = = = = = =
- 1667 1,138 109 87 %44 B3
Independent non-executive directors BiIETES
Wong Ti (d) () 76 - = - - - 76
Ye Xiang =4 |78 - - - - - |78
Xu Xuchu %187 148 = = = = = 148
Shou Jian (e) E(e) 79 - - - - - 79
] - - - - - ]
481 1,667 [,138 109 |87 26,244 29,826
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Cont'd)

Notes:

(a) Appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in January 2022;
(b) Appointed as director of the Company in in January 2022;

(c) Resigned in January 2022;

(d) Resigned in April 2022;

(e) Appointed as director of the Company in May 2022;

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of
directors with the highest emoluments as an inducement to join or upon

joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

10 EFFHM (&

HEE

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

FR2022% | B EZEBAE A RITHARE 5

F2022%F | B EZ T B A LNEESE ;S

JR20224F | B BHE 5

FR20224E4 5 BHE 5

FR2022F5 5 EZ T B A LNEESE ;

REMEFERN > AERTERERARSHME
EEXNINE > (FRNATERRNMAFTER
BEFEIERRERAHE o

SSEEBRAS 03 EEms 259



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

260

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS I EREESHMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group EE2023FNA3IHIEFE » "EBLRLES
for the year ended 31 December 2023 include | (2022: 3) directors FINALTEIEIZLES (20224F . 3%) » HEHi
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 10. The RBREMIEE | OFF REY D 4fr o B E 2023 12831
emoluments payable to the remaining 4 individuals for the year ended 3| HIEFEE » ENER T4 AT (Q02024F : 284) 1
December 2023 (2022: 2) are as follows: B0
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARBT T

Salaries S 3,433 I, 414
Discretionary bonus B IS TEAT 971 561
Pension costs — defined contribution plan BRREA — REHEETE 167 75
Other social security costs, housing benefits and HMEAE « FEEFK
other employee benefits HihiE E1EF 303 157
Share-based compensation expenses DURG D 72 ERERY # AN B =2 594 3,478
5,468 5,685
The emoluments fell within the following bands: NN FUTERE -

Number of individuals

BEARK
2023 2022

HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000
HK$ 1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000

1,000,00 | 7T 2 1,500,000 7T I -
1,500,00 | 75 %2,000,00074 7T 3 |
4,500,00 | 7752 5,000,0007 7T - |

4 2
During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the EMEAN > AEBRTEREANALRSFMA
five individuals with the highest emoluments as an inducement to join or = % < B 1F 2 10 A SRS N A 7 £ (B B 2 22 B
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. SRR e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EXPECTED CREDIT (GAIN)/LOSS, NET 12
The composition of ECL provided for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022 is as follows:

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

RS A (W) 185K FEE
HE2023F K202F 12831 HIEFEE » BEN
TEERfE BB AERIT ¢

Year ended 31 December

BE1NA3IHILEEE

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARYETT ARMETTT

Trade receivables (Note 26) B 5 EUGRIE (FIEE26) 2,512 1,132
Prepayments and other receivables Ya (I  H A E S R IE 4278 3912
Contract assets (Note 25) SHEE (M5£25) 5,540 (5,502)
Loans to customers, net (Note 27) BEREMFE (M5E27) (430) (1,680)
Quality assurance fund (Note 24) BE2REE (HEE24) 11,284 (82,848)
23,184 (84,986)

OTHER GAIN/(LOSSES), NET 13

Hithiizs,~ (§548) %48

Year ended 3| December

HENAIBLEE

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBT T

Impairment loss (a) BETER(a) - (26,179)
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at FVPL BARBEAEGEN
ETMEENANEBE

Wss, (B518) 1,157 (14,489)

Government grants (b) Eﬁlﬁ‘ﬂﬁﬁj}(b) 994 |,434

Others (c) HAth(c) 129,339 6,296

131,490 (32,938)
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B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

I3 OTHER LOSSES, NET (Cont'd) 13 HthEsi8:%%8 (42)

(@  The composition of impairment loss provided for the years ended (a BE2023F K2022F 2831 BIEFE »

31 December 2023 and 2022 is as follows: BER R EIE BT -
Year ended 31 December
BENAIBLFE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT
Impairment on investments accounted for FEREREARNKERE
using equity method (Note 20) (HMI5%20) - (26,179)

(b)  Government grants represented various subsidies granted by the (b) AT Bh4E H BT 1 B 432 MY 2 B Ak Al
government authorities which are not assets related. HEBERR -

(c)  The satisfactory recovery of overdue assets in the credit facilitation (c) EZE2023F1283I1HIEEE » EE8REZ
business of approximately RMBI24.1 million for the year ended 31 B IaMEERERES ARE » OB A
December 2023. R#EI124.1 B8 °

14 FINANCE (INCOME)/EXPENSES, NET 14 BA%E (W) B REE
Year ended 3| December
BENA3IHLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT

Finance income BBIRA

Interest income on bank deposits RITEHF B U A (14,908) (7,992)

Finance income BAFS U A (14,908) (7,992)

Finance expenses R

Interest and finance charges paid/payable for IR IEHR AT ENEREE

financial liabilities at amortised cost BN AR S RMHEER 10,392 15,424

Exchange gain, net BE 2 U /F EE 1,196 (N

Finance expenses BB 11,588 15423

Finance (income)/expenses, net s (Wa) B P48 (3,320) 7431
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEIFERERMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

I5 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES

15 FRiSM(E%R) HX

Year ended 3| December

HENAIBLEE

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TT AEBETIT

Current income tax BREAFTS R (424) (12)
Deferred income tax IRIEFRETR (9,785) 3,246
(10,209) 3234

The tax on the Group's loss before income tax differs from the theoretical

amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate applicable to loss of

the consolidated entities as follow:

88 MF PR

REE RIS NATBIENIRIET RN F A S
BEEBRERNZEZERXGAEREENERE

Year ended 31 December

BENHHILEEE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTFIT
Loss before income tax: PRERETRATESE : (13,357) (94,395)
Tax calculated at PRC statutory income tax rate of 25% R E BRI X S% st ENIRNIE (3,339) (23,599)
Tax effects of: UTFEIENRETE
Preferential income tax rates applicable to subsidiaries B AT EENEERERNEK 436 12,396
Tax losses not recognized for deferred income tax assets Wi FEFLIRIEFTIS I B EREIH
(Note 22) MIRES1E (HY5E22) 16,094 22763
Deductible temporary differences not recognized for W E RIS B ERIN
deferred income tax assets AR B I =4 5,283 5315
Other permanent differences HANKA M ZEEE 2,085 10,636
Utilization of unrecognized deductible temporary differences 16 FAiBFF B R MED Al NR S R =58
in prior years (30,253) (26,380)
Derecognized of previously recognized deferred tax assets 4% IEFERR LRI FER R IRIEIR B E E - 4514
Research and development tax credit MRS REIR R (515) (2411)
Income tax (credit)/expenses Fr8M (ER) /FX (10,209) 3234
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B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

15

264

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES (Cont'd)

The Group's main applicable taxes and tax rates are as follows:

Cayman lIslands

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under the current
tax laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is not subject to tax on
income or capital gains. In addition, no withholding tax will be imposed on

dividends distributed by the Company to its shareholders.

BVI
The Group’s entities incorporated in BVI are not subject to tax on income

or capital gains.

HK
The Group’s entities incorporated in HK are subject to profits tax rate of
16.5%

The PRC

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law"),
the enterprises incorporated in mainland China are generally subject to a
uniform enterprise income tax rate of 25%, except for entities qualified as
"“Software Enterprise”, “High and New Technology Enterprise” (“HNTE")
or “Small Low-profit Enterprise” for which preferential tax treatments are

granted under EIT Law.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES(Cont'd)

The PRC (Cont'd)

Beijing Dingli Chuangshi Technology Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Yiniu Network
Technology Co., Ltd. and Beijing Shouhui Kaizhuo Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Shouhui Kaizhuo") were qualified as HNTEs in 2017; Beijing Yaku
Shikong Information Exchange Technology Co., Ltd. (“Yaku Shikong") and
Beijing Shouhui Shidai Information Technology Co., Ltd. were qualified
as HNTEs in 2018; Hangzhou Enniu Network Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Hangzhou Enniu”) and Hangzhou Zhenniu Information Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Hangzhou Zhenniu”) were qualified as HNTEs in 2019. Hangzhou
Zhenniu renewed its HNTEs qualification in 2022. They were entitled
to a preferential income tax rate of 5% for three years. The HNTE

qualification is subject to renewal every three years.

All other subsidiaries of the Company established in mainland China were

subject to enterprise income tax rate of 25%.

Withholding Tax on Undistributed Profits

According to the EIT Law, distribution of profits earned by the companies
in the PRC since | January 2008 to foreign investors is subject to
withholding tax of 5% or 10%, depending on the country of incorporation
of the foreign investor, upon the distribution of profits to overseas-

incorporated immediate holding companies.

The Group does not have any plan to require its subsidiaries in the
PRC to distribute their retained earings and intends to retain them to
operate and expand its business within the PRC. Accordingly, no deferred
income tax liability on withholding tax for the undistributed profits of the

subsidiaries in the PRC has been accrued.

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

FRSIR (3K%) FxZ (&)

hE (&)

R AAIMHAEERAT  MINEFELER
MABRATDRIEREERENEERAR (TE
BRE)) RNI7TEWBEAS MM EE ;
I RIEBE R 25 BB A R A B (THESEF
T RIEREERRESEMAERATN20I8
FWRE AT R ; FiNBF AR
BRAE (TAMBE ) RiNIRFEEREE
FRAE (THRMIRS ) R0 0ERWBES ST
T2 o FINIRF 20202 EWBEFHRE S S H
i  ZLZ AR AREZE=FI5%NEE
FRIBIE c MM EEXERBES=FEMR
E °

RABRPBERM B IIBFRE BN E AR E
BN25% KB R FEPRISR ©

ROk A9 FRINR
RBEEFRFRE > EERIEINEMARILINE
BIER AR D IKEA]E o PEEANA S B2008
FIR I BEMIRINREE DK BREA) ST 8
25%3N | 0% HITR R M TR - RFZITINE
BEGEMAIIFFFEMITE ©

ARERI B EREPEIEANE AR DK
HREB&EM > BERBAHPEEANNBE LR RE
HEEMNUEPRIEANEERIDREET -
It BEL PRI AR B AR D oS ELE
SFEMMABVELFSMER
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R E M B IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

16 EARNING/(LOSS) PER SHARE
(@)  Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit/
(loss) of the Group for the year attributable to owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in

issue during the year.

l6 SREF (FHHE)

(@)

SREAREF(BR) HRAREEE A
FELAEREMNET, (518) RUENE
BT EERINETIOHEE

Year ended 31 December

HENAIBLEE

2023 2022
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the RABHEE ANELEF) (B58)
Company (RMB'000) (AR¥TT) 11,037 (82,697)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B 8517 38 RZ N 198
in issue (‘000) (Fh2) 1,220,717 1,220,409
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (expressed SRENEF (EE)
in RMB) (U RHEET) 0.0l (0.07)

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume

conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

As the Group incurred profit for the year ended 31 December
2023, diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding by the
assumption of the conversion of all potential dilutive ordinary
shares arising from share options and restricted share units

(“RSUs") granted by the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EARNING/(LOSS) PER SHARE (Cont'd)

(®)

(Cont'd)

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

l6 SREF (B8 (&)

(b)

As the Group incurred losses for the years ended 31 December

2022, the potential ordinary shares were not included in the

calculation of dilutive loss per share, as their inclusion would be

anti-dilutive. Accordingly, diluted loss per share for the years ended

31 December 2022 is the same as basic loss per share.

(&
HRAEEREZE20202E 12831 BIEEE
EEBE  WEstEEeREBEEaRT R
STRBEEEK > RRESREBEEER
RHEBREFTZE - At » &1F20225F12
B3l BIEFENSREEHRERGRER
51848 o

Year ended 3| December

HENAIBLEE

2023 2022
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the RABHEE NELEF) (B58)
Company (RMB'000) (AR¥T7T) 11,037 (82,697)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B 251738 IG N 19 8L
in issue (‘000) (F8%) 1,220,717 1,220,409
Adjustment for share options and RTYEEMNBRER
RSUs granted to employees (‘000) SRR B2 BE (F15) 132 -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AR EtEEIEF, (E518) E51EH
for calculation of diluted profit/(loss) TR N (FAR)
per share (‘000) 1,220,849 1,220,409
Diluted eamings/(loss) per share SREERER (B18)
(expressed in RMB) (U ANRIEEF|TR) 0.0l (0.07)
SUERRERAR onEEgs 267



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= A
i 3

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

17

268

A #5 ¥R R P 5

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

17 WYERREFEE

Computer Office
and electronic  furniture and Leasehold Motor
equipment equipment improvements Building vehicles Total
Bk MARAER
B¥®fE Rfs  HERE 18¥ RE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT ARETR ARBTR ARETR AREFTT ARBTR
Cost 3%
At | January 2023 R2023F 1 A1H 59,975 15,185 93,940 105,215 232 274,547
Additions hE 129 4438 1,305 [1,554 76 17,502
Disposals RE (9,074) (869) = = = (9.943)
At 31 December 2023 2023 128318 51,030 18,754 95,245 116,769 308 282,106
Accumulated depreciation RENE
As at | January 2023 1?2023 1 A1H (55,706) (11,996) (76,892) (27,488) (1 (172,083)
Depreciation charge for the year (b)  FERITERIX (b) (220) (1,153) (4,327) (5,537) (57) (11,294)
Disposal RE 8,661 706 - - - 9,367
At 31 December 2023 1120235 128318 (47,265) (12,443) (81,219) (33,025) (58) (174,010)
Net book value REFE
At 31 December 2023 2023128318 3,765 6,311 14,026 83,744 250 108,096
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T IR R M EE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

I7 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET (Cont'd) 17 WERBEFLE(Z)
Computer Office
and electronic  furniture and Leasehold Motor
equipment  equipment improvements Building vehicles Total
Bk WARER
BT B R EEEE 8 s @t

RMB00O  RMBO000  RMBO00  RMBO00 ~ RMBO000  RMB000
ARETT ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Cost A
At | January 2022 R2002FI1B18 87,303 13,121 85,638 105215 2,531 293,808
Additions NE 5917 3,931 8318 - 249 18,415
Disposals BE (23430) (1737) - - (2,405) (27,572)
Disposal on Deconsolidation R IHRE ARRE

(Note 35) & (fi5E35) (9.815) (130) (16) - (143) (10,104)
At 31 December 2022 12022128318 59,975 15,185 93,940 105,215 232 274,547
Accumulated depreciation REHNE
Asat | January 2022 R00%F 1818 (80594) (13115 (71987)  (22:490) (890)  (189,076)
Depreciation charge for the year (b) ERIFTER (b) (2,395) (61) (4905) (4998) (465) (12,824)
Disposal RE 18,791 [,109 = = 1,354 21,254
Disposal on Deconsolidation (Note 35)4& IE4R 4 A BRES

B8 (MEE35) 8492 71 - - - 8,563

At 31 December 2022 $200& 128318 (55,706) (11996) (76,892) (27,488) () (172083)
Net book value IREFE
At 3| December 2022 R202% 128318 4,269 3,189 17,048 77,727 231 102,464
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

17

270

A #5 ¥R R P 5

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET (Cont'd)

@

(b)

As at 31 December 2023, building with net book value of
approximately RMB72,729,000 (2022: RMB77,727,000) was
pledged as security for bank borrowings and bank guarantees

(Note 32).

Depreciation expenses have been charged to the consolidated

statement of comprehensive loss as follows:

Statements

17 ¥ERSEFEGE)

(@)

1R2023F 12831 H > REFZENOARE
72,729,0007T (20224 : AR #¥77,727,000
70) NI F# A EIRITE R R IRITHE R
AR (FFEE32) ©

FERXBEUATARARGE2EBERT
B :

Year ended 3| December
BENA3IBLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETF 7T

Origination and servicing expenses IR R ARFSRE 2 7,618 5,828
Sales and marketing expenses THE REHEY 1,020 3,893
General and administrative expenses — R TR S 1,973 [,113
Research and development expenses b s 683 1,990

11,294 12,824
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TR M FRIRERMIEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

I8 LEASES 18

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee.

HE
K EEREAEREREBANEEER

Disclosure of lease-related items:

HEERATE B iR ER

As at 31 December

I12H31H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTFT AR®EFT
Right-of-use assets FERESE
Buildings fEF 34,238 13,887
Lease liabilities HE&E
Current SRE) (4,347) (6,600)
Non-current JERE (27,514) (6,589)
(31.861) (13,189)
Year ended 3| December
HENB3IBLEFE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTFT AR®EFT
Depreciation charge for the year FARITERS (5,008) (6231)
Interest expense (included in finance expense) HEREx Gt ABFEHE%) 1,622 260
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in B4 ERFE BB RERIBE S
operating expenses) GINSEERD) 5,558 [,317
Total cash outflow for lease HERESRHLEEE 14,743 7,456
Cancellation of right-of-use assets SIHERESE 7,049 =
Additions to right-of-use assets EREEERE 32,408 14,726
SIEAEERAT wnamms 271



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= A
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

19

272

A #5 ¥R R P 5

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19 EREE
Payment
Goodwill Software Platform  Applications licence  Trademark Camping Total
e &t ¥4 EE  XfIER B i st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARBTRT ARETR ARETR
(Note () (Note (b))
(& () GE{D)
Cost 8
At | January 2023 and P03%EIBIBR
31 December 2023 2023128318 482371 26327 9810 3,260 - 5272 4,670 531,716
Accumulated amortization BEiisy
At | January 2023 R023E IR 1B = (25,935) (9.810) (1,277) - (2,847) (517) (40,386)
Amortization charge for FRBHES
the year (Note (c)) (MizE () - (145) - - - (585) (1,591) (2.321)
At 31 December 2023 12023128315 = (26,080) (9,810) (1,277) - (3432) (2,108) (42,707)
Impairment losses HERR
At | January 2023 R203E IR 1B (448,630) - - (1,983) - - - (450,613)
Addition NE - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2023 12023128315 (448,630) - - (1,983) - - - (450,613)
Net book value REFE
At 31 December 2023 12023128318 33,741 247 - - - 1,840 2,562 3839
Cost D%
At | January 2022 R0 1B 1H 482377 26292 9810 3260 499,000 5272 - 1,026,011
Additions from purchase BEERE - 35 - - = - 4670 4705
Disposal on Deconsolidation BRIHEANERRE = = = = (499,000) = = (499,000)
At 31 December 2022 12022128315 482377 26327 9810 3260 - 5272 4670 531,716
Accumulated amortization Rt
At | January 2022 R202E 1B 1B = (24109) (9.810) (1,277) - (2262) - (37,458)
Amortization charge forthe year SRS
(Note (c)) (Fif3E(c)) = (1826) = = = (585) (517) (2928)
At 31 December 2022 120224128318 - (25935) (9810) (1277) = (2847) (17) (40,386)
Impairment losses HERL
At | January 2022 R02E BB (448,630) - - (1,983) (188,800) - - (639413)
Disposal on Deconsolidation RIEGEARERE
(Note 35) (B =k35) - - - - 188,800 - - 188,800
At 31 December 2022 P02 128318 (448,630) - - (1983) - - - (450613)
Net book value RE#ME
At 31 December 2022 12022128318 33747 392 - - - 2425 4153 40717
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19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

@)

Impairment tests for goodwill

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, goodwill of approximately
RMB33,747,000 was recognized as the results of the acquisition of
China Netcom in 2017 by the Group. Goodwill is monitored at
the operating segment level by the management. The management
assessed Netcom as one separate operating segment (“Netcom

Unit”).

Impairment review on the goodwill of the Group has been
conducted by the management as at 3| December 2023 according
to IAS 36 “Impairment of assets”. For the purpose of impairment
review, the recoverable amount of Netcom Unit containing
goodwill is determined based on the higher amount of the fair value

less cost of disposal (“FVLCD”) and value in use calculations.

As at 3|1 December 2023, the recoverable amount of Netcom Unit
containing goodwill was determined based on FVLCD, which was
estimated by management with reference to the quoted market
price of Netcom's listed shares on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Management
considered the recoverable amount of Netcom Unit containing
goodwill was higher than its carrying amount as at 3|1 December
2023.

Based on the assessment, no impairment on Netcom Unit
containing goodwill was required for the year ended 3| December
2023 (2022: Nil).

Impairment tests for payment licence

The Group’s payment licence which arose from the acquisition of
Shouhui Kaizhuo on 31 December 2017 is carried at cost less any
subsequent impairment loss, and is considered to have an indefinite

useful life based on the following grounds:

(i)  The payment licence was valid and granted by People’s Bank
of China (“PBOC") which is renewable every 5 years with

immaterial administrative expenses;

(i) The management of the Company considered that there
would be no practical difficulties in the application for

payment licence renewal; and

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

19 \BEEE (&

(a)

AR ER E

R2023F %2022F 128318 » AAEE
1201 7R W B R AR > IR B A
R #33,747,0007T - BEEBRKEE DI B
NERHE  c EEERPERBEREA—
BEBNLEDE (THREABE) ET
S o

2023FE 12831 H » BEEBREEESS
ZRE365E B EREIHAERNEEE
TRESR - WRBESEMNS > PEAE
BAIMANEIEELERAABERHE
A (TARBEREERD)) KEREE
SAENRESEERE °

R20235F 12831 B > REEBEN (5
EE) WA Yol 28T B R A A EER T
ERAETE > EEES2TTERABNES
MERZMARAR (TH3ZARI) GEMZ £
MM T BERGETZAABERLE
B o 7A20234E 128310 » EEER AT
FHEBEM(BamE) WalEeE=R
HERME(E ©

RIS > B FE2023F 12831 HIEE
B dEREEMN(BESEE) R ERRE
(20224 : ) o

X {3 he BB R R

AEERE2017E 1283 BREEEREMm
BRI ARBURAREERABERE
BRETTSE  TERUTRAKRAL
BERAIEAFER :

() ZfEBEAPEARET (THEA
RIR1T ) BBELERN > EELFEH
WA B NBITEFRY ;

(i) ARFDEEERR > BHEMER
BRTEEERRNE ; &
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

19

274

A #5 ¥R R P 5

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

(b)

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

Impairment tests for payment licence (Cont'd)

(i)  The Company has tested whether the payment licence
with indefinite useful life had suffered any impairment on an
annual basis by conducting an annual review to determine
whether the latest events and circumstances continue to

support an indefinite useful life assessment.

Impairment review on the payment licence with indefinite useful
life has been conducted by the management as of 31 December
2021 according to IAS 36 “Impairment of assets”. The Group
compares the carrying amount of the payment licence against its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the payment
licence was determined based on FVLCD, which was estimated by
management with reference to the comparable transaction cases
within past one year. Based on the impairment assessment, an
impairment loss of approximately RMB 148,903,000 was recognized

against the payment licence for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Refer to Note 35 for information in respect of the disposal of
payment licence on Deconsolidation of subsidiaries during the year
ended 3| December 2022.

Amortization of intangible assets
Amortization charges of intangible assets were recorded in
the following categories in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive loss:

19

BREE (&

(b)

ZHhEREERNE (&)

(i) BAREIBABEEEELUAERNE
HRBERNESEEZSERTER
FHETE > WS FRFEERAIER
FHAZTHERESELRE o

R20215F 12831 H > BEEEEREBEEES
STEERISE 365k [ 58 A Rl 1B 1 3 4 PR BT 2 FR 47
HAME R IRETRESR - AEERFS
THEER AR EE R E rf YR Bl £ EB L o 2
T HR BBV AT UK [B] & ZE T IR R A A B E R H
ERAMEE > MEENEEEBL2RBG
E—FRETHAIELERR ZEEHESE
o RIFREST(H - BE2021F 12831 H
IFFEENSMERERDBEBIOAR
#148,903,0007T ©

2 BMEESS » MU T BB 20226 123
3 BLFE  ARENBADE LGS
BRTD HH 5 % (MR ARAO Y ©

BREEN#BHERRN Ge2EBERF
FELUT 48R HHRERD

Year ended 3| December

HENAIBLEE

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETFT AR®EFT

Origination and servicing expenses WHIB R RS X 1,565 1,331
General and administrative expenses — B ETEES 616 1,143
Research and development expenses kg 140 454
2,321 2,928
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TR M FRIRERMIEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY 20 {EEEREAENKS
METHOD

As at 31 December

#2831
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARETT

Associates — unlisted investments in the PRC S NS —ERRNIELEHIEE 16,016 31,660

The movement of the Group’s interests in associates is as follows: AREBRBE QAT RANEEUT -

Year ended 3| December

BERNANBLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT

At the beginning of the year REH] 31,660 4416

Addition (a) (f REB(a)( 75 34,000
Transfer out (Note 36) i (Fi5E36) - (8,399)
Capital reduction (c) BEAHIE (o) (2,479) =
Share of net losses SMEFEEE (13,240) (11,923)
Impairment loss (b) BETER(b) - (26,179)
At the end of the year REXR 16,016 31,660
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

20

276

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY

METHOD (Cont'd)

The investments in associates as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as

20 ERA#IEARNKRE (B)

R2023F K2022F 12 B3I HREERABNKE

follows: mr .
Percentage of
attributable
equity interest
GREBDL
Date of Place of
Name of Entity incorporation incorporation 2023 2022 Principal activities
BRELE sEf A3z B o 1t B 3L 3t BE TEED
Zhejiang Anniu Technology Co., Ltd 9 October 2016 PRC 27.25% 27.25% Development and
MIZFHRERAE 20165 1089H FRE] operation of applications
HEREZRR
Beijing Juece Xincheng Technology Co., 29 December 2006 PRC 49.61% 49.61% Development and
Ltd. (“Beijing Juece") (b, c) 2006 12H29H FRE] operation of applications
BRAREHRNRBRAR REREZRR
(TEBRE ) (b,
Hangzhou Sunyard Fintech Technology 26 May 2016 PRC 13.76% 13.76% Technology services
Co., Ltd. ("Sunyard") (d) 20165F5H26H FE] i AR 75
INEHEZZRIRBIR AT
(MEHE) ()
Shanghai Pengshu Information 6 February 2016 PRC 15.42% 1542% Loan collection services
Technology Co., Ltd. ("Pengshu”) (e) 201652868 HRE] BB AR
LERHEERRBRAR
(THRZL) (e)
Shanghai Zhengcheng (a, b) 19 June 2019 PRC N/A N/A Technology services
EBIEZ(@ b) 2019568 198 HE (Note 36)  (Note 36) FAMTARTS
RER AER
(MizE3e)  (Pid=E3s)
Linglan Information Technology 8 June 2020 PRC 10% 0% Technology services
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (a) 2020565 8H FRE] M7 AR
FEREERR (D8 BRAE )
Foshan Nanhai District Qvluying Event 23 November 2022 PRC 21.36% N/A Tourism and camping
Planning Co., Ltd.(f) 20224 11 H23H FE TEH  service
kil R E AR S
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INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY
METHOD (Cont'd)

@

(b)

On |5 July 2021 and 29 January 2021, the Group acquired 46%
and 0% equity interests in Shanghai Zhengcheng and Linglan
Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., respectively. During
the year 3|1 December 2022, the Group agreed to Shanghai
Zhengcheng to capitalise the loans by the Group to Shanghai
Zhengcheng of an amount of RMB34,000,000. Refer to Note 36 on
deemed acquisition of Shanghai Zhengcheng as a subsidiary of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year ended 3| December 2022, the Group made an
impairment provision of approximately RMB26,179,000 against
the carrying amount of the investment in Shanghai Zhengcheng,
which was based on the assessed recoverable amount. During the
year ended 3| December 2021 the group made an impairment
provision of approximately RMB2,817,000 against the carrying
amount of the investment in Beijing Juece, which was based on the

assessed recoverable amount.

On 26 December 2017, the Group acquired 49.61% equity
interests in Beijing Juece. Set out below is the summarized financial
information of Beijing Juece, which is considered as a material
associate of the Company. Other associates are not individually

material to the Group.

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

20 ERA#IEARNKRE (B)

(@)

2021 78 158 %2021 15298 » &
EEDRIWE LBIEEM46% K BERL
Bk (E8) BRATIMN 0% - REZE
2022 12831 BILFE » ZEERRE LF
BFERAERRD LEIFE2RENSELA
EE 34,000,000 TN ERE AL - BRI
BE20202F 1283 HIEFEREWE £
B UE 2 M E AR A A S BRI B A B Y5+
15 > A2 RIMIEE36 ©

REE202F12B3IHILEEE » &
ERETHEEBRNA Y CEEE » 5 EEE
ENRERAESRBAEEEOARE
26,179,0007¢ ° REZE202 1 F 12831 HIE
FE > AEBRBETHENATUEIEZE
I FREN R ERE B A EREY
ANE#2817,0007T ©

20175128268 » REBEWFEILRRE
B949.6 | %G HE o T X EFIIERRBHIIF S
ERE > ML RARHRARABTNE
EHE AT o EthE A TER M S B4
EETAEK o

Beijing Juece
EFURE
Year ended 3| December

HEZNA3IBLEE

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AREBTFT AR®EFT

Current assets REEE 4,185 3,970

Non-current assets FEREMEBE - 46

Current liabilities mENE | 4,016 4215

Revenue g 2,415 4807

(Loss)/profit for the year FR(BR) 8F (23,634) 433
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY
METHOD (Cont'd)
() (Contd)
Set out below is the reconciliation of summarised financial
information of the Group’s major associate, Beijing Juece, presented

to the carrying amount of its interest in the associate.

Statements

20 ERA#IEARNKRE (B)

() (#&
TXEHFNAEBENFEBE AR ILTREK
NI ER B E R E R E AT ERN
IRMEERVEER o

7\

Beijing Juece
IERARE
Year ended 3| December
BENA3HLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARBT T

Net assets at the beginning of the year FEEFHE 28,801 28,368
Capital reduction =NElRE (4,998) =
Profit for the year FmF (23,634 433
Net assets at the end of the year FREEEE 169 28,801
Interests in the associate REE A BN DR 49.61% 49.61%
Share of net asset MEBEZRE 84 14,288
Carrying value BREE 84 14,288

(d)  On 23 October 2017, the Group acquired |3.76% equity interests
in Sunyard. According to Sunyard’s article of association, the Group
is entitled to appoint one director in the board of directors of
Sunyard (5 board seats in total), and the Group’s management
considers that the Group has the power to exercise significant
influence in Sunyard through the participation in operational
and financial policy-making process. Consequently, investment in

Sunyard has been accounted for using equity method.
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(d) F2017FI10823H » ZEBKEESHE
13.76% 8% - IRIBEHENBSZEM
A REBEENGEHENESSSE—
LEE(BREEREEERN) 0 BAEH
NEEERAAEBERNBESHLE
KB BER AR A EHETEE AR
27 At > EHENEEFERAEREA
iR ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY
METHOD (Cont'd)

(®)

On 3| December 2021, the Group held 15.42% equity interests in
Pengshu. According to Pengshu's article of association, the Group
is entitled to appoint one director in the board of directors of
Pengshu (5 board seats in total), and the Group's management
considers that the Group has the power to exercise significant
influence in Pengshu through the participation in operational
and financial policy-making process. Consequently, investment
in Pengshu has been accounted for using equity method. The
impairment provision for this investment had been made in full
amount for the year ended 3| December 2022 as there was
significant doubt as to Pengshu’s ability to continue as a going

concern.

During the year 2023, the Group holds over 20% of equity interest
in Foshan Nanhai District Qvluying Event Planning Co., Ltd and
exercise significant influence over Foshan Nanhai District Qvluying

Event Planning Co., Ltd.

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

20 ERA#IEARNKRE (B)

(e)

R2021F 12831 H » REBERFBEREW
15.42%B% 1 o RIFFAMMVAR B2 4B -
AEBERRPAENESESA—RES
(B RhEESFEM) » BAEENE
BEEIRTIEBEENBESHLERY
BHRGIAEHBEITHEERTES °
Ak > FRABEEFERAEREAR - HZE
202F 12831 HIEFE » ZEBEBEMZE
BXfEHRRERE 0 EREFEEAEEF
BREAE BN E K ERE ©

B 2023 & » 7 £ B £F A Foshan Nanhai
District Qvluying Event Planning Co., Ltd
B920%f% # > it ¥ Foshan Nanhai District
Qvluying Event Planning Co., Ltd{TfEE X
FEN

2| BARBESABRGNTREE

As at 31 December

128318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT
Included in non-current assets STAFERENEE
Investment in ordinary shares with preferential R B AR @R
liquidation rights (a) L (a) 56,173 43,052
Investments in investment funds (b) REEESHRE (b) 14,043 26,007
Investments in equity host securities RIEREENEE 232 232
70,448 69,291
Included in current assets STARBEE
Wealth management products B E M 249 =
70,697 69,291
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

21

280
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL (Cont'd)

@

(b)

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

The Group made investments in ordinary shares with liquidation
preference rights of certain companies that are engaged in
providing internet information and technology services. These
investments contain embedded derivatives that are not closely
related to the host contracts. After considering the Group's
investment objectives and intentions, the Group does not
bifurcate the embedded derivatives from the host instruments and
recognizes the entire hybrid contracts as financial assets at FVPL,
with the changes in the fair value recorded in “Other losses, net” in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. The Company
determined the respective fair values as at the year end based
on the expected discounted cash flow and market multiple of

comparable companies.

21

BRAAREBESABEENEMEE (&)

(@)

AEEKRERFRMHER LGB RBMARES
NWETABNMARTEEENEBER o
ZERESH BTSN IFRYERIRTER
ARTTETH - EEEAEENKERR
REBE > AERWRFHRAXTETLR
HBETADHR > MRS SRS
PHERARNBEFABZNEREE > AR
BEEINGFEEEBERASTA THAM
BIEFHR - 2ABMKERMAMRRS M
ERFIELERABDNTSEBEHREENER
AR AR EE o

Year ended 31 December

HENAIBLEE

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥FT AREFT

At the beginning of the year REH 43,052 50,160
Fair value gain/(loss) of investment in ordinary B BB/ EE N ZERIEERN

shares with preferential liquidation rights ANaEEkE S (BE) 13,121 (7,108)

At the end of the year REX 56,173 43,052

The Group managed and evaluated these investments on a fair
value basis. These investments were recognized as financial assets at

FVPL upon initial recognition.

TERBRAANEEREEEERTEZER
B o ZFERENY T R RET REA
AEBEFABZNEMEE °

Year ended 3| December

BE1N2A3IHLEEE

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥FT AREFTT

At the beginning of the year REH] 26,007 33,388
Fair value loss of investments in REEESREN

investment funds NABEEE (11,964) (7,381)

At the end of the year RER 14,043 26,007
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DEFERRED INCOME TAX 22
The amount of offsetting deferred income tax assets and liabilities is
approximately RMB6,190,000 as at 31 December 2023 (31 December

2022: RMBI5,155,000).

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

EIEFRISIR

TV Y

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

R2023F 12831 HIRSHEIEFISRNEERERE
MELEEAK ARKE6,190,0007T (20224 12831
H : AR#|51550007T) ©

As at 31 December

128318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT

Deferred income tax assets: EILFTISIEE !
— to be recovered after more than |2 months — Bt 1218 B & W (E] 21,361 20,541
— to be recovered within |2 months — #1218 B k(o] - -
21,361 20,541
Amount offset deferred tax assets IR IBEE ER SRR (6,190) (15,155)
Total deferred tax assets IRIEFITEE EE4ERE 15,171 5,386
Deferred income tax liabilities: IEILFTISMBE .
— to be recovered after more than |2 months — B 2{EB B W E = =
— to be recovered within 12 months — #1218 B R uk[a] (6,190) (15,155)
(6,190) (15,155)
Amount offset deferred tax liabilities IR IEE ENEE 6,190 15,155

Total deferred tax liabilities FIERIE B [E4EER

Cl
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Cont'd)

The gross movements of deferred income tax assets were as follows:

22 EIEFRISHR (4
EEFTSMEENEBWT

Other
Advertising temporary
expenses Tax losses differences Total
Hith
BEERX MIARSIE HRELE “ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFTT AR®TRT AREBETFRT ARBTR
As at | January 2022 122022 1B 1B 2,535 3,243 21,566 27,344
Recognized in the profit or loss  FR 1B HESD 28 (414) (6417) (6,803)
At 3| December 2022 122022 128318 2,563 2,829 15,149 20,541
As at | January 2023 122023 151 H 2,563 2,829 15,149 20,541
Recognized in the profit or loss PIE S FESR (1,341) 11,616 (9,455) 820
At 3| December 2023 142023 128318 1,222 14,445 5,694 21,361
The gross movements of deferred income tax liabilities were as follows: FIEFRSRBENEEMT !
Net impact Intangible
of revenue assets
and risk acquired
reserve fund in business
recognition  combination Total
W zh K
[ Bz & REH
B2 atHPwE
WELE NEREE “ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT
As at | January 2022 122022F 1B I1H (18,712) (77,550) (96,262)
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries MiB AR IS ARREE
(Note 35) (Ff$5%35) - 77,550 77,550
Recognized in the profit or loss PIESFESR 3,557 = 3,557
At 31 December 2022 1R20224E 12831 H (15,155) - (15,155)
As at | January 2023 #2023 1B I1H (15,155) - (15,155)
Recognized in the profit or loss PIESFESR 8,965 = 8,965
At 3| December 2023 1220235 12831H (6,190) - (6,190)

282
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DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Cont'd) 22
The Group did not recognize deferred income tax assets of approximately
RMB 122,046,000 and RMB 139,543,000 in respect of tax losses amounting
to approximately RMB488, 184,000 and RMB558,170,000 that can be
carried forward against future taxable profit as at 3| December 2023 and

2022, respectively.

The expiry date of the tax losses for which deferred income tax assets

were not recognized is as follows:

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

IRIEFR1SIR (2

R2023F K2022F 12831 8 » REE M ETLA]
4558 F DUIR BH R SR FE SR AR A B N IR 1B E5 48 0 B
AN R #5488,184,0007T 2 A K #5558,170,000 75
MR LEPT SR E E 2 B4 A K18 122,046,000
TR AR 139,543,0007T ©

I e SR EFR IS IR B AR BB R Em A
IR

As at 31 December

128318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT

Expire within | year I A E (38,286) (7.701)
Expire in | to 2 years RIE2EE R (33,431) (38,286)
Expire in 2 to 3 years R2E3EE ™ (107,219) (53,078)
Expire in 3 to 4 years R3ZE4EE™ (47,034) (200,687)
Expire in 4 to 5 years RAZESFE W (58,010) (47,170)
Over 5 years and not subject to expiration SEE L R i 8 im H 2R (204,204) (211,248)

(484,184) (558,170)
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B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

23 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23 FE{IERIER H it FE U I

As at 31 December

128318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARBT T

Included in non-current assets: STAFEREEE !
Rental deposits HEigs 632 1,073
632 1,073
Included in current assets: STAMBEE !
Amounts due from related parties (Note 37(e)) FEUS B 75 =018 (I 5E37(e)) 12,023 24,573
Deposits and prepaid expenses e EBEMES 27,306 31,975
Receivable from disposal of bad debts BR B IRARRYIE IR I8 9,959 10,574
Loan to a Director (Note 37(e)) BEEM(WEE37(e)) 11,059 10,393
Loan to thrid party (Note) F=HENR () 19,119 -
Withholding tax paid on behalf of grantees RREEHENSTE A A
under employee incentive schemes a2 6,292 6,292
Others Hh 32,978 32,568
118,736 116,375
Total st 119,368 117,448
Note: The loans are repayable on demand and the amounts are at an B S B iR B R T 2 S L R 8% T 0%
annual interest rate of 8% to 10%. HE o
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FEIFERERMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

24 QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND PAYABLE AND RECEIVABLE 24 REMREWESRES

The following table sets forth the Group'’s quality assurance fund payable TREYEHE2023FK2022F 12B3 I HIEFEE
movements for the years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022: AEBEENESRIBSHNES

Year ended 3| December
®HEI2B31HIEEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT

Opening balance A &L e 21,713 59,681
Fair value of newly written quality sl EEREatNAnEE

assurance obligation 81,095 93,109
ECL reversed for the year (Note 12) REEREERTERAEBEX

(BsE12) 9,473 (83,164)

Payouts during the year, net FAEL FEE (75,238) (47913)
Ending balance HAR4E6R 37,043 21713
The following table sets forth the Group's quality assurance fund TREH|EE2023F KR2022F 12831 HIEFE
receivable movements for the years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022: REERKESREBTNED :

Year ended 3| December
HEI2B3IHIEEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARBFT

Opening balance A &L e 16,443 28,797
Fair value of newly written quality sl EEREatNAnEE
assurance obligation 81,095 93,109
ECL provided for the year (Note |2) KEEEENTEERIEX
(MI5E12) (1,811) (316)
Contribution received from borrowers B A HE (74,667) (105,147)
Ending balance HAR 45 ER 21,060 16,443
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B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

24 QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND PAYABLE AND RECEIVABLE 24 FEftREWNEERES (&

(Cont'd)
As at 3| December 2023
120235128318
ECL Staging
FHERRRER
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
IR FRER BB Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFT ARETFT AEBTT
Quality assurance fund receivable EWEEFES 22,251 1,365 35,253 58,869
Less: ECL allowance under IFRS 9 (a) A REERI RS 28|
FIR T BRI
ERBAEEqQ) (2.899) (749) (34,161 (37,809)
Quality assurance fund receivable, net FEWEEFES R 19,352 616 1,092 21,060
As at 31 December 2022
120224128318
ECL Staging
BRBRERBRRR
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MR 5 MR E=REE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT ARBTT ARBFT AREBFT
Quality assurance fund receivable EhEERES | 7,746 933 33,762 52,441
Less: ECL allowance under IFRS 9 (a) W RSB ISR
FIR T BRI
BRALERE (25%) 63) (2769) (35998)
Quality assurance fund receivable, net FEWEEFES R 15,148 301 994 16,443
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TR M FRIRERMIEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

24 QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND PAYABLE AND RECEIVABLE 24 ENEREREZFRZE (E
(Cont'd)

(@  The following tables explain the changes in the ECL allowance of (a)

TR ERRBAE 220236 %2022 12
B3I HIEFERKEZRESTAPEHE
KEHEIES .

quality assurance fund receivable by stage for the years ended 31

December 2023 and 2022:

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE0BENAIHLEE

Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
MR BIRER B=REE
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
1218 5 T FHEAR FREARS
RRE% MERR% ERE% st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBFR ARBFR ARBFR AEBTT
Opening balance HRM RS 2,598 632 32,768 35,998
Net (decrease)/increase for AHF R /NG 324 138 1,349 1,811
the period (i)
Transfer i
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2~ F—FEEBREFZ R (1 - -
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 3 FRBEERES =B 22) - 2 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage | F_REBERES [ - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3~ S _EREREE =K - (22) 2 -
Ending balance K& 2,899 749 34,16 37,809
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B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

24 QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND PAYABLE AND RECEIVABLE 24

(Cont'd)

B REREEFRESE (&

@

(Cont'd)

Year ended 3| December 2022
BEWNENAIIBILEE

288

Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
MR MR BPER
|2-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
1218 B 78 HFERHE FERTEH
ERBR HiERBR EREX a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARETT ARETT NG S
Opening balance LGP 2,666 709 32,307 35,682
Net increase for the period (i) AERFIZIN() (39) (12) 367 316
Transfer 81
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2~ SF—[RREREE R @ 2 - -
Transfer from Stage | to Stage3 ~ F—IERBEREF =S 27) - 27 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage | FREEBRES [ - - - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3~ S _EREREE =K = (67) 67 -
Ending balance HAR &L RS 2,598 632 32,768 35998
() This item includes changes of PD, EAD and LGD due to () ZECREERAZ2HBEEEMSIEN

51 CREDIT CARD INC.

routine updates to model parameters, and the impact of

stage changes on the measurement of ECL.
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25 CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

25 AHNEE/(AE)

As at 31 December

128318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARBT T

Contract assets ENEE 641,498 638211

Less: ECL allowance L TAHR{S FRIE L EE (608,876) (603,336)
Contract assets, net SHEEFRE 32,622 34,875
Contract liabilities sHaE (18,767) (16,347)

The activity in the total ECL allowance for the years ended 3| December
2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

HE2023F 20224 12831 HIEFEE > FEEAE Bk
BEARTR S EE N YRS .

As at 31 December

128318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARKET T

Opening balance HAR A5 ER (603,336) (608,838)
Provision of ECL for the year (Notel2) FRTEHRE BB EE (T 12) (5,540) 5,502
Ending balance HAR 45 ER (608,876) (603,336)
Note: The Group receives payments from borrowers over the tenures of the loans. Mzt | K EFETEEFARAKEIEFINERL o BEE

Contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for
services that the Group has provided. A substantial majority of the Group 's
contract assets as at 31 December 2023 would be realized within the next
twelve months as the weighted average term of the arrangements where
the Group is not the loan originator was less than twelve months. The Group
determined that there is no significant financing component for its arrangements

where the Group is not the loan originator.

B E BRI BB R T = B I ¥ B
F o BEZE20234F 12531 H » ZNEFAZ S &/E
BERERFA+ZEERNER » FzRERIT
BN BN BIZHEBIIRE F IR 5+ =
BA - XEEET » WRAEBTESEFELE
A BB FIHEEAME LS ©
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B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

26 TRADE RECEIVABLES 26 B EUWIA

As at 31 December

#2831
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT ARET T

Referral and credit card technology N R BRI RFE EWEIE
service receivables 243,141 226,582
Saas service receivables SaasART5 FE W FkIE 13,173 5931
Others Hith 1,511 595
257,825 233,108
ECL allowance TAHA(S IR R B (216,652) (214,140)
41,173 18,968
The activity in the total ECL allowance for trade receivables as at 3| R2023FK%2022F 12831 H » B EWFIEN
December 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following: TERRE BRI ERBEEEHEE TR IE !
As at 31 December
K12A31H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT
Opening balance HRY 45 8R (214,140) (213,008)
Provision of ECL for the year (Note 12) FATEHAE BELEE (HaE12) (2,512) (1,132)
Ending balance HARAE R (216,652) (214,140)
Aging analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows: BSRUIEER ZEZEAANKRESTNT !
As at 31 December
R12R31H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTT
Within 30 days 30RA 27,964 6,467
More than 30 days HBiE30K 229,861 226,641

257,825 233,108
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FEIFERERMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

27 LOANS TO CUSTOMERS, NET 27 BERE™MFEE

As at 3| December 2023
120235128318

ECL Staging Purchased
FEHAE RERRE credit-
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 impaired Total
BABEE
F—RRER o2 F=REER fERRE 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

AERBTRT AR®BTR AR%®TR ARETR ARETR®

Loans B = = 285,658 = 285,658
New financial assets purchased MEASREE - = = 188,253 188,253
Less: ECL allowance under IFRS 9 (b) 7, : BIFREF 754k & 28
F95% THTEHA
EREBRER D) = = (279.978) = (279,978)
Loans to customers, net EREHELE = = 5,680 188,253 193,933
As at 3| December 2022
12022F 12831 H
ECL Staging Purchased
TR EREARER credit-
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 impaired Total
BABELE
FIEE SRR F=ME ERRE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTR ARBTT ARBTR ARBT:R
Loans 8 = = 286,104 = 286,104
New financial assets purchased HEATHEE = = = 174,029 174,029
Less: ECL allowance under IFRS 9 (b) & : BIFRBA 753K &5 28
$95% THYTEHA
ERELER (D) - - (280,408) - (280,408)
Loans to customers, net ZREHELE - - 5,696 174,029 179,725
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, these loans are primarily personal FR2023F RK%2022F 12831 H > ZEEREES
loans made to individual borrowers through the consolidated trusts and a BEGRESESERAER —ENERB REAE
subsidiary of the Group and the new financial assets purchased from both MANZEWRNEAERRREAKREE M ER
individual and institutional investors. BEMEANEREE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

27 LOANS TO CUSTOMERS, NET (Cont'd) 27 BEREEIGERE (&)
(a)  The following table explains the aging of loans to customers past (a) TRARBEZE2023FK2022F 12831 H
due for the past years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022: It FERAER SRS
Overdue days
BHAY

Less than 30 days to 90 days to Over 180
30 days 90 days 180 days days Total
DRIOX  0KENX  90REISOX  180KHE Hast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARET=R

As at 3| December 2023 120235128318
Loans to customers past due ERiNERER = - - 285,658 285,658
Purchased credit-impaired EABELERRE 26,733 2,137 2,283 157,100 188,253
As at 3| December 2022 2025128318
Loans to customers past due ERiNERER = = 286,104 286,104
Purchased credit-impaired BABELERRE 26592 2,142 3,864 141,431 174,029
(b)  The activity in the total ECL allowance for the years ended 3| (b) EE2023FK202F 12831 BIEEE >
December 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following: TRHERBABERABETHEE TIE
15 :
Year ended 3| December 2023
HE03F12A3 I HILEE
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
FRR 2 =M
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
28R #an &
BEHERRLX  BEHERRX  BEHEREX st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREBTT ARBTT
Opening balance HA 45 ER - - 280,408 280,408
Net decrease for the period AEFRED (HEE12) ()
(Notel2)(i) - - (430) (430)
Ending balance HAR 4L RR - - 279,978 279,978
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T IR R M EE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

27 LOANS TO CUSTOMERS, NET (Cont'd) 27 BEREEICRE (£
(b)  (Contd) (b) (#&)

Year ended 31 December 2022
HE200NENA3IHIEEE

Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3

F—IEE £ I8 F=IEE
[2-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total

12188 = et
BBEREX RHBEREX RHEREK st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T ARET T ARETT

Opening balance ERAASER - = 282,088 282,088
Net decrease for the period (i) AR () - - (1,680) (1,680)
Ending balance HARASER - - 280,408 280,408
(i)  This item includes changes of PD, EAD and LGD due to () ZESEEN2HHEFMSIEN
routine updates to model parameters, and the impact of BEABE s BAOMO RENBRE
stage changes on the measurement of ECL. &ML » USRS CHTEIRER

BRFIENTE -
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R E M B IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(@)  Cash and cash equivalents

28 HRERREEEY
@) HRERRSZEY

As at 31 December

#2831
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR#FT AEB¥EFTT
Cash at bank RITIRES 349,490 376,813

(b)  Restricted cash

(b) ZRFIR=E

As at 31 December

128318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBETFT ARBEF T

Cash held on behalf of investors through BETAEAKREEFENIRE()

platform (i) 54,625 75,696
Deposit of secured transactions BERREZFRES 67,054 53,131
121,679 128,827

294

(@) Cash held on behalf of investors through platform as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 mainly represented the cash in
custody account on behalf of individual investment to hold
fund.
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RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND SHARES HELD FOR 29 J&7s ~ R B ERGIES BRI R)IS
EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEMES EWRESR

Share held
for employee
Number of Share incentive
shares Share Capital premium schemes
KRS
4
Rin#E A R a8 )0
US$'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Zntn AREBTn ARETm  ARETR
Asat | January 2022 WOEIAIE 1358320,188 B % 615279 (10
Share incentives exercised and vested (a)  EATERFEHNIRMEE Q) = = - 6,530 =
As at 3| December 2022 12025128318 358,320,188 12 90 6,159,329 (10)
Asat | January 2023 #2023%1 818 1,358320,188 12 % 6,159,329 (10)
Share incentives exercised and vested (a)  EATERGEHIRMEE Q) - - = 331 =
As at 3| December 2023 #2023 128318 1,358,320,188 12 90 6,154,660 (10)

@

During the year ended 3| December 2023, 367,500
(2022:1,635,000) RSUs were vested and 73,270 (2022:nil) option
exercised under share incentives scheme. Reserve amounted
to approximately RMB331,000 (2022:RMB6,530,000) were

transferred to share premium.

(@) EZE2023F 12831 HIEEE » RHDEE
ST E|IE T AH367,50015 (20224F © 1,635,000
7)) = R & B 15 B8 i B % 8 & 73,270 17
(20224 : ) EEREBEITHE - YARE
331,0007% (2022 © A #6,530,0007T) BY
HECEBERMDEE -
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B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

30 RESERVES 30 f#f&

Share-based

compensation Translation
Other reserve reserve reserve Total
DU FE-t
Hthf# HOF A BE G st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETFT AREFT AREFT

Asat | January 2022 R0nEIBIE (244235) 373511 (161761) (32485)
Share incentives exercised and vested BTN BRI EZE = (6,530) - (6530)
Change in fair value attributable to change in /A BB AB@H

the credit risk of financial liability at FVPL & HEEEAEBEE)

BRNANBEES (1,286) - - (1,286)

Share incentives awarded under MRDIZEIETEITE TR R
share incentive plan B {n 2B - 29,043 - 29,043
Currency translation differences e =R - - 2,130 2,130
As at 3| December 2022 20225128310 (245521) 396,024 (159,631) (9,128)
As at | January 2023 202351818 (245,521) 396,024 (159,631) (9,128)
Share incentives exercised and vested BT EBRRHE - (331) - (331)

Change in fair value attributable to change in 122 MEET ABHH
the credit risk of financial liability at FVPL £ REEEARKES)

BRINRABELS 2,250 - - 2,250

Share incentives awarded under RDIZEIETEITE TR LR
share incentive plan B 2B - 1,109 = 1,109
Currency translation differences B EERE = = (1,133) (1,133)
As at 3| December 2023 1#2023F 128310 (243,271) 396,802 (160,764) (7,233)
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company has adopted 5| Award Scheme and 5| Stock Scheme
(collectively, “Employee Incentive Schemes”) to provide options and
RSUs to employees and senior management as an additional incentive for
the purposes of attracting and retaining the best available personnel. The
majority of the options and RSUs vest 50% at the second service year end

and 25% at the third and fourth service year end.

The Company has set up two structured entities, namely 51 Award
Limited and 51 Stock Limited, which are solely for the purpose of
administering and holding the Company's shares for the Employee
Incentive Schemes. In addition, the Company entered into a trust deed
with an independent trustee (the “Trustee™) in November 2017, pursuant
to which the Trustee shall act as the administrator of the Employee

Incentive Schemes.

The Company has the power to direct the relevant activities of 5| Stock
Limited and 51 Award Limited and it has the ability to use its power
over the trusts to affect its exposure to returns. Therefore, the assets
and liabilities of 51 Award Limited and 5| Stock Limited are included in
the Group's consolidated statement of financial position and the ordinary
shares held for the Employee Incentive Schemes were regarded as issued
but not outstanding shares and presented as a deduction in equity as

“Shares held for employee incentive schemes”.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to repurchase or settle

the options in cash.
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RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

U AERZ

NN B EERANS | BB 5T B K 5| B 1A 5t B (4578
MESHEE) UARERSREEGRME
FERC R e PRI D BB AL (E A REIMERED > LUK
SIRIEBESANA o KI5 B I HE K = IR Il %
PEMNE ZERFEEFERFBONKRNEA
=R EMERSFEFEFREEBE25% °

RABIBRIMMEAABEEZE > BI5I Award
Limited %51 Stock Limited > (£A&BEERIFAZ
ATEINEE BB st BIFTIH R © LES > ZAF]
201761 | BERE—2BuI S A (TZ5EAL)E]
MIEERE > BIEZ T ARETRERESETE
BEEA o

AT A REFE RS Stock Limited 5251 Award
Limited WAERI 2% > BEEBRENERESHE
SN EERBFRER o FIL > 51 Award
Limited 251 Stock Limited & E & B ET AA
EENGEM BT > BNESREEF
BRNEERERIEEZETEMIEETEINE
Mt 2572 THRERE MBS 2G5 1m0
B o

AERTENREEONEERBRENEZER
HEEERTS ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

31

298

(@)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont'd) 31 UM AERNEIZ (T (&E
Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their (a) ERITERBIRESE MABRMEESETT
related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: FENEEHMT .
2023 2022
Weighted Weighted
average price in average price in
Number RMB’000 Number RMB'000
AREFRT ARETTT
#B TS5 E #E METHE
Qutstanding at | January RIB I BHR{TE 73,621,001 298 73716410 298
Exercised during the year FERNETE N/A
(73,270) = = TEH
Forfeited and expired during ERNERWKER N/A
the year = REH (95,409) 5.52
Outstanding at 3| December 12831 BiEKRTE 73,547,731 361 73,621,001 298
Vested and exercisable at RI2A3 I HERE
31 December BAIfrfE 67,497,438 345 67570708 345

(®)

Movements in the number of RSUs during the years ended 3|

December 2022 and 2023 are as follows:

(b)

B E2022F K2023F 1283 HIEEER
SIRHIARD B S B BB T ¢

Number of RSUs

ZIRFIRZ(H
EBuHE
Outstanding balance as at | January 2022 1220224 | B | BRRITEAER 22,528,200
Granted BEH 2,500,000
Vested BB (1,635,000)
Forfeited BRI (1,553,954)
Outstanding balance as at 3|1 December 2022 1420224 1283 | HEYRITEAEER 21,839,246
Vested ERE (367,500)
Forfeited [l (13,583,200)
Outstanding balance at 3| December 2023 1220235 12831 BRIKRITELERR 7,888,546

The fair value of each RSUs at the grant dates were determined

by reference to the market price of the ordinary shares of the

Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

32 IRITREMER

As at 31 December

from Bank of Hangzhou. The loan bears interest at an annual rate of

|'15% of the five-year loan benchmark rate of the People’s Bank of

China. The loan is repayable in eight years from the borrowing date

and is guaranteed by Sun Haitao, the director of the Company, and

secured by a pledge of the building held by Enniu Network. As at
3| December 2023, the amount of approximately RMB7,804,000
(2022: RMB7,370,000) will be repaid within one year and was
classified as current liabilities. The amount of approximately
RMB5,364,000 (2022: RMBI3,170,000) will be repaid beyond one

year and was classified as non-current liabilities.

128318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT
Non-current liabilities: ElER=X=
Bank borrowings (a) — secured RITER () — BHER 13,168 20,540
Bank borrowings (b) — secured IRITEF(b) — AR 64,320 -
Less: current portion of non-current liabilities B —ERFENEREEaE (17,804) (7,370)
59,684 13,170
Included in current liabilities: stAREBAaSE
Bank borrowings (a, b, ¢) — secured RITER(a, b, ) —BER - 84,317
Bank borrowings (c) — secured RITER () —FBHER 8,000 -
Other borrowings (d) — secured and unsecured HER(d) — B IERREER 75,000 75,000
Current portion of non-current liabilities —FEARFBENIERBER 17,804 7,370
100,804 166,687
Total bank and other borrowings RIT R EMET4ERE 160,488 179,857
Borrowing by repayment schedule: BB EEEDRIER
Within | year —F RN 100,804 166,687
| yearto 2 years —FFE_F 59,684 7,763
2 years to 5 years —REZ AR - 5407
160,488 179,857
(@  In August 2017, the Group borrowed a loan of RMB53,000,000 (@) 12017F88 » REEMPMMBITEEA

E#%53,000,0007T - ERAM EZFEAR
IRTT R FHEREEFZTM | 15%H FF
K HE o ZERARERBBRENFAE
B> BAAREEHEEERABERGHE
BRANBFIEREER o 102023512
B31H » & AR %7,804,0007T (2022
AE#7,370,0007T) &R —FAEE T E
DEARBEME o NI ARMES5364,0007T
(20224 : AR#13,170,00070) R —£
M EHEENESEAIEREEE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

32

300

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont'd)

(b)

(d)

In March 2020, the Group borrowed a loan of RMB90,000,000
from Bank of Wenzhou. The loan is repayable in one year and is
secured by a pledge of the building of Enniu Network with the
fixed interest rate of 6.75% per annum. In March 2022, the Group
renewed the loan of RMB90,000,000 with the fixed interest rate
of 6.5% after expiry. In March 2022, the Group repaid the loan
of RMB90,000,000 and raised the loan of RMB69,320,000 with
the fixed interest rate of 6.5%. The loan is repayable in two years
from the borrowing date. As at 3| December 2023, the amount of
approximately RMB 10,000,000 will be repaid within one year and
was classified as current liabilities. The amount of approximately
RMB54,320,000 will be repaid beyond one year and was classified
as non-current liabilities.

The loan is repayable on demand and the amount of RMB5,000,000
(2022: RMB5,000,000) and RMB3,000,000 are at an annual rate of
one-year LPR -0.25% (2022: LPR-0.25%) and one-year LPR +0.45%
respectively.

In May 2017, Enniu Network, together with Shenzhen Tiantu
Xingneng Investments (Limited Partnership) (“Tiantu Xingneng")
and China Merchants Securities Asset Management Co., Ltd.
(*CMS AM"), established a limited partnership, Hangzhou Shangniu
Investment Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(“Hangzhou Shangniu”). In November and December 2017, Enniu
Network entered into agreements with Tiantu Xingneng and CMS
AM, respectively that Enniu Network would repay the partnership
funds contributed by Tiantu Xingneng and CMS AM in four years
with fixed interest rates of 8% and 8.035% per annum, respectively.

The partnership funds of RMB25,000,000 and RMB90,000,000
contributed by Tiantu Xingneng and CMS AM respectively
recorded as borrowing by the Group at 31 December 2019. The
partnership funds were secured by a pledge of the ordinary shares
of Shouhui Kaizhuo held by the Group. In March 2020, Enniu
Network repaid the remaining partnership fund of RMB90,000,000
to CMS AM. In December 2023, the Group renewed the
partnership fund of RMB25,000,000 after expiry.

In May 2020, the Group borrowed RMB50,000,000 with fixed
rate of 8.035% per annum from Shenzhen Tiantu Xingfu Equity
Investments Management Co., Ltd. The loan is guaranteed by Sun
Haitao, the director of the Company. In December 2023, the
Group renewed the loan and will repay in 2024.

2023 Annual Report
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(b)

(d)

REMMER (&)

R2020F3 8 » AEBEERMNIBITEE
ES#590,000,0007T © ZEMRER —FANE
2 WY RS PEENIETRIRERER
EFRAEGE6T5% o FR2022%F38 » 7
EERIABUBEFN TS HEE AR
90,000,0007T © 12022438 » AEEE
BEZARM90,000,0007T > I LLE EF)
K656 FEFEMRARMEE9,320,0007T © 3%
EENEARERHHAERFERNER o ¥
2023F 128318 » &9 A K% 10,000,00070
BR—EREEIESEARBER 4
AR #54,320,000 T 12 —F U LB R
ENFEAIEREEE

ZEENREREE MSBARE
5,000,000 7% (2022 € : A E # 5,000,000
70) 2 A R #3,000,000 7T B EFI R 5 Bl A
| FHAE R M IZMERNZE-0.25% (20224 :
BRHHREBFIZE-025%) kI FHERT
SGEREF]ZE+0.45%

20176658 » B4 4348 FFI K B #
EXRELx:(BRaE) (TXEEE)) &
HERsEEESEERAE (MBEEE))
RUT—EEBEE  MNBFEEEE
aBtx (BREE) (TmMEdl) o ©®
017F 11 BRI128 » B4#4859 7R X B
ERE R IBR B BT 1L > #It 0 B4R
45 D Bl 32 [E TE F ) 2 8% K2 8.035% 1% PH
FREERBERERMEEEEHENGE

R2019F 12831 H > REEERBEHE
ERRHENGBES AK25000,000
TR AR #90,000,000cH A EBIRAE
Mo ZaBESHAERMBEEREN
ZE IR IR EE (R © 722020438 »

BEOBHEEEER TARESARKE
90,000,0007T © R20234 128 » &NEETE
SBES ARK25000,000cEIEAE E4 o

20205 B 0 A & B /ORI K B &
EBREXKEEEERLATERARKE
50,000,0007% » EE M E %S E8.035% ©
BERHARABEFTIREFER o 12202345
128 » REBEHEETES > WRK’2024
FEE o
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

33 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 33 BEREMENSIE

As at 31 December

128318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARBTT

Trade payables (a) ZRZY INE/SEICY 18,175 18,058
Payroll and welfare payable FEA TEREF 18,043 13,556
Interest payable FESTF] B 18,110 16,110
Professional service expenses HEREE B 6,232 6,965
Other Hith 15,572 I'1,367
76,132 66,056
(@  Trade payables represent payables of fund transfer charges and (a) BIENMREIEESHRE A KOWRTY
collection service charges. B E(TZRIE o
The aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as below: BoEMSIBENZEE NS DM E WM
T

As at 31 December

128318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT AREETTT

Within 30 days 30K 15,001 9,046
30 to 90 days 30RE90KR 1,347 8,352
90 to 180 days 90X ZE 180K 280 322
180 to 360 days 180K ZE 360K 1,494 163
over 360 days 360K E 53 |75

18,175 18,058
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B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

34

35

302

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FVPL

34

BRASREESABENEMER

As at 31 December

128318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARMETFTT
Financial liabilities at FVPL BRARNEESABRDZNERERE
— Redeemable equity instrument (a) — A BB m T A(a) 76,480 52,731

(@  In the first half of 2020, Shenzhen Xiaolanben entered into an
investment agreement with Shenzhen Tiantu Xingshen Tianshi
Venture Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) and
the other three third-party investors, the Group assessed and
accounted for the capital contribution as an equity instrument
contains an obligation to repurchase given the agreement terms
of redemption and liquidation preference. The capital contribution
was recognized as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss when received. In June 2020, Shenzhen Xiaolanben received
the fund contribution with aggregate amounted to RMB40,000,000

from the investors.

LOSS ON DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

Beijing Shouhui Kaizhuo Technology Co., Ltd. Gt REBHEEREH
FR/AF]) (“Shouhui Kaizhuo") who, through its subsidiary (collectively,
the “SK Group”), holds a valid payment business licence (the “payment
licence”), was acquired by the Group from the former shareholders of
Shouhui Kaizhuo in December 2017.

In or around early August 2022, Mr. Yang Fan (“Mr. Yang"), the former
controlling shareholder of Shouhui Kaizhuo, had become aggressive and
directly gone to the office of Shouhui Kaizhuo in Beijing and claimed that
the personnel of Shouhui Kaizhuo shall report to him instead of the Group,
restricted the management of Shouhui Kaizhuo from contacting the staff
of the Group, and sent his staff to interfere with the business operation
of Shouhui Kaizhou and SK Group. The Group had since 3 August 2022
been unable to carry out workplace communication with SK Group and
was also unable to access all the books and records of SK Group. The
management of SK Group ceased to report to the Group on any business
matter, and the Group was unable to obtain all the necessary books and
records of SK Group to ascertain the operational status and financial

situation of SK Group.
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(@) 1220204 EH 4 5 SFININEER BRI K
B FREAELESBREE (BREE)
REME=FREET UIRE R > &1
R BOE R B EEE » RERFTG
WHRBERFEFERAG BRI EENER T
BARc FBER KNI EER AR A NE
Bt AIBRENERMEE ° 122020568 »
FINERPRRKEEEFTEGHEARE
40,000,0007T ©

B AT LA S ARRRIES
TREEMSARERAR (THBHR) BR
HMBAR (A TEBEE) FEERNE
TEBIER ((XHR)) > SEHEFEE
720174 128 M HEAIREIKEEFAS ©

120228 BRI » B ERRARAIERRRE
WAE (MBEE ) B580E - ERAITEEERA
SNERPER > EWEERIETERBEM
FREEER  BIIrEERESEEEELER
ETHE LKEHSEITHEEHERER
EENEHEE - ZERMB2022F8H3HIE >
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LOSS ON DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

Despite the Group'’s efforts in taking protective measures since then,
such as (i) taking legal action against Shouhui Kaizhuo's subsidiaries for
the repayment of loans of an aggregate of RMB101,425,800 to the Group
(the “Loans”); (ii) obtaining an order from the court to freeze the bank
accounts of operating subsidiaries of SK Group; and (i) commencing
Legal Proceedings against the relevant individuals and entities (including
but not limited to Mr. Yang), the Board is of the view that the Company
is currently unable to control to the assets and operations of SK Group
and is unable to exercise its decision-making rights over SK Group.
After having taken into account the applicable requirements under the
International Financial Reporting Standards in relation to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2023
and 2022, the Board considers that SK Group shall be deconsolidated
from the Group with effect from the date of the event that Mr. Yang
seized the Group ' s management right over the office of SK Group
(i.e., 3 August 2022) (the “Deconsolidation”), on the basis that (i) the
Company is unable to control the operation and finance of SK Group;
(i) the Company is unable to obtain the books and records of SK Group
since 3 August 2022; (iii) the Company is unable to obtain report from
the management of SK Group on business matter; and (iv) the Company

is unable to direct the future development of SK Group.

In light of the above circumstances, the Group excluded the financial
position of the SK Group as at and after 3 August 2022 and the results and
cash flows of the SK Group since 3 August 2022 from the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 3|
December 2023 and 2022. The Board considered that the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2023
and 2022 be prepared on such basis will present the results and state of
affairs of the Group more fairly as a whole in light of the current situation

of the SK Group.
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For the year ended 3| December 2023
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Pt B A B4 LL4R & ABRRIESIE (8)
b » BEAEEE NRERERE > 2W(60) 7
RAEEEESTEAREI0I,425800T 2 B
(TEM) MEERENE QB HREUCERETH ;
(NVEEBCEARES RAEEEEEEENB AR
IRITE O ; R(iAAERENALTRER (81F
BERBERBLEE) BREZEER > BEESZER
RAEAAFERERZEXREEERNEERE
B WARETEESSEEBMZRAETE - K&F
BABAEBREZE2023F 520225128318 1E
FEZEEUBRRZERMERESENNE
BAHER  EEERA > EEEEERILEE
EERIMREAR HBEEERNEAEESE
EEEMAEEEEEH (BP2022F883H) #
EM(TRIEEE AR > HHRO)AREEE
EREEERWNESERMT (A QB B20225F
8AHERENSEEEENRERTE ; (i)
RNBREECSEEEEEEEBMN IIEER ;
(A RAB LG EEBEFBIRKRER ©

W EMER  AEEBAEBRBE2023F K
2002F N2A3IBIEMBFENGESMBRRE
o BB TEEEER0NEsAIEEZE
B RU R E BEEBE2022F8A3HEN
¥(XERBFET -EETBRA EREEEEE
AINIER » BB ERUAEEEHT2023F K
2002F 12831 HIEEEMNGEMBERE > KA
BATH 2IRAEMBEIEEE IR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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BS
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LOSS ON DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

The following set out the financial impact on the Deconsolidation of SK

Group:

35 MBARRILGS ARNEE(B)

TR EBERRIGEARNMBEREE

3 August 2022

20224 8H3H
Note RMB'000
B 5 AREBF T
Cash and cash equivalents B RIEESZEY) 56,129
Trade receivables B2 EWRIE 600
Prepayments and other receivables FE {70 IE Ky EL At FE W =R I8 8,535
Property and equipment, net LY E YR pE L] 17 1,541
Intangible assets BB E 19 310,200
Trade payables B 5 (I IE (10,029)
Other payables H A AT TR I8 (142,058)
Deferred tax liabilities IRIEMIBEE S (77,550)
Net assets of SK Group BEEEENFEE 147,368
Consideration payable waived: HEELARE
Payables for equity investments FE(T I eI & (214,825)
Financial liabilities at FVPL on unissued shares RRBITRMD 2R ANEE
FFABTNEMEE (3013)
(70,470)
Amount due by SK Group to the Group (Note (a)) BEEEENAEBRRIE (M) 101,426
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries M A RA IEiR & AR ESIE 30,956
Note: Mi&t -
(@  Asat 3 August 2022, the Group has an amount due from SK Group, net of (@)  FR20224F8H3H » FEBE EWKE FEE X

approximately RMB101,425,800. Due to the loss of control over and legal action

against SK Group, an impairment loss of RMB 101,425,800 had been provided

for as loss on Deconsolidation of subsidiaries in the consolidated financial

statements for the year ended 3| December 2022.
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IEBEEAIN B 101,425800T « AR E . &
B RE RS N E R ETE
BUFE20224F 12531 HIEFE » BRLAN R
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DEEMED ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY
On |5 July 2021, the Group acquired 46% equity interest in Shanghai
Zhengcheng (Note 20), and was previously recognised as an investment

accounted for using equity method.

On 7 September 2022, the Group signed an act in concert agreement (the
“Agreement”’) with a 5.4% equity interest minority shareholder (the “MI")
of Shanghai Zhengcheng, of which the Ml agreed to act in concert with
the Group on all major operating and financial decision making until either
the Ml or the Group disposed their respective equity interest in Shanghai
Zhengcheng.

Upon the signing of the Agreement, the Group obtained control of
Shanghai Zhengcheng. Shanghai Zhengcheng was engaged in providing

technical and operational services to financial institutions in the PRC. The

36

me M RRMEE
For the year ended 3| December 2023
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FRIEWE—EREAR

MR2021 78 158 » RERUEE LBIEZ2/I46%
A (MI5E20) » BicRii sl A —EFE AR
EARRREE o

R2022F987H » AEREHE FBIE2/Y54%
et g (T B ) 55T —2TE R
(MZzmZE)) HR LV EEERREMEEER
SR IRER Léﬁ%%@—x&z T8 BELH
EanNAEEEESZEN DB E2NRHE o

BilzWEE  AEEERSLBE2/RES
o LiBB2MERP RSB RE MR
REERT o WREFRBENENERFTER

deemed acquisition is for the purpose of sourcing the Group'’s technical HWEERSEENHMTEESEREINGE F LE
and operational services of its credit facilitation business to Shanghai B2 o
Zhengcheng.
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Shanghai RiEVEWEE 5 ER > PUREERY EBIE 289 a R
Zhengcheng acquired as at its date of deemed acquisition is as follows: BEENEEHNANBENT
Note RMB'000
PEE AREBTTT
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 5016
Trade receivables B S EWERIE 2,050
Prepayments and other receivables TR TRIE e LA FE YRR IE 17,391
Inventories 78 253
Other payables HAERIE (6451)
Fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of EBE2HEER
Shanghai Zhengcheng BENANEE 18,259
Non-controlling interest =2l g (9,860)
Satisfied by: BEUTAREZM
Fair value of 46% of Shanghai Zhengcheng FBIF246%RIENAANEE 20 8,399
Net cash inflow of the acquisition: WEERIIREIMAEER ¢
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FrBEMIRE RIREHBY 5016
sIEAEERAT wnemgs 305
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36

37

306

DEEMED ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Cont'd)

The Group recognised a loss of RMB26,179,000 as a result of measuring
at fair value its 46% equity interests in Shanghai Zhengcheng held before
the business combination. The gain is included in “Other losses, net” in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.

Shanghai Zhengcheng contributed approximately RMB15,543,000 and
RMBI 1,276,000 to the Group's revenue and loss for the year respectively
for the period between the date of acquisition and the end of the

reporting period.

If the deemed acquisition had been completed on | January 2022, total
Group revenue for the year would have been RMB405,1 17,000 and loss
for the year would have been RMB86,608,000. The proforma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of the
revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on | January 2022, nor

is intended to be a projection of future results.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly
or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant influence over
the other party in making financial and operation decisions. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common control. Members
of key management and their close family members of the Group are also

considered as related parties.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, relationship and details of transactions

between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below:

Name of the major related parties

36

37

FRIEWE—EREARE (&)
HRUAABESEXBESHAHEMFEEN
FBIE24%KE > AEERIBEEBARE
26,179,0007% ° E st AR EEBEERN TH
HESIEFEE I o

T EEBEEREEREBSHERSHRER »
PDAABEAERBNREREEEHROARE
15,543,000 AR ¥ | 1,276,0007T ©

HIREREBER 20202 | B I B%M » ERAE
[ B9 48 U 7 75 2 AR #5405,117,0007T ° & A
B A AR 186,608,0007T © HEEREMR
B> A—ERnEIEEN202F1 81 BT
o BAEEERSERNREREEES -
IR EZ R R ZEERTEA ©

BT X5
H—AAENEESBEENS — SRS —
TP BREERRITEERTLES  RAE
AEARETT o MINFRHEIES] 0 TR AR 7 BR B
B AEBTEEEEMERKRELRITRR
{ERAHGETT ©

R2023F &20224F 12831 B » 2~ &=E B EH RS
HANBRER ZEERBENT

Relationship with the Group

TEMBSRE 1t Sz & MRIRA 1R

Sun Haitao Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Company
HigE KRB EF ~ (THAEBKRES

Wu Shan Director of the Company

= Hi rABES

Zou Yunli Director of the Company

EERE RABES

Jiang Chloe Cuicui
e HEE
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

Name of the major related parties

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

37 BAMARS (&

Relationship with the Group

TEMBSRE BAEEBRF

Gao Li Director of the Company
SEil ~ABES

Shou Jian Director of the Company
S KABES

Ye Xiang Director of the Company
=2 ~ABES

Xu Xuchu Director of the Company
RIBAD KABES

Lam Yuhon Key management personnel of the entity
IR ERTIEEEAS

Zhejiang Anniu Technology Co., Ltd.
LRGBS ARAT

Beijing Juece Xincheng Technology Co., Ltd.
BFRRREHAT KB RAF]

Hangzhou Sunyard Fantai Technology Co., Ltd.
TN EHEZHF R ARAT

Linglan Network Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
BREREN (L8 BRAF

Zhuhai Yunyoudao Technology Co., Ltd.
REEBERKAREEAT

Zhejiang Zhongma Technology Co., Ltd.
HIRERARAE

Shark Kuaiyou Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

RARERERM (ER) BRAF

Hangzhou Zaodao Technology Co., Ltd.
TN R RERE AR AT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEBERTENRKRERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEERERTZENRKERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

REEBRERATENRRENT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEBERTZENFRZERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAERERTZENRKERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

REEBREATENRRENT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEBERTZENRKERF

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAERERTENRKRERT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

37

308

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

Name of the major related parties

TEMBAERE

37 BAMARS (&

Relationship with the Group

BAEEBRF

Hangzhou Ren Junxing Technology Co., Ltd.
FNEBTRRBERAT

Hangzhou Linglinggi Technology Co., Ltd.
NS ZRBKRBRAH

Xinhuizhiyan Culture Communication (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
SESHEOIR) XIEEEARAF

Hangzhou Yingniu Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)
TNBFTRESB X (BRE®)

Hangzhou Yigilaidian Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)

TN —EREBIREGBERE (BRGE)

Hangzhou Fanniu Investment Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)
MMZFREEESREE (FRE%)

Suzhou Jiamu Wuyao Venture Capital Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership)
BINEATARIERESBEE (BRGH)

Shanghai Peng Number Information Technology Co., Ltd
ESRSEERERRAR

Shanghai Qiancheng Network Technology Co., Ltd
EERBRERKARAE

Hangzhou Lvji Network Technology Co., Ltd.
TN RECARAE BT A IR A E]

Pingxiang Chuangniu Asset Management Co., Ltd.
SEHRIGTEEBEERRAR

51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2023 Annual Report

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

REEBREATENRRENT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEBERTZENRZERF

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAERERTENRKRERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

REEBRERATENRRENT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEEERTZENRKERF

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAERERTZENRKERF

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEREATZENRKERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

REEBREATENRKRENT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEEERTZENRKERT

Controlled by key management

TEIEEREES

Controlled by key management
ZTEEREIES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

Name of the major related parties

TEMBAERE

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

37 BAMARS (&

Relationship with the Group

BAEEBRF

Pingxiang Shiniu Asset Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)
ML EEEESBEE (BRA®)

Pingxiang Jiniu Asset Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)

SERLGTEEEESREE (BRER)

51 Xinhu L.P.

Rising Sun Limited

Controlled by key management

REIEEREES

Controlled by key management

REIEEREES

Controlled by key management
2T EEIRE

Controlled by key management

REEEEEES
Save as disclosed in elsewhere of these consolidated financial statements, MRAIRE M REREMIBOMIZESZIN 0 A&
the Group entered into the following related party transactions during the BREE2023FE K20202F 12831 HIEFEEETIL
years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022. In the opinion of the Director, THRABRAERS - RIBEEERR > B AR5
the related Party transactions were carried out in the ordinary course of DR HEERBRETRAERAREE S HE
business and at terms negotiated between the Group and the respective BURFREST ©

related parties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2003F 12831 BLEEE

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd) 37 ROt 35 (A&
(@)  Loan referral service income, credit card technology service (a) MKEBRBHEENBRBUA - EHF
income and other income-recognized in revenue (before net of BT IRFEWA R EfUA GOGHERIE
sales tax and related surcharges) R AEREMT nF AG)

Year ended 3| December
BENANHLEEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREBFTT

Investees over which the Group has significant SAREFBEATEN
influence =N 547 61|

(b)  Origination and servicing expenses (b) MHERARFERZ

Year ended 3| December
HENAIALEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREETTT

Investees over which the Group has significant SREBEATLEN
influence WERE AT = 160
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

(c)  Sales and marketing expenses

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

37 BAMARS (&
(c) HEREHMR

Year ended 3| December

HZENAIBLEE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMET T ARETFT
Investees over which the Group has significant SREFBFEAFEN
influence WIRERE - 471

(d) Borrowings guaranteed by related parties

(d) FABSHEFROER

As at 31 December

12H318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARETTT
The Chairman of the Board EFeIFE 63,168 70,540
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R E M B IR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

(e)  Balances with related parties

37 BAMARS (&

(e) E2FH

Bk 75 BO A5 ER

As at 31 December

128318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%ETTT ARETFT
Trade receivables B S ERSRIE
Investees over which the Group has significant SEREEEATLEN
influence W E AT 2,477 2,477
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FETRRIE ~ & R EMEWTRIE
Investees over which the Group has significant SREBEATEN
influence WIRENE] 12,023 24,573
Directors of the Company (i) KRABEZE() 11,059 10,393
Controlled by key management ST ESEEITH Il 105
Trade and other payables B 5 RHEMRECSTRIE
Investees over which the Group has significant SREFBEATEN
influence =N 23,193 35,071
2,736 2,736
(@) On 14 September 2021, the Company provided a loan () 202198148 » AATHES

to the Chairman of the Board in the principle amount of
RMB10,000,000. The loan has a term of 3 years and a simple

interest rate of 5.8% per annum. The principle and accrued

interest will be paid on maturity date.

Other than the loan mentioned above, the balances with related

parties as at 3| December 2023 are interest-free and have no fixed

terms of repayment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

U]

Key management personnel compensations

RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

37 BAMARS (&

(f)

Key management includes executive directors and senior

management. The compensations paid or payable to key

management for employee services are shown below:

TEEEREASHMN
TEEEROENTEETRSREERE -
REEBERBENIENEIEEEENH
[ EZI I

Year ended 3| December
BENAALEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AT ARBETFTT

Share-based compensation expenses LR AE R RF R X = 26,244
Wages, salaries and bonuses TIE - #re&IEA 2,270 2,805

Other social security costs, housing benefits and HMM R A « EEEF &
other employee benefits HitEEEH] Y 187
Pension costs-defined contribution plan BRIKER A — REHEETE 80 109
2,460 29,345
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

38 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 38 #=aBa s R
R RS IR Rl SRR A RS R EEER

from operating activities: RE :

(@)  Reconciliation from loss before income tax to cash generated (a)

Year ended 31 December

HZENA3IBALEE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%ET T ARETFTT
Loss before income tax PMFr181R R ES1E (13,357) (94,395)
Adjustments for: AT BITETHAE
Depreciation and amortization IrEE i 18,623 21983
Fair value (gain)/losses on financial assets BAMEES ABREMEER
at FVPL RAREE (W) R (1,157) 14,489
Fair value loss on financial liabilities at FVPL WA BEF AEBGD
EHEENANEBEEREE 25,999 3,350
Share of net losses of associates accounted for — fEFE#Em A A BRMIBIE AT
using equity method (Note 20) FEIL 1R 2R (Fy5E20) 13,240 11,923
Share-based compensation expenses DURRAD A BB RY SN F 2 1,109 33,809
Loss on disposal of property and equipment HEYE X ERE 576 -
Expected credit loss/(gain), net (Note 12) FEHR(E RS 1E (%) /348
(BF=E12) 23,184 (84,986)
Impairment loss (Note 13(a)) AERE (MI5E13(2)) = 26,179
Loss on Deconsolidation of subsidiaries B AR LA S ABRMEIE
(Note 35) (Bf95E35) - 30956
Finance expenses SRS 10,392 13913
Operating profit/(loss) before working EEETEH PR E
capital change wnA, (B518) 78,609 (22,779)
(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash SER&ITRSE (1) EiD (14,187) 93,292
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets and trade HHIE E K B Z EUFIE
receivables (=) mb (28,004) 55,609
Increase in loans to customers R BEEIHIEM (13,778) (19,547)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and other  FE{I RIS K ELfth FE U IE
receivables (ghn) b (6,198) 6566
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 Bt mIEE 10,076 13,373
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities SRaEEm, Cal) 2,420 (134)
Increase in inventories Z S (3,027) =
Cash generated from operating activities RESTEEEXNIRE 25911 126,380
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
TR M FRIRERMIEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE20236 12831 BLLEE

38 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 38 & HEHERME (&

(Cont'd)
(b)  Non-cash investing and financing activities (b) FERERERRETE
As at 31 December
12H318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETFT
Acquisition of right-of-use assets B EREESE 32,408 14,726
(c) Net Debt Reconciliation (c) BEEHIE
An analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for the years B E2023FR202F 12831 HIEFEE
ended 3| December 2023 and 2022 are presented as follows: EE RS EEEFNONEBUT
Net Debt SBERE
As at 31 December
12H318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREFT
Cash and cash equivalents BERIEESEEY 349,490 376,813
Borrowings — repayable within one year B —BR—ERNER (100,804) (166,687)
Borrowings — repayable after one year EHx—AR—F%BER (59,684) (13,170)
Lease liabilities HE&RE (31,861) (13,189)
Net debt FBIETS 157,141 183,767
Cash and liquid investments B EEnasiss 349,490 376,813
Gross debt — fixed interest rates LEETE — B EFIER (184,349) (188,046)
Gross debt — variable interest rates HR(EFE — F B F| XK (8,000) (5,000)
Net debt AT 157,141 183,767

SHZEEERAS 03EEms 315



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= A
i 3

A #5 ¥R R P 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

38

39

316
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Net Debt Reconciliation (Cont'd)

NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 38
(Cont'd)

maRERERWE(E)

(c) FEFHHIEE)

DIVIDENDS

Cash and
cash  Borrowings Borrowings
equivalents (non-current) (current) Leases Total
RERk A EE
REXEY  (GERER) (EPHA) e “ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT
As at | January 2022 R2002% 1818 313,148 (20,540) (171,943) (4,602) 116,063
Foreign exchange adjustments ~ JNEFHZE 2,116) - - = 2,116)
Acquisition — Leases WEE—1E = = = (14,726) (14,726)
Cash flows ReRE 65,781 - 12,626 6,139 84,546
Other non-cash movements HinIFIRE&EH - 7,370 (7,370) - -
As at 31 December 2022 R2022% 12831 H 376813 (13,170) (166,687) (13,189) 183,767
Foreign exchange adjustments PN 1,198 = = = 1,198
Acquisition — Leases WEE—fE = = = (32,408) (32,408)
Cash flows BEng (28,521) (64,318) 83,687 9,185 33
Other non-cash movements HithIEIRe &%) - 17,804 (17,804) 4,551 4,551
As at 31 December 2023 120235128318 349,490 (59.684)  (100804)  (31.861) 157,141
39 KA

2023 Annual Report

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for the year
ended 3| December 2023 (2022: Nil).

HE2023F 12831 HIEEE » KAF I KRIKT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEIFERERMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

Financial position of the Company

(a)

FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 40 ZsATBAFEIR R R #HiEGEE)
COMPANY

A B AT

As at 31 December

128318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBABNRE 80,604 1,283,499
Receivables from subsidiaries FEUR S /B A B 7B 631,756 4993816
Total non-current assets ERBEEMRE 712,360 6,277,315
Current assets MBEE
Cash and cash equivalents B RESZEY) 8,725 7,672
Total current assets TREBEEME 8,725 7,672
Total assets BEEHE 721,085 6,284,987
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EmkaE
Equity HEm
Share capital fig 7 90 20
Share premium AR i E 6,159,660 6,159,329
Share held for employee incentive schemes e R E BT8R 5 (10) (10)
Reserves (Note 40 (b)) 4 (T EE40(b)) 188,765 187,354
Accumulated loss (Note 40 (b)) K&TE518 (FiEE40(b)) (5,627,420) (61,776)
Total equity s 721,085 6,284,987
Total liabilities BE4ERE - -
Total equity and liabilities HmkEEEEE 721,085 6,284,987

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved

by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2024 and was signed on its

behalf.

Sun Haitao
®BigE
Director

EF

KABHI BRI R EN20245F3827H%
EEgHE ) THTIRRESE -

Wau Shan
C-%.}
Director

EF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B IRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE20FE 1231 BLEE

40 FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 40 ZSATM YRR EEES (&)
COMPANY (Cont'd)

(b)  Reserve movement of the Company (b) ZATEEE
Reserves Accumulated loss Total
fitfh RetEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AREFT AREFT

As at | January 2023 ##2023F1B1H 187,354 (61,776) 125,578
Comprehensive loss 2EBE

Loss for the year FREE - (5,565,644) (5,565,644)
Currency translation differences i ERE 633 = 633
Total Comprehensive loss 2HEEFEEE 633 (5,565,644) (5,565,011)

Transactions with owners as their capacity B AEEANEEAZR S

as owners
Share incentives exercised and vested BIIEREBH RGN EE (331) - (331)
Share incentives awarded under employee 1B #BIstEIB N HA

incentive schemes BRAR £EED 1,109 - 1,109

Total transactions with owners as their ~ EAGAEE ANEEAZ
capacity as owners R R YBEE 778 = 778

As at 3| December 2023 12023128318 188,765 (5,627,420) (5,438,655)
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RE B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2023
HE0E 123 BLEE

FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 40 ZsABEAFEIR IR F#EES) (&)
COMPANY (Cont'd)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (Cont'd) (b) ZERTREES ()
Reserves  Accumulated loss Total
=i RETE1E Wt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETFT ARETT
As at | January 2022 R20224E 1 B 1B 163,695 (56,190) 107,505
Comprehensive loss 2EEE
Loss for the year FREE = (5,586) (5,586)
Currency translation differences S EERR [,146 = [, 146
Total Comprehensive loss 2HEEBEEE l,146 (5,586) (4,440)
Transactions with owners as their capacity E1HAEFANEEAZRZ
as owners
Share incentives exercised and vested BITEREBNRDIZE (6,530) = (6,530)
Share incentives awarded under employee 1B & BNt 2|18 N2 H A
incentive schemes RE A7 2% Bl 29,043 = 29,043
Total transactions with owners as their (AR ANEEAZ
capacity as owners R R YAEE 22,513 = 22,513
As at 31 December 2022 12022812831 H 187,354 (61,776) 125,578
EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 4] REHBREIE

On | March 2024, Hangzhou Enniu, which is the subsidiary of the
Group, entered into a conditional settlement agreement with the Tiantu
Respondent Group (as defined below), pursuant to which, among others,
the Group shall withdraw its claims against the Tiantu Respondent Group
in the arbitration proceedings commenced by the Group in the PRC
to, among others, rescind the acquisition of the entire equity interests
in Shouhui Kaizhuo by the Group and seek for damages for breach of
contract. Under the agreement, Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd. (FRIIIFK[El
KEBERIDARAR) and Tianjin Tiantu Xinghua Equity Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (KEXEHEREXRESH L
¥ (BBRE%) ) (collectively, the "Tiantu Respondent Group™) will,
among others, continue to hold the approximately 6.0% and |3.12%
equity interest in Shouhui Kaizhou, respectively, which is currently
registered under their respective names, as nominee for and on behalf
of the relevant member of the Group in accordance with the terms of
a nominee agreement dated 25 June 2019; and the Tiantu Respondent
Group will compensate Hangzhou Enniu of RMB75 million which will be

repayable in accordance with the terms of the settlement agreement.

R20245F 38 1B » ZEBEKE QB fNE
HAREERAERE (EXR T LB EGHN
RimE o BRI (AP EE) » AEBBERMEBIER
REHKESHAEBEFARNFHER > U
(Eh 8 B ERNEEEREN 2R
o WHBHNSKEE - Zin=zE T 0 RIEBFHE
A2019F 6825 AN ABRIER > FIITHR
BREEERMDBRAR MK ZXEHEERE
KREABLE (BRaE) (A TRESHASE
E) & (HRaRE) 2ilfEarEmERmE R
BZRBARRERAEEBFARE AT » BE
REEEREN60%K 13,1250 KR » 25K
HERETREEZESL T ; BREEFRASE
BR IR EMEHREREENNERF ARETS
BEJT e
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Five-Year Financial Summary

For the year ended 31 December

HENA3IALEE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTRT ARETT AEBTR®
Results E4
Revenue Weas 2,045,393 274,309 440,098 395,739 217,158
Loss for the year FEREE (1,111,043 (1,716,406) (260,701) (97,629) (3,148)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: THALEN
(&548) &mF)
Owners of the Company KATIFFE A (1,128,878)  (1,699,071) (233,687) (82,697) 11,037
Non-controlling interests FEERRE T 17,835 (17,335) (27,014) (14932) (14,185)
(1,111,043)  (1,716,406) (260,701) (97,629) (3,148)
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREBTT AREBTT ARBTT AR®TT AR%T T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAE
Total assets HEE 5,740,426 1,871,738 1,559,214 136,504 1,164,966
Total liabilities S =R (3,186,068) (890,152) (800,468) (425,282) (455,396)
2,554,358 981,586 758,746 711,222 709,570
Equity attributable to owners of ~ ZNA T BEA AFE(L
the Company S 2,522,174 969,613 765,247 712,437 725,700
Non-controlling interests IR 32,184 11,973 (6,501) (1,215) (16,130)
2,554,358 981,586 758,746 711,222 709,570
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